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Cumbria Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and
The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary
Effectiveness of Governance Arrangements 2020/21
Report of the Chief Executive and Joint Chief Finance Officer

1.

Introduction and background

1.1

This report has been prepared as a joint report to cover both entities with details appropriate to each
organisation as required.

1.2

Each local government body operates through a governance framework which brings together an
underlying set of legislative requirements, governance principles and management processes. The 2015
Accounts and Audit Regulations place a requirement on those bodies to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control and prepare an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The
Commissioner and Chief Constable are required to consider the findings of that review, approve the
respective AGS and publish (which must include publication on the Commissioner’s and Constabulary’s
respective websites) the Statements alongside the Statement of Accounts. The AGS are prepared in
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Good Governance framework that defines ‘proper practices’ for
discharging accountability for the proper conduct of public business through the publication of an Annual
Governance Statement that makes those practices open and explicit.

1.3

The Police and Crime Commissioner approves a Code of Corporate Governance, ‘The Code’, setting out
his corporate governance framework. The Code is subject to review and updated annually alongside the
process to review the arrangements for governance and prepare an Annual Governance Statement. The
2020/21 Code was subject to review by the Joint Audit Committee prior to approval by the Commissioner.
It is the compliance with this Code by the Commissioner, together with an assessment of its effectiveness,
which is reflected in the 2020/21 Annual Governance Statement.
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1.4

The Chief Constable approves a Code of Corporate Governance, 'The Code', setting out her corporate
governance framework. The Code is subject to review and updated annually alongside the process to review
the arrangements for governance and prepare an Annual Governance Statement. The 2020/21 Code was
subject to review by the Joint Audit Committee prior to approval by the Chief Constable. It is the compliance
with this Code by the Chief Constable, together with an assessment of its effectiveness, which is reflected
in the 2020/21 Annual Governance Statement.

2.

Governance Framework & Effectiveness

2.1

The annual review of the arrangements for governance and their effectiveness support the production of
the respective Annual Governance Statements for both the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief
Constable.

The review provides assurance on governance arrangements and the controls in place to

achieve the organisational objectives. The review has been prepared by the Commissioner’s Chief
Executive, the Joint Chief Finance Officer and Constabulary Senior Officers in accordance with the CIPFA
delivering good governance in local government guidance note for Police 2016. The guidance supports
the application of the CIPFA/SOLACE Good Governance Framework to Policing, recognising the specific
structure and governance responsibilities arising from the 2011 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act.

2.2

Within the OPCC, the approach to the production of the statement has been to use the CIPFA guidance,
and particularly the guidance section on core governance principles as a benchmark of good practice as a
when designing and monitoring governance. Those core principles and the arrangements that support
them are set out in the 2020/21 Code of Corporate Governance approved by the Commissioner following
review by the Joint Audit Committee in June 2020. The development of the Annual Government Statement
is an integral part of the review, setting out how the Code has been complied with over the course of the
year. Where the review has identified areas where developments are planned or improvements can be
made, the AGS sets out an action plan to deliver those changes. The statement also highlights areas where
further assurance is gained, such as the work of internal audit and the reports of the external auditors.
The Commissioner’s Annual Governance Statement setting out the review of governance arrangements
for 2020/21 and to the date of this meeting, is presented to the Joint Audit Committee for review, prior to
being received by the Commissioner for final endorsement and publication alongside the Statement of
Accounts.

2.3

Within the Constabulary, the approach to the production of the statement has been to use the CIPFA
guidance, and particularly the guidance section on core governance principles. These have been used as a
review checklist. The first stage of the process has been to ensure that the Chief Constable’s Code of
Corporate Governance adequately reflects all the requirements of the framework. The second stage of the
process has been to ensure that the Governance Statement has evidence of the arrangements and practices
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in place to comply with the framework. Where the review has identified areas where developments are
planned or it is identified that improvements can be made, the intended actions are outlined in the ‘Areas
for Further Development and Improvement’ for each core principle. The statement also highlights areas
where further assurance is gained, such as the work of internal audit, the reports of the external auditors
and the results of inspections carried out by Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabularies, Fire and Rescue
Services (HMICFRS). The Chief Constable’s Governance Statement setting out the review of governance
arrangements for 2020/21 and to the date of this meeting is presented to the Joint Audit Committee for
review, prior to being received by the Chief Officer Group for final endorsement and publication alongside
the Statement of Accounts.

2.4

Whilst the review of arrangements described above has been specific to the production of the Annual
Governance Statements, this process is supported by wider reviews of the arrangements for governance
that take place during the financial year. This includes cyclical review and updates to core elements of the
governance framework. During 2020/21 this has included a review and update of the Financial Regulations
and Financial Rules and the Scheme of Delegation in both organisations. In addition, the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards and guidance from CIPFA in respect of Audit Committees forms the basis of
further reviews of the overall arrangements for audit, with action plans being put in place where potential
for improvement and development have been identified. This is supplemented by specific assessments
on compliance by the Joint Chief Finance Officer and Head of Internal Audit with the requirements of the
CIPFA statement for these roles. The governance review is also supported by an annually developed
comprehensive audit plan from internal and external audit and an opinion from the Head of Internal Audit
on the arrangements for internal control and risk. Management assurances are obtained for all financial
systems on an annual basis. These requirements, whilst challenging, have enabled an approach that has
sought to ensure all arrangements take account of best practice, codes and guidance.

3.

The Effectiveness of Internal Audit

3.1

A separate report reviewing the effectiveness of the arrangements for Audit is set out elsewhere on the
agenda and includes a review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function and the effectiveness of the
Joint Audit Committee. The report demonstrates the effectiveness of the arrangements for Audit against
independent and objective criteria as a contribution to good governance. In doing so it concludes the
process of providing the necessary assurances that the governance arrangements set out in the respective
Codes of Corporate Governance are working as intended and are effective.

4.

The Code of Corporate Governance 2021/22

4.1

On an annual basis the respective Codes of Corporate Governance are reviewed and updated, setting out
the framework for governance within the OPCC and Constabulary. The 2021/22 Codes of Corporate
Governance applies the standards set out in the Delivering Good Governance in Local Governance
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Framework published by CIPFA in 2016, with particular reference to the guidance notes for policing bodies,
which recognise the governance implications of the structural differences between policing and other areas
of local government. The CIPFA good governance framework is the best practice standard for Public Sector
governance. The 2016 governance framework is based on seven principles, as set out in the respective
codes and has a much broader focus on delivering value for money, including outcomes and demonstrating
effective performance, often working in partnership to achieve this in comparison with the previous code.

5.

Recommendations

5.1

Members of the Joint Audit Committee are asked to:
(i) Review the respective Codes of Corporate Governance 2021/22
(ii) Review the respective Annual Governance Statements 2020/21
(iii) Make any recommendations with regard to the respective Codes, Statements and arrangements for

governance for consideration by the Commissioner and Chief Constable prior to publication
alongside the financial statements

5.2

The Commissioner and Chief Constable are asked to:
(i) Where applicable, consider the recommendations of the Joint Audit Committee, determining any

actions and/or amendments to the respective Codes of Corporate Governance 2021/22 and Annual
Governance Statements 2020/21.
(ii) Approve for signature, where applicable with amendments, the respective Annual Governance

Statements for 2020/21 and to the date of this meeting, which will then accompany the
respective Statements of Account for 2020/21.

Gillian Shearer

Roger Marshall

Chief Executive

Joint Chief Finance Officer
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Human Rights Implications: None Identified

Race Equality / Diversity Implications: None Identified

Personnel Implications: None Identified

Financial Implications: None Identified

Risk Management Implications: The Governance Statement and the underpinning reviews, including the
Effectiveness of Internal Audit are designed and intended to provide assurance on and compliance with high
standards of corporate governance, including effective control and mitigation of the risk environment in which
the Commissioner discharges his respective responsibilities.

Contact points for additional information:

Roger Marshall – Joint Chief Finance Officer
Tel: 0300 124 0113 48591
E Mail: roger.marshall@cumbria.police.uk

Gill Shearer – Chief Executive
Tel: 01768 217734
E Mail: Gillian.Shearer@cumbria.police.uk
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Agenda Item 15b (i)

Cumbria Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner Code of Corporate Governance
2021/22
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Foreword
Welcome and thank you for taking the time to read the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria’s Code of
Corporate Governance. I am pleased to introduce this Code, which sets out the Commissioner’s commitment to
continue to uphold the highest possible standards of good governance. This document clearly demonstrates the
Commissioner's and the senior management team drive to ensure that this is in place. Good governance is about
how the Commissioner will ensure that he is doing the right things, in the right way, for the communities he
serves, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable way.

The Code provides clarity about how the Commissioner and Chief Constable will govern their organisations both
jointly and separately, in accordance with their statutory responsibilities. It will do this by highlighting the key
enablers for ensuring good governance. The Code sets out how the organisations will govern, using the seven
good governance principles as the structure for setting out the statutory framework and local arrangements.
Robust governance enables the Commissioner to pursue his vision effectively as well as underpinning that vision
with mechanisms for control and management of risk.

Gill Shearer
Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
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Introduction
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PR&SRA) established Police and Crime Commissioners as
elected officials with statutory functions and responsibilities for Policing and Crime within their area. Those
responsibilities include: setting the strategic direction and objectives for policing and crime and disorder
reduction in their area; maintaining the police force; and holding the Chief Constable to account. Police and
Crime Commissioners also have wider responsibility for community safety, enhancing criminal justice and
supporting victims.
The statutory and regulatory framework setting out the responsibilities, powers and duties of Police and Crime
Commissioners is continually developing. The PR&SRA is supported by the Policing Protocol Order 2011, the
Home Office Strategic Policing Requirement 2015 and the Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice
2018. The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 has developed and conferred further powers in
respect of the wider responsibilities of Police and Crime Commissioners. These powers have been extended
through the Policing and Crime Act 2017.
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (the Commissioner) is responsible for ensuring that business is
conducted in accordance with this statutory and regulatory framework and in accordance with proper standards.
This includes ensuring that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically,
efficiently and effectively. In fulfilling this overall responsibility, the Commissioner is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for governance, including risk management and the arrangements for ensuring the
delivery of the functions and duties of his office.
In doing this, the Commissioner approves and adopts annually this Code of Corporate Governance, ‘The Code’.
The Code gives clarity to the way the Commissioner governs and sets out the frameworks that are in place to
support the overall arrangements for the Cumbria Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (COPCC). The
Code is based on the core principles of governance set out within the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance
in Local Government Framework 2016. The Code is appended with a schematic that sets out diagrammatically
all the key elements of the governance framework.
On an annual basis the Commissioner will produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS reviews the
effectiveness of the arrangements for governance and sets out how this Code of Corporate Governance has been
complied with.
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The Code of Corporate Governance
This code of corporate governance sets out how the Police and Crime Commissioner will govern.
It is based on the seven good governance core principles highlighted by the CIPFA/SOLACE
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016, and supported by the Nolan
Principles of Public Life. This Code uses those principles of governance as the structure for setting
out the statutory framework and local arrangements that are in place to achieve them.
The seven good governance principles are:
NOLAN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE

▪

Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating
strong commitment to ethical values, and
respecting the rule of law

▪

Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive
stakeholder engagement N

▪

Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of

SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should
act solely in terms of the public interest. They
should not do so in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves, their
family, or their friends.
INTEGRITY: Holders of public office should not
place themselves under any financial or other
obligation to outside individuals or
organisations that might seek to influence them
in the performance of their official duties.

sustainable economic, social, and environmental
benefits

▪

Principle D: Determining the interventions
necessary to optimise the achievement of the
intended outcomes

▪

Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity,
including the capability of its leadership and the
individuals within it

▪

Principle F: Managing risks and performance
through robust internal control and strong public
financial management

▪

Principle G: Implementing good practices in

OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business,
including making public appointments,
awarding contracts, or recommending
individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of
public office should make choices on merit.
ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are
accountable for their decisions and actions to
the public and must submit themselves to
whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their
office.
OPENNESS: Holders of public office should be as
open as possible about all the decisions and
actions that they take. They should give reasons
for their decisions and restrict information only
when the wider public interest clearly demands
it.
HONESTY: Holders of public office have a
duty to declare any private interests relating
to their public duties and to take steps to
resolve any conflicts arising in a way that
protects the public interest.

transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver
effective accountability

LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should
promote and support these principles by
leadership and example.
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Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment
to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law
Police and Crime Commissioners are
Business Code of Conduct: Staff shall:

accountable not only for how much they
spend, but also for how they use the

Maintain the highest possible standards
of probity in all commercial relationships;

resources under their stewardship. This

Reject business practice which might
reasonably be deemed improper and
never use authority for personal gain;

includes accountability for outputs, both
positive and negative, and for the

Enhance the proficiency and stature of
the organisation by acquiring and
maintaining technical knowledge and the
highest standards of behaviour;

outcomes they have achieved. In addition,
they have an overarching responsibility to

Ensure the highest possible standards of
professional competence, including
technical and commercial knowledge;

serve the public interest in adhering to the
requirements

of

legislation

and

Optimise the use of resources to provide
the maximum benefit to the
organisation.

government policies. It is essential that, as
a whole, they can demonstrate the
appropriateness of all their actions and
have mechanisms in place to encourage

INTEGRITY: Holders of public office should not
place themselves under any financial or other
obligation to outside individuals or
organisations that might seek to influence
them in the performance of their official
duties.

and enforce adherence to ethical values
and to respect the rule of law.

Ethics and Integrity
The arrangements for governance within the Office
of the Police and Crime Commissioner are based on
a culture of ethics, integrity and acting in the public
interest. This is demonstrated and communicated
through a number of polices and codes that set out
the standards of conduct and personal behaviour
expected in the Commissioner’s office.
Specifically:

▪ A Code of Conduct commits to the Nolan Principles of
Public Life. The Code sets out Commitments with regard

to how people will be treated, the use of resources,
disclosure and conflicts of interest, disclosure of
information and transparency.

▪

A Code of Ethics developed by the

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners
(APCC)

has

also

been

adopted

by

the

Commissioner. It sets out how the Commissioner
has agreed to abide by the seven standards of
conduct recognised as the Nolan Principles. This
Ethical Framework allows transparency in all areas
of work of the Police and Crime Commissioner.
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These principles encompass the Commissioner’s work

Monitoring Officer on behalf of the Police and

locally and whilst representing Cumbria in national

Crime Panel who investigates the complaints and

forums. The principles are listed in the Code of Ethics

then seeks to either resolve them locally with the

with examples of how these are achieved.

complainant, or refers to the Independent Police

▪

Complaints Commission.
The

Commissioner’s

arrangements

for

antifraud and corruption make clear the duty everyone

▪

has with regard to their own conduct and those of

Procurement Regulations, re-enforcing the integrity

others. The arrangements incorporate an antifraud and

requirements within the anti-fraud and corruption

corruption policy and plan covering the culture expected

policy in the context of procurement activity.

within the organisation and provide contact information
for confidential reporting (whistleblowing).

▪

A Business Code of Conduct supports the

Financial Regulations make arrangements

for the proper administration of financial affairs.

▪

Anti-fraud and corruption procedures cover

They also seek to reinforce the standards of

arrangements for integrity in respect of gifts and

conduct in public life, particularly the need for

hospitality, completion of a register of interests, supplier

openness, accountability and integrity.

contact and declarations of related party transactions.
These ensure staff avoid being engaged in any activity
where an actual or perceived conflict may exist and that
there is transparency in respect of any personal or
business relationships. Staff are reminded on a monthly
basis of the need to make declarations.

▪

The Office of Cumbria Police & Crime

Commissioner is responsible for investigating complaints
about the Chief Constable, any appointed Deputy
Commissioner, the Office of Cumbria Police & Crime

▪

Grant

regulations

are

based

on

a

framework that provides minimum standards and
terms and conditions for the grant award process
that seek to ensure grants are awarded within the
public interest.

▪

The Commissioner and all staff are

required to sign up to an anti-discrimination code
that sets out values and standards with regard to
the prevention of any kind of discrimination.

Commissioner’s own staff and Independent Custody
Visitors.

A formal process exists for dealing with

complaints.

The arrangements are clearly set out,

including the role of the Police and Crime Panel, on the
‘contact us’ section within the Commissioner’s website.
The protocol for managing complaints is set out in the
Commissioner’s Complaints Policy and reinforces the
commitment to upholding the highest ethical standards.

All policies and codes are reviewed on a cyclical
basis to ensure they are operating effectively.
Independent

external

assurance

is

provided

through the work of an Ethics and Integrity Panel
and Joint Audit Committee. The purpose of the
Ethics and Integrity Panel is to promote and
influence professional ethics in all aspects of
policing and within both organisations. It provides

▪

Complaints against the Police & Crime

scrutiny and review in respect of the arrangements

Commissioner are referred by the Commissioner’s

for codes of conduct, integrity and complaints. It

Monitoring Officer to Cumbria County Council’s
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also provides assurance to the public that any issues or

significant legal complexities or legal risk. The office

concerns are highlighted and monitored.

structure includes an arrangement for the Deputy
Chief Executive and a post of a Deputy Monitoring

The Joint Audit Committee provides scrutiny and review

Officer to ensure continuity in the delivery of this

in respect of the Commissioner’s arrangements for anti-

role in the absence of the Chief Executive.

fraud and corruption and financial, procurement and
grant regulations. Agendas and papers are available to
the public on the Commissioner’s website to aid

Our Values

transparency.

We are a single team with a culture of
trust and confidence

The leadership values for the organisation have been

We develop the capacity and capability
of our office to be effective and recognise
high performance

developed by our staff to support good governance and
advocate high standards of integrity and ethical
behaviour. They are set out in our Corporate Plan. All
staff within the OPCC have been appointed following
open

and

transparent

appointment

processes.

Following appointment staff commit to the various
codes of conduct and ethical standards that are in place
for the OPCC. All staff also undertake a structured
induction process arranged by the Governance
Manager.

Respecting the Rule of Law
The Chief Executive is the Commissioner’s Monitoring
Officer with responsibility for ensuring that the
Commissioner and staff of the Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner do not contravene any rule of law
or

engage

in

any

activity

that

constitutes

maladministration or injustice. The responsibilities of
the Chief Executive are codified within legislation,
within the Commissioner’s scheme of delegation and
within the documents comprising the Commissioner’s
wider governance framework. The Chief Executive is
responsible to the Commissioner for ensuring that
agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable
statutes and regulations are complied with. The Chief
Executive is supported by an internal legal team and will
instruct external legal advisers where there are

We have empowered staff who are high
performing, professional and have high
levels of satisfaction in their roles
We embrace and deliver change, achieve
national recognition for what we do and
are exemplars of best practice
We hold ourselves to account for what
we deliver, measuring our outcomes,
customer satisfaction and value for
money, striving for continuous
improvement
We promote our values and demonstrate
the values of good governance through
upholding high standards of conduct and
behaviour
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Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder
engagement
Police and Crime Commissioners and their Offices are run for the public good, they therefore
should ensure openness in their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and
consultation should be used to engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as
individual citizens and service users, as well as institutional stakeholders.
Reports for decision are based on a template that

Openness
The Commissioner operates in accordance with the
Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information)
Orders 2011, 2012 & 2013 and the guidance
provided by the Information Commissioner. This is
demonstrated, documented and communicated
through an information publication scheme that
ensures the openness of all key information to the
public and wider stakeholders.

This includes

information in respect of the Commissioner, his staff,
income and expenditure, property, decisions,
policies and the independent custody visiting
scheme. The Commissioner’s Monitoring Officer has
overall responsibility for ensuring compliance with
the Orders and Scheme.
To ensure transparency of decision making, all
decisions are recorded and published on the
Commissioner’s website for public scrutiny.

The

Police and Crime Panel may call in any decisions for
further public scrutiny.
The Commissioner adopts rigorous standards in his

ensures the consequences of any recommendations
are clearly explained and that there is clear reasoning
and evidence for decisions. This includes relevant
financial,

legal,

human

resources,

equality,

procurement, IT and risk management advice.

Decision Making Policy: Principles of
Decision Making
Decision-making will be well
informed
The decision-making process
will be open and transparent
To have ‘due regard’ within the
decision making process
Be rigorous and transparent
about how the decisions are
taken
All decisions of significant
public interest will be recorded
and published.
The PCC will uphold the highest
standards of integrity and
honesty when taking decisions,
as set out in the Nolan
Principles.

decision-making and all decisions are taken solely in
the public interest. This is achieved by adherence to
a decision-making policy that sets out the
parameters and the application of a set of principles
that guide decision making. The approach within the
policy adheres to the Good Governance Standard for
Public Services and the Good Administrative Practice
2.

Engaging Comprehensively with
Institutional Stakeholders
The Police and Crime Plan recognises the importance
of stakeholder engagement and collaborative
working in developing and delivering priorities for
the future direction of policing, crime reduction, and
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supporting victims. The process for development of
the Plan includes consultation with the Police and
Crime Panel, wider partners and the Constabulary.
Consultation processes support the development of
objectives and outcomes prior to the formal
approval and publication of the Plan on the
Commissioner’s website.

Engaging Stakeholders
Effectively including Citizens and
Service Users
A Public Engagement Strategy sets out how the
Commissioner will make arrangements for obtaining
the views of the community on policing and for
obtaining the views of victims of crime. The strategy

The Plan recognises that in preventing crime and

aims to ensure clear channels of communication are

supporting victims a commitment to collaborative

in place with all sections of the community and other

working is needed from a range of organisations

stakeholders. As part of the Public Engagement

involved in policing, community safety and criminal

Strategy, the Commissioner undertakes formal

justice.

The Plan commits to utilising the existing

consultation with the public, partners and other

partnership structures across the County to do this

stakeholders in respect of the Police and Crime Plan

wherever possible. This enables the Commissioner

and the budget.

and partners to build commitment to shared
priorities and to exercise oversight of the delivery of
shared outcomes.

The OPCC is instrumental in giving the people of
Cumbria the ability to communicate with the
Commissioner and plays a key role in ensuring public

As part of these arrangements the Commissioner has

opinion can influence the Commissioner’s decision

signed up to the Cumbria Compact, an agreement

making.

and set of principles that govern effective

engagement approaches so that the Commissioner

relationships between public and third sector

actively listens, considers and effectively uses the

organisations.

views of the people of Cumbria. The office plays a

Grant agreements govern the funding arrangements

critical role in ensuring that two-way communication

with partners and the third sector and set out the

with communities take place and that the

purpose, objectives and shared outcomes which that

Commissioner is publicly available to speak to

funding is planned to deliver.

communities and individuals.

Joint boards, collaborative procurement and third

The OPCC has responsibility for keeping people

sector partnerships are central to the

informed, ensuring that activities and decisions are

Commissioning Strategy that seeks to efficiently and

transparent and that effective, transparent and

effectively deliver the Police and Crime Plan. The

accessible arrangements are in place for providing

underlying Commissioning Plan uses commissioning

feedback.

approaches and a grant framework that enable

of producing and publishing an Annual Report setting

partners to determine interventions that will be

out what has been achieved in a 12-month period.

appropriate and effective in delivering outcomes.

The OPCC also supports the Commissioner around

The Office ensures a wide range of

This includes the statutory requirement

public affairs, if necessary, highlighting the impacts
on policing and people in Cumbria.
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A complaints process and quality of service
procedure provides clarity over the arrangements to
respond to the breadth of concerns raised by local
people. If trends are identified these are used to
improve customer service from the Constabulary
and influence the decisions of the Police and Crime
Commissioner.
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Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,
social, and environmental benefits
The long-term nature and impact of many of the Police and Crime
Commissioners’ responsibilities mean that they should define and plan

The Commissioner’s

outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should

Police and Crime

contribute to intended benefits and outcomes, and remain within the

Plan can be found

limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of

on our website at

stakeholders, including citizens, service users, and institutional

www.cumbriapcc.gov.uk

stakeholders, is vital to the success of this process and in balancing
competing demands when determining priorities for the finite
resources available

Defining Outcomes

Satisfaction Performance measures are included in
the Performance Management Framework.

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act
(PRSR) 2011 and the Policing Protocol Order set out
the purpose of the Police and Crime Commissioner,
conferring statutory duties and responsibilities.
These include the requirement to issue a Police and
Crime Plan. The Plan sets out the vision and
strategic direction for policing and reducing crime
for the local area. It outlines police and crime

The Police and Crime Plan is developed alongside a
Medium Term Financial Strategy that ensures
funding is aligned to the resources needed to deliver
priorities and outcomes. The forecast supports the
Commissioner in setting a robust budget and in his
purpose of maintaining the force for the Cumbria
police area.

objectives, priorities and outcomes for policing and

A Commissioning Strategy and framework supports

victims that the Commissioner will focus on in

the delivery of the Commissioner’s wider duties and

carrying out his purpose.

responsibilities and the objectives and outcomes

Key performance indicators are set to support the
objectives within the Police and Crime Plan. This is
supported by a comprehensive performance
management framework, which is embedded
within a robust accountability and governance
structure.

The performance framework and

HMICFRS inspection and value for money reports
support the Commissioner in holding the Chief
Constable to account for the performance of the
force and its efficiency and effectiveness. User

within the Police and Crime Plan. The strategy sets
out how the Commissioner will work with partners,
including community and voluntary sector groups,
to deliver activity and interventions that will support
victims, improve community safety, reduce crime
and enhance criminal justice. The strategy is
underpinned by a commissioned services budget
and programme.
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Sustainable economic, social
and environmental benefits
A process is in place to support policy and strategy
development. Oversight of the central policy
record, including compliance with procedure and
equality impact assessments, is managed by the

To manage risk and ensure transparency of interests
in decision making, the Commissioner and officers
are required to make declarations where there are
or may be perceived to be conflicts of interest. The
role

of

the

Monitoring

Officer

and

the

Commissioner’s Oath of Office further supports
decisions being made in the wider interest of the

Executive

Team.

This

ensures that

the sustainability of policies and

people of Cumbria, rather than representing any
particular political interests.

strategies and the wider benefits and
interrelationships across the business are fully

The Police and Crime Plan and the policy and

understood.

strategy documents that support it are developed to

When developing strategies, policies or business

cover a four-year rolling timeframe and take into
account feedback from public consultation and

plans the Office of the Police and Crime

engagement.

Commissioner will undertake an impact
assessment on such documents prior to their

All of these documents and the outcomes from

development. The outcomes of these assessments

consultation are published and are publicly

will inform development work and be taken into

available

consideration when policies and strategies are

website. Information is published in a variety of

approved. In this way, our policies and strategies

mediums. The OPCC website has the functionality

provide a framework to support decision making.

to assist in the access to information held. The

The process for making decisions, particularly those
that involve expenditure, includes an assessment
of the longer term impact of proposals to ensure
sustainability.

Decisions

on

human

resource planning, the most significant factor
influencing the delivery of sustainable economic,
social and environmental benefits, take account of
the longer term financial outlook alongside
projections of future turnover. This enables
workforce planning and recruitment in a way that
supports the economic management of training
and supervision requirements and maximizes the
benefits to the business.
All decision reports include a section which allows
the author to identify any equality issues. These
will be taken into account by the Commissioner
when considering the decision.

on

the

Commissioner’s

COPCC would look to assist with translation of
information or send information to a third party
who can assist them. The COPCC website has the
ability to translate into the main languages.
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Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the
achievement of the intended outcomes.
Police and Crime Commissioners achieve their intended outcomes by providing a mixture of
legal, regulatory, and practical interventions. Determining the right mix of these courses of
action is a critically important strategic choice and Commissioners have to make sure
intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure
that their defined outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off
between the various types of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient
operations. Decisions made need to be reviewed continually to ensure that achievement of
outcomes is optimised.

Determining Interventions

The performance, outcomes and costs of the
Constabulary are monitored through a framework

The Commissioner sets the strategic direction for

that includes external comparators (HMICFRS Value

Policing and wider interventions within the Police

for Money Profiles), Police Effectiveness, Efficiency

and Crime Plan. The Plan is reviewed annually to

and Legitimacy (PEEL) inspection reports and an

ensure decision making on activity and outcomes

annual Value for Money Conclusion from the

remains robust. The Commissioner’s decision

External Auditors. Recommendations from PEEL

making policy adopts a set of principles to ensure all

inspections are used to review decisions in year on

decision making is well informed, that options are

resources and determine whether intervention are

rigorously considered and information is provided

needed to respond to inspection findings.

on potential risks.
Grant and Procurement Regulations set out a
The Constabulary is the primary provider of policing

framework for commissioning and procurement

services and the recipient of the substantial

activity that supports the achievement of best value

proportion of funding from the Commissioner to

and practical interventions to support Police and

deliver the Police and Crime Plan. Achieving best

Crime Plan outcomes within wider commissioned

value through the delivery of an effective policing

services. A review of value for money arrangements

strategy is a condition of the arrangements for

is reported annually to the Joint Audit Committee,

funding between the Commissioner and the

focused on the Constabulary’s activities. This

Constabulary. Decisions are made annually on the

provides external oversight of staffing and wider

level of resources and how they should be directed

financial resources committed to fulfilling legal and

as part of the Commissioner’s budget setting

regulatory requirements of the service.

process.
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The Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out the
Medium Term Financial Strategy
Objectives
To deliver a robust and
balanced medium term
financial plan and annual
budget supported by an in
year reporting framework that
monitors its delivery.

financial plans for revenue and capital expenditure.
An annual funding arrangement for the Chief
Constable codifies the amounts and conditions of
funding based on a financial proposal from the
Constabulary. It sets out how the budget will be
monitored including financial information and

To ensure arrangements for
funding between the
Commissioner and Constabulary
deliver value for money and
support the priorities of the
Police and Crime Plan

reporting requirements.

To ensure capital expenditure
plans are robustly scrutinised,
fully funded for a minimum of
four years and are supported
by capital strategies that meet
the needs of the business

Further controls over the management of income

To maintain a risk assessed level
of reserves to meet unplanned
expenditure and to provide
revenue budget smoothing for
intermittent costs.
To ensure treasury management
activities provide for the
security of the Commissioner’s
funds whilst meeting the cash
management needs of the
Commissioner and
Constabulary
To provide a framework for
financial governance that ensures
the proper administration of the
Commissioner’s financial affairs

Financial reporting

provides a control to assess the extent to which
planning assumptions for the budget have been
matched by actual activity and expenditure in year.

and expenditure are detailed in the Commissioner’s
financial regulations.

Key financial performance

indicators for example prudential indicators, are set
as part of the budget process, and monitored on a
quarterly basis to ensure they are being met.
The Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out
revenue forecasts of income and expenditure and
the key financial assumptions and policies on which
the forecasts are based. This supports a strategic
approach

to

operational

planning,

savings

requirements and decision making in support of the
objectives within the Police and Crime Plan. It also
ensures that the financial liabilities, risks and the
level of provision and reserves within the budget
are fully understood. The budget includes a 10 year
capital programme aligned to plans for ICT, the

Planning Interventions
A Commissioning Strategy and joint Procurement
Regulations set out how services will be planned,

estate and fleet, ensuring resources are balanced in
the medium and longer term to meet the
requirements of the business.

procured and delivered. The Safer Cumbria

Financial, operational and commissioning plans are

Partnership provides a flexible and supportive

developed taking into account the feedback from

mechanism through which services can be

the public and wider stakeholders. The Engagement

developed and delivered with shared risk. Grant and

Strategy sets out how the Commissioner will engage

contract management arrangements are in place to

with a wide range of people and partners

monitor and review service quality.

encompassing and including diversity within the
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County. The Commissioner in his role of consulting

holders can be challenged. Through the budget

with the public uses the guiding principles of we

process targets and plans are developed for savings

asked, you said, we did as many engagement

and consideration is given to growth bids to

activities personally involve the Commissioner. To

resource new and changing requirements.

formally support the role of two-way engagement a
six-monthly

paper

is

presented

to

the

Commissioner outlining trends from the various
forms of engagement and this information is used
as an integral part in the process of any key
decisions. Further communication tools are used to
ensure target audiences are kept up to date of
developments

and

key

decisions

for

the

Commissioner.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy includes
information on national financial settlements for
policing and what is known about settlements in
future years. It also sets out the key financial risks
that could impact on funding and expenditure
nationally and locally. Sensitivity analysis provides
information on the potential impact of changes to
assumptions. Collectively this supports decisions on
resources, services, performance and outcomes and
ensures the business has a robust understanding of

Optimising Achievement of
Intended Outcomes

risks to the affordability of future plans. The
Strategy incorporates information on plans for

The Medium Term Financial Forecast integrates the

savings and the impact of funding changes for the

budget

the

number of police officers, PCSO’s and police staff.

Constabulary with the Commissioner’s directly

This supports an on-going dialogue and monitoring

managed budgets.

between the Commissioner and

and

funding

arrangements

for

The totality of estimated

funding forms the basis for considerations regarding

Constabulary in respect of the necessary business

the trade-off between resources for commissioning

change

and resources for policing to optimise outcomes

performance.

within the Police and Crime Plan. Strategic priorities

Through our Commissioning Strategy we engage

within the Plan support decision making on the

and consult with the wider community on support

respective policing and commissioning strategies.

and service provision gaps, this ensures that

This determines for example, the number of police

commissioning objectives and outcomes align with

officers, the balance between people resources

the needs of the local community as well as creating

verses equipment and the balance between

an

supporting victim’s verses crime prevention activity.

Commissioning to local based providers ensures the

The budget process is based on a proposal from the

economic, social and environmental well-being of

Constabulary. It takes a zero-based approach,

the wider Community. Awarding of Contracts or

working closely with the business to forecast

Grant Agreements are based on the social outcomes

operational requirements over 4 years for revenue

and measures which meet local priorities and needs

expenditure and 10 years for capital expenditure.

as opposed to financial gains and benefits.

This includes a series of ‘star chambers’ providing
Chief Officers with the forum through which budget

and

its

opportunity

impact

for

on

providers

outcomes

to

and

innovate.
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Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of
its leadership and the individuals within it
Police and Crime Commissioners need appropriate structures and leadership, as well as
people with the right skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and
effectively and achieve their intended outcomes within the specified periods. Commissioners
must ensure that they have both the capacity to fulfil their mandate and to make certain that
there are policies in place to guarantee that management has the operational capacity for the
entity as a whole. Both the individuals involved and the environment in which Commissioners
operate will change over time, and there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as
well as the skills and experience of the leadership and individual staff members. Leadership is
strengthened by the participation of people with many different types of backgrounds,
reflecting the structure and diversity of their communities

Developing the entity’s capacity

Executive is undertaken on a six-month rotating
basis with the Deputy Chief Executive.

Legislation provides that the Commissioner must

The role and functions of the Chief Finance Officer

appoint a Chief Executive and a Chief Finance

to support the Commissioner’s mandate is set out

Officer (statutory officers). The Chief Executive is

within the Home Office Financial Management

the Commissioner’s Head of Staff with responsibility

Code of Practice and by the Chartered Institute of

for overall management of the Commissioner’s

Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), the CIPFA

office. The Chief Finance Officer (CFO) operates on

statement. The job profile for this role is based on

a shared basis acting as CFO for both the

the CIPFA Statement. Compliance with the

Commissioner and the Chief Constable. Both the

statement is self-assessed on an annual basis and

Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer have

reviewed by the Joint Audit and Standards

statutory

to

Committee. Professional body subscriptions ensure

determining the requirements in respect of staffing

the Chief Finance Officer has access to up to date

resources.

Codes of Practice, guidance and professional

The Chief Executive is a member of the Association

standards

of Police and Crime Chief Executives (APACCE) and

The structure and arrangements for staffing ensures

responsibilities

with

regards

operates within the APACCE statement on the role
of the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officers for
Police and Crime Commissioners. The Chief
Executive’s job profile is based on the APACCE
model to ensure the right skills, experience and
qualifications for the role.

The role of Chief

the Chief Executive has management of overall
staffing as Head of Paid Service with responsibility
for effective succession planning and resilience on
matters of business within a small team.
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A framework for the development and review of
the corporate plan and underlying business plans

Key

ensures action plans and performance targets are

Commissioner

delivered to support continuous improvement.

annually with reports presented for scrutiny to the
Comparisons to most

budget savings programme and reduce costs.

with the Constabulary and supported by a
The

that aim to support the understanding and skills of

Responsible for the delivery of
community safety, crime reduction, the
enhancement of criminal justice and
victim support

all staff engaged in the procurement process. The
procurement strategy sets out how the function
develop

procurement

to

deliver

activity.

best

value

The

procurement

the

Provides the link between the police and
communities; publishes information on
Commissioner and force performance

regulations

incorporate procurement policy and procedures

will

of

Receives all funding, decides the budget
& precept; allocates funding to
maintain an efficient and effective
police force

Procurement regulations are developed jointly

strategy.

role

Holds the Chief Constable to account for
the exercise of his/her functions and
force
performance;
Monitors
complaints.

similar group policing areas are used to inform the

procurement

and

Sets strategic direction & objectives of
the force, issues the Police and Crime
Plan (the Plan) & an annual report

The costs of the Constabulary are benchmarked

Joint Audit Committee.

functions

from

regulations are supported by a set of grant
regulations governing commissioning activity
through a grant based process.

facilitating the accurate and appropriate scrutiny
of the Constabulary’s activities. The Chief
Executive is also the Commissioner’s statutory
Monitoring Officer, providing support to ensure

Developing the entity’s
leadership
The key functions and roles of the Commissioner,
the Chief Executive/Monitoring Office and Chief
Finance Officer are set out in the Police Reform and
Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA) and the
Policing Protocol Order 2011 (PPO). These

the Commissioner’s functions are carried out and
has specific legal, financial and governance duties
in addition to those which derive from statutory
responsibilities. The Chief Executive operates in
accordance with professional standards and the
legislative and fiduciary responsibilities of the
statutory office.

functions and roles define the responsibilities for

The Chief Finance Officer is the lead financial advisor

leadership and are codified in the Commissioner’s

to

Scheme of Delegation and wider documents within

responsibility to ensure that the financial affairs of

the Corporate Governance Framework.

the Commissioner are properly administered. The

The Chief Executive is the Commissioner’s lead
advisor. Key responsibilities include working with
the Commissioner to enable delivery against his
vision, strategy and identified priorities and

the

Commissioner

and

has

statutory

CFO provides all financial advice, provides a
statutory report on the robustness of the budget
and ensures systems of internal financial control are
effective.
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The Commissioner’s Scheme of Delegation is part of

is required to undertake a half-day basic induction

a wider governance framework that further details

course, followed by an accompanied night

specific decision making and wider responsibilities

observation visit; thereafter, new visitors are

of key officers in relation to areas of governance and

trained “on the job” by attending visits in the

ensure all staff have a shared understanding of the

company of a more experienced colleague for the

roles, responsibilities and decision making authority

first six months. On-going ICV training is provided

within the Commissioner’s Office. All governance

at the regular panel meetings and annual local and

documents are regularly reviewed and updated as

regional conferences.

roles develop to respond to changing legislation,
regulations and other new requirements.

In 2016 the OPCC became a member of the
Independent Custody Visitors Association (ICVA) to

A member/officer protocol further sets out the

which it pays an annual subscription. ICVA is a

roles

of

political

holders

(the

Home Office funded organisation set up to promote

Commissioner)

and

and support the effective provision of custody

office

Commissioner/Deputy

nonpolitical office holders (staff employees) to

visiting nationally.

provide clarification on respective responsibilities

government and criminal justice organisations

and expectations around how relationships are

providing advice on best practice for independent

anticipated to work.

This is supported by

custody visiting schemes nationally; training; and

arrangements for the declaration of interests to

publicity to Police and Crime Commissioner and

ensure the Commissioner, members and staff are

custody visitors.

free from relationships that would materially

The Police and Crime Commissioner subscribes as a

interfere with decisions making and their roles.

member of the Association of Police and Crime

Members of the Joint Audit Committee are
recruited for their specific skills and experience to
fulfil the role of the Committee. Role profiles
include a person specification that requires
applicants to demonstrate a sound understanding
and relevant professional experience.

The

ICVA works closely with

Commissioners (APCC). The APCC delivers daily
written briefings received by the Commissioner and
office staff, covering press and parliamentary
reporting on those areas within the Commissioner’s
responsibilities to ensure the Office is kept updated
on current developments.

Committee has clear terms of reference and

The APCC and APACCE deliver national events to

membership

ensure Commissioners and their Chief Executives

that

is

consistent

with

the

requirements of the Home Office Financial

remain informed and have the opportunity to

Management Code of Practice, and CIPFA

discuss significant issues and develop collective

guidance.

Development sessions, access to

approaches. There are also bi-monthly regional

relevant publications and CIPFA/Grant Thornton

meetings of Chief Executives and quarterly regional

external workshops support members continued

meetings of Commissioners and Chief Executives.

development.

The Chief Executive/Monitoring Officer leads for the

The Cumbria ICV Scheme comprises of four panels
of volunteer Custody Visitors. Every new volunteer

Commissioner on ensuring that appropriate policies
and procedures are adopted and followed to ensure
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the COPCC complies with relevant statutes and

Business is carried out supported by policies and

regulations and has the capacity to deliver across

procedures that support the full range of human

these requirements.

resource management responsibilities and all

The CFO subscribes to the Police and Crime
Commissioners’ Treasurers’ Society (PaCCTS,
supporting continuous development and ensuring
the CFO maintains a breadth of understanding on
policing finance. Further capacity and expertise is
commissioned to support specialist services for

policies are subject to cyclical review in accordance
with the Commissioner’s policy framework.
supports

continuous

improvement,

This

ensuring

updated guidance is available for staff on how to
carry out their roles and the wider responsibilities
they should take into account.

treasury management, taxation and insurance

All officers have clearly defined role descriptions

brokerage.

and reporting lines based on the roles and the

Arrangements for staff appraisal provide the
opportunity to discuss and review individual
performance and training and development
needs.

functions for which they are accountable, to ensure
service delivery responsibilities are clear and can be
monitored.

Individual capabilities, performance

and development requirements are assessed
annually through a review process to agree the

Developing the capability of
individuals within the entity
The Commissioner has adopted a number of joint
personnel policies with the Constabulary in
addition to operating within a suite of COPCC
specific policies that provide a framework for all
issues related to employee management, terms
and conditions. This includes policies on how staff
and staff associations will be engaged in any
change processes. There is a general principle for
on-going consultation and engagement during any
areas of business change, creating an environment
where staff can perform well and where ideas and
suggestions are welcomed.
Personnel policies aim to promote a motivated and
competent workforce whilst supporting the health
and well-being of staff. They include arrangements
for work-life balance through a scheme of flexible
working and facilitate access to wider benefits e.g.
special leave at times of specific personal need.

support, training and development staff need to
carry out their duties and responsibilities.
Professional staff undertake continued professional
development in line with the requirements of their
professional bodies. The budget setting process
provides for training and development budgets to
support mandatory and discretionary training and
development requirements.
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Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal
control and strong public financial management
Police and Crime Commissioners need to ensure that the entities and governance structures
that they oversee have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance
management system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk
management, business continuity and internal control are important and integral parts of a
performance management system and crucial to the achievement of outcomes. They
consist of an ongoing process designed to identify and address significant risks involved in
achieving outcomes. A strong system of financial management is essential for the
implementation of policies and the achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce
financial discipline, strategic allocation of resources, efficient service delivery and
accountability.

the risk should it occur. Every project run by the

Managing risk
The Commissioner’s Risk Management Strategy
sets out the overall arrangements for managing
risk including the arrangements for holding to
account the Chief Constable in respect of those
risks that fall within his functions. The Strategy
establishes how risk is embedded throughout the
various elements of corporate governance of the

COPCC has a separate risk register. All decision and
report forms include a section for the author to
complete in which to identify any risks or potential
risks.

To ensure effective ownership and

monitoring of risks, the Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner provides risk management
training to all staff.

COPCC, whether operating solely or jointly with

The arrangements for risk management are subject

the Constabulary. The Strategy incorporates a

to on-going monitoring and review to ensure their

clear framework of objectives, designates roles

continued effectiveness. This comprises review by

and responsibilities for risk management and

internal audit and review by the Joint Audit

provides a mechanism for evaluating and scoring

Committee. The strategic risk register is presented

risks, and supporting decision making in respect of

to the Committee quarterly. The Committee also

mitigating action.

receives the Risk Management Strategy on a

The strategy and risk registers are regularly
reviewed to ensure a clear alignment between risk
management activity and the organisation’s
objectives.

Reporting

formats

ensure

arrangements are dynamic and support the early
identification of strategic and operational risks.
Identified risks are logged on a risk register with
clear ownership and are reviewed cyclically based
on a score that denotes the severity and impact of

quarterly basis and a report from the Chief
Executive annually reporting on the effectiveness of
arrangements for managing risk.
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Managing performance

Police and Crime Panel Functions

The Commissioner holds Public Accountability

The functions of the Police and Crime
Panel include reviewing the draft
police and crime plan, public scrutiny
of the annual report and the power
of veto over the level of the
Commissioner’s proposed precept

Conferences, which facilitates the arrangements for
monitoring service delivery and holding the Chief
Constable to account. This is supported by regular
one to one briefings between the Commissioner
and

Chief

Constable

Collaborative Board.

and

an

office

level

Senior Officers within the

OPCC attend strategic Constabulary meetings to
provide

challenge

and

oversight

of

the

arrangements that support decision making,
delivery of key areas of business and the allocation
of resources.

Senior Managers with responsibility for financial
systems provide annual management assurances
using a CIPFA internal control framework as part of
this process. This is further supported by an annual
fraud risk assessment completed by the Chief
Finance Officer and reviewed by the external

The Police and Crime Panel is the statutory body

auditors.

that provides the public accountability checks and

corruption are subject to cyclical internal audit

balances in relation to the performance of the

review.

Commissioner and scrutiny of any decision made.
The Panel receives cyclical information and reports
on service delivery plans and progress towards
outcomes. The Panel is consulted on the
development of the Police and Crime Plan and
budget, with a power of veto over the
Commissioner’s precept.

The panel receives an

Annual Report setting out what has been achieved
in respect of delivery of the Police and Crime Plan
objectives, and a financial outturn report comparing

An

Arrangements for anti-fraud and

independent

commissioned

internal
through

audit
shared

service

is

service

arrangements with the county council. Internal
audit develops and delivers a risk based annual
audit plan of work that reviews internal controls.
This supports an annual opinion from the Chief
Internal Auditor on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk
management and control.

actual expenditure against the budget and including

An independent Joint Audit Committee assures

summary financial statements.

cyclical internal reviews of key governance
documents

(e.g.

financial

regulations,

Robust internal control

arrangements for anti-fraud and corruption and the

The Commissioner is responsible for reviewing the

risk management strategy) at its November meeting

effectiveness

and

of

his

governance

framework

receives

annual

reports

reviewing the

including the system of internal control. This work

effectiveness of arrangements for risk, governance

is informed by the work of Chief Officers and Senior

and internal control in June and September. The

Managers who undertake an overarching review of

Joint Audit Committee receive a copy of all internal

key controls and governance arrangements in

and external audit reports, can table reports for

support of the key principles in this Code.

discussion and monitor the implementation of audit
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recommendations. The Committee undertakes an

the approved budget and the purpose for which

annual

on-going

approvals have been given. Financial monitoring

compliance with the CIPFA framework for Police

supports the early identification of variances

Audit Committees.

between

self-assessment

to

ensure

actual

expenditure

and

income,

supporting timely decision making on remedial

Managing Data

action.

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
operates within the parameters of legislation, such
as the Data Protection Act. It ensures that all data,
including personal data, is appropriately stored
and shared where necessary.

Data is held in

accordance with the COPCC Retention Schedule,
removed or destroyed appropriately and access to

A funding arrangement between the Commissioner
and Constabulary sets out the consents and
arrangements for financial management between
the Commissioner and Chief Constable. This ensures
funding within the Constabulary is directed toward
the achievement of the Policing Strategy and
priority outcomes within the Police and Crime Plan.

information is restricted where appropriate to
relevant members of staff. Data will not be held
for longer than is necessary. Appropriate security
measures are taken for both electronic and
physical data.

All staff are aware of their

responsibilities when handling and storing both
electronic and physical data and the need to
comply with General Data Protection Regulations.

Financial regulations set out the role and
responsibilities of Chief Officers and senior staff for
financial management and governance. They
include financial management standards to be
adhered to by all staff across the organisation and
the wider framework of controls including the
arrangements for the statement of accounts.

The OPCC has a Joint Data Protection Officer with

Financial risks and mitigations are set out within the

Cumbria Constabulary who provides expert advice

Medium Term Financial Strategy and are managed

and support.

within the Commissioner’s overall framework for
managing risk. The Joint Chief Finance Officer takes

Strong public financial
management

ownership of all financial risks and reports to the
Joint Audit and Standards Committee on the

Arrangements for financial management support

management

for the Commissioner in achieving outcomes and

Arrangements for financial management are

delivering

financial

cyclically reviewed by the internal auditors for

performance by ensuring that resources are used

assurance and form part of the arrangements

in accordance with approved plans for service

reviewed by the external auditors in forming their

delivery and investment. The arrangements for

conclusions on the financial statements and value

financial management are codified within a suite of

for money.

strong

operational

and

financial governance documents and comply with
the relevant CIPFA Codes of Practice and guidance.
Financial

management

controls

ensure

expenditure is only committed in accordance with

of

strategic

financial

risks.
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Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting,
and audit to deliver effective accountability
Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are
answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions
completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the
organisation plans and carries out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and
internal audit contribute to effective accountability.

Implementing good practice in
transparency

Implementing good practices in
reporting

The Commissioner’s annual report is the primary

The Office publishes an annual report, scrutinised by

communication through which the public can

the Police and Crime Panel, to communicate the

access and understand the performance and

Commissioner’s

activities of the Commissioner and his Office.

performance and that of the Chief Constable and

Design work for the report is commissioned from

the force.

external media and communication professionals

performance outcomes achieved against an agreed

which alongside the written style aims to support

framework of targets and measures.

transparency and public accessibility of the report.

activities,

achievements

and

The annual report presents the

The Commissioner is subject to the Accounts and

All public documents are published on the COPCC

Audit (England) Regulations 2015 and prepares a set

website and are available in accessible formats.

of accounts in accordance with the

Further options can be offered on request. The

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority

intention is to ensure that all documents are

Accounting. Compliance with the Code of Practice

written in such a way as to make them accessible

ensures the comparability of financial information

to readers that may not have a detailed knowledge

within the statements with other similar entities

of the subject matter, though with some complex

and their publication in accordance with statutory

issues this is not always possible. The publication

timeframes.

of key documents, such as the Police and Crime

comprehensive income and expenditure statement,

Plan, is supported by a media release to raise

which is aligned to in year financial reporting and

awareness of the document and its purpose.

monitoring. A narrative statement by the Chief

Arrangements for financial reporting aim to ensure
the accessibility of financial information for
readers and users of financial reports. On complex
matters

of

communication,

for

example

consultation on budget, precept and services,
professional support has been procured to ensure
a robust public understanding of complex issues.

The financial statements include a

Finance Officer sets out the overall financial and
business performance for the year within an
accessible summary statement.

The financial

statements include the external auditors report
setting out the overall opinion and conclusions on
value for money.
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The Commissioner’s overall arrangements for

recommendations arising from the audit and have

governance are reviewed annually against this Code

the expertise to challenge the external audit

of Corporate Governance with a report made on

approach, supporting assurance of its effectiveness.

how it has been complied with. This ‘Annual
Governance Statement (AGS)’ is subject to review
by the Joint Audit and Standards Committee. The
AGS includes an action plan setting out the work
that will be undertaken over the following year to
support continuous improvement in line with the
principles of this Code and the CIPFA good
governance framework.

Further accountability is provided through the
arrangements for internal audit. Internal audit is
delivered through a shared service and in
accordance with an Internal Audit Charter that
ensures compliance with the PSIAS.

An annual

review of the effectiveness of the internal audit
service, including the arrangements for the Joint
Audit Committee, is undertaken annually by the

The Commissioner and the Joint Audit Committee

Joint Chief Finance Officer against CIPFA best

receive annually a report reviewing the governance

practice standards. The report is published on the

arrangements for internal audit against the

Commissioner’s website to support assurances on

requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit

internal control.

Standard (PSIAS).

The arrangements

for accountability

further

incorporate challenge, reviews and inspections

Assurance and effective
accountability

from HMICFRS. Whilst these are primarily aimed at
Constabulary performance, elements of specific

Grant Thornton UK LLP are the external auditors

reviews include jointly delivered activities and

appointed to both the Police and Crime

specifically commissioned reports that cover

Commissioner for Cumbria and the Chief Constable

governance

for Cumbria Constabulary, to report key matters

Recommendations are reported to and monitored

arising from audits of the Commissioner and Chief

by the Commissioner and Joint Audit Committee.

Constable’s financial statements.

The external

auditors also reach a formal conclusion on whether
the Commissioner and Chief and Constable have put
in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.
The audit findings report is published in the financial
statements and presented to the Commissioner and
Joint Audit Committee for review. The Joint Audit
Committee

monitors

the implementation

of

across

both

organisations.

The Ethics and Integrity Panel also monitors and
reports on some specific areas of activity, such as
complaint handling and ethical issues. The Panel
has carried out a series of thematic inspections into
specific areas of Constabulary activity. The Panel
are able to look objectively at these areas and
provide

valuable

independent

scrutiny

feedback to the Constabulary on their findings.

and
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The arrangements in this document set out our framework for governance in accordance with CIPFA’s Good
Governance Principles and guidance. Annex A to this Code sets out our governance schematic, summarising the
arrangements we have in place internally and sources of external guidance and support. Further information on
the arrangements for Governance can be found on the Commissioner’s website under the tab headed
Governance and Transparency.
We welcome your views on the Commissioner’s Code of Corporate Governance. You can do this by using the
contact information below:
Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner
Carleton Hall
Penrith
Cumbria CA10 2AU
Telephone: 01768 217734
E-mail:commissioner@cumbria-pcc.gov.uk
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The Chief Constable for Cumbria
Constabulary
Code of Corporate Governance 2021/22
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Introduction
The statutory responsibilities of the Chief Constable ‘to maintain the Queen’s Peace’ are outlined in various
Police Acts. The Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PR&SRA), which introduced Police and Crime
Commissioners, re-enforced the operational independence of the Chief Constable and clarified her role in
supporting the delivery of the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan.

The PR&SRA also established the Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary (the Constabulary) as a separate
corporate sole. Accordingly, the Chief Constable is responsible for ensuring that business of the Constabulary is
conducted in accordance with this statutory and regulatory framework and in accordance with proper standards.
This includes ensuring that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically,
efficiently and effectively. In fulfilling this overall responsibility, the Chief Constable is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for governance, including risk management and the arrangements for ensuring the
delivery of the functions and duties of her office.

In doing this, the Chief Constable approves and adopts annually this Code of Corporate Governance, ‘The Code’.
The Code gives clarity to the way the Chief Constable governs and sets out the frameworks that are in place to
support the overall arrangements for Cumbria Constabulary. The Code is based on the core principles of
governance set out within the CIPFA/SOLACE good governance standard for public services which has ‘proper
practices’ status.

On an annual basis the Chief Constable will produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS reviews
the effectiveness of the arrangements for governance and sets out how this Code of Corporate Governance has
been complied with.

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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The Code of Corporate Governance
This code of corporate governance sets out how the Chief Constable will govern. It is based
on the seven good governance principles highlighted by the good governance standard for
the public service. This code uses those principles as the structure for setting out the statutory
framework and local arrangements that are in place to achieve them.

Those principles are:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong
commitment to ethical values and respecting
the rule of law.

B.

Ensuring

openness

and

comprehensive

stakeholder engagement.

C.

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable,
economic, social and environmental benefits.

D. Determining the interventions necessary to
optimise

the

achievement

of

intended

outcomes.

E.

Developing the entity’s capacity, including the
capability of its leadership and the individuals
within it.

F.

Managing risks and performance through
robust internal control and strong public
financial management.

G. Implementing good practices in transparency,
reporting and audit to deliver effective
accountability.

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to
ethical values and respecting the rule of law.
Chief Constables are accountable not only for how much they spend, but also for how they
use the resources under their stewardship. This includes accountability for outputs, both
positive and negative, and for the outcomes they have achieved. In addition, they have an
overarching responsibility to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements of
legislation and government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can demonstrate the
appropriateness of all their actions and have mechanisms in place to encourage and enforce
adherence to ethical values and to respect the rule of law.
Ethics and Integrity

actions and conduct and those of others to protect
the organisation against fraudulent and corrupt

The Chief Constable and Chief Officer Group recog-

acts. The procedure includes guidance for integrity

nise that to operate legitimately it is essential that

in respect of gifts and hospitality, completion of a

the Constabulary is able to demonstrate the highest

register of interests and declarations of related

standards of integrity in all its activities.

party transactions. These ensure that staff avoid
being engaged in any activity where an actual or

Officers and staff employed by the Constabulary

perceived conflict may exist and that there is

are expected to adhere to the highest standards of

transparency in respect of any personal or business

conduct and personal behaviour. The requirements

relationships.

of officers are set out in the Police (Conduct)
Regulations. The requirements of Police staff are

Ethics and integrity issues are specifically covered

set out in the Police Staff Council Standards of

in the Constabulary’s fifteen week strengths based

Professional Behaviour document.

conversation processes, in which all officers and
staff are required to participate.

The Constabulary has adopted and provided
training on the Code of Ethics produced by the

The Home Office Financial Management Code of

College of Policing and all officers and staff are

Practice requires the Chief Constable to ensure that

required to abide by its provisions.

governance principles are embedded within the
way the organisation operates. This is achieved

The Constabulary has an Anti-fraud and Corruption

through the Chief Constable’s arrangements for

Policy and Procedures, which set out clear

corporate

definitions of fraud and corruption. The policy

principles of openness, accountability and integrity

embodies the values of the Code of Ethics based on

in the conduct of the Constabulary’s business

governance,

which

the 7 Nolan Principles for Public Life and makes
clear the duty of everyone with regard to their own

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22

embody

the

P a g e |4

The Joint Financial Regulations set out the internal

anonymous information. The Constabulary also

framework and procedures for financial regulation

subscribes to and publicises ‘Public Concern at

and administration. They set out the arrangements

Work’ (PCaW), an independent authority on public

for the proper administration of financial affairs

interest whistleblowing to allow employees the

ensuring these are conducted properly and in

facility to report externally to the Constabulary if

compliance with all necessary requirements. They

required.

also seek to re-enforce the standards of conduct in
public life, particularly the need for openness,

The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief

accountability

Financial

Constable have established an Ethics and Integrity

Regulations also re-enforce the anti-fraud and

Panel to ensure that arrangements for integrity,

corruption policy, covering the culture expected

standards, conduct and behaviour are subject to

within the organisation, responsibilities and

independent external scrutiny. As part of its role

measures in place to prevent fraud and corruption

the Panel reviews performance across agreed

and how it will be detected and investigated.

indicators of integrity, including public complaints.

and

integrity.

The

The Panel’s findings are reported annually to the
The Joint Procurement Regulations, re-enforce the

Commissioner’s Public Accountability Conference

integrity requirements within the anti-fraud and

to ensure good practice is recognised and

corruption policy in the context of procurement

encouraged, while any potential areas requiring

activity and interactions with commercial suppliers.

improvement can be identified and dealt with

They provide a guide to staff and suppliers in

accordingly to enhance performance.

respect of the principles that will be followed in the
conduct of business and the processes we expect

The Joint Audit Committee operates within

staff to comply with when buying goods and

Standing Orders for the regulation of its business.

services. Provisions within the tendering process

The orders include expectations in respect of the

re-enforce the requirement for suppliers to act in

conduct of members and how any conflicts of

an ethical manner.

interest should be managed.

Members of the

Committee are independent and will scrutinise and
The Constabulary maintains arrangements for

monitor the operation and effectiveness the

confidential

arrangements

reporting

(whistleblowing)

and

guidance for managers with regard to how any

for

governance

including

arrangements for anti-fraud and corruption.

reporting will be responded to. These are contained
in the Anti- Fraud and Corruption Policy and

Respecting the Rule of Law

Procedures

Standards

The Chief Constable recognises that in fulfilling her

Confidential Reporting Policy and Procedure. The

duty to ‘Maintain the Queen’s Peace’ it is essential

confidential reporting policies and procedures are

that the Constabulary as an organisation is able to

supported by a regularly publicised internal and

demonstrate respect for the law.

and

the

Professional

external confidential phone line and e-mail
reporting system on which individuals can leave
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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The Chief Constable is committed to operating an

of the Police and Crime Commissioner. The Chief

environment where open debate and transparent

Constable also has a procedure in place to receive

governance is the norm, allowing senior officers to

and investigate complaints made to it about the

carry out their responsibilities in delivering the

conduct of Association of Chief Police Officers (with

Constabulary’s objectives.

the exception of the Chief Constable who is
accountable to the Commissioner) under the

The Director of Legal Services, who is a qualified

relevant conduct regulations.

solicitor, provides advice to the Constabulary on all
legal matters and is consulted on all strategic
decisions to ensure that laws are not contravened.

As part of their training police officers receive
specific training on the law and its applicability to
policing services.

The Constabulary has a People Department, which
includes a Professional Standards function, whose
role is to promote proper standards of conduct and
monitor compliance with codes. The function
actively liaises with management teams and other
groups with the aim of maintaining high standards
of conduct and produces regular reports, which set
out details of non-compliance with standards and
codes. The function has its own intranet site to
facilitate demonstration of best practice and
produces a newsletter (PASS) highlighting areas of
concern, guidance, learning and signposts officers
and staff to those that can provide welfare /
support. The Professional Standards function has
an anti-corruption unit whose role is to investigate
information and intelligence received concerning
the conduct of officers and members of police staff.

The Professional Standards function also oversees
all complaints, ensuring compliance with Police
Reform Act 2002 and the Police (Complaints and
Misconduct) Regulations. These complaints are
reported to and audited periodically by the Office
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Constabularies are run for the public good, they therefore should ensure openness in their
activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and consultation should be used to
engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as individual citizens and service
users, as well as institutional stakeholders.
Openness

taken solely in the public interest and to maintain

All decision making operates within the specific

the Queen’s peace.

legislative and regulatory frameworks that confer on
the

Chief

and

The Constabulary has a Chief Officer Group, which

The significant elements of the

has responsibility for strategic decision making and

Constable

responsibility.

duties,

powers

statutory framework for decision making comprise:

is supported by subsidiary boards organised around
delivery of priorities within the future strategic

•

•

•

•

Various Police Acts, which outline the

vision outlined in Cumbria Vision 2025, with defined

responsibilities of the Chief Constable and

terms of reference. Formal Chief Officer Group

provide

meetings are minuted. Decisions of the Chief Officer

clarity

on

her

operational

independence.

Group and strategic boards are recorded and made

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act

available to key internal stakeholders. All significant

2011 (PR&SRA) providing the legal framework

strategic decisions are referred to the Chief Officer

for decision-making.

Group. A forward plan and standing items ensure

The Policing Protocol Order 2011 setting out

that all significant areas of Constabulary business are

the framework within which the PCC & CC

considered on a regular and planned basis. Reports

should work and requiring all parties to abide

for decisions are prepared on a standard template,

by the Nolan Principles.

which ensures that the implications of all decisions

The Home Office Financial Management Code

are clearly understood. This includes a requirement

of Practice for the Police Service embedding

to

the principles of good governance into the way

resources, equality, procurement, ICT and risk

the Chief Constable operates.

management advice. The Director of Legal Services,

acquire

relevant

financial,

legal,

human

in conjunction with the Chief Finance Officer has
Challenge

and

scrutiny

contribute

to

good

governance by being part of accountable decision
making,

policy

making

and

review.

responsibility for the lawfulness of Chief Officer
Group decisions.

The

implementation of a robust decision making process

Items of Constabulary business falling under the

ensures that the right decisions are taken for the

remit of the Police and Crime Commissioner or of a

right reason at the right time. The Chief Constable

strategic nature are referred to the Commissioner

adopts rigorous standards of probity, regularity and

from the Chief Officer Group. Decisions for financial

transparency in decision making and all decisions are

investment are subject to a fully developed business

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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case that provides a clear justification for the

organisations involved in policing, community safety

expenditure. The Commissioner’s decision making

and criminal justice. The Constabulary works in

policy sets out the decision making process and how

partnership with a number of public, private and

decisions will be recorded and published to ensure

third sector partners to do this. The Chief Constable

transparency of all decisions taken.

reports details of actual and planned collaborative

A Code of

Conduct provides advice with regard to potential

ventures to the Commissioner on a regular basis.

conflict and declarations of interest.
The financial and procurement regulations, together
The Constabulary’s wider governance framework

with the Constabulary’s financial rules provide for

details specific responsibilities of key officers in

the regulation of partnership arrangements and to

relation to areas of governance. The framework

ensure that the purpose of such partnerships is

includes

evaluated

financial

regulations

and

rules,

and

risks
agrees

assessed
to

before

participate.

the

procurement regulations, anti-fraud and corruption

Constabulary

The

policies, a scheme of delegation and codes of

Constabulary also undertakes a Value for Money

conduct. These documents ensure all officers and

assessment on its major strategic partnerships.

staff have a shared understanding of their roles,
responsibilities and decision making authority within

Significant partnership working arrangements are

the organisation.

supported by memorandums of understanding,
strategic plans and operating protocols which clearly

The Constabulary has also agreed a media protocol

state the respective responsibilities expectations of

with the Commissioner, setting out who is

each partner.

responsible for communicating information and
clearly identifying whether there is a single lead
organisation, a joint responsibility or a supporting

Engaging stakeholders effectively,
including citizens and service users

responsibility.
The Constabulary has a Community Engagement and
The Chief Constable complies with guidance
provided by the Information Commissioner in
respect of an information publication scheme. This
ensures

key

accountability

information
is

to

available

ensure
through

public
the

Constabulary’s website.

Engaging Effectively with Institutional
Stakeholders

Consultation Strategy, which is reported through the
Operations Board. This includes a consultation
action plan, which co-ordinates all on-going
consultation activities and is reviewed and refreshed
on an annual basis to continually improve
consultation arrangements.

The Constabulary engages with local communities
through the work of its Neighbourhood Policing
Teams through the Local Focus Hubs and operating

The Police and Crime Plan sets out a Pan-Cumbrian

Engagement Plans, which use a range of methods

vision. The vision recognises that, in preventing

that are specific to urban and rural community

crime, commitment is needed from a range of

needs. The plans ensure that community priorities,

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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concerns and areas for improvement are identified
and dealt with.

The

Constabulary

has

a

marketing

and

communications strategy aimed at establishing clear
channels of communication and engagement with
all sections of the community. This includes
alternatives to traditional communication methods
including the force website to provide key
information to the public and undertake surveys.
Social media and pro-active media coverage of
events are used to provide accurate messages and
re-assurance and, to receive direct community
feedback to the Neighbourhood Policing Teams.

The Strategic Independent Advisory Group (IAG)
meets regularly to discuss emerging issues of
strategy and policy both nationally and locally and to
support, scrutinise and challenge the Constabulary
on how it conducts its policing activity.

The Constabulary meets its requirements under the
Equality Act 2010 by setting equality objectives
every four years and publishing equality information
via its website every three months.

The Constabulary surveys victims of crime and antisocial behaviour to ensure that the Victims’ Code of
Practice is complied with and to use the feedback to
improve the experience of victims and the services
provided. Service recovery is part of this process.

Local crime data is published at a community level
via the Constabulary’s website and nationally via
police.uk to increase the transparency of crime and
performance data.

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and
environmental benefits.
The long-term nature and impact of many of Chief Constables’ responsibilities mean that they
should define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should
further the purpose of Police and Crime Commissioners, contribute to intended benefits and
outcomes, and remain within the limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of
stakeholders, including citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the
success of this process and in balancing competing demands when determining priorities for
the finite resources available.
Defining Outcomes

the forthcoming year in delivering the over-arching

The Chief Constable determines the strategic

objective of ‘Keeping Cumbria Safe’. The plan also

direction and objectives for the Constabulary. This

outlines key support activities, its policing style and

supports the Police and Crime Commissioner in

leadership standards. The presentation of the Plan

developing his Police and Crime Plan. The

on a Page provides a concise and easily understood

Commissioner approves policing objectives, which

overview designed to focus officers and staff on the

are incorporated into the plan, which is available on

Chief Constable’s mission.

the

Commissioners

website

at

www.cumbria.pcc.gov.uk

The Constabulary has developed a longer term
Cumbria Vision 2025 plan, which is aligned to the

In developing the Constabulary’s vision and

national policing vision 2025. Cumbria 2025 aims to

strategic priorities the Chief Constable takes into

bring together the Constabulary’s operational,

consideration her statutory responsibilities for

business, change and financial planning in a single

maintaining the Queen’s Peace, the Home

co-ordinated plan, which outlines how it will deliver

Secretary’s Strategic Policing Requirement, the

an effective policing service and respond to chang-

Constabulary’s Strategic Assessment, based on

ing service demands over the longer term within

operational intelligence, and the views of a range of

available resources.

stakeholders including the community, staff and
partners. Performance outcomes, operational

The Constabulary’s medium term financial fore-

intelligence, strategic risks, the Force Management

casts supports both the Commissioner’s medium

Statement and the results of audits and inspections

term financial strategy and the Chief Constable’s

are also taken into consideration when setting

policing vision by aligning resources with policing

strategic priorities.

priorities over a four year time period, which ensures that a sustainable approach to service deliv-

The Constabulary has developed a Plan on a Page,

ery is adopted.

which highlights its seven operational priorities for
THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22
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Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits

Themes include:•

Well-being

ions taken into consideration in developing the

•

Workforce Planning

Chief Constable’s policing vision. This ensures that

•

Learning & Development

•

Resourcing, succession and talent man-

A wide range of information and stakeholder opin-

balanced and comprehensive consideration is given
to all aspects of the potential impact of policing pol-

agement

icy decisions on the local community.
•

Reward & recognition

•

Performance management

public interest. To manage risk and ensure trans-

•

Supporting change & engagement

parency employees are required to make declara-

•

Equality & diversity

•

Health & Safety.

All decisions by the Chief Constable are taken in the

tions where there may are or may be perceived to
be a conflict of interest

The Constabulary adopts a medium term outlook
aligned to the medium term financial planning period when developing business plans, ensuring that
the sustainability of service provision is considered
as a key element of the business planning process.
Due to their long term impact capital expenditure
plans are developed over a ten year forecast pe-

The Constabulary complies with the Equalities Act
2010. In doing so all policies, strategic decisions,
functions and practices are assessed against the
general and specific duties of the Act with the aim
of ensuring that we evaluate, document and foster
good relations and advance equality of opportunity.

riod.

It is recognised that the Constabulary’s officers and
staff are its greatest asset and that effective human
resource planning is the most significant factor influencing the delivery of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits. The Constabulary’s People Strategy, encompasses a range of strategic themes to ensure that the Constabulary nurtures, cares for and gets the best from its workforce
In addition the People Strategy supports the effective planning, deployment and training of staffing
resources.
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Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the
achievement of the intended outcomes.
Chief Constables achieve their intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory,
and practical interventions. Determining the right mix of interventions is a critically important
strategic choice and Chief Constables have to make to ensure they achieve their intended
outcomes. They need robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure that their defined
outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between the various types
of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. Decisions made need
to be reviewed continually to ensure that achievement of outcomes is optimised.

Planning Interventions

•

The Force Management Statement, which
determines resources required to meet current

The Constabulary develops a work programme to

and future demand based on an extensive

deliver its priorities. The work programme is based

analysis of operational demand

on

•

The views of the public and other stakeholders.

•

Cumbria Vision 2025.

•

The Strategic Assessment (a document which

The work programme supports and informs the

sets out the Chief Constable's operational

Police and Crime Plan and is underpinned by a

priorities

Medium Term Financial Forecast, which ensures

based

upon performance and

intelligence)

that funding is aligned to the resources required to

•

The regional strategic threat risk assessment

deliver policing priorities over a sustainable period.

•

The results of PEEL & Thematic Inspections by

•

•

•

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies.

The Constabulary reviews its vision and strategic

The Change Strategy, which sets out how the

activities annually to ensure that they continue to

Constabulary will improve and deliver savings

support the Police and Crime Plan and the

to balance its budget.

Constabulary’s priorities. To support this process

Business Strategies , which describe what and

strategic and financial planning within the

how the Constabulary will deliver essential

Constabulary are co-ordinated to ensure that the

support functions including ICT, HR, training,

Commissioner’s

fleet, estates and procurement.

decision making processes form part of the overall

The Workforce Plan, which describes how the

planning cycle of the Constabulary and support the

Constabulary will provide the officers and staff

development of the Commissioner’s wider Medium

required to deliver operational and other

Term Financial Strategy.

reporting

policing services.
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The Constabulary’s monitoring processes enable

specific

consents

in

respect

of

emerging issues and threats to the achievement of

management of the Constabulary budget.

financial

objectives to be quickly identified and appropriate
remedial action taken.

The Constabulary has a Chief Officer Group, which
is its strategic decision making body and this is

Key performance measures are set to support the

supported by a clearly defined board structure.

objectives within the Police and Crime Plan and the

There are established terms of reference and clear

Constabulary’s own priorities. This is supported by

reporting lines to the Chief Officer Group. Reports

a

management

are presented to Boards on a standard template,

framework, which is developed jointly with the

which includes details of options evaluation and

Commissioner.

framework

consultation with all affected business areas to

supports the Commissioner in holding the Chief

ensure that decisions are robust and the

Constable to account for the performance of the

implications fully understood.

comprehensive

The

performance

performance

Constabulary and is also used to direct and manage
activity within the Constabulary through the work

Task and Finish Groups and Steering Groups are set
up to ensure that specific priorities are delivered.

programme.

Members of these groups include police staff and
The principles of risk management are fully
embedded within the strategy development
planning and performance monitoring processes
linked to the achievement of organisational
objectives. Where specific risks are identified they

officers from all ranks and level, representing
decision makers and practitioners. The groups
report into the permanent governance framework
to ensure effective and co-ordinated decision
making.

are integrated with the Constabulary’s overall risk
The decision making authority and duties to be

management processes.

carried out by individual officers on behalf of the
Chief Constable are set out in the Chief Constable’s
The

Constabulary

reviews

its

governance

arrangements on a regular basis to reflect

Scheme of Delegation, budget management
responsibilities and budget protocols.

development in the Police and Crime Plan and to
support delivery of its own vision and priorities,

In the operational environment the Constabulary
utilises the National Decision Model (developed by

making adjustments as necessary.

the NPCC Ethics Portfolio and National Risk Coordination Group) supported by the THRIVESC

Determining Interventions

(threat, harm, risk, investigative opportunity,
The funding agreement between the Commissioner

vulnerability engagement, safeguarding and ethical

and Constabulary sets out the consents and

crime recording) principles when determining

arrangements

the

actions. This is a risk assessment framework and

Commissioner and the Chief Constable, including

decision making process which is used by all police

for

governance

between
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forces across the country. It provides a logical,

medium and longer term resource allocation

evidence based approach to making policing

processes

decisions and is used by all police officers in their

Programme and more immediate interventions in

daily work. Further guidance and support to

response to inspection findings.

principally

through

the

Change

operational decision making is provided through
operational policies and standard operating
procedures.

The National Intelligence Model (NIM) is a business
model for law enforcement and it takes an
intelligence-led approach to policing. The tasking
and co-ordination process within NIM provides
police managers with a decision making mechanism
to manage their business both strategically
(national, regional and constabulary level) and
tactically (territorial policing area level). Pro-active
leadership is an essential requirement of the
tasking and co-ordinating process. Management

Optimising achievement of intended
outcomes
The Constabulary’s Medium Term Financial Planning process is fully integrated with the Commissioner’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and wider
business planning within the Constabulary. Consistent planning assumptions particularly in relation
to the estimation of overall funding are utilised to
ensure that the development of business strategies
takes place in the context of the resources available
and support the development of the Commissioner’s wider Medium Term Financial Strategy.

decisions are based on a full understanding of the
problems faced and enable managers to prioritise
the deployment of resources at their disposal.

The Constabulary prepares a detailed budget proposal for the Commissioner. The proposal is based
upon a zero based budget approach, working

The day to day allocation of resources across
operational policing is directed by a daily forcewide operational review meeting linked to daily
management meetings. These forums operate
under the ‘THRIVE’ principles and soft boundaries
to ensure flexibility to respond to priorities across
the whole force area.

Performance, outcomes and costs are monitored
and benchmarked through a framework which
includes external comparators based on HMICFRS
Value for Money Profiles, Police Effectiveness,
Efficiency and Legitimacy (PEEL) inspection reports
and an Annual Value for Money Conclusion from
the External Auditors. The results of these

closely with the business and functional managers
to forecast operational requirements over 4 years
for revenue budgets and 10 years for capital expenditure. This includes a series of ‘star chambers’
providing Chief Officers with the forum through
which budget-holders can be challenged on their
requirements.
In the current financial climate the Constabulary’s
Change

Programme,

which

sits

across

all

workstreams within the Cumbria Vision 2025 plan
and is delivered by the Business Improvement Unit,
is critical to the delivery of a balanced and sustainable budget and is subject to detailed financial scrutiny as part of the budget planning process.

inspections are used to inform and plan both
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The final budget proposal is developed through an
iterative process of on-going dialogue between the
Commissioner and Chief Constable in producing the
Medium Term Financial Strategy, which takes into
consideration
•

Estimates of funding both through government
grant settlements and council tax.

•

Service priorities and delivery plans.

•

Financial and business risks.

•

Change Programme savings.

•

The impact on numbers of Officers, PCSOs and staff.
Ultimately, the Medium Term Financial Planning
process seeks to align resources to strategic priorities, ensure that decisions on resources, services,
performance and expected outcomes are based on
a robust understanding of risks to and affordability
of future plans.
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Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity including the capability of its
leadership and the individuals within it.
Constabularies need appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the right
skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and
achieve their intended outcomes within the specified periods. Chief Constables must ensure
that they have both the capacity to fulfil their mandate and to make certain that there are
policies in place to guarantee that management has the operational capacity for the entity as
a whole. Because both individuals and the environment in which Chief Constables operate
will change over time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the
skills and experience of individual staff members. Leadership is strengthened by the
participation of people with many different types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and
diversity of their communities.

Developing the Entity’s capacity

cornerstone of the annual resource allocation
process and identifies the numbers and type of

The Constabulary has developed and agreed a

resource required for the short and medium term.

Continuous Improvement, Efficiency and Value for

The results inform workforce and training planning.

Money Strategy, which sets out the principles the
Constabulary will follow and specific reviews, which

The Constabulary’s services are subject to

aim to secure maximum value from the resources

independent review by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate

available to it. The strategy utilises HMICFRS Value

of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services

for Money profiles and Police Objective Analysis

(HMICFRS) and by internal audit, which is provided

data, to benchmark resources allocations across all

by the Cumbria Shared Internal Audit Service. A

functions in relation to other forces. The

Business Improvement Unit has been established

conclusions of this work are reported to the Chief

re-enforces the work of external inspectorates

Officer Group and the Joint Audit Committee and

through a programme of self-assessments and

are used as a basis for identifying areas with the

internal inspections, which ensure that both

potential to deliver savings through the Change

internally identified service improvements and

Programme.

recommendations from external reviews are acted
upon.

The Force Management Statement is reviewed
annually and establishes the resources required

The Constabulary is open to the idea of

across all functions based on current demand and

collaboration with other forces and organisations

identified future demand trends. The process is the

as a means of delivering more efficient services.
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Collaborative opportunities which deliver benefits

Other senior officers and staff posts have clear and

to Cumbria are actively pursued.

accurate job descriptions and are recruited to on
the basis of relevant knowledge, experience and

The Chief Constable’s Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is

qualifications.

shared with the Police and Crime Commissioner
and is a member of the Chartered Institute of Public

The Constabulary fully utilises the College of

Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The CFO

Policing leadership programmes to develop its

operates within the guidance set out in the CIPFA

senior officers and staff. The Constabulary ensures

Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer

that senior uniformed officers and detectives

of the Constabulary.

maintain their national accreditation to provide
operational command for major and critical

Procurement regulations are developed jointly with

incidents and serious investigations.

the Commissioner and supported by a procurement
strategy. The regulations incorporate procurement

The Chief Constable is statutorily required to

policy and procedures that aim to ensure best value

appoint a Chief Finance Officer (CFO). The CFO’s

in the use of public money. The regulations also

responsibilities and job profile are based on the

promote an open and transparent approach to

Home Office Financial Management Code of

procurement and the highest standards of integrity

Practice and the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the

and ethical behaviour for all those involved.

CFO. The CFO is the financial advisor to the Chief

Developing the Entity’s Leadership
The key functions and roles of the Chief Constable
and the Police and Crime Commissioner are set out
in the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act
2011 (PRSRA) and the Policing Protocol Order 2011
(PPO). The PRSA and the PPO also set out the

Constable and has statutory responsibility to
ensure that the financial affairs of the Chief
Constable are properly administered, having regard
to their probity, legality and appropriate standards.
The CFO provides all financial advice and ensures
systems of internal financial control are effective.
The CFO is shared with the Commissioner.

function and roles of statutory officers.
The Chief Constable is supported by the Director of
The Constabulary’s uniformed Statutory Officers

Legal Services, who is a qualified solicitor, member

are required to complete the Association of Chief

of the Law Society and member of the Solicitor’s

Police Officers Strategic Command Course before

Regulatory Authority. The Director of Legal Services

they are permitted to undertake Chief Officer roles

has responsibility for advising the Chief Constable

on a permanent basis. This course is designed to

on legal matters. The Director of Legal Services is

ensure that senior officers are equipped with the

able to scrutinise the legal implications of all

requisite leadership skills and competencies to

strategic decisions.

undertake senior officer roles.
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Members of the Joint Audit Committee and Ethics

promotions and appointments processes are

and Integrity Panel are recruited for the specific

equitable.

skills and experience requirements to fulfil their
respective roles. These bodies have clear terms of

All personnel policies are reviewed on a periodic

reference and membership which are consistent

basis to ensure that they remain fit for purpose and

with best practice. Members are supported in their

support officers and staff in working effectively.

professional development through provision of
seminars prior to meetings, access to relevant

The Constabulary has a well-defined organisational

publications and external training.

structure with clear reporting lines. All officers and
staff within the Constabulary have job profiles,

The Constabulary has a leadership development

which define their roles and include the policing

programme which aims to ensure that managers at

professional framework.

all levels within the organisation are equipped with
the knowledge and skills required to lead. This

There are national pay scales for police officers and

leadership and skills programme provides bespoke

police staff. Terms and conditions of employment

training for aspiring Sergeants and Inspectors to

are approved nationally for Police Officers, via

give them the best platform to perform those

Police Regulations and locally for police staff, in

critical roles. Police staff supervisors are also able

conjunction with employee representatives. The

to access elements of this training. A series of

Constabulary operates an approved job evaluation

development workshops are also delivered for

scheme.

experienced supervisors to help deliver CPD and
key training.

All Constabulary posts are recruited to on the basis
of accurate role profiles. The profiles specify

A toolkit of development options exists such as

appropriate

essential

and

desirable

skills,

mentoring and 360 degree feedback to support

experience and qualifications to ensure that

current and aspiring leaders.

employees are able to deliver their responsibilities
effectively. Membership of relevant professional

Developing the Capability of Individuals

bodies ensure access to up to date Codes of

within the entity.

Practice, guidance and professional standards in all
areas of business.

The Constabulary has a range of human resources
policies which provide a framework to ensure that

The Constabulary is committed to the principles of

officers and staff are treated in a fair and

‘equal opportunities’ in relation to the recruitment

transparent way in accordance with employment

of officers and staff, accordingly promotion and

legislation. A Workforce Group meets on a weekly

appointments are undertaken in an open and

basis to consider staffing changes. Part of the terms

transparent way in accordance with HR policies.

of reference of this group is to ensure that

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22

P a g e | 18

Staff

Associations

are

represented

at

the

refresher courses, which ensure that specialist skills

Constabulary’s main governance boards, which

are maintained in accordance with current national

ensures that they are part of the decision making

standards.

processes. The Constabulary and Commissioner
have adopted joint personnel policies to provide a

Areas of corporate training and development need

framework for all issues related to employee

are addressed by a range of training solutions

management and terms and conditions. This

including e-learning, classroom and assessed

includes policies on how staff and staff associations

qualifications, which can be accessed by all officers

will be engaged in any change process. Trade

and staff.

unions and staff associations are consulted during
any reviews of personnel policies. There is a general

A Performance Development & Review (PDR)

principle of on-going consultation and engagement

process has been introduced for all staff within

during any business change, which encourages

Cumbria Constabulary. The PDR is based around

employees to contribute ideas and suggestions to

strengths based conversations and a national

improve performance.

competency and values framework linking the
current 15 week review process already in place

The Constabulary is committed to ensuring that the

with national PDR requirements.

capacity and capability of its officers and staff are
developed to enable them to operate effectively

The Constabulary recognises the importance of

through the People Strategy.

supporting the health and well-being of employees
in contributing to an effective workforce. As part of

Police Officer and Police Community Support

the People Strategy all HR policies take account of

Officer recruits are provided with rigorous initial

employee welfare for example provision, where

training on operational policing and the values and

possible for flexible working for staff and officers.

standards of conduct expected of them.

The Health and Safety department provide ongoing monitoring and advice in relation to safety

The Constabulary’s Strength Based Conversations

within the workplace. The Constabulary maintains

processes for officer and staff enable training and

an occupational health function, which provides

development requirements to be identified and

advice and support to managers and staff in

managed, which are aligned to the role or agreed

relation to specific psychological and physiotherapy

objectives and actions.

issues.

The Constabulary has an approved training plan,
which is updated on a regular basis and aims to
address the development needs of officers and
staff. The training programme also seeks to provide

THE CHIEF CONSTABLE FOR CUMBRIA CONSTABULARY CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 2021/22

P a g e | 19

Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control
and strong public financial management.
Chief Constables need to ensure that the entities and governance structures that they
oversee have implemented—and can sustain—an effective performance management
system that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk management
and internal control are important and integral parts of a performance management system
and crucial to the achievement of outcomes. They consist of an ongoing process designed to
identify and address significant risks involved in achieving outcomes. A strong system of
financial management is essential for the implementation of policies and the achievement of
intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial discipline, strategic allocation of resources,
efficient service delivery and accountability.
Constabulary’s Strategic Risk Register is presented

Managing risk
The Constabulary’s risk management policy sets out

to the Committee at each quarterly meeting.

the overall arrangements for managing risk within
the Constabulary and is based on good practice
identified by the Institute of Risk Management. The
policy incorporates a clear framework of objectives,
designated roles and responsibilities for risk

The

Constabulary

maintains

comprehensive

business continuity plans for all service areas, which
aim to ensure that critical activities are maintained
in a range of adverse scenarios.

management and provides a mechanism for
evaluating and scoring risks to support decision
making in respect of mitigating action. Identified
risks are logged on a risk register with clear
ownership and reviewed regularly as a standing
item at strategic and management meetings.
Individual

project

boards,

departments

and

Managing performance
Clear lines of accountability and processes are in
place within the Constabulary to monitor and
manage delivery of operational and business
objectives including:•

commands each maintain risk registers, which are

strategic priorities with clear terms of

updated on a quarterly basis and integrated with
the corporate risk management process. Specific

reference / areas of responsibility.
•

risks can be escalated to a strategic risk register for

Management Boards.
•

review by the Joint Audit Committee. The

Chief Officer's holding managers to account for
delivery of the work programme in a

consideration by the Chief Officer Group.

Arrangements for risk management are subject to

A board structure linked to the delivery of

Performance management figures which are
published on a dashboard available to all
Constabulary officers and staff and the
Commissioner, which are updated daily. These
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figures are subject to statistical analysis to

response to inspections and are subject to

identify areas where significant change is

regular review.
•

occurring.
•

•

•

Regular meetings between chief officers and

included in the Performance Management

their senior management to discuss progress

Framework. The Constabulary also pursues

on the work programme.

strategies to engage effectively with service

A bi-monthly report to Chief Officers on

users including crime surveys and community

progress on the work programme.

meetings, with the aim of better meeting the

A Daily Operational Review Meeting which

needs of users. A procedure for complaints

ensures that a tactical level operational

enables the public to raise concerns about

resources are continuously prioritised and

services.
•

directed towards meeting force objectives.
•

•

Improvement Unit and Strategy with the aim of

presented to the Chief Officer Group and the

providing assurance that operational systems

Commissioner's

and processes are operating effectively to

Public

Accountability

deliver a high quality policing service.

Thematic performance reports which are

•

A Cumbria Constabulary Improvement Plan

presented to the Chief Officer Group,

(CCIP) which collates all improvement actions

Collaborative Board and the Commissioner's

from internal and external sources. The plan is

Public

managed by the Business Improvement Unit,

Accountability

Conference

and

published on the Commissioner's website.

which requests and coordinates progress

An individual Officer Performance Dashboard

updates from action owners and reports

has been developed and implemented. This

results to senior management.

enables sergeants to quickly view their officers'

•

The Constabulary has developed a Business

Six monthly performance reports which are

Conference.
•

User Satisfaction Performance measures are

•

A funding arrangement is in place between the

workload and form the basis of regular one to

Police and Crime Commissioner and the

one

Constabulary, which clearly defines the

performance

meetings,

improving

supervision and productivity.

purpose of the funding and sets out

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary

information and monitoring requirements to

and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) also

ensure funding is targeted on activities that

continuously

support the priorities and outcomes within the

monitors

Constabulary

performance against other forces and carries
out an annual overarching

Police and Crime Plan.

Police

Effectiveness, Efficiency and Legitimacy (PEEL)

Reports are produced on a standard template with

inspection of the Constabulary together with

the aim of providing appropriate information to

thematic inspections agreed with the Home

decision makers including evaluation of options,

Secretary. Action plans are developed in

consideration of risks and consultation from
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specialist support functions to ensure that the full

The

Constabulary’s

arrangements

for

risk

implications of decisions are understood.

management, internal control and anti-fraud and
corruption are reviewed on a cyclical basis through

The Police and Crime Plan recognises the im-

the wider arrangements for assurance of the

portance of partnership working between the Chief

governance framework.

Constable and the Commissioner to develop the future direction of policing policy and strategy that

Senior managers with responsibility for financial

takes account of public priorities. A Collaborative

systems provide annual management assurances

Board structure comprising the Deputy Chief Con-

using a CIPFA internal control framework as part of

stable, Assistant Chief Constable, Directors, the

this process. An annual fraud risk assessment is

Commissioner’s Chief Executive and Deputy Chief

undertaken as part of the accounts closure process

Executive and the Joint Chief Finance Officer sup-

by the Chief Finance Officer and reviewed by

ports joint working and facilitates the arrange-

external auditors.

ments for accountability and performance monitoring. The board provides a mechanism through

A joint internal audit service is commissioned in

which the Chief Constable provides briefings on

conjunction with the Commissioner, which is

matters or investigations over which the PCC may

provided by the Cumbria Shared Internal Audit

need to provide public assurance.

Service. This provides assurance in relation to the
Constabulary’s

internal

control

The Constabulary’s Change Programme is critical to

arrangements

for

the delivery of an effective policing service at a time

governance. The internal audit plan is developed on

of scarce resource. All changes proposals are devel-

a risk basis following consultation with stake-

oped in accordance with principles set out in the

holders and covers all areas of operation. The Head

Constabulary Change Management policy, which

of Internal Audit provides an annual overall opinion

includes comprehensive consultation with all stake-

of the adequacy and effectiveness robustness of

holders and scrutiny through the Vision 2025 the-

the internal control framework.

risk

environment,

management

and

matic boards. All changes are subject to post implementation review.

Robust internal control

A Joint Audit Committee operates in line with
Chartered

Institute

of

Public

Finance

and

Accountancy Code of Practice and the Home Office
The Chief Constable is responsible for reviewing her
governance framework and including the system of
internal control. This work is informed by the work
of Chief Officers and senior managers who
undertake an over-arching review of key controls
and governance arrangements in support of the key
principles in this code.

Financial Management Code of Practice. In line
with the Home Office Code, the Committee fulfils
the functions of an Audit Committee for both the
Commissioner and the Chief Constable. As part its
terms of reference the committee reviews
•

The

Constabulary’s

key

documents on a cyclical basis.
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•

•

•

The Constabulary’s risk management

The Constabulary maintains appropriate physical

arrangements.

and digital safeguards to protect data from

Annual reviews of the effectiveness of

unauthorised access and misuse. An Information

arrangements for risk, governance and

Security Board meets regularly to respond to

internal control.

emerging issues and threats in relation to the

internal and external audit reports and

management and sharing of data.

updates on progress in implementing
The accuracy of police data is critical to the

audit recommendations.
The committee undertakes an annual self-

achievement of policing objectives and maintaining

assessment to ensure on-going compliance with

public confidence. To ensure that data is managed

the CIPFA framework for Police Audit Committees.

in an accurate and timely manner, the Constabulary
maintains a number of specialist units including :•

Managing Data

a Crime and Incident Registrar supported
by a team whose role is to ensure that
crimes are recorded in compliance with

The Constabulary has adopted an Information

National Crime Reporting Standards and,

Management Strategy which has the principal

incidents in compliance with National

objectives of ensuring that information is managed
•

within a framework for identifying,
considering and owning information and

Standards of Incident Recording.
•

role is to support the criminal justice

information risk.
•

consistently across the organisation.

•

to

support

policing

objectives

process and to ensure the timely and
effective progression of criminal cases

by

through the criminal justice system

providing reliable information at the point

meeting the evidential requirements of

of need.
•

in compliance with relevant legislation
concerning the handling and use of data.

both magistrates and crown courts.
•

is collated and reported on a consistent

Regulations. In particular data will only be
collected or held for either ‘lawful policing
purposes’ as defined by the Management
of Police Information (MOPI) Code of
(2005)

or

to

support

an Information Management Services
team who ensure that performance data

For example General Data Protection

Practice

officers and a criminal justice unit whose

basis.
•

a Central Services Department which
manages transactional data on behalf of a
number of support functions.

administrative functions.
•

Providing guidance to personnel on the

Strong public financial management

correct use of data, sharing it lawfully and

Arrangements for financial management support

protecting it from compromise.

the Chief Constable in achieving objectives and de-
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livering strong operational and financial perfor-

statements and treasury management. There is

mance. The arrangements for financial manage-

financial representation at all decision making and

ment are codified within a suite of financial govern-

project boards and report templates incorporate

ance documents, which comply with CIPFA Codes of

the financial implications of proposals.

Practice and ensure that all officers and staff are
aware of their responsibilities in this regard.

The management of all Constabulary budgets
(including capital projects) are assigned to named

The governance documents include a funding ar-

budget-holders, who are required to formally

rangement between the Commissioner and Con-

accept

stabulary, which sets out the financial consents and

arrangements

responsibilities for financial management between

responsibilities require regular monitoring and

the Commissioner and Chief Constable. This en-

reporting of financial information, enabling early

sures that funding provided to the Chief Constable

identification of variances. Each budget-holder

is directed towards the policing strategy and priori-

receives support from a designated member of the

ties set out in the Police and Crime Plan.

financial services team.

The Constabulary’s budget and medium term finan-

The financial services team works closely with both

cial position provide a framework for all Constabu-

operational and support functions to ensure that

lary decisions. The Joint Chief Finance Officer is a

business planning and financial planning processes,

member of the Chief Officer Group ensuring that

such as workforce planning and the preparation of

the financial position and risks are clearly under-

strategies are fully integrated.

their

responsibilities
for

including

sub-delegation.

any
These

stood and support the operational decision making
process.

All financial systems and process are subject to risk
based cyclical review by internal audit to provide

The Constabulary and Commissioner have a shared

assurance that financial controls are operating

finance team which provides a full spectrum of

effectively,

financial

arrangements reviewed by external audit in

management

services

to

both

which

their

also

forms

organisations including budget planning, budget

forming

conclusions

monitoring, preparation of the statutory financial

statements and value for money.
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Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit
to deliver effective accountability.
Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are
answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions
completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the
organisation plans and carries out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and
internal audit contribute to effective accountability.
Implementing good practice in
transparency

Implementing good practices in reporting
The principal means by which the Chief Constable
formally reports to the public is through the Com-

In all communications to the public the Constabulary seeks to ensure that the content and reporting
style are as clear and easily understandable as possible. A number of different forms of media are often utilised to maximise public engagement.

missioner’s Annual Report, which incorporates activities, performance and achievements of the Constabulary. The annual report presents outcomes
achieved against an agreed framework of targets
and measures.

The Constabulary’s website, Facebook and Twitter
accounts aim to provide key information to the

The Constabulary publishes an Annual Governance

public in a readily accessible format.

Statement (AGS) alongside its Statement of Accounts. This document outlines the measures in

The Constabulary is committed to open and trans-

place to ensure compliance with its Code of Corpo-

parent governance and complies with the Freedom

rate Governance. The AGS also incorporates an ac-

of Information Act 2000. A dedicated function

tion plan of work which will be undertaken in the

within the Constabulary’s Professional Standards

following financial year to enhance its governance

Department aims to ensure that requests for infor-

arrangements. The AGS is subject to scrutiny by the

mation under the Act are responded to promptly,

Joint Audit Committee prior to publication.

proportionately and accurately.
The Constabulary is subject to the Accounts and AuThe Constabulary complies with the Government’s

dit (England) Regulations 2015 and prepares a set

transparency agenda in respect of publishing de-

of single entity accounts in accordance with the

tails of all expenditure over £500.

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting and are subject to external audit.
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The Constabulary’s financial statements include a

which complies with the Public Sector Internal

narrative statement, which provides an overview of

Audit Standard. The Chief Internal Auditor reports

financial and organisational performance in a con-

to the Joint Audit Committee on its findings,

cise and easily understandable format.

including recommendations for improvements. The
Committee monitors the implementation of audit

Assurance and effective accountability
Grant Thornton UK LLP are the external auditors
appointed

to

both

the

Police

and

Crime

Commissioner for Cumbria and the Chief Constable

recommendations. Internal Audit makes an annual
assessment and reports on the overall internal
control environment and arrangements for risk
management.

for Cumbria Constabulary to report key matters
arising from the audits of the Commissioner and
Chief Constable’s financial statements. The external
auditors also reach a formal conclusion on whether
the Commissioner and Chief Constable have put in
place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.
The audit findings report is published in the
financial statements and presented to the Chief
Officer

Group,

Accountability

Commissioner’s

Conference

and

Joint

Public
Audit

Committee for review. The Joint Audit Committee
monitors the implementation of recommendations
arising from the audit.

The Constabulary is subject to review by Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS), who produced
themed reviews and an annual overall assessment
of Police Efficiency, Effectiveness and Legitimacy
(PEEL). HMICFRS reports are reviewed by the Joint
Audit Committee. Action plans are developed to
respond to HMICFRS recommendations. Where
appropriate the Constabulary engages peer reviews
of specific activities or functions to provide
additional assurance. The Constabulary’s Business
Improvement Unit monitors the implementation of
recommendations, which are also reported to the
Commissioner’s Public Accountability Conference

The Constabulary has joint arrangements for

and the Joint Audit Committee.

internal audit in place in conjunction with the
Commissioner. This service is provided by the
Cumbria Shared Internal Audit Service. Central to
this function is an annual risk based audit plan,

The Ethics and Integrity Panel also monitors and reports on specific areas of activity, such as complaints handling and ethical issues.
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Agenda Item 15 c (i)

This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) describes how

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

the Commissioner has followed The Code. It also meets
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (the
Commissioner) is responsible for ensuring business is
carried out in accordance with the law and proper
standards, that public money is safeguarded and properly
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and

the requirements of regulation 6(1) and 10(1) of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The regulations say
that we must prepare and publish an Annual Governance
Statement (AGS) to accompany the Commissioner’s
statement of accounts.

effectively.
To meet this overall responsibility, the Commissioner has
put in place proper arrangements for overseeing what we
do.

This is what we mean by governance.

These

arrangements are intended to make sure that we do the

Police and Crime Commissioner for
Cumbria

Annual Governance Statement
2020/21

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

right things, in the right way and are fair, open, honest
and accountable.

The key systems and processes that comprise the
Commissioner’s governance arrangements for 2020/21
have been guided by the seven core principles of
Corporate

Governance

from

the

CIPFA/Solace

Our arrangements for governance are set out within a

Governance Framework applicable to the 2020/21

Code of Corporate Governance (‘The Code’). The Code

financial year. This is the standard against which all local

explains the way the Commissioner governs and the

government bodies, including police, should assess

frameworks that are in place to support the overall

themselves.

arrangements for fulfilling his functions. The Code of
Corporate Governance is published alongside the Annual
Governance Statement on the Commissioner’s website at
www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

The Commissioner has responsibility for conducting, at
least annually, a review of the effectiveness of his
governance framework including the system of internal
control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the
work of Chief Officers and senior managers who have
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responsibility for the development and maintenance of

meet of each of the seven governance principles. The

office, matters of integrity are re-enforced including

the governance environment.

Annual Governance Statement is published alongside the

enhanced arrangements in respect of recording gifts and

Statement of Accounts and also incorporates an action

hospitality and/or supplier contact. The anti-fraud and

plan of planned future improvements for governance

corruption arrangements also highlight mechanisms for

arrangements.

confidential reporting and whistleblowing.

The review process

comprises:

▪

A cyclical detailed review of the key documents
within the Commissioner’s governance framework.

▪

The process of commissioning services and awarding of
A review of the governance arrangements in place to

Principle A: Behaving with integrity,

grants present a potentially high risk with regards to

support each core principle, culminating in an

Demonstrating strong commitment

integrity. Grant Regulations are in place to ensure that

updated Code of Corporate governance.

▪

to ethical values, and respecting
A review of what has happened during the past year
to evidence how the governance framework has

the rule of law

grant awards are made in a fair, transparent and
consistent manner and that appropriate conditions are
attached to safeguard public money. The grant
regulations were reviewed in 2020 and the conclusions

been complied with.

were reported to the Joint Audit Committee in November

▪

A review of the effectiveness of the arrangements for
Internal Audit. The review is supported by

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

consideration of the opinion of the Chief Internal
Auditor, as set out in his annual report.

Ethics and Integrity

2020.
A fraud risk assessment undertaken by the Joint Chief
Finance Officer in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards did not reveal serious concerns.

▪

A review of the effectiveness of the Joint Audit
Committee against CIPFA guidance on Audit
Committees for Police.

The Commissioner has in place arrangements for
antifraud and corruption, which are reviewed on a 3-year
cyclical basis, the last time being 2019/20 by the
Governance Manager. The conclusions of this review

The

following

Annual

Governance

Statement

demonstrates how the Commissioner has complied with
the governance framework set out within the Code, to
AGS Page 2 of 21

were reported to the Joint Audit Committee in November
2019.

The review concluded that arrangements are

effective. Whilst fraud risk remains low within the OPCC

In respect of the arrangements for standards, ethics and
integrity, one complaint has been received against the
Commissioner with none against members of his office in
relation to matters of integrity.

Despite the lockdown and tier restrictions of the COVID-

The Joint Audit Committee received the 2020 annual

Committee against the respective CIPFA statements,

19 pandemic, during 2020/21 the Ethics and Integrity

report of the Ethics & Integrity Panel in March 2021 to

which concluded there was full compliance.

Panel have carried out dip sample processes and thematic

support assurances in respect of arrangements for

inspections for a number of different areas of business

standards and ethical governance.

Principle B: Ensuring openness

From 1 February 2020 the OPCC has been responsible for

and Comprehensive stakeholder

including, adherence with the Code of Ethics and Code of
Conduct, public complaints, police misconduct and staff
misconduct cases, all of which were found to support high
standards of ethics and integrity. This enabled the Police
and Crime Commissioner to fulfil his statutory duty to
have oversight of the Constabulary's complaints and
misconduct processes.
The scope of the Panel’s work has developed during

reviews of public complaints.

It appointed an

independent reviewing officer to carry out the reviews

engagement

assessing the complaint handling and whether the
outcome provided was reasonable and proportionate.
During 2020 the OPCC received 32 requests for a review

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

and by using an independent person provides openness

ARRANGEMENTS

and transparency to the process.

Openness

2020/21 through the completion of six thematic
inspections, in relation to Mental Health Detention, the
use of Spit Guards, the use of TASER, the use of Stop and
Stop/Search, the use of Body Worn Video, the
Constabulary’s Communications Centre and the issuing of
Fixed Penalty Notices during the COVID-19 pandemic and
lockdown or tier restrictions. The findings of the Panel's
work, including recommendations, have been reported to

Respecting the rule of law

Openness is a key element of the role of the

Officers within the OPCC receive updates on changes in

Commissioner and is not just about publishing

legislation through their professional bodies, APACCE,

information but listening and influencing as well. The

PACTS, the APCC and from the government.

The

Commissioner operates in accordance with the Elected

Commissioner provides funding to the Constabulary’s

Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Orders of

Legal Services Department, who deliver support to the

2011, 2012, 2013 and the guidance provided by the

OPCC on legal matters.

Information Commissioner.

the Commissioner’s Public Accountability Conference to

This is demonstrated,

documented, and communicated through an information

improve transparency and support public scrutiny and

During the year formal reviews has been undertaken of

publication scheme that ensures the openness of all key

published on the OPCC’s website.

the role of the Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer and

information to the public. Examples of information that is

the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) and the Joint Audit

published includes agendas and reports of public
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meetings, guidance on the Commissioner’s funds,

In general terms, the engagement over the last five years

During 2020/21 the Commissioner has continued to lead

freedom of information requests, financial information,

has been comprehensive and had been flexible to develop

a range of partnership working initiatives to deliver his

and details of key decisions. The OPCC this year was

to meet the changing needs of how people like to

Commissioning Strategy and ensure arrangements are in

awarded a transparency award from Policing Insight

communicate and especially the impact of social media.

place for victims support services. When Covid-19 was

because of the website meeting their transparency

Work has started on the new three-year communication

announced as a threat to public health in the UK, the

criteria.

and engagement strategy and this will be finalised

Commissioner developed an emergency plan, detailing

following the election of a new PCC.

the measures and arrangements he and his office, put in

The Commissioner is highly committed to be the voice of
the people of Cumbria. This is demonstrated through a
wide range of engagement opportunities for the public to
make contact, so their views are heard and responded to.
Despite Covid-19, a range of engagement opportunities
have continued to be made available to the public.
Examples include online focus groups with community
groups, charities, and partners, online public surgeries
and Facebook live, covering general and themed issues.

To promote openness and transparency, all Public
Accountability Conferences have continued to be
advertised to allow members of the press and public to
attend, and all minutes arising from these meetings are
published subsequently. An Annual Report, outlining the
work of the Commissioner, is published.
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place to support the Constabulary, partner agencies and
Engaging
Comprehensively
Stakeholders

with

Institutional

local

communities

during

the

pandemic.

The

Commissioner was committed to ensuring that funding

The Commissioner is actively engaged with a wide range

continued to flow to the services he commissions and

of bodies to encourage a multi-agency approach to

pledged to explore every opportunity to secure additional

matters within his remit. For example, he chairs the Safer

funding to support organisations and victims during this

Cumbria Partnership Delivery Board, which is both the

difficult time. The Commissioner successfully secured

county-wide Community Safety Partnership and Criminal

over £1million.

Justice Board for Cumbria, and the Blue Light Executive
Board. In response to Covid-19, the Commissioner has

Engaging Stakeholders Effectively including Citizens and

also been a member of the county’s Senior Outbreak

Service Users

Management Board and Cumbria Leaders Board, as well
as maintained regular briefing and co-ordination

The Policing Protocol Order highlights the accountability

meetings with County Members of Parliament (MPs) on

of the Police and Crime Commissioner to local people.

the Covid response. The Commissioner continues to work

This responsibility is delivered through the OPCC to

with the Cumbria District Leaders to co-ordinate and

ensure a wide range of engagement approaches so that

manage Covid related matters.

the Commissioner actively listens, considers, and

effectively uses the view of the people of Cumbria to

•

Video Blogs.

The Commissioner launched public consultation on the

influence decisions.

•

Campaigns focussing on anti-social driving, rural

proposal to increase the policing part of the council tax

crime, cyber-crime, and victims.

precept for 2020/21. 69% of the respondents (642)
agreed with raising council tax, which for a Band D

The Commissioner is directly involved in all of the
engagement

activities

and

encourages

the

In February 2021, the PCC launched a Hate Crime survey

Commissioner’s ethos of ‘we, not they’ to emphasis that

to find out more about hate crime in Cumbria and identify

communities, stakeholders and partners need to all work

gaps in victims’ services for those affected.

together to help deliver the Police and Crime Plan, to
make Cumbria even safer.

During 2020/21, COVID-19 safe engagement included:

•

Public surgeries online for members of the public

•

•

The OPCC logs all quality of service issues that are raised
with the Commissioner, which are tracked and escalated

The Commissioner, via online tools, met with various

with the Chief Constable where appropriate. This

projects that had been supported by the Community

feedback is also used by the Constabulary to assess what

COVID-19 Recovery Fund and Property Fund in supporting

lessons can be learned from examples of poor or

local community groups and often diversion activities for

unsatisfactory service, to make improvements. In

young people.

summary, the engagement with all stakeholders allows
the Commissioner to develop a vision for policing services,

to submit questions or speak to the PCC.
•

property would represent an increase of 55p per month.

Numerous focus groups from a diverse range of

The Commissioner’s calendar of events was due to reduce

which in turn influences decisions and is incorporated

community groups.

in March 2020 because of the pending PCC Elections. As a

within the Police and Crime Plan.

Media engagements set up over the phone,

result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the PCC Elections have

Microsoft Teams, Zoom or in person following

been postponed until May 2021. However, due to the

COVID-19 regulations.

Government restrictions the Commissioner has not been

Public consultation on setting the council tax

undertaking face-to-face public engagement events but

precept and joint annual survey with the

has undertaken a great social media presence including

Constabulary on policing response to COVID-19.

Microsoft Teams meetings.

•

The Commissioner’s website.

•

Social media: Twitter, Facebook and Youtube.
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Cumbria an even safer place’. The priorities within the

partners, with the fundamental principle of ‘We, Not

Principle C: Defining outcomes in

plan are:

They’. A comprehensive Accountability Framework is in

terms of sustainable economic,

1 Your Priorities For Cumbria

In addition, where grants have been awarded by the

social,

2 A Visible and Effective Police Presence

Commissioner, the awards are made against agreed

place to assess how well the priorities are being achieved.

and

environmental

timescales and milestones for delivery and include

benefits

3 Tackle Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

success criteria or performance measures. In 2019/20,

4 Ensure Offenders Face A Consequence For Their Crime

Internal Audit provided substantial assurance against the
OPCC governance arrangements for monitoring the

5 Always Put Victims First

delivery of the Police & Crime Plan.
REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

6 Focus our Police on Online and Sexual Crime
During 2020/21, the Police and Crime Panel has continued

ARRANGEMENTS

7 Spend your Money Wisely

to facilitate effective scrutiny of delivery of the plan’s

Defining Outcomes

8 Supporting Young People

objectives through quarterly online meetings. Thematic

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (PR&SRA)
requires the Commissioner to produce a Police and Crime
Plan setting the vision and strategic direction for policing,
crime reduction and community safety. A Police and
Crime Plan was launched in November 2016, following the
appointment of a new Police and Crime Commissioner for
Cumbria. The Police and Crime Plan contains the police
and crime objectives which all contribute toward
achieving the Commissioner’s overall aim ‘to make
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reports are presented to the Panel and follow terms of
Following the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic and the

reference agreed in advance with the Panel Chair.

subsequent postponement of the 2020 Police & Crime
Commissioner

The Chief Constable is held to account for delivery of

determined that his priorities set out in the Police & Crime

policing objectives through the Commissioners Public

Plan would remain the same for 2020/21. To underpin

Accountability Conferences (PACs). These meetings are

this, the Commissioner developed an Action Plan,

divided into two key areas of business: performance and

detailing the key work streams to be delivered during this

finance.

period, as well as support the Constabulary and local

agreed annually with the Constabulary and ensures the

communities across Cumbria during the Covid-19

Commissioner monitors performance against a number of

emergency. Delivery of this Action Plan has continued to

areas of policing identified in the Police and Crime Plan.

be in partnership with the statutory and third sector

During 2020/21 thematic reports provided assurance on

Commissioner

(PCC)

elections,

the

A reporting schedule for these meetings is

the Constabulary’s response to the Covid-19 emergency,

objectives as set out in the Police and Crime Plan. During

Through

community policing, child sexual exploitation and abuse,

2020/21 the Commissioner has committed funding to

Constabulary assurance covering a range of areas of

and victims.

projects and initiatives aimed at reducing offending and

performance including Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of

re-offending and supporting victims of crime. A significant

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS)

proportion of that funding has been committed to

performance recommendations. Crime data and police

supporting victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence

performance have also been regularly monitored. The

during the pandemic.

Commissioner

In addition, reports were also received

covering financial monitoring, crime data and ethics.
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) Inspections further support
the Commissioner in holding the Chief Constable to

To support procurement and commissioning activity, the

The Police and Crime Act 2017 conferred a duty on

OPCC & Constabulary have in place Joint Procurement

Commissioners to collaborate on the delivery of

Regulations and a Social Value Policy, incorporating a

emergency services. In 2020/21 the Commissioner

modern slavery statement.

The Commissioning Strategy sets out the processes by

also

the Commissioner

scrutinised

the

received

Constabulary’s

by the Government’s emergency measures such as social
distancing, travel and exercise.
The Commissioner has supported the Chief Constable in
helping to keep the public safe during the coronavirus

continued to chair the Blue Light Executive Board which

Police, Fire and Ambulance.

forum,

response to the pandemic, including policing issues raised

account for performance of the force.

manages shared areas of collaboration between the

this

Principle D: Determining the
interventions
necessary
to
optimise the achievement of the
intended outcomes.

outbreak. At the start of the pandemic, the Commissioner
developed an emergency plan detailing his response.
Principally this involved working with the Chief Constable
to understand the policing, crime and victim’s needs as a

which the Commissioner will identify and fund services to

direct result of Covid-19 and ensuring sufficient resource

support his priorities. This was reviewed and updated in

in place to enable the Constabulary to deal effectively

2020/21.

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS
Planning and Determining Interventions

with the virus. Initially this focused on ICT to facilitate
remote working and the provision of personal, protective
equipment to ensure the safety of officers and staff.

Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
During the course of 2020/21 the Commissioner’s

Alongside this, the Commissioner secured additional

The Head of Partnerships and Commissioning ensures that

continued to hold the Chief Constable to account through

funding helping organisations to provide an immediate

the services commissioned are consistent with the PCC’s

his Public Accountability Conferences, held virtually.
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response to the pandemic to ensure victims continued to

Salthouse Road, Barrow. This project has provided

National Farmers Union (NFU), with all partners

receive the vital support they need.

thousands of pounds worth of crime prevention

working together to promote rural safety and

measures, home security equipment and street

prevent rural crime.

The Cumbria ‘Out of Court (OoCDs) Disposal Scrutiny

lighting across the area.

▪

Panel’ is chaired the Head of Partnerships and

▪

Developing a co-commissioning agreement with

In partnership with the Constabulary to develop and

National Probation Service to pilot a Women’s

quickly and proportionately with low level, often first

procure a Cumbria Adult Out of Court Disposal

Outreach Service to enable women in rurally isolated

time, offending, which can be appropriately resolved

Framework, known as ‘The Pathways Programme’.

communities to access support services.

Commissioning.

The OoCDs allow the police to deal

without a prosecution at court. The Panel seeks to
increase the public’s understanding and confidence in
how the Constabulary uses OoCDs.

▪

During 2020,

meetings have been held virtually. The Panel has met
three times and scrutinised up to 90 randomly selected

▪

Working with Get Safe Online to raise public

▪

Continued to lead on the implementation of the

knowledge of how to protect themselves against

Quality Assessment Framework to review and

fraud and other crimes committed via the internet.

improve how criminal justice and support agencies
comply with national standards for victims of crime.

Working with the Constabulary and through Safer

▪

and anonymised cases. Following each Panel meeting

Cumbria, to develop a better understanding of

feedback is given to officers and decision makers, which

modern slavery and human trafficking across all

Collaboration Executive Leaders Board, which

highlights good practice or contributes towards training

partner agencies in Cumbria.

oversees joint work-streams between the Police, Fire

and improvements to the Constabulary’s policies.

▪

The Commissioner continues to chair the Blue Light

and Ambulance.
Working with partners to deliver a Safer Driving

During the last year, the Commissioner has continued to

Campaign, in response to what local residents said is

During the pandemic the Commissioner has continued to

build on partnership working to address priorities in the

one of their main local concerns. The campaign

work with partners to adapt existing mechanisms and

Police and Crime Plan and respond to the Covid-19

focuses on raising awareness of the Fatal Four (no

structures so they can provide the provision of important

pandemic. Projects have included:

seatbelts;

services. He has

▪

speeding;

distracted

driving

and

administrated the Ministry of Justice

drug/drink driving). In addition, delivery of a rural

Extraordinary Covid-19 Fund to help local charities

Working with Barrow Borough Council and Cumbria

crime campaign, which has been influenced by

supporting victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence

County Council to deliver the Safer Streets Project in

current issues raised by the Constabulary and

develop and adapt the delivery of their services during the
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pandemic to ensure victims continued to receive the

have oversight of the multi-agency emergency plans

increase of 2.47%. The additional funding provided to the

support they need. In June 2020, the Commissioner also

developed to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 and to use

Constabulary will allow existing services to be maintained

launched his own Covid-19 Community Recovery Fund to

this information to shape his communication with the

and has facilitated planned recruitment of an additional

provide immediate short-term financial assistance (of up

public, and engagement with partners.

60 officers in 2021/22. This is slightly above its target of

to £5,000) to local charities, community and voluntary
groups who were struggling to retain their offer of vital
support to victims or looking at different ways of working
to continue to achieve their aims. The fund closed in
September 2020, with a total of £182,105 awarded to 43
groups, supporting youth outreach work, drug and
alcohol recovery, vulnerable older people isolated due to
the pandemic, counselling for young homeless people and
much more.
The Commissioner has held regular one-to-one meetings

recruiting 47 officers in the second phase of Operation
The Safer Cumbria Partnership remains the primary
vehicle by which community safety and criminal justice
are delivered and national contingency plans are
translated into local actions. The OPCC has worked with
the partnership to review its key strategic priorities to
ensure they reflect the main issues, risks and threats likely
to impact upon crime and community safety in Cumbria

continued to work in partnership, locally, regionally and
nationally, to provide an efficient and effective local
response to Covid-19 and support Cumbria’s recovery
back to normal life. The Commissioner also liaises closely
with the Chief Officer Team as the Constabulary chairs the
Cumbria Strategic Co-ordination Group (SCG) that brings
together key agencies to lead the county response to this
national emergency. This enables the Commissioner to
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to achieve its overall recruitment target over the three
years of the Uplift programme. In consultation with the
Commissioner, the additional officers will be deployed by
the Chief Constable to areas, which will support the Police
and Crime Plan’s principal objective of keeping Cumbria
safe.

from 2021 onwards, especially in response to Covid-19.
The Partnership’s overarching Strategy has been updated

The Government grant funding provided for Operation

to reflect these changes.

Uplift and the increase in council tax for 2021/22, in
combination with the public sector pay freeze for 2021,

with the Chief Constable during the pandemic,
maintaining a good oversight of how the Constabulary has

Uplift and will put the Constabulary into a good position

The policing grant settlement, received in December 2020
provided £3.4m in additional grant funding for 2021/22,
principally to support the second phase of Operation
Uplift; the Government’s plan to recruit 20,000 new
officers by 2023.

The settlement also provided

Commissioners with a degree of flexibility to levy above
inflation council tax increases. Following a public
consultation exercise, the Commissioner approved the
2021/22 budget in February 2021 based on a council tax

have eased the immediate financial pressure to deliver
savings to balance the budget. Nevertheless, financial
risks, specifically in relation to the Government’s funding
model post Operation Uplift, the cost of implementing
the Emergency Services Network, pension cost pressures,
any potential review of the Police Funding Formula and
the negative impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on public
finances mean that the Commissioner’s financial
prospects remain uncertain over the medium term.

Against this background, modelling of a range of financial

▪

Provided restorative services, enabling victims to

▪

Provide financial support to numerous projects

scenarios, through the Medium Term Financial Planning

inform offenders of the impact a crime/antisocial

working with victims across Cumbria through his

process, have been undertaken jointly by the OPCC and

behaviour incident has had on them.

Property Fund and Covid-19 Community Recovery

Constabulary. This work has continued to inform wider
business planning and develop savings proposals , as a

▪

Fund.
Worked with partners to develop proposals to pilot a
Women’s Outreach Service.

means of balancing the budget over the medium term.

▪

▪

Support his Victims’ Advocate to champion the cause
for victims, and importantly, help drive up standards.

Together with Cumbria County Council, continued to
fund an Integrated Independent Domestic Abuse &

Optimising Achievement of Intended Outcomes

Sexual Abuse Crisis Support Service.
All planning is undertaken in the context of a four-year
medium term financial strategy, incorporating financial

▪

modelling, operational plans and capital strategies.

Provide a victim service, which integrates support for
people who have experienced all types of crime
working with the County Council, NHS and other local
authority partners.

Following the outbreak of the Covid-19 and the
subsequent postponement of the 2020 PCC elections

▪

Recommendations, the Commissioner determined that
his priorities set out in the current Police & Crime Plan

▪

would remain the same for 2020/21 and developed a

Commissioned Victim Support to provide emotional,
practical, advocacy and signposting services.
Fund the Bridgeway Sexual Assault Support Services,

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

including a therapeutic service to help people who

supporting Action Plan to provide a clear focus of activity

have experienced sexual abuse and sexual assault to

for the PCC and partners’ to keep victims safe and at the

cope and recover.

heart of the Criminal Justice system. During, the last year,
the Commissioner has continued to:

Principle E: Developing the
entity’s capacity, including the
capability of its leadership and
the individuals within it

▪

Fund a county-wide Domestic Abuse Perpetrator
Programme “Turning the Spotlight” and “Step Up” for
families experiencing child-on-parent or guardian
violence.

Developing the entity’s capacity
The key functions and roles of the Commissioner and the
Chief Constable are set out in the Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA). The PRASA also sets out
the function and roles of statutory officers, namely the
Monitoring Officer (Chief Executive) and the Chief Finance
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Officer (CFO). The monitoring officer has specific legal,

Developing the entity’s leadership

Committees evidenced compliance with CIPFA guidance

financial and governance duties in addition to a statutory
responsibility for the lawfulness of decision making. The
functions and roles set out in legislation and guidance are
codified in the Commissioner’s scheme of delegation.

and elements constituting best practice. The full report of
The Chief Executive receives support through the
Association of Police and Crime Commissioner Chief

the Committee can be found on the Commissioner’s
website at:

Executives (APACCE), while the Chief Finance Officer
continues to receive support from the Police and Crime

http://www.cumbria-

During 2020/21 there have been no major changes to the

Commissioner’s Treasurer’s Society (PaCCTS) and the

pcc.gov.uk/governancetransparency/audit-

structure of the OPCC. The OPCC is a small team and

associated technical information service. During 2020/21

committee.aspx.

works together to address any issues arising from staff

the Chief Finance Officer and wider finance team have

turnover.

actively participated in the ‘Achieving Financial Excellence
in Policing’ programme developed by the Chartered

The Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive rotate
roles on a six monthly basis and this provides a cost
effective approach as well as offering greater resilience.
This arrangement continues to work well.
The Commissioner and Chief Constable have agreed to a
shared Chief Finance Officer arrangement. A protocol and

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. Central to
this programme was a

self- assessment of financial

management involving consultation with a wide range of
stakeholders. The result of the self assessment exercise
was a grading of 4 out of 5. An action plan has now been

on a revised basis as the Commissioner continued to
suspend the scheme in its current format to protect all
those involved and to prevent the spread of coronavirus.
The OPCC has implemented a temporary arrangement
that will still enable it to maintain oversight and
assurance. This initially took the format of dip sampling
of custody records on a weekly basis to assess; and not

developed to address areas for improvement.

involves the volunteers speaking to detainees via the

range of safeguards have been put in place to handle

telephone to check on their welfare.

potential conflicts of interest arising from the joint role. A

During 2020/21 development activity for members of the

review of the operation of the Joint Chief Finance Officer

Joint Audit Committee was limited by the pandemic,

arrangement has been conducted aligned to the CIPFA

however sessions took place remotely in relation to

statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer. This

treasury

exercise has shown full compliance and has not revealed

Constabulary’s budget and medium term financial

any significant issues.

forecast. A formal review of effectiveness of the

management

and

the

Commissioner

/

Committee against the new CIPFA guidance for Audit
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The four Independent Custody Visiting Panels operated

Developments during the year included:

▪
▪

Virtual four monthly panel meetings on social media
platforms to remain connected with the volunteers.
Recruitment campaigns to attract new candidates
have been placed on hold but contact with those who

have expressed an interest in joining the scheme has

Developing the capability of individuals within the entity

Principle F: Managing risks and

taken place during 2020.
A comprehensive OPCC Training Plan has been

▪

▪

▪
▪

Delivery of on-going ICVA thematic training packages

developed. This sets out the overall training plan for

for existing members. In 2020-21 the theme was

the

Children and Young People.

responsibilities.

Membership of the Independent Custody Visitors

During 2020/21 arrangements to support staff in

Association (ICVA).

tasking and performance have been embedded and

cascades

into

individual

robust

internal control and strong public
financial management

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

Attendance at virtual national conferences
The Scheme Administrator joins the Constabulary’s

and keep up to day with developments in custody.
Under the Animal Welfare Scheme, monthly visits to
Cumbria

▪

and

through

are working well:
•

Weekly tasking meetings attended by all staff.

•

Monthly team meetings focused on policy and

Custody Forum meetings to advise on the scheme

▪

office

performance

Constabulary

and

•

procedures.

The Commissioner's Risk Management Strategy is

12 weekly Strength Based Conversations and

reviewed on a 3-year cyclical basis and was reviewed in

supporting 1-2-1s.

2020. The conclusions of this review were reported to
the Joint Audit Committee in March 2020. A high-level

the Civil Nuclear

A monthly informal team catch-up also takes places where

Constabulary have been prevented from taking place

staff can share information about their role or themselves

due to the pandemic.

in a less formal environment.

Working is being undertaken to have an agreement
with the Dogs Trust to provide Animal Welfare
Visitors from the OPCC’s scheme to carry out visits for
them.

Managing risk

review is undertaken annually to ensure that the strategy
reflects the current risk environment. Any changes are
presented to the Joint Audit Committee. Risk has become
embedded within the everyday work of the OPCC, staff
continually assess risks within their roles. Both strategic
and operational risks are reviewed on a quarterly basis
and appropriate updates made. The Commissioner also
provides scrutiny of the Constabulary’s management of
strategic risks.
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The strategic risk register is updated on a quarterly basis

the implementation of actions and recommendations

2020/21 the Committee has considered and provided

and currently incorporates risks in relation to future

arising from inspections, including those undertaken by

scrutiny of the Financial Regulations and Rules, the OPCC

funding, financial and operational risks relating to the

HMICFRS.

This is supported by regular one to one

Grant Regulations and Procedures, the Commissioner’s

implementation of the Emergency Services Network,

meetings

between

and

the Code of Corporate Governance, the Internal Audit

commissioning of services with partner agencies for the

Commissioner.

Senior officers within the OPCC also

Charter, the PCC Scheme of Delegation, the PCC’s

Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SAR) from 2022 onwards.

attend Constabulary meetings to provide challenge and

Arrangements for Anti-Fraud and Corruption activities,

oversight of the arrangements that support decision

the Treasury Management Strategy, Statement of

making, delivery of key areas of business and the

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement.

The Commissioner’s arrangements for Risk Management
include procedures for Business Continuity, which are

the

Chief

Constable

allocation of resources.

regularly reviewed and tested throughout the year.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic the Business
Continuity Plan has been utilised and where necessary
updated to reflect the changing environment.

Internal controls have also been reviewed through the
All Police and Crime Panel meetings are held in public,
providing an open and transparent process for
scrutinising the decisions and work of the Commissioner.
During 2020/21 the Panel has placed a significant focus on

Managing Performance

monitoring delivery of the Police and Crime Plan and
The

Public

Accountability

Conferences

facilitate

underpinning Action Plan, receiving thematic reports

arrangements for the scrutiny of quarterly thematic

against these at each meeting.

reports from the Constabulary around priority areas of

unanimously supported the Commissioner’s proposed

policing including its response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

precept for 2021/22.

The Panel has also

of

the

demand

placed

on

the

Constabulary, how it addresses this demand and
improves outcomes for victims. The Commissioner also
receives updates on how the Constabulary is supporting
victims of crime and antisocial behaviour and monitors
AGS Page 13 of 21

annual internal audit plan. As a result of the emergence of
Covid-19 at the end of 2019-20, internal audit work had
to be temporarily suspended, however, audits recommenced from June 2020 and, aside from one audit
review, the full audit plan for 2020/21 has been delivered.
This has allowed the Head of Internal audit to provide
‘Reasonable Assurance’ on the PCC’s arrangements for
risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall, of the thirteen audits completed in 2020/21

In addition, six monthly performance reports provide an
understanding

annual process of management assurances and the

Robust Internal Control
During 2020/21 a number of areas of the corporate
governance framework have been subject to cyclical
review and update. This process is supported by the
professional advice of the Joint Audit Committee. During

covering the activities of the OPCC and Constabulary, 85%
provided either substantial or reasonable assurance.
Management have put in place to address all audit
recommendations.

Managing Data
The OPCC operates within the parameters of legislation
governing the protection of data, ensuring that all data is
appropriately stored and shared where necessary.
Information is provided to members of the public under
the Freedom of Information Act, with requests and
responses published on the Commissioner’s website. The
Ethics and Integrity Panel provide additional assurance in
this respect. Physical data within the OPCC is held securely
with appropriate office and cabinet security provided.
The OPCC is reliant upon Cumbria Constabulary in relation
to some business functions and regular meetings are held
to monitor compliance and developments. Regular
meetings are held with the Constabulary to assess the
continued compliance and any affect on the OPCC.
The OPCC has a joint Data Protection Officer with Cumbria
Constabulary. Any identified data breaches notified to, or
within, the OPCC are highlighted to the Joint DPO to
assess and advise of any course of action to be taken.
Strong Public Financial Management

At the Public Accountability Conference on the 19th

The outcome of all audits of financial arrangements during

February 2020, the Commissioner set the 2021/22 annual

2020/21 was an opinion that provided either reasonable

budget and precept in the context of a medium-term

or substantial assurance.

financial strategy 2021-2025. In line with his duty to
maintain the police force the Commissioner agreed a net
revenue budget of £136.9m and a capital budget of £4.5m
for the Chief Constable for the 2021/22 financial year and
a funding arrangement that codifies the terms for that
funding,

including

management.

arrangements

for

financial

The budget for 2021/22 also included

£0.85m for the operation of the Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner and £2.2m funding within a
commissioned services budget for victims, community
safety and crime reduction.

Whilst Government grant funding provided for Operation
Uplift and the increase in council tax for 2021/22,have
eased the immediate financial pressures on the budget,
financial sustainability over the medium term has
remained on the Commissioner’s strategic risk register.
The potential impact of the pandemic on public finances
has compounded existing uncertainties in relation to the
Government’s model for police funding beyond Operation
Uplift, the funding of police pensions and the cost of the
Emergency Services Network. A number of mitigation
measures have been put in place including the detailed

During 2020/21 the Commissioner received regular

medium-term financial forecast, financial scenario

financial reports including the revenue and capital

planning, use of reserves and development of savings

budgets, in year monitoring of expenditure against

plans in conjunction with the Constabulary.

budget and treasury management. A summary format of
financial reports incorporating tables and graphs,

Can you tell us about an example where you have had

wherever appropriate, is used to improve accessibility.

to provide challenge or feedback on a sensitive issue?

Financial reports are published on the Commissioner’s

How did you approach the issue and what

website.

considerations influenced your approach? CE During
2020/21 the finance team have actively participated in the
Achieving Financial Excellence in Policing programme
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▪

promoted by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and

This is further reinforced by publishing information from

Accountancy. The central element of the initiative has

across the OPCC using different formats to allow people

projects and support services to tackle the key

been completion of a self-assessment of all aspects of

to access information in range of forms.

priorities in the Police and Crime Plan and maintain

financial management in the force involving consultation

Commissioner’s website remains the central place for all

with a comprehensive range of stakeholders. The overall

information to be accessed.

The

vital services for victims.

▪

outcome of this work was positive, with a grading of 4 out

Continuation of funding for many community

Setting the policing budget for 2021/22, maintaining

Throughout the year the Commissioner has published

the additional 45 police officers secured over the

regular financial monitoring information in a short and

Commissioner’s term of office and increasing by a

succinct format that aims to increase the transparency

further 111 police officers through the first two

and accessibility of financial information. Further to this,

phases of the Government’s Operation Uplift

the statutory financial statements for 2019/20, published

Programme to recruit an additional 20,000 officers

practices in transparency, reporting

in June 2020, include the Chief Finance Officers’ Narrative

nationally.

and

Report.

of 5. An action plan to address areas for improvement has
been developed and will be progressed in 2021/22.

Principle G: Implementing good

audit to

deliver

effective

accountability.

The Narrative report incorporates a more

accessible summary of the statements and financial and
performance information, alongside a business review.

Improved youth engagement through the work of the
Cumbria Youth Commission, Mini Police and Cadets.

▪

Implementing good practices in reporting

Prioritised and supported work to address the top
public concerns raised with him namely, police

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

▪

The

Commissioner’s

activities,

performance

and

visibility, safer driving, cyber-crime and rural crime.

achievements have been published in an annual report,
Implementing good practice in transparency
The Commissioner is committed to good transparency.
Every opportunity is taken to demonstrate the good work

which can be found on the Commissioner’s website at

An updated Code of Corporate Governance was adopted

www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk.

in line with the 2016 CIPFA Good Governance Framework

It

highlights

the

commissioner’s key achievements during his fifth year in

for Local Government.

office, including:

that the Commissioner is involved with especially around

A review of the arrangements for internal audit have

the support to third-parties and commissioned services.

confirmed that the service meets the requirements of the
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Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) during

The Ethics and Integrity Panel monitors and reports on

Carleton Hall

2020/21.

some specific areas of activity, such as complaint handling

Penrith

and ethical issues. During the pandemic the Panel will

Cumbria CA10 2AU

The Commissioner’s unaudited financial statements for
2019/20 were released in June, with the final version
published in September, meeting the deadlines for
financial reporting, which were less stringent than in

provide assurance around the Constabulary’s use of the
emergency powers by conducting dip-samples of the

Telephone: 01768 217734
E-mail:commissioner@cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

Fixed Penalty Notices issued relating to Covid-19
restrictions and the Governments Guidelines.

previous year in cognisance of the difficulties presented by
the Covid-19 pandemic.
Assurance and effective accountability
The external auditors gave an unqualified opinion for the
Commissioner’s Financial Statements for 2019/20,
confirming that they provided a true and fair view of the
financial position and that they have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting. The auditors further confirmed in

Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic

efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.

Crime Commissioner has been impacted by the Covd-19
pandemic. For the most part staff have been working
remotely, but have been able to continue business as
usual. Meetings and engagement activities have been

*Roger Marshall

Chief Executive

Chief Finance Officer

2 June 2021
FURTHER INFORMATION
Further information on the arrangements for Governance
can be found on the Commissioner’s website under the

We welcome your views on the Commissioner’s Annual
Governance Statement. You can do this by using the
contact information below: Office of the Police & Crime
Commissioner
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*Gill Shearer

moved on-line and have operated effectively.

tab headed Governance and Transparency.
Implementation of recommendations arising from the
internal audit plan, external audit reports and HMICFRS
are monitored by the Joint Audit Committee.

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria

During 2020/21 the work of the Office of the Police and

their Annual Audit Letter that that the Commissioner had
proper arrangements in place for securing economy,

*Peter McCall

*Signatures are removed for the purposes of Publication
on the website

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation Action Update 31 October 2020
from
by
2019/20
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law.

CPA/1

N/A

CPB/1

N/A

CPB/2

CPB/2

Arising from the review of communications and engagement,
develop an Engagement Strategy 2020-2024

Head of Communications and 30th June 2020
Business Services

The PCC elections were postponed until May 21 as a
result this action should be moved to June 2021.

CPB/3

N/A

Develop a communications and engagement strategy for 20/21
that reflects the government COVID-19 restrictions at the time
and embraces new ways of communicating. Timescale Oct 20

Head of Communications and 31st October
Business Services
2020

This strategy has been completed however, it is a
dynamic document due to the changes in government
legilsation as a result of COVID-19.

Embed the Complaint Regulation changes within the OPCC and Head of Communications and 31st December
develop a review oversight procedure for the Ethics and Integrity Business Services
2020
Panel.
Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Establish a stronger link between individual QSPIs and work with Head of Communications and 31st October
the Constabulary to influence strategic actions with a view to
Business Services
2020
improving the policing service in the county.

Revised
Implementation
Date

Status

The process is now well embedded into working
practices. As part of their dip sample programme the
Ethics Panel are looking at the review files on a six
monthly basis. The first time was on 29 October 2020

Completed

All issues raised are fed into the local policing teams by
the Staff Office to understand the issues and identify
resolutions where possible. At Collaborative Board the
OPCC Exec Team will raise re-occuring trends and
themes to enable strategic input and oversight. Ethics
Panel receive six monthly reports on complaints and
QSPI's

Completed

30th June 2021

Ongoing (original
timescale
extended)
Completed

Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental benefits
CPC/1

N/A

Produce a plan to outline what the Commissioner and the OPCC Partnerships and Strategy
are doing to support communities and the Constabulary during Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 emergency.

31st May 2020

CPC/2

N/A

Review the Commissioning Strategy and implement
recommendations.

30th September
2020

CPC/3

N/A

Review the Grant Regulations and implement recommendations. Assistant Policy Officer

AGS Page 17 of 21

Partnerships and Strategy
Manager (Performance)

30th September
2020

A Plan has been developed outlining how the
Commissioner and his team are supporting the
countywide response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Chief
Officers and the Police & Crime Panel have all been
sighted on the Plan
The Commissioning Strategy has been reviewed and
approved by Executive Team (05.11.2020). No
recommendations arising from this review
The Grant Regulations have been reviewed and
approved by Executive Team (05.11.2020). This review
was informed by findings / recommendations arising
from a recent internal review of our contract
management arrangements conducted by the
Partnerships & Commissioning Team.

Completed

Completed

Completed

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
from
2019/20
(ref)

CPD/1

N/A

CPD/2

N/A

CPE/1

N/A

CPE/2

CPE/2

Lead Officer

Implementation
by

Action Update 31 October 2020

Revised
Implementation
Date

Status

Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended
Review the Accountability Framework to ensure that the
Partnerships and Strategy
30th June 2020
Commissioner is assured that the Constabulary is responding to Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 pandemic in a measured and consistent way.

Although, the Accountability Framework has been
30th November
reviewed and changes have been incorporated to
2020
ensure the Commissioner is assured that the
Constabulary is responding to the pandemic, this
revised framework has not yet been signed off by
Executive Team. The Commissioner receives weekly
updates from the Chief Constable in his one to one
meetings, and has received further assurance through
his Public Accountability Conferences (on 20th May 2020
and 6th October 2020).
Continue to work in collaboration with Cleveland, Northumbria Partnerships and Strategy
31st January 2021 The North East collaboration with NHS England has
and Durham OPCCs and NHS England / NHS Improvement to
Manager (Commissioning)
continued to evolve despite a failed procurement for an
jointly commission an integrated Sexual Assault Referral Centre
all aged SARC in Cumbria. A second procurement is due
(SARC) model across these areas.
to take place in summer 2021.
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity's capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.
Review the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown on the OPCC and
Chief Executive
30th September At the beginning of the pandemic the OPCC invoked its
implement recommendations to help shape the future of the
2020
Business Continuity Plan and staff worked from home.
organisation. Identify what has worked well, what can be
The OPCC has changed the way in which it works and is
improved and what the organisation can stop doing.
still able to fulful all its statutory and other functions.
IT connection was initially a problem, however this has
now been resolved and recently laptops have been
upgraded which has provided greater connectivity.
Review contract management arrangements and implement
Partnerships and Strategy
30th November The review has been completed and recommendations
recommendations.
Manager (Performance)
2020
implemented. Subsequently, Internal Audit have given
substantial assurance
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Completed

carry forward
2021-2022

Completed

Completed

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
from
2019/20
(ref)

CPF/1

CPF/1

CPF/2

N/A

CPF/3

N/A

Lead Officer

Implementation
by

Action Update 31 October 2020

Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial management.
Scope the approach and put in place arrangements to support
Partnerships and Strategy
31st March 2021 Following postponement of the Police & Crime
the development of the Police & Crime Plan 2020/2024 following Manager (Performance)
Commissioner elections, the Commissioner has
postponement of the PCC elections in May 2020 and the
determined that his priorities set out in the current
outbreak of coronavirus.
Police & Crime Plan will remain in place for the next
year. To support this, an Action Plan has been
developed to sit alongside the Police & Crime Plan,
setting out the key pieces of work that will be delivered
during this extended period of time. The Action Plan is a
living document that will be updated, as required, to
ensure it reflects emerging trends and issues arising
both locally and nationally from the Covid-19 pandemic.
It is also possible, following Police & Crime
Commissioner elections in May 2021, that the lifespan
of the Action Plan is extended to drive business until
March 2022.
Develop a new Covid-19 Fund to assist voluntary and community Partnerships and Strategy
30th June 2020
At the start of June 2020, the Commissioner launched
groups to either carry on providing existing services or launch
Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 Community Recovery Fund to provide
new projects to help people during the Covid-19 lockdown
short-term financial assistance of up to £5,000 to local
period or afterwards when restrictions are relaxed.
charities, community and voluntary groups to help them
to continue to offer vital support to victims or to look at
different ways of working to continue to achieve their
aims. The fund ended on the 30th September 2020 but
those in receipt on the funding have until 31st March
2021 to spent the money they received in its entirety.
Implement the revised Safer Cumbria governance structure and Partnerships and Strategy
work collaboratively to deliver its overarching strategy and joint Manager (Performance)
initiatives.
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31st July 2020

The revised Safer Cumbria governance structure
commenced April 2020. The overarching strategy was
presented at the Safer Cumbria Board in August 2020
and will provide strategic direction for the Partnership
to 2025.

Revised
Implementation
Date

Status

Completed

Completed

Completed

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
from
2020/21
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and
respecting the rule of law.

CPA/1

CPB/1

CPB2

CPC/1

CPD/1
CPD/2

CPD/3
CPD/4

CPE/1
CPE/2
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Develop a succession plan to ensure resilience and continuity of Governance Manager
28 February 2022
the membership and skills of the Ethics & Integrity Panel.
Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Develop a communications and engagement strategy for 2021-24 Communications and
30 June 2021
Engagement Officers.
Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental
benefits
Work with the newly elected Police & Crime Commissioner to
Partership & Strategy
31 December 2021
develop a new Police & Crime Plan for 2021-2024
Manager
Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended
outcomes.
Develop a holistic approach for women services through the
Project Manager
Women Centres.
Working with the Constabulary to reduce reoffending through
Project Manager
the implementation of an Out of Courts Disposal Framework
through the Pathways project.
Continue to deliver the Government's policy around Safer Streets Safer Streets Co-ordinator

31 March 2022
31 March 2022

31 March 2022

Develop and commission an intervention for perpetrators of
Partnership & Strategy
31 October 2021
Hate Crime.
Manager
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity's capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the
individuals within it.
Internal Audit of the OPCC's Agile Working arrangements.
Governance Manager
30 September 2021
Implement the recommendations from the 2021 PCC review
Chief Executive
31 March 2022

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

CPF/1
CPF/2

CPF/3

CPF/4

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
from
2020/21
(ref)
Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial
management.
Review of governance structure and processes in preparation for Governance Manager
31 December 2021
the outcome of PCC Reviews.
Consider the implications of local goverment re-organisation on Chief Executive
31 August 2021
the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner and make
recommendations to the Police & Crime Commissioner.
Develop partnership arrangements with the Youth Endowment Partnership & Strategy
31 March 2021
Fund to ensure access to future funding streams that helps to
Manager
prevent the criminalisation of children
Complete a self-assessment against the CIPFA Good Governance Safer Cumbria Co-ordinator
30 November 2021
Guide for the Safer Cumbria Partnership to drive
recommendations for improvement
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Agenda Item 15 C (ii)

The Chief Constable of Cumbria
Constabulary
Annual Governance Statement
2020/21

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

Constable’s functions. This statement explains how the

The Chief Constable of Cumbria Constabulary (the Chief

Chief Constable has complied with The Code. It also meets

Constable) is responsible for ensuring business is

the requirements of regulation 6(1) and 10(1) of the

conducted in accordance with the law and proper

Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 in relation

standards, that public money is safeguarded and properly

to the publication of an annual governance statement,

accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and

which must accompany the Chief Constable’s statement of

effectively.

accounts.

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Chief

THE REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

Constable is responsible for putting in place proper

The Chief Constable has responsibility for conducting, at

arrangements for the governance of affairs and facilitating

least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its

the exercise of functions, which includes arrangements for

governance framework including the system of internal

the management of risk.

control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the
work of Chief Officers and senior managers within the

The key elements of the system and processes that

organisation who have responsibility for the development

comprise the Chief Constable’s governance arrangements

and maintenance of the governance environment. The

are detailed in this document. The elements are based on

review comprises

the seven core principles of Corporate Governance from
the CIPFA/Solace Governance Framework, the standard

•

against which all local government bodies, including

the Chief Constable’s governance framework

police, should assess themselves.

e.g. Financial Regulations.
•

An

overarching

review

of

the

governance

The Chief Constable has approved and adopted a Code of

arrangements in place to support each core principle

Corporate Governance ‘The Code’. The Code gives clarity

within the CIPFA Solace guidance.

to the way the Chief Constable governs and sets out the
frameworks that are in place to support the overall
arrangements that are in place for fulfilling the Chief
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A cyclical detailed review of the key documents within

•

A review of what has happened during the past year
to evidence how the Code has been complied with,

Core Principle A: Behaving with
integrity, demonstrating strong
commitment to ethical values and
respecting the rule of law.

which is articulated in the Annual Governance
Statement.
•

A review of the effectiveness of the arrangements for
internal audit against the Public Sector Internal Audit

organisation. The priorities of the Constabulary’s
Professional Standards Department are shaped by a
Strategic Assessment of threats and risks, which reflects
the Regional Strategic Threat Assessment.

Standards and the Internal Audit Charter.
•

Formal reviews of the role of the Chief Constable’s

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

The People Control Strategy is broken down into four main

Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Internal Audit

Ethics and Integrity & Respecting the Rule of Law

areas, people we know, areas we go, standards of
professional behaviour and systems we use.

(HIA) against the respective CIPFA statements, which
A review of the

During 2020/21 the Constabulary continued to take a pro-

effectiveness of the Joint Audit Committee against

active approach to communicating and promoting the

Key priorities which are currently identified are:-

CIPFA guidance.

highest standards of integrity in all elements of its

•

demonstrated full compliance.

The

following

paragraphs

constitute

the

Annual

People – employee vulnerability (associations,

business. Work has continued to embed and develop

financial matters, wellbeing), abuse of position for

ethical behaviour based on:

sexual purposes and vetting.

Governance Statement, demonstrating how the Chief

•

The Constabulary’s Corporate Values

•

Areas – security

Constable has complied with the governance framework,

•

The College of Policing Code of Ethics

•

Standards -disclosure of information / confidentiality

set out within the Code, to meet of each of the seven

•

Preventing the abuse of authority for sexual gain.

governance principles. The Annual Governance Statement

•

The Constabulary’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy

is published alongside the Statement of Accounts and also
incorporates

an

action

plan

of

planned

and discreditable conduct.

Regular internal meetings are held to deliver these
These arrangements are supported by the Director of Legal

priorities, based on a framework of :-

Services, who is a qualified solicitor and acts as the Chief

Pursue

Constable’s ‘Monitoring Officer’, providing advice to the
Michelle Skeer

Roger Marshall

Chief Constable
25 November 2020

Joint Chief Finance Officer

Signatures have been removed for the purposes of
publication on the website
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Systems – misuse of force systems and social media.

and Procedures.

future

improvements for governance arrangements.

•

•

Intelligence development relating to officers and

Constabulary on all legal matters and is consulted on all

staff behaviour towards vulnerable members of

strategic decisions to ensure that laws are not

the community.

contravened. The Constabulary’s Professional Standards

•

Creation of operational packages for adoption by

Department is central to the maintenance of high

ACU operations concentrating efforts towards

standards

the four priority areas.

of conduct

and

behaviour within

the

•

Implementation of with-cause drug testing of

relating to employee behaviour should they have

However, the National Police Chiefs’ Council are currently

officers in response to intelligence

concerns

reviewing national guidance around a more in-depth
process, where the above 4 areas will be expanded to

Prevent
•

•

•

The Professional Standards Department operate a

concerns are raised relating to behaviour that

preventative approach designed to ensure all officers and

does not meet the threshold for misconduct.

staff are aware of their responsibilities and potential

In relation to complaints, the Constabulary remains

Force Reputational Panels in response to

consequences if their conduct falls below required

committed to delivering effective customer service.

developed intelligence identifying vulnerable

professional standards. This includes the issue of PASS

Following introduction of the new regulations in relation

associations.

newsletters, which provide guidance on matters of

to complaints, Police (Complaints and Misconduct)

Review and collation of force policy linked to

integrity. Subjects covered in 2020/21 have included

Regulation 2020), which came into force on 01/02/20, the

corruption

advice on:-

process for handling complaints has been revised. All

•

Standards of driving of force vehicles.

complaints are now logged and handled by a member of

Training, advice, engagement and guidance

•

Use of discriminatory language.

Professional Standards who attempts Service Recovery. If

provided to HQ and Area based courses on

•

Compliance with Covid 19 regulations

this is not possible the complaint is formally recorded for

priorities linked to standards of professional

•

Submission

Prepare
•

behaviour.
•

of

portfolio

work

for

police

Investigation. Only the most serious complaints are

Attendance and input at Digital Policing Board to

•

Sharing of Police information

investigated. Complaints can also be dealt with “There and

futureproof new ICT systems and force software

•

Power of entry.

Then” by Area but are still logged to ensure compliance
with reporting requirements

The key areas of vulnerability remain as:-

Protect
Meetings held with BIU to seek improvement in

•

terms of officers use and deployment of Body
•

either Reasonable and Proportionate Enquiries, or

qualifications.

systems.

•

provide a more specific assessment.

Integrity interviews with officers or staff where

Abuse of Position for a sexual purpose/ Sexual

Following introduction of the new regulations the

misconduct

Constabulary has adopted Reflective Practice Review

Worn Video (BWV)

•

Disclosure of Information

Engaging with partners regarding Abuse of

•

Neighbour/ Associate Issues

Position for a Sexual Purpose/Sexual Harassment

•

Drugs misuse.

and highlighting the reporting mechanisms
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Process (RPRP) which is progressed via the Strength Based
Conversation (SBC) process utilising Practice Requires
Improvement (PRI)

The Constabulary demonstrates a progressive attitude

reviews `Quality of Service and Policing Issues' raised by

develop Yammer, which is an internal social media

towards failure / mistakes. A key element of any PSD

members of the public including public complaints, police

platform to increase the potential and effectiveness of

investigation is to highlight any actions which could

misconduct and staff misconduct cases. The Panel’s work

internal engagement. The platform enables interactions

prevent similar mistakes being repeated. To this end,

is reported to the Commissioner’s Public Accountability

across the whole organisation - such as Ask the Force, staff

following every investigation the lead officer carries out a

Conference to improve transparency and support public

notice board, wellbeing support- as well as specialist

rigorous assessment to determine key actions and lesson,

scrutiny. Whilst the Panel’s conclusions provide assurance

interest groups, which cover a wide range of areas.

examples of what are:-

regarding high standards of ethics and integrity, where

Examples include:- support, information and feedback on

applicable, recommendations to enhance or improve the

specific projects, such as roll-out of Smartphones and

level of service provided by the Constabulary have been

origin duties system; Social Media support; a mechanism

made.

to provide feedback to senior management; workforce

•

Mistakes/sub-optimal

conduct

–

Practice

Requires Improvement (PRI), via RPRP
•

to all staff via a PASS newsletter.
•

wellbeing , giving advice and support; and a research hub

Systemic breakdown – change in policy/ reminder

Serious Misconduct (defined as misconduct that
would justify a Written Warning or above) Official misconduct proceedings.

Core Principle B: Ensuring openness
and comprehensive stakeholder
engagement.

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

misconduct hearings are held in public. Four public

Openness

misconduct. All such hearings are presided over by a
legally qualified chair.

The outcomes of misconduct

hearings are publicised on the Constabulary website.

independent oversight for the OPCC and Constabulary in
relation to standards, ethics and integrity. The Panel also
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The Constabulary works closely with the Office of the
Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) through formal

To support transparency and ensure that the Chief

and Collaborative Board meetings) and informally

Constable’s vision is clearly communicated, the Chief

through one to one meetings with senior staff from both

Officer Group continue to hold strategy days for senior

organisations.

management and online virtual road shows across the
county, for all officers and staff. This has been supported
by a range of communications across the force particularly

The Ethics and Integrity Panel continue to provide

and engagement across the force.

mechanisms (such as Public Accountability Conferences

misconduct hearings took place in 2020/21; as a result of

notice and one police officer was dismissed for gross

Stream – a video aid supporting learning, development

Engaging Effectively with Institutional Stakeholders

In the interests of openness and transparency, police gross

which one police staff member was dismissed without

that offers best practice advice. The force proactively use

via O365 tools, utilising Teams Live Events, Teams
meetings as well as the internal intranet site and
noticeboards. The Constabulary continues to use and

The Constabulary continues to work with partners as this
can deliver a more effective policing service to the public
and meet the aims of the Commissioner’s Police and
Crime Plan. Accordingly, the Constabulary actively
participates in a range of partnership activities and

functions in collaboration with other agencies, both at a

financial and other resource commitments and risk

messaging service and also detailed statistics for the

strategic and tactical level, which have been key during

assessment.

parish councils. These digital newsletters are available

the pandemic. Examples include:
•

for members of the public to subscribe . The current

•

the CRASH partnership (road safety)

•

the Safer Cumbria Action Board

•

the Local Safeguarding Board (child protection)

•
•

Community Safety Partnerships
The Cumbria Alcohol Board (countering alcohol

Engaging stakeholders effectively, including citizens and

20,171. These compliment the Forcewide, North, South

service users

and West newsletters to which 28,391 people subscribe
and these now also included additional information on

The Constabulary has a Community Engagement and

abuse)
•

Combating anti-social behaviour

•

County Council

•

Further development of links with criminal justice and
mental health agencies and other blue-light partners.

•

number of subscribers has doubled over the last year to

the Local Resilience Forum (major incident planning)

Local Focus Hubs in each area, where the

consultation activities and is refreshed on an annual basis

The Constabulary’s e-community has grown and is now

to understand the needs of service users. During the year,

at more than 295,000 followers, an increase of over

the Constabulary consulted with the public to find their

40,000 for the second year running. Officers within the

policing priorities, how confident they felt, how they

Neighbourhood Policing teams are using their facebook

would like to be engaged with and their areas of concern.

account to engage with the local community about

These informed the development of the Constabulary’s

policing issues important to them in their locality.

and Commissioner’s plans.

Constabulary works closely with a range of local
agencies to prevent and solve problems at the
earliest opportunity.
•

Collaborations with Durham Constabulary (ICT and
Information Management)

In accordance with the Joint Financial Regulations and
Rules, arrangements are in place to ensure that for
significant partnerships and joint working relationships
there is appropriate governance including, a legal power to
engage, appropriate approval by the Chief Constable and
Commissioner,
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clear

objectives,

documentation

of

Covid 19, with direct messages from the Chief Officers.

Consultation Strategy, which co-ordinates all on-going

Engagement with the public is pivotal to the work of
The Constabulary has developed a marketing and

Neighbourhood Policing Teams (NPTs) embedded in Local

communications

clear

Focus Hubs in determining local priorities. This is achieved

channels of communication with all sections of the

through Community Engagement Plans, which detail

strategy

which

establishes

community, providing crime prevention and safety advice
as well as information about services.

contact with all stakeholders particularly those that are
hard to reach or with protected characteristics. The
Community Engagement Strategy includes our key

Neighbourhood Policing Teams, within the Local Focus

principles of consultation and engagement, which are:

hubs now develop digital monthly newsletters, giving
access to information to their communities, covering
crime and antisocial behaviour issues relevant to local
communities, provide information and advice, a local

•

Officers, staff and volunteers being responsible for
and

having

a

neighbourhoods.

targeted,

visible

presence

in

•

A clearly defined and transparent purpose for

•

engagement activities.
•

Regular

formal and

These arrangements are supported by a toolkit, which is

Working with partners, such as sharing opportunities

•

available to officers.

The Constabulary has a Diversity, Equality and Inclusion

diversity in the recruitment of officers and staff and to

policing issues to communities.

Strategy, which seeks to both support diversity and

provide support for existing employees from diverse

inclusion within the workforce and to work with partners

backgrounds. Specific actions have included :

Engagement that recognises and is tailored to the

Using engagement to identify local priorities and

Officers, staff and volunteers providing feedback and
being accountable to communities.

•

Officers,

staff

and

volunteers

and the community to provide an effective policing

forces vision to attract, recruit and retain staff
and officers from under- represented groups. A

with communities but to adapt to the current situation a

number of recruitment events have been held,

number of initiatives have been developed including

which have attracted officers from outside the

•

Encouragement for Neighbourhood Policing Teams to

area and we have increased our under

engage

represented officers by 2%.

•

Officers, staff and volunteers working closely with the
Constabulary’s

Marketing

and

Communications

department to engage with members of the media to
highlight work conducted to tackle local issues.
•

Specific types of engagement are set out in our
minimum standards of engagement.

with

local

businesses

from

diverse

backgrounds, especially around significant dates e.g.

the policing of their local areas.

digital tools to engage with on-line communities.

Putting dedicated staff in place to support the

made face to face meetings virtually impossible to engage

supporting

Local focus teams will use social media and other

•

service for a diverse community. The Covid pandemic has

communities, where appropriate to be more active in

•

working with Carlisle United.

Making information available about local crime and

inform problem solving.
•

Media campaigns around Hate Crime including

The Constabulary has also been active in trying to promote

needs and challenges of different communities.
•

Increasing the Diversity of the Strategic Independent
Advisory Group

•

informal

for engagement.
•

•

attendance at suitable training or CPD activities.

contact with communities.
•

Senior leaders will ensure support for officers in

•

•

•

Established an Inclusion hub, this is a central

Chinese New Year

repository that staff can access to support them

On-line events to promote inclusion for recruitment,

with any wellbeing challenges or to seek help

women in policing, positive action, LGBTQ, Disability.

from any of staff support groups. This includes

On-line events to highlight areas of concern e.g.

officers who can provide lived experience advice.

Domestic Violence

•

As part of Operation Uplift the Constabulary is

•

Advertising significant dates via social media

first in the country in relation to the percentage

•

Engaging with different Community Groups e.g. Anti-

of female officers recruited at 42%.

Racism Cumbria, Multicultural Cumbria etc and

The

Constabulary

uses

Community

Impact

encouraging them to work with us

Assessments to identify issues that may affect a
community’s confidence in the ability of the police to
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respond effectively to their needs, thereby enhancing

Core Principle C: Defining

the police response, particularly after major incidents.

outcomes in terms of
The impact of Covid 19 has required significantly

sustainable economic, social

enhanced marketing and communications services,

and environmental benefits.

internally and externally. For the public, this involved

are

included

Improvement

in
Plan,

the

Constabulary’s
along

with

recommendations from HMICFRS.
The Commissioner approved these key objectives and
incorporated them into his Police & Crime Plan to

providing information and explanation about the
changes in legislation and how the police deal with it

Leads at senior level and improvement actions

complement his aims.
REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

on social media and a weekly newsletter. The
management of questions and feedback from the

Defining Outcomes

approach (how we will support officers and staff to

public relating to policing the county, as well as
regular direct messages from the Chief Constable and

The Chief Constable determined the strategic

Assistant Chief Constable to the public.

direction for the Constabulary, which is ‘to deliver an
outstanding police service to Keep Cumbria Safe’,

Internally, frequent bulletins from the Chief Constable

which is set out in the Plan on a Page. This plan

and the Assistant Chief Constable have communicated

outlined the Constabulary’s core policing priorities:

important messages to the workforce. This includes

•

Responding to the public

key information on the new legislation and our

•

Prevention and deterrence

•

Investigation

•

Protecting vulnerable people

•

Monitoring dangerous and repeat offenders

•

Disrupting organised crime

•

Responding to major incidents

•

Each key function or specialism within those

approach to policing it, practical advice and guidance
on changes to working practices in the criminal justice
system and other agencies, use of PPE, and advice
and guidance on keeping safe, both at work and
home.

deliver), the principles which underpin plans to transform
the organisation and future challenges, which are outlined
in Vision 25.

The Plan on a Page shows how everyone in the
organisation contributes to the overall aim of Keeping
Cumbria Safe and improves knowledge and understanding
pay by linking strategic objectives to operational and
business daily activity on the ground and maintaining
performance.

Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
During 2020/21, work continued to deliver Vision 25,
which complements the Constabulary’s priorities, builds

priorities are the responsibility of a Professional
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In addition, the Plan on a Page identifies our values, our

on achievements to date and provides a roadmap to

transform policing to meet the challenges of delivering an

principally to support the second phase of Operation

cost of implementing the Emergency Services Network,

effective service for communities into the mid 2020s.

Uplift; the Government’s plan to recruit 20,000 new

pension cost pressures, any potential review of the Police

officers by 2023.

The settlement also provided

Funding Formula and the negative impact of the Covid-19

Commissioners with a degree of flexibility to levy above

pandemic on public finances mean that the Constabulary’s

inflation council tax increases. Following a public

financial prospects remain uncertain over the medium

consultation exercise, the Commissioner approved the

term.

Cumbria Vision 25 has five key themes:
•
•
•
•
•

Local Policing
Specialist Capabilities
Digital Policing
Workforce
Business Support

2021/22 budget in February 2021 based on a council tax
increase of 2.47%. The additional funding provided to the

Against this background, modelling of a range of financial

Constabulary will allow existing services to be maintained

scenarios through the Medium Term Financial Planning

and has facilitated planned recruitment of an additional

process, undertaken jointly by the OPCC and Constabulary,

60 officers in 2021/22. This is slightly above its target of

have continued to inform wider business planning. An on-

recruiting 47 officers in the second phase of Operation

going theme of each of the Cumbria Vision 2025 work-

Uplift and will put the Constabulary into a good position

streams is to develop savings options and realise business

to achieve its overall recruitment target over the three

benefits, particularly in areas where investment in new

Business planning and governance boards have been re-

years of the Uplift programme. In consultation with the

technology has been made, as a means of balancing the

organised, to better align to Vision 25. Each board is

Commissioner, the additional officers will be deployed by

budget over the medium term.

headed by a senior business lead and is responsible for

the Chief Constable to areas, which will support the Police

monitoring delivery and performance of Vision 25

and Crime Plan’s principal objective of keeping Cumbria

During 2020/21 the Constabulary has continued to

priorities.

safe.

develop its business planning aligned to the MTFF.

Each theme has an accompanying work programme
outlined in the Vison 25 document. Vision 25
workstreams and actions are recorded and progress
monitored through the Cumbria Constabulary
Improvement Plan (CCIP).

Workplans to support existing strategies in relation to
During 2020/21 the Commissioner incorporated the
Constabulary’s budget proposals into his 2021/22 budget in
the context of a medium term financial forecast (MTFF)
covering four years to 2024/25.

The policing grant settlement, received in December 2020
provided £3.4m in additional grant funding for 2021/22,
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The Government grant funding provided for Operation

people, ICT, fleet, estates and procurement have been

Uplift and the increase in council tax for 2021/22, in

produced. Progress during the year, together with future

combination with the public sector pay freeze for 2021,

plans, have been reported to the Commissioner. In some

have eased the immediate financial pressures on the

instances work has been re-prioritised or deferred to

Constabulary to deliver savings to balance the budget.

enable the Constabulary to deal with the impact of the

Nevertheless, financial risks, specifically in relation to the

Covid-19 pandemic.

Government’s funding model post Operation Uplift, the

A critical priority for the Data, Digital and Technology

the aim of ensuring that the benefits offered by

a view to sustainability, a small number of electric

(DDaT) Command in 2020/21 has been the development

technology are recognised and embedded within working

vehicles are currently being trialled for operational use.

of a digital infrastructure, which has enabled the

practice.

Constabulary to operate efficiently and effectively when

Despite the challenges of remote working the Financial

a significant proportion of the workforce have been

Work began on refinement of the benefits management

Services, Central Services and Commercial teams have

working remotely as a result of the pandemic.

and delivery model, linking in with revised governance

implemented a new finance and procurement system as

structures to ensure that productivity gains and financial

part of a wider Business Transformation Programme

Elsewhere the force has been ambitious in progressing its

benefits result from the investment in all the

aimed at streamlining processes in enabling functions. In

DDaT Strategy with a particular focus on creating in house

programmes of work in Vision 25. There has been a

support of this objective a system of a system of no

applications to replace costly supplier led products and

deferment of this work due to Covid 19, but it will be

purchase order, no pay’ has been introduced in 2020/21.

creating a capability for future PowerApps to transform

embedded during 2021.

The Commercial Dept has also been instrumental in

the way in which it delivers digital innovations.

ensuring a supply of Personal, Protective, Equipment in
In relation to Estates, the priority in the last year has been

2021/22 to protect frontline officers and staff.

A wide range of digital projects have continued during

to provide a safe working environment for staff during

2020/21 including the delivery of digital interview

the pandemic, including enhanced cleaning and the

The People Strategy, developed in 2018/19, was extended

recording and roll out of replacement Airwave radios to

provision of a Covid secure agile working hub in Kendal.

by a further year in the context of the pandemic. During

officers. Work has continued to develop the future vision

In addition, a number of Community Bases have been

2020/21 significant effort within the HR Department has

for major elements of the DDaT Strategy including the

developed to support a renewed emphasis on Local

been directed to recruit the Constabulary’s target of an

underlying digital infrastructure, control room futures,

Policing.

additional 51 officers in the first year of Operation Uplift,

Red Sigma collaboration with Durham Constabulary and

which was achieved almost a year ahead of schedule. A

engagement in national programmes such as the National

During 2020/21 the fleet replacement programme has

further critical activity during the year has been to ensure

Enabling Programme and rollout of Office 365.

largely been maintained, however, this has proved

that the welfare needs of staff working from home have

challenging as a result of supply chain difficulties arising

been met including an individual needs assessment by the

Recognising that technology is central to all aspects of

from

the

occupational health department. Work that has been

Policing, the Constabulary has developed a Digital

development of new ways including in-house vehicle

continued on the other main themes of the strategy has

Leadership Programme which has been delivered to all

conversions and ensuring a resilient supply of parts. With

included :

managers and supervisors across the organisation with
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the

pandemic.

This

has

necessitated

•

•

Revision of the grievance and mediation handling

•

Public satisfaction and staff well-being surveys.

promote well-being in the workplace.

services to that the constabulary can positively

•

Development of the Constabulary website.

Investment in further Wellbeing initiatives in the

support staff in the workplace.

•

Collaboration arrangements

•

Digital Leadership

Participation in the national Oscar Kilo programme to

•

Constabulary and the training of Mental Health First
Aiders who can signpost staff for early help and

Core Principle D: Determining the
interventions necessary to optimise
the achievement of intended
outcomes.

support. A Bronze better health at work award was
achieved and work is proceeding towards a silver
award, which is expected to be achieved in 2021
•

Provision of psychological screening for an additional

•

•

Working as a pilot force for inclusion working in

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

collaboration with Durham University and 10 other

Planning Interventions

forces.

The Chief Officer Group is the Constabulary’s strategic
Based

decision making forum. In the last 12 months reports key

Conversation model that promotes a coaching

decisions have included considering and approving reports

approach by managers, and helps to build resilience in

in relation to :

our employees.

•

The response to Covid 19 and subsequent recovery
and renewal.

•

Organisational re-structuring

•

Business strategies

•

Resource allocation

Investment in anti-corruption software and resources

•

Financial updates (including the budget proposal)

to safeguard the safety and wellbeing of the

•

Risk management updates.

workforce.

•

Governance documents

•

Business cases in relation to operational and support

Investment

in

a

streamlined

Strength

Development of a spotlight scheme to shape future
leaders in the Constabulary

•

Streamlined processes in duty management so staff
can access automated leave systems

•

functions and investment in ICT systems.
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vision. Decisions are minuted and subject to scrutiny by
the Commissioner.

To improve communication and

transparency all COG decisions are published on a
decision log, which is made available to key stakeholders.

100 officers in high risk roles.
•

All decisions support delivery of the Chief Constable’s

Members of the Chief Officer Group have also attended
meetings of the Police and Crime Panel to provide
context to Commissioner’s precept proposal.

The Chief Officer Group is supported by a number of
other boards, which are aligned to Vision 25, this
includes a Management Board with responsibility for
scrutiny and performance management.

Determining Interventions & Optimising Outcomes
The Constabulary has worked with the Office of the
Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) to develop the
performance framework.

This set of measures and

targets to support delivery of the Police and Crime Plan
and is the mechanism used by the Commissioner to hold
the Chief Constable to account. Progress against these

measures has been reported to the Commissioner every

resources tasked to deal with the operational issues

During 2021/22 the Constabulary has put in place new

six months at the Public Accountability Conference.

raised.

Investigative Standards and Disclosure rules and a
Safeguarding Excellence Plan, which provide a framework

Performance for all crime types, antisocial behaviour,

Every day, officers in each Territorial Policing Area hold

to ensure victims are supported and receive a high quality

road collisions, user satisfaction and productivity is

a Daily Management Meeting, which identifies the

service.

monitored through the performance management

crimes and incidents that have occurred over the

conference arrangements, where issues are identified

previous 24 hours and any vulnerable or high profile

and discussed. Potential solutions and actions required

incidents. A supporting force-wide Daily Operational

Core

are developed and allocated to individuals to implement.

Review Meeting ensures that resources are directed to

entity’s capacity including the

meet strategic priorities across the county.
This is supported by thematic reports for specific areas
of activity, which are discussed at the Commissioner’s
Public Accountability Conference. Reports in 2020/21
included child sexual abuse and exploitation, supporting
victims, community policing, roads policing, the policing
response to Covid-19.

As part of the Constabulary’s work on managing demand,

senior police officers carry out a full assessment of
operational risk, harm and threat to communities and

opportunity, vulnerability, engagement, safeguarding and
ethical crime recording) have been introduced within the

Making Model, this informs decisions as to
•

Whether to deploy officers to incidents.

•

The types of officers to deploy, including specialist
resources.

•
•

Whether to resolve the call in the control room at
the first point of contact.

organised crime groups, threats to life, crime and antisocial behaviour trends. Action has been taken and

A proportionate, reasonable and effective
response.

people, repeat offenders, vulnerable missing from
home, significant domestic abuse, prison issues,

Developing

capability of its leadership and the
individuals within it.
REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS
Developing the Entity’s capacity & leadership

communications room when grading calls for service.

an assessment of performance changes and their root
causes. This encompasses consideration of vulnerable

E:

the principles of THRIVESC (threat, harm, risk, investigative

Acting within the framework of the National Decision
In the operational environment, on a monthly basis,

Principle

•

Refer to partner agencies.

The key functions and roles of the Chief Constable and the
Police and Crime Commissioner are set out in the Police
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA) and the
Policing Protocol Order 2011 (PPO). The Chief Constable’s
statutory responsibilities for maintaining the Queen’s
Peace are set out in various Police Acts. Both the Chief
Constable and Commissioner are statutorily required to
employ a Chief Finance Officer.
The arrangement for the Commissioner and Chief
Constable to operate with a shared Chief Finance Officer is
now well embedded. To date no issues have been
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identified, however, a protocol and range of safeguards

Following the conclusion of a collaboration with

virtual leadership event, featuring high profile speakers

remain in place to handle potential conflicts of interest

Lancashire, the L&D department have continued to

who will examine Leadership from a variety of

arising from the joint role. A review of the operation of the

develop and refine courses for ‘in house’ delivery,

perspectives.

Joint Chief Finance Officer arrangement has been

including the newly established Investigative Manager

conducted and aligned to the CIPFA statement on the Role

course for Detective Supervisors.

The force has successfully applied to become a Supporting

of the Chief Finance Officer. This exercise has shown full
compliance and has not revealed any significant issues.

Provider
Leadership continues to be a key priority for the
Constabulary’s People Department with aspiring Sgts and

The Constabulary has used HMICFRS Value for Money
profiles and Police Objective Analysis to inform its Change
Programme and applied zero based budgeting, with robust
financial challenge to budget holders, to secure maximum
value from the resources available. Although there are
difficulties in ensuring true comparisons, in general, the
VFM work has shown the Constabulary to benchmark well,
although, in some instances costs may appear to be
relatively high when measured per head of population.

Inspectors attending bespoke training programs prior to
starting their new role. Elements of these courses are also
open to police staff supervisors. It is important that this
focus on development does not stop for experienced
leaders and the Constabulary has delivered a series of
development workshops for staff and officers across a
range of ranks and grades, featuring a variety of specialist

sparse county.

training was developed in March 2021 in conjunction with
operational leadership teams in the context of best
practice guidance from the National Police Chief’s Council.
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enables

the

Constabulary to recoup some of the apprenticeship levy
paid to the government by working in collaboration with
the Education Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) and local
education providers. An apprenticeship strategy has been
agreed, which sets out the Constabulary’s commitment to
identify skills gaps and increase the capabilities both of our
current and future workforce. The application of this
strategy is monitored through a dedicated governance
process.

developing and delivering a Police Constable Degree
Work has continued to ensure the Departmental intranet
site remains current, with a focus on meaningful, practical
The

Constabulary is soon to launch its Spotlight Programme,
aimed at shining a light on those individuals who display

The Constabulary’s annual training plan for mandatory

which

The Constabulary had made significant strides in designing,

negotiation.

and accessible learning support available to all.
Developing the Capability of Individuals within the entity

Apprenticeships,

inputs ranging from presentation skills to hostage

This is principally attributable to the logistics of providing
an effective policing service over such a geographically

for

authentic leadership abilities, by providing a framework
underpinned by the Code of Ethics, to identify, develop,
support, nurture and attract talented individuals at all
levels. The Spotlight launch will be coordinated with a

Apprenticeship (PCDA) and a Degree Holder Entry
Programme (DHEP) in conjunction with the University of
Central Lancashire. These programs sit under the Police
Education & Qualifications Framework which details the
qualification requirements for all new officers. The
Constabulary’s first PCDA and DHEP cohorts started early
in 2020 and we have successfully enrolled 108 student
officers (as of March 2021). This means that all new
officers will receive a mixture of delivery covering law,

practical and academic skills in preparation for their new

and circulated to key individuals within the Constabulary

During 2020/21 a revised policy governance framework

careers. A direct entry Detective pathway has been

to help identify other potential risks.

was created to take account of the Data Protection Impact

developed to address a shortage of officers in this area.
This will be rolled out in 2021/22.

Assessment (DPIA). The policy and procedure template
Risk management is a standing agenda item on all

has also been amended to reflect this change.

Constabulary boards, including programme and project
The Constabulary continues to utilise the strengths-based

management boards. Mitigating actions are identified and

Managing performance

conversations approach to Performance Development

tracked to ensure that risks are minimised. Key strategic

A performance strategy is embedded within the

Review (PDR). The approach is based on the national

risks are managed by Chief Officers.

Constabulary. This is achieved mainly through the use of:

responsibility for development built around a central

The Risk management policy was reviewed and updated

•

competency framework (including individual objectives).

during 2019/20 in line with our policy management

protecting vulnerable people through the

This initiative has received national recognition winning

arrangements.

Vulnerability Board.

College

of

Policing

model

focusing

on

personal

•

two prizes at the 2019 Training Journal awards in London.

Core Principle F: Managing risks
and performance through robust
internal controls and strong
public sector management.

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS
Managing risk
The Constabulary has a risk management strategy, which
stresses that it is the responsibility of all officers and staff
to identify and manage risk.

This is supported by a

horizon scanning exercise, which is conducted monthly,
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Specific focus on performance in relation to

Performance Development Conferences, based on

During 2020/21 specific risks associated with the potential

thematics, every other month as part of Management

reduction in funding, the introduction of the Emergency

Board, where all functions are held accountable for

Services Network, the Constabulary’s capacity to

performance.

implement change, and the potential impact of Covid-19

feedback to provide reassurance to chief officers that

on policing services, continue to feature prominently on

improvements are being made.

This also now includes time for

the Constabulary’s strategic risk register.

•

Reviewing delivery of specific work streams at
Strategy Days.

In addition, emerging risks in relation to ICT in terms of

•

Metrics have been developed to support Operation

service failure becoming ever more significant as the

Uplift, the Constabulary’s response to Covid 19 and a

infrastructure, hardware, software and third-party

range of dashboards developed as part of the Business

providers underpinning digital, data and technology

Intelligence Programme of work

services becomes ever more complex has been added to

•

Performance reports for Vision 25 work programme.

the Strategic Risk Register, as has a risk in relation to

•

A formal process for all officers and staff based on

Crime Command resilience.

strengths based conversations, to identify areas for

development. During 2020/21 this was updated to

the force, improvement activity and the money the

code of practice. Individual feedback is provided to

incorporate more focus on personal objectives.

force expects to have to deliver policing services.

officers and their supervisors were necessary.

•
The Constabulary has a ‘Delivering Excellence’ Strategy,

Constabulary, providing

which aims to embed continuous improvement across the

•

and search powers, to ensure police powers are being

on our priorities and all HMICFRS recommendations

used proportionately.

Improving on standards and quality across policing

•

•

Harnessing ideas and suggestions for improvement

involving the reviewing of Body Worn Video, providing

•

Developing and delivering the Change Programme

direct

feedback

to

officers

and

supervisors,

undertaking improvement measures and broader
During 2020/21 work on the Cumbria Constabulary

performance monitoring through the Constabulary

Improvement

Plan,

Use of Force Board, and the Cumbria Strategic

effectiveness

in

ensuring

that

to

improve

priorities

its
and

recommendations from inspection bodies are being

•

Audit of Community Resolutions.

Robust internal control
The Constabulary maintains robust internal controls
systems. Assurance with regard to internal controls is
provided by:
•

A risk based internal audit plan. Although audit work
had to be suspended in the early part of 2020/21 as a

Audits of compliance with the Victims Code of
Practice, and for the operation of the released under

the need to re-direct resources to ensuring business

investigation processes.
•

Reviews of fast track crime allocations.
•

Independent Advisory Group.

progressed through reality checking, has been impeded by

continuity during the pandemic. Nevertheless, work

us to rectify issues under the recovery process.

In conjunction with the Professional Standards
Department, an audit of officers’ use of force,

aims

domestic incidents). This is real time audit allowing

•

activities known as the Quality Counts initiative.

Ongoing daily National Crime Recording Standards
audits of high risk crimes (sexual offence, violence,

whether the Constabulary appropriately uses stop

Development of Business Improvement Plans based

which

•

feedback to officers and

supervisors, together with an assessment as to

Constabulary and has four key areas of work:
•

Auditing all ‘stop and search’ completed in the

result of the Covid-19 pandemic, all but one of
planned audits were completed. Overall, 85% of
audits completed in 2020/21, including all those

An audit and inspection

of Released under

relating to finance, were graded as providing either

undertaken in 2020/21 has included

Investigation

•

understanding of current and future demand upon

investigation to inform an improvement plan and

management action plans have been put in place to

the

support outcomes work

address all internal audit recommendations.

Constabulary,

which

has

supported

the

completion of the Force Management Statement. This

•

volume,

process

and

quality

of

Ongoing Domestic Abuse quality of service audits, to

is a self-assessment that chief constables prepare and

ensure that officers are adhering to investigative

provide to HMICFRS every year and explains; current

standards, safeguarding practices and the victims

and future demand over four years, performance of
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substantial

•

or

reasonable

assurance.

Robust

The Head of Internal Audit’s overall opinion was that
there is a reasonable level of assurance in relation to

•

•

the Chief Constable’s frameworks for governance, risk

strategic level by introducing a cross functional

the Covid-19 pandemic. The External Auditor’s Audit

and internal control.

Information Management Board.

Findings report gave an unqualified audit opinion.

Action plans to respond to recommendations, the
During

2019/20

the

finance

team

have

actively

implementation of which are monitored by the Joint

The formation of a Data Ethics Consultation Group and

Audit Committee.

supporting framework to address ethical considerations

participated in the Achieving Financial Excellence in

A Joint Audit Committee, which is self-assessed

relating to the collection, use and intended use of

Policing programme promoted by the Chartered Institute

against CIPFA guidance, and is judged as being highly

personal data, in particular the use of technology, is

of Public Finance and Accountancy. The central element of

effective in its role.

currently in its early stages.

the initiative has been completion of a self-assessment of
all aspects of financial management in the force involving

Managing Data

Strong public financial management

consultation with a comprehensive range of stakeholders.

During 2020/21, progress has been made to embed a

Strong financial management provides a framework for all

This self-assessment gave a positive conclusion with an

distinct Information Management Department to report

business decision making and planning within the

overall rating of 4 out of 5. The assessment did identify

alongside ICT and Business Development. This has

Constabulary. This includes the Joint Chief Finance Officer

areas for improvement particularly in relation to the role

brought data, information, technology and innovation

being a member of the leadership team and finance

of finance in transforming the business. An action plan has

together.

representation at all significant decision making forums.

been developed, which will focus on

Regular financial reporting, clear budget ownership and

•

The review of the existing structure and Information
Management workstreams has continued, this includes
investment in both transactional and governance
activities. This supports a cohesive approach to the
multifaceted dimensions of Information Governance. This
will improve how data and information assets are valued
and managed across the Force to improve services.

responsibilities (as set out in the Chief Constable’s Scheme

Strategy

of Delegation and scheme of budget management) and

benchmarking.

consideration of the medium term financial position in all

•

across

the

Constabulary,

including

Changes to the Scheme of Delegation in relation to

strategic decision making are also key features of the

financial

financial management framework within the force.

empowerment and accountability for budget-holders.
•

The Constabulary’s unaudited financial statements for

management

to

provide

greater

Development of the business partnering approach to
support budget-holders.

2019/20 were released in June, with the final version

•

Provision of training for non-finance staff.

published in September, meeting the deadlines for

•

Delivering benefits from the new finance system,

Governance board arrangements have been adjusted to

financial reporting, which were less stringent than in

widen the scope to highlight and address; information

previous year in cognisance of the difficulties presented by

related risks, issues, opportunities and threats at a
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Development of an enhanced Value for Money

which has recently been implemented.

The Financial Management Code developed by the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
came into effect from the 1st April 2020, with the aim of
supporting good practice in financial management in local
authorities including the policing sector. However, there is
a recognition that due to the global pandemic, it may be
difficult for authorities to demonstrate full-compliance

Principle G: Implementing good
practices in transparency, reporting
and audit to deliver effective
accountability.

Assurance & Effective Accountability
During 2020/21 the Constabulary has been inspected by
HMICFRS in relation to national thematic inspections on
counter terrorism and integrated offender management.

during 2020/21. A self assessment has been undertaken,
which shows that the Constabulary largely meets the

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

requirements of the code, however there are some areas

The improvements identified from these inspections for
Cumbria are logged on the HMICFRS portal to monitor

where further work is required to ensure full compliance,

Implementing good practice in Transparency & Reporting

progress in addressing them, and form part of the regular

most notably in relation to

The principal means by which the Constabulary reports to

discussions and insight visits undertaken by HMICFRS

•

the public are through themed presented to the

personnel to provide assurance of service.

Demonstrating Value for Money.

•

Balance sheet monitoring.

•

Scheme of delegation and financial training

•

Developing a financial resilience index.

•

Application of formal options appraisal techniques.

Commissioner’s Public Accountability Conferences, which
are open to the public. Reports are also available through
the Commissioner’s website.

good for all aspects efficiency, effectiveness and
The external auditor’s opinion for the 2019/20 financial

legitimacy. Areas inspected included:
•

Preventing crime & tackling ASB

provided a true and fair view of the financial position and

•

Investigating crime

that they have been properly prepared in accordance with

•

Protecting vulnerable people

the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting. The

•

Tacking serious and organised crime

auditors further confirmed in their Annual Audit Letter

•

Armed policing

that that the Chief Constable had proper arrangements in

•

Meeting current demands and using resources

place for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in

•

Planning for the future

the use of resources.

•

Treating the public fairly

•

Ethical and lawful workforce behaviour

A copy of the self-assessment is included as an appendix

year was that the Chief Constable’s Financial Statements

to the Annual Governance Statement.
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At the previous inspections, the Constabulary was rated as

•

Treating the workforce fairly

All of the sources above indicated that systems and
processes are operating effectively and have raised no
significant concerns

During 2020/21 the Chief Constable received assurances
with regard to the Constabulary’s arrangements for risk
management, internal control and governance from a
number of sources which included:
•

The CFOs annual review of internal audit.

•

The Head of Internal Audit and Joint CFO’s assessment
of the internal audit service against Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards.

•

The Head of Internal Audit’s opinion on the
framework of governance, risk management and
internal control.

•

A review of the effectiveness of the Joint Audit
Committee against CIPFA guidelines.

•

Monitoring of the implementation of actions in
response to HMICFRS, internal and external audit
recommendations

through the

Joint

Audit
Committee.
•

Management assurances in respect of financial
systems and processes.

•

The CFO’s fraud risk assessment.
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with functions and roles within the Constabulary were

Continuity Plan was reviewed one six occasions

were graded and colour coded as follows:

and implemented between April and June 2020.

Green – Not critical activity which could be stopped but

The plan identifies the tipping points that move

with some manageable impact.

the organisation from blue (business as usual) to

Amber – ‘Desirable’ critical activity, which could be

The Constabulary’s response to Coronavirus over 2020/21

stopped with significant impact.

has been in four phases:

Red – ‘Essential’ critical activity, which must not stop.

black (critical impact).
•

approach to CODIV-19 was approved at the same

The

Coronavirus Business Continuity Plan.

implemented, and other work commissioned and
July - Cumbria

Constabulary

Business

generated by Op Lectern’s

Continuity

plan

was

Gold, Silver, and Bronze

Constabulary Coronavirus Business Continuity plan

meetings, together with the ever evolving threat from

(Version 7).

Coronavirus resulted in the following:

Phase 3 – Preparation for the Second Wave – Cumbria

•

Phase 4 – Easing of third Lockdown - Cumbria

•

Constabulary COVID-19 Spring Response Plan
Throughout these phases the Constabulary has continued
to utilise the Gold, Silver, and Bronze (Strategic, Tactical
and Operational) command structure in response to the
Coronavirus

pandemic

–

Operation

Lectern.

The

Constabulary continued to utilise its the Cumbria

•

•

The following infrastructure was created in
March 2020 to support Gold, Silver and the wider

used through-out 2020/21:
Op

Lectern

Business

Continuity

Daily Op Lectern Silver meetings, reduced to

Resourcing Cell, whose role is to

three times a week once effective management

coordinate all of the operational and

arrangements were established and the impact

business actions required to deliver the

of the Coronavirus on resources was understood

Gold objectives, support Silver manage

and controlled. This reduced to weekly meetings

action. The size of this team has varied

over the summer.

depending of the level of risk and

Daily Departmental Op Lectern Bronze meetings

activity.

continued

which there have been three versions). Which utilised the

departmental Daily Management Meetings.
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Constabulary.

o

Constabulary Coronavirus Business Continuity plan (of

Constabulary’s business continuity impact assessment,

meeting and was circulated to everyone in the

Constabulary response, and continued to be

Twice weekly Op Lectern Gold meetings, moving
to weekly from the 19/05

Constabulary Winter Preparedness Plan

Cumbria Constabulary Guidance to all Officers
Staff and Volunteers on the Constabulary

Phase 1 – Initial Response - Cumbria Constabulary

Phase 2 – Lockdown Eases – 4

Cumbria Constabulary Coronavirus Business

prioritised based on the critical activity performed and

Appendix 1 Response to the
Coronavirus Pandemic

th

•

as

part

for

the

Constabulary

o

Op Lectern Data Cell, whose role is to
provide daily accurate data on the
impact of the coronavirus on the

workforce available and police demand,

o

•

Group, which consisted of officers who were

external requests for information.

across the estate continued to be maintained

‘shielding’ utilising the Dex ICT system to work

Op Lectern Information Cell, whose role

•

is to ensure that the Constabulary is

from one room at HQ to working over three

operating with the latest guidance. This

rooms in two HQ sites and one Durranhill site.

is

all

Training courses have been delivered for the

information from a wide range of

reserve workforce required in the room to

sources, recording it and allocating to a

provide business continuity.

achieved

by

lead

gathering

for

in

review

and

•

Patrol. This builds on the THRIVESE assessment
and General Infection Risk Assessment questions
which CMR use.
•

supporting this approach. Daily reporting is
being provided to the operational management

C19 Risk (a risk of COVID-19 being present), C19
Related (incident caused by circumstance for

from one plan using Microsoft Teams

example disagreement in a supermarket) C19

Planner to ensure robust accountability

Reported (contact from the public relating to be

and effective risk management.

breach of legislation).
•

meetings held across the county which informs
this patrol plan.
•

undertake the testing of officers and staff or a

Patrol Officers continued to deploy from ten

accelerated implementation of handheld mobile

Coronavirus Business Continuity Plan.
A number of functions moved to a 7 day week
working; HR, Resource Co-ordination (duties),

family member to facilitate early return to

ICT, Marketing and Communications, Op Lectern
Resourcing Cell, Information Cell and Data Cell.

work for those not suffering from Covid 19.
•

devices, and Dex ICT systems.
•

servicing the demand from newly recorded

PPE usage and safe systems of work were
adopted in line with national guidance as the
understanding of coronavirus developed.

Detectives have adopted a duty rota scheme
enabling the balance between home working and

A comprehensive wellbeing site has been
established, and there are services available to

of smaller sites. This was supported by an

Phase 1 - Initial Response - Cumbria Constabulary

A countywide patrol plan continued been put in
place, with all spare capacity focused on

New incident categories were created to identify

All Op Lectern actions are managed

A COVID-19 Wellbeing group continued.

remotely to remove demand from CMR and

The Command and Control Room was moved

main deployment bases together with a number

•

Implementation of an Investigative Support

enhanced ICT and the relocation of key functions

progression as appropriate.

o

•

and to respond to the numerous

professional

o

People working from home, supported by

•

Safe systems of work where reviewed in May
2020 – with an internal inspection undertake.

crimes. This was supported by the introduction
of a new Crime Allocation Procedure, moving
from eight to three categories.

Phase 2 - Cumbria Constabulary Coronavirus Business
Continuity plan (Version 7) (July – September 2020)

AGS Page 19 of 26

•

The Constabulary continued to utilise an

Phase 3 - Cumbria Constabulary Winter Preparedness

amended Cumbria Constabulary Coronavirus

Plan (October 2020 – March 2021)

Business Continuity plan (Version 7). Continuing
to utilise the Operation Lectern, Gold, Silver and

The Constabulary created and implemented a

•

The Constabulary created and chaired a Multi-

saw the Constabulary implementing measure to

made up of 12 partner agencies to maximise

minimise the risk from the Second Wave of

opportunities to reduce the spread of the virus.

The Constabulary implemented an Operation

Coronavirus, together with other pieces of work

This was supported by:

Lectern Public Order Public Safety Strategy and

commissioned by Operation Lectern Gold, Silver

Plan to manage the easing of the Lockdown.

and Bronze meetings as follows:

and

the

supporting

Implementation of a Cumbria Constabulary Track

o

change

and

Utilisation of £250,000 of additional
COVID-19

been developed during this incident.

o

The Constabulary enhanced it internal
track and trace procedures, providing

This

o

Undertaking

a

flue

vaccination

managers to make sure that we capture all ideas

programme

and changes. The Recovery & Renewal work was

Constabulary’s critical activity.

paused in September 2020 due to the impending
risks of a second wave of Coronavirus.

based

on

the

ensure

Response Plan (March 2021 – cont.)
•

The Constabulary created and implemented a
Constabulary

COVID-19

Spring

Response Plan. Which manages the internal
response to the Governments road map to
easing the lockdown, and also the external
response to manage the

o

Introducing Lateral Flow Testing for all
Officers

and

Staff,

which

was

•

All NPT staff moved off of the VSA shift pattern.

implemented between December –

•

Home working, and in work Covid Safe system of

February.

work were maintained and continued.

to

compliance and enforcement.

Cumbria

an on call capability.

included engagement with the workforce to find
out what has worked or not worked for them and

Funding

Phase 4 – Cumbria Constabulary COVID-19 Spring

at the HQ site.

maximise

opportunities and new ways of working that have

o

Continue to use the Operation Lectern
Gold, Silver and Bronze structure,
proportionately reducing the frequency
of

o

Continuing to deploy officers to smaller
deployment sites in rural locations.
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o
Command and Control Room moving

bespoke Command and Control Room

recovery under a Recovery & Renewal Plan. This
future

Continue to utilise Covid Patrol Plan

HQ sites and one Durranhill site. To two

The Constabulary developed its approach to

supported

o

from working over three rooms in two

and Trace system and team.
•

Occupational Health Unit.

Agency Compliance and Enforcement Group

response,

infrastructure.

•

Additional resources committed to

‘Winter Preparedness Plan’ on the 27/10. This

Bronze

•

•

o

meetings

in

line

with

the

implementation of the Governments

Covid-19 Response – Spring 2021 plan,

Continuing

Lateral

Flow

distancing measures and risk

and associated risk of Covid-19, whilst

Testing, transitioning to home

mainstreaming many Operation Lectern

testing as soon as practicable.

▪

Maintaining home working.

Maintaining internal Track and

▪

Maintaining

activities

into

Maintaining

business

as

proportionate

usual.

Maintain effective system to reduce the
risk of absenteeism due to COVID-19,
the NHS COVID-19 App, physical and
mental wellbeing through:
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▪

activity

within Data Cell and Information Cell.
o

▪

assessments.

Trace system.
▪

the

current

approach to PPE usage in

Maintaining safe systems of

accordance with College of

work

Policing / NPCC Guidance.

in

the

Constabulary

estate including; continuing
enhanced

cleaning,

social

•

The Constabulary is reviewing its Recovery and
Renewal plan

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
Action Update as at 31 October 2020
from
2019/20
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law.

CPA/1

N/A

Implementation of New Police Conduct Regulations

Head of People

31st July 2020

Completed, regs fully embedded, Cumbria is a beacon force for the new regs, we've
had in excess of 15 forces visiting us for guidance and to review our procedure.

CPA/2
CPA/3

N/A
N/A

Implementation of electronic Business Interest registration process
Consider the development of a Digital Ethics Panel

Head of People
Head of ICT &
Information
Management

31st July 2020
31st March 2021

Completed, fully working embedded into the workforce.
The terms of reference for the digital ethics board have been agreed with both
Chief Officers and the OPCC, the process has been delayed through Covid, work
ongoing to recruit the panel, but is expected to be implemented in the next three
months.
Requirements have been drawn up and a joint business case with Durham has been
approved. A project to update the website has been set up in collaboration with
Durham to be implemented in the first half of 2021/22. Further work to integrate
with the national Single On-line at home programme to provide on-line reporting is
planned for 2022/23.
This work has been delayed by the pandemic, however it is now underway with HR
piloting the new approach.

Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
CPB/1

CPB/1

Review and recommend the approach required to update and improve Director of
the Constabulary's website.
Corporate
Improvement

30 December 2020

CPB/2

CPB/2

Understand the lessons learned from the pilot of the new policy
Director of
management arrangements, make adjustments as required. Implement Corporate
a prioritised plan for all Constabulary policies.
Improvement

31st March 2021

CPB/3

N/A

Undertake a review of ForceNet (the Constabulary's intranet) to
Director of
31st March 2021
improve productivity and accessibility of the information the workforce Corporate
needs to deliver policing services
Improvement
Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits

CPC/1

CPC/1

Develop a Strategy for the affordable storage of Digital Data

CPC/2

CPC/2

CPD/1

CPD/1

Continue Re-design business processes in relation to the Control Room
as part of the implementation of the SAFE system to deliver business
benefits.

Superintendent Organisational
Business Delivery

CPD/2

CPD2 +

Undertake further analysis of current and future demand to inform
strategic business planning, the Force Management Statement and the
resource allocation process for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

Director of
Corporate
Improvement

Status

Completed

31/07/2021

Completed
Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)
Completed

30/09/2021

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)
Completed

31/12/2021

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)

31/12/2021

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)

A significant upgrade of the SAFE system within the control room took place in
31/12/2021
November but the business enhancements including webchat, call back and email
are taking longer than anticipated to implement. A review of business processes in
the Control Room will continue in 2021/22 including the implementation of
enhanced functionality.
31st October 2020 then 31 Analysis of current and future demand has taken place as part preparing the Force 31st March 2021
March 2021
Management Statement. This work has informed a Resource Allocation Model,
which has been agreed by COG. Work will continue in 2021/22 to refine and embed
this process to respond effectively to the new and regularly changing demands the
Constabulary faces particularly in the current fluid situation.

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)

31st March 2021

The review of the Constabulary's intranet requirements has been completed and an
update planned for the second half of 2021/22.

This forms part of the infrastructure strategy review and forms part of major
supplier discussions that are ongoing at the present time, which include Microsoft
and AWS amongst others. The review is ongoing and due to report in midDecember 2020, with a view to trialling a concept in the early part of 2021. The data
strategy is being developed by the joint Chief Information Officer, which will impact
on how data if managed and retained going forward. UPDATE - 10/05/2021 - we
are moving forward to the pilot stage now. COG paper submitted and approved.
Staff being allocated to the pilot and TOR produced.
Conduct an options evaluation for future Estates provision in West
Head of Estates and 31st March 2021
This work has been delayed by the Covid-19 pandemic. Initial discussions have
Cumbria
Fleet
taken place with the COG, Director of Corporate Support and Head of Estates and
Fleet to determine a route forward for the West Cumbria, including exploring
options, timescales, dependencies and collaboration opportunities. The Head of
Estates and Fleet has also undertaken an exercise to review the current PFI contract,
in consultation with the Home Office. A project team has now been established and
is planning to present costed options by end of 2021.
Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended outcomes.
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Head of ICT &
Information
Management

Revised
Implementation Date

31st March 2021

Completed

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
from
2019/20
(ref)
CPD2 + Undertake further analysis of current and future demand to inform
strategic business planning, the Force Management Statement and the
resource allocation process for 2020/21 and 2021/22.

Lead Officer

Implementation by

Director of
Corporate
Improvement

31st October 2020 then 31 Analysis of current and future demand has taken place as part preparing the Force 31st March 2021
March 2021
Management Statement. This work has informed a Resource Allocation Model,
which has been agreed by COG. Work will continue in 2021/22 to refine and embed
this process to respond effectively to the new and regularly changing demands the
Constabulary faces particularly in the current fluid situation.

CPD/3

CPD/4

Deputy Chief
30th September 2020
Constable / Director
of Corporate
Improvement

CPD/4

N/A

CPE/1

CPE/1

CPD/2

CPE/2

N/A

Plan and implement actions to demonstrate increased visibility to
communities. The original work will be extended to incorporate the
deployment of additional officers recruited through Operation Uplift

Action Update as at 31 October 2020

Revised
Implementation Date

Additional staff recruited through UPLIFT have allowed for the opening of a number
of rural deployment stations which has increased visibility. Much positive local
media comment on this development. Staffing levels on shifts in more urban areas
are in excess of that last year which has enabled a ‘task force’ approach to various
crime issues which has been also highly visible to the public.
Develop a Covid-19 Recovery Plan to exploit any opportunities arising
Deputy Chief
30th September 2020
Recovery & Renewal group meets regularly to use the response to COVID as a
from changes to working practices during the Covid-19 Pandemic.
Constable
means of driving adaptation to the current operating context and wider
organisational change. Records of actions, opportunities and progress are held in
meeting records and teams actions for that meeting, along with a force-wide
Microsoft Teams live event and associated papers.
Convened Gold Recovery and Renewal Group – identified the key principles for
Recovery and Renewal.
Staff survey conducted to garner Officer and Staff experiences and feedback
following the Constabulary response to COVID.
In depth analysis of the staff survey results which identified the key issues and
improvements, these were then aligned to the key principles, created ‘pots’ of work
and actioned.
Challenge and Support session lead by Chief Officers with external scrutiny –
listened to prototypes of ideas and their potential benefits.
Identified the Top 10 learning points to focus and capitalise on.
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and individuals within it.
Develop and deliver the strategy to improve digital capability in the
organisation and, deliver improvements to productivity

Head of ICT &
Information
Management

In conjunction with Higher Education partners, implement the new PEQF Head of Learning &
arrangements for new officer recruits.
Development
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31st March 2021

30th September 2020

The Constabulary has worked with Durham Constabulary to jointly develop and
launch a Digital Leadership Programme, which will be an ongoing programme. This
will build Digital Competence through knowledge, embed digital capability through
skills. It will empower leaders and build digital confidence through professional
development, and ensure leaders and teams demonstrate compliance and
legitimacy in all they do.
It is being delivered at three levels: Gold, Silver & Bronze. To date it has been
delivered to 39 people in Cumbria(38 in Durham). The first cohort complete the 15
week programme week commencing 15/12/20. The programme will deliver 227
Digital Leaders(193 Sgts and 63 Inspectors in Cumbria). UPDATE 10/05/2021 - Over
300 Sgts and Inspectors across both organisations (Cumbria nd Durham
Constabualries) have now enrolled on the Bronze operational prtogramme. We
have also delivered a bronze organisational programme and recently a silver DLP
In partnership with UCLan, our contracted delivery partner, the Constabulary has
successfully completed University validation and College of Policing quality
assurance for the PCDA (Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship) and the DHEP
(Degree Holders Entry Programme). The Constabulary has successfully recruited
Police Officers onto the PEQF Programmes: PCDA and DHEP. For both programmes
the Initial Teaching block has been developed, delivered and assessed successfully,
with the first cohort of student Officers recently completing their operational tutor
phase. The development of the PCDA Module 3 at the end of year 1 is underway,
as is the DHEP Module 2. Both of these modules will be delivered solely online; as a
result Police Trainers are currently developing curriculum materials to support
online delivery and gaining experience in using the technology. The second year of
the programmes have three core policing placements, CAST, Traffic and Community
Hub which are currently being developed with the appropriate departments. The
University is in the process of applying to be the End Point Assessment (EPA)
organisation for the degree apprenticeship synoptic EPA, which is at the end of the
third year.

Status

Completed

Completed

Completed

31/12/2021

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)

Completed

Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
Action Update as at 31 October 2020
from
2019/20
(ref)
Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial management.

CPF/1

N/A

Review the current risk management arrangements to ensure relevance Director Corporate
and effectiveness
Improvement

31st December 2020

Given the support provided to the Constabulary's Covid response from the
individual who oversees risk management, this action has been deferred until early
2021/22.

CPF/2

N/A

CPF/3

Director of
Corporate
Improvement
Director of
Corporate
Improvement

31st October 2020

CPF/3

A dashboard is presented to COG weekly, base don the first iteration of the
National Outcomes Dashboard as presented. Obviously, the internal product is
continuously evolving as required.
The benefits strategy has been developed further to include widening scope of
benefits' identification, tracking (using existing processes), and reality on the
ground. This process is currently being rolled out.

CPF/4

CPF/4 &
CPF/6

Develop the Constabulary's performance dashboard to reflect the
National Outcomes Dashboard which is required to support Operation
Uplift
Further develop the strategic resource management performance
framework to drive improvements in our use of resources, and ensure
that the benefits of significant investment in change and ICT are
delivered.
Further develop an information management strategy incorporating
GDPR, MOPI and RRD.

Head of ICT &
Information
Management

31st March 2021

Work is ongoing to implement decisions previously taken by COG arising from the
review of information management functions within the Constabulary. A separate,
but intrinsically linked piece of work, is also underway to review existing
information management policies and procedures with a view to ensuring these
support a wider Information Management Strategy which reflects available
resources, the Constabulary's appetite for risk and legislative and national police
policy requirements. This work is being overseen by the Joint Chief Information
Officer and the Implementation Manager appointed to implement the decisions
taken by COG in June 2020. UPDATE 10/05/2021 - Ongoing. Review of IM underway
and is at the formal consultation stages. Role profiles rewritten to ensure they
reflect the modern DDaT strategy and requirements of the future.

CPF/4

N/A

The audit has been completed and results have informed the quality of
investigation improvement work

Completed

N/A

Director of
Corporate
Improvement
DCC

30th September 2020

CPF/5

31st March 2021

Duplication with CPD/4 – suggest this action is amalgamated with the above.

Completed

CPF/6

N/A

Joint Chief Finance
Officer

31st March 2021

N/A

Joint Chief Finance
Officer

31st March 2021

The AFEP self assessment has been completed and a report presented to the Chief
Officer Group. The report includes a draft action plan and presented this to COG.
This will be delivered in 2021/22.
Re-modelling of the MTFF has taken place, with focus on the potential implications
of the pandemic on the future financial position, as part of the budget setting
process for 2021/22. This will continue to be monitored as part of the on-going
Medium Term Financial Planning process.

Completed

CPF/7

Undertake an audit of No Further Action crime outcomes, which will
inform improvement work on both the appropriate use of outcomes
and improvement in the quality of investigation for victims.
Continue to develop and implement the Recovery and Renewal Plan
which has resulted from the police response to the Coronavirus
Arising from the 'Achieving Financial Excellence in Policing' self
assessment and linked to the Business Transformation Programme
develop an action plan to improve financial management and
Enhance the Medium Term Financial scenario modelling in light of the
potential financial impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic.
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31st March 2020

Revised
Implementation Date

Status

30/09/2021

Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)
Completed

30/06/2021

Ongoing
(within
original
timescale)
Ongoing
(original
timescale
extended)

31/12/2021

Completed

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

CPA/1

CPB/1

B/fwd
Action
from
2020/21
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong
commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law.
CPA/3
Finalise setting up of a Digital Ethics Panel and embed its operation.
Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder
engagement.
Implement a new Constabulary website

CPB/2

Implement an enhanced Constabulary intanet site

CPB/3

CPB/2

CPC/1
CPC/2

CPC/1
CPC/2

CPC/3

Implement a Covid Recovery and Renewal Programme to improve efficiency and
exploit new ways of working arising from the pandemic.
Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise
the achievement of intended outcomes.
Implement the Out of Court Disposal Framework including the Pathways Project

CPD/1
CPD/2

Understand the lessons learned from the pilot of the new policy management
arrangements, make adjustments as required. Implement a prioritised plan for all
Constabulary policies.
Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,
social and environmental benefits
Develop a Strategy for the affordable storage of digital data.
Conduct an options evaluation for and decide on future Estates provision in West
Cumbria

CPD/1

CPD /3
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Lead Officer

Implementation by

Chief Superintendent ICT

31st March 2022

Head of Marketing and
30th September 2021
Communications
Head of Marketing and
31st March 2022
Communications
Superintendent Performance 30th September 2021
and Policing Futures.

Chief Superintendent ICT
31st December 2021
Director of Corporate
31st December 2021
Support and Head of Estates
and Fleet
Deputy Chief Constable /
31st March 2022
Chief Superintendent ICT.

Chief Inspector Criminal
Justice Unit.
Review systems and processes within the Control Room with a view to improving the Superintendent -Public
quality of service including implementation of Call Back and Webchat functionality
Contact & Engagement

31st March 2022

Implement an evidence based Performance Management process, linked to a harm Deputy Chief Constable /
index with the aim of maximising the benefits from additional Op Uplift officers. This Assistant Chief Constable
work will include development of greater analytical capability.

31st March 2022

31st December 2021

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

CPE/1
CPE/2

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
from
2019/20
(ref)
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and individuals within it.
CPE/1
Continue delivery of the strategy to improve digital capability in the organisation
Chief Superintendent ICT
31st March 2022
and, deliver improvements to productivity
In conjunction with Higher Education partners, continue implementation the new
Head of Learning &
31st March 2022
PEQF arrangements for new officer recruits, with particular focus on developing year Development
2 and 3 programmes and a pre-join entry route for recruits with a Policing degree.

CPF/1

CPF/1

CPF/2

CPF/4

CPF/3
CPF/4

CPF/3

CPF/5
CPF/6
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Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial management.
Review the current risk management arrangements to ensure relevance and
Superintendent Performance 31st December 2021
effectiveness
and Policing Futures.
Implement Information Management Strategy and complete re-structure of the
Chief Superintendent ICT
31st December 2021
function.
Further develop the strategic resource management performance framework to
Chief Superintendent Insight 31st December 2021
drive improvements in our use of resources, and ensure that the benefits of
& Analysis
significant investment in change and ICT are delivered.
Introduce a revised Scheme of Delegation to empower managers.
Joint Chief Finance Officer
30th June 2021
Implement the recommendations of the Achieving Financial Excellence in Policing
action plan.
Joint Chief Finance Officer
31st March 2022
Implement recommendations arising from the Financial Management Code of
Practice self assessment.
Joint Chief Finance Officer
31st March 2022

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria &
The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary
Annual Statement of Accounts 2020/21: Narrative
Joint Audit Committee 23 June 2021 Agenda Item 16a
Report of the Joint Chief Finance Officer

1.

Introduction and Background

1.1

Due to the continuation of the covid-19 pandemic the MHCLG has put in place revised
regulations (The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021) which extend the
statutory audit deadlines for 2020/21 and 2021/22. The deadline for the Commissioner
and Chief Constable to publish their draft accounts (subject to audit) was moved from
31 May 2021 to 31 July 2021. The deadline for the external auditors to complete their
annual audit of the accounts has been moved from 31 July 2021 to 30 September 2021.
As a result of these amended timescales the May meeting of the Joint Audit Committee
was cancelled. This June meeting has been scheduled to allow the opportunity for
members to review and comment on the draft financial statements of the
Commissioner and Chief Constable prior to them being approved for issue. As in
previous years, members will be provided with a further opportunity to review the
statements, prior to their formal approval and publication, at the September meeting
of the Joint Audit Committee. This will be accompanied by a more comprehensive
paper, which will set out sources of assurance with regard to the statements and wider
control framework, the opinion of the external auditor and any amendments, which
have been made to the statements post audit.

1.2

The objective of this paper is to provide members with guidance as to fundamental
1|P a g e

rationale and principles which underpin the accounts and the changes which have been
incorporated into the accounts in 2020/21. It is intended that this will assist members
in the task of reviewing the accounts. Given that the issues raised impact on both the
accounts of the Commissioner and Chief Constable a single report covering both entities
has been produced.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

Members of the Joint Audit Committee determine whether there any issues in respect
of the draft statement of accounts that they wish to report to the Commissioner and
Chief Constable.

3.

Statement of Accounts

3.1

Members of the Joint Audit Committee have received a copy of the draft statement
accounts and accompanying governance statement for which they have a review and
assurance role. The Statement of Accounts are highly complex technical documents.
They take a number of weeks to produce and a similar period of time to audit by a team
of technical and experienced staff. The audit process will typically involve support from
national technical teams who assess and advise on accounting treatment for complex
transactions against the requirements of international financial reporting standards and
codes of practice. Within the finance profession, the Statement of Accounts is a very
specialist field.

3.2

In this context, this narrative aims to provide a guide to the considerations that the
members of the Joint Audit Committee can reasonably be expected to take account of
in carrying out a review process and undertaking to approve the Statement of Accounts,
also recognising the limited time available to members. It focuses on the key challenges
and issues, which are the areas that influence the dialogue and engagement between
the finance staff preparing the accounts and those undertaking the audit. In doing this,
the narrative aims to ensure that members have sufficient information to fulfil their
assurance role.

3.3

The Police Reform and Social Responsibly Act 2011 (PRSRA) established the Police and
Crime Commissioner (PCC) and the Chief Constable (CC) as separate corporate entities
on the 22nd November 2012. The implications of this change are that there is a
2|P a g e

requirement for the PCC and the CC to have single entity Statement of Accounts and for
a consolidated group Statement of Accounts. This was followed by the stage 2 transfer,
which took on the 1st April 2014, the majority of staff formerly employed by the Police
and Crime Commissioner transferred to the employment of the Chief Constable, under
a transfer scheme in accordance with the transitional provisions within the PRSRA.

3.4

The governance changes highlighted above required detailed consideration of the
treatment of transactions in the accounts of the Commissioner and Chief Constable
respectively. The key accounting considerations and rationale for decisions with respect
how these matters should be presented in the financial statements were explored in
detail within the equivalent report to this in previous years and included in summary:

➢ The relationship between the Commissioner and Chief Constable - which concluded
that as both organisations are separate legal entities they are required to produce
single entity financial statements. However, the Commissioner, in setting strategic
direction exercises significant influence over the CC with the result that from an
accounting perspective the CC is considered as a subsidiary with a requirement for
the PCC to produce Group Accounts.

➢ Recognition of officers and civilian staff. This ultimately concluded that officers and
staff should be recorded in the organisation which exercises direction and control,
which resulted in all officers and the majority of police staff being included in the
single entity statements of the CC. Where staff are employed not solely for the
benefit of the force (mostly support functions) following the stage 2 transfer which
vested direction and control with the CC, these staff are now shown in the single
entity statements of the CC, however a charge is made to the single entity
statements of the PCC to reflect the use of those resources as a shared support
function.

➢ Capital Assets – whilst the CC is the primary user of assets such as the estate, vehicles
and ICT equipment it was concluded that the control of assets and the risks and
rewards pertaining to assets rests with the Commissioner and accordingly that
assets are disclosed on the balance sheet of the PCC with a charge made to the CC
for the use of the assets.

3|P a g e

➢ Debtors, Creditors and Cash – in accordance with statutory provisions and the
funding arrangement between the Commissioner and the Chief Constable, all
contracts and procurement is undertaken in the name of the PCC and as funding is
provided on the basis of cash flow, all cash is shown in the accounts of the PCC. In
addition, the PCC’s financial statements disclose all external debtor and creditors,
reflecting the PCC’s liability in respect of these transactions. Both the PCC and CC’s
financial statements disclose any associated debtor and creditor liability between
the entities.

3.5

2020/21 has again been a relatively light year in relation to technical changes which
have impacted on the statement of accounts.

Changes in relation to the

implementation of IAS16 regarding leases that were to be introduced in 2019/20 have
now been delayed to 2021/22 by CIPFA. There were no other changes to be reflected
in the statement of accounts.

3.6

Work on the statutory statement of accounts for 2020/21 has been further complicated
by the working arrangements as a result of the organisations response to the covid-19
pandemic. In order to provide members with as much time as possible to review the
statement of accounts, the draft accounts have been issued at the same time that
senior members of the financial services team are carrying out their due diligence
checks. Issues, identified during this process, along with observations from members
will be incorporated in the final draft accounts before they are authorised for issue on
Monday 28 June.

3.7

The respective statement of accounts incorporates the Annual Governance Statements
for the PCC and CC.

Roger Marshall
Joint Chief Finance Officer
10 June 2021
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Police and Crime Commissioner
for Cumbria
Statement of Accounts 2020/21

About this Publication
This publication contains both the single entity financial statements for the Police and Crime Commissioner for
Cumbria (the Commissioner) and the financial statements for the group position which incorporates those of the Chief
Constable for Cumbria Constabulary.

Alternative Formats

Au
di

The corresponding accounts for
the Chief Constable can be found
on the Constabulary website at:
www.cumbria.police.uk

The Statement of Accounts is
also available in printed
format from the office of the
Police and Crime
Commissioner for a nominal
fee of £15 per copy.

t

The Statement of Accounts for
2020/21 is available on the
Commissioner’s website at
www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk.

Bengali

ec
tt

o

You can get a copy of this document in different formats such as
large print, Braille, audio, or in a different language by calling
01768 217734

01768 217734

bj

Cantonese
如果您想获取该文件的不同版本，如：大字体印刷、盲文、音频或不同语言版本，请致电：01768 217734。

Su

Lithuanian
Paskambinę telefonu 01768 217734, galite užsisakyti šio dokumento kopiją įvairiais formatais, pavyzdžiui, atspausdintą
dideliu šriftu, Brailio raštu, užsisakyti garso įrašą arba gauti dokumentą, išverstą į norimą kalbą.
Polish
Aby otrzymać kopię tego dokumentu w innych formatach, takich jak duży druk, druk Braille'm, audio, lub w innym
języku proszę dzwonić pod numer 01768 217734.
Portuguese
Pode obter uma cópia deste documento em vários formatos, como por exemplo em Braille, áudio, ou numa outra
língua. Para tal ligue para o 01768 217734.
Turkish
01768 217734’u arayarak, bu dokümanın bir kopyasını büyük puntolu, körler için kabartmalı, ses dosyası gibi değişik
formatlarda veya farklı bir dilde edinebilirsiniz
1|P a g e
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria
Statement of Accounts 2020/21
The Joint CFO

Joint Chief Finance Officer Narrative Report

3-20

Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
Auditors Report to the Commissioner

21-22
23-26

Core Financial Statements

27-28

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

29-30

•

Movement in Reserves

31-32

•

Balance Sheet

•

Cash Flow Statement

ec
tt

o

•

33

34-35
36-92

Police Officer Pension Fund Account

93-94

Glossary of Terms

95-97

bj

Notes to the Accounts

101-106

Annex C – Technical Annex - Pension Disclosures

107-118

Annex D – Annual Governance Statement

AGS 1-27

Annex A - Statement of Accounting Policies

98-100

Annex B – Technical Annex – Financial Instruments

Su

Narrative
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quick, highly
summarised
version of this
Statement of
Accounts please
read the next 18
pages. The full
story starts on
page 21, please
read that too.
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Please see page
36 for a full list
of the notes to
the accounts and
cross references
to page numbers.

Throughout this
publication
wherever a
word, phrase or
acronym is
shown in teal
coloured text
and underlined
an explanation
is provided in
the Glossary of
Terms.
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Introduction
I am pleased to introduce the financial Statement of

Statutory Framework

Accounts for the 2020/21 financial year. This financial
The Police and Crime Commissioner was established as

the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria and

a statutory entity under the Police Reform and Social

the consolidated group position, incorporating the

Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA 2011). The PRSRA 2011

statements of the Chief Constable for Cumbria

provides that there will be a Police and Crime

the most significant matters reported in our statement

Au
di

t

statement sets out both the single entity statements of

of accounts. It sets out our overall financial position

crime reduction, the enhancement of the delivery of

and a series of mini statements summarising and

criminal justice in their area and providing support to

explaining the primary financial statements. It includes

victims.

Constabulary.

The accounts are published in

accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations

Commissioner for each police area with responsibility

for ensuring the maintenance of the police force for

the area, securing that the police force is efficient and

2015.

effective and holding the Chief Constable to account.

This section of the statements is the Narrative Report.

those solely relating to the police force. These include
responsibility for the delivery of community safety and

ec
tt
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The purpose of the report is to offer readers a guide to

The Commissioner has wider responsibilities than

information on our performance and value for money.

A commentary is also provided to set out the major

The PRSRA 2011 also established the Chief Constable

influences impacting our income and expenditure in

as a separate statutory entity, distinct from the

the current and future financial years.

Commissioner and with operational independence.
The Chief Constable is responsible for maintaining the
Queen’s peace and the exercise of police powers. The

readers with an understandable and informative

Chief Constable is accountable to the Commissioner for

narrative on those matters most significant to our

leadership of the force, the delivery of efficient and

financial position and our financial and non-financial

effective policing and the management of resources

performance. This narrative report is provided as part

and expenditure.

Su

bj

By providing this information we aim to support our

of the overall publication of the financial statements
and also as a standalone report. It can be accessed

The PRSRA 2011 sets out the statutory financial

through the Commissioner’s website: www.cumbria-

framework for the Commissioner and Chief Constable.

pcc.gov.uk together with the single entity statements

The legislation provides for the Secretary of State to

of the Chief Constable.

issue a financial code of practice in relation to the
proper administration of financial affairs. The Home
Office under the legislation issues a Financial
Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces of
3|P a g e
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England and Wales. The Code supports the statutory

Commissioner in the delivery of the strategy and

framework

financial

objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan. Both

relationships and requirements for the Commissioner

entities have appointed a Joint Audit Committee and a

and Chief Constable.

Joint Ethics and Integrity Panel. The Committee and

further

setting

out

the

Panel comprise independent members to oversee

Commissioner

framework
receives

all

provides
funding,

the

arrangements for governance, including financial

including

reporting and the arrangements for integrity and

that

government grants, council tax income and other
sources of income related to policing and crime
reduction.

The Commissioner decides the budget,

allocating assets and funds to the Chief Constable.
This, in addition to the powers of the Commissioner to
set the strategic direction for policing, appoint, and
dismiss the Chief Constable, creates a subsidiary

t

financial

Au
di

This

ethical behaviour. Four Custody Visiting Panels fulfil

the statutory requirement for independent review of
custody. Membership of the panels at the end of

2020/21 were: Barrow 8, Kendal 10, North Cumbria 10
and West Cumbria 8.

Our Goals

o

relationship between the Commissioner and the Chief
Constable. As such, the Commissioner must publish a

accounts. The Chief Constable must publish single

entity accounts and provide information to the
Commissioner to support the publication of the group
accounts.

policing and wider interventions within the Police and
Crime Plan. The vison for our plan is that Cumbria

ec
tt

set of group accounts in addition to single entity

The Commissioner sets the strategic direction for

remains a safe place to live, work and visit, where the
public has a say in policing and organisations and
community groups work together to address the
causes of crime, as well as the consequences. Key
priorities include keeping crime at low levels, reducing

Our Organisation

bj

the impact of anti-social behaviour, bringing criminals
to justice and reducing the harm caused by hate crime,

Su

domestic abuse and sexual abuse.

We work to achieve this by holding the Chief Constable
to account for the delivery of effective policing and by
commissioning a range of activity and interventions

The Police and Crime Commissioner is supported by an
office of 12.3fte staff, this includes two statutory

with the Constabulary and our wider partners. The
Police and Crime Commissioner launched his Police
and Crime Plan ‘Making Cumbria Even Safer’ in

officers.

November 2016 setting out our future strategy and
The

Chief

Constable

is

accountable

to

the

goals.

Commissioner and has responsibilities to support the
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During the year the Commissioner has been able to

Our People

further embed his Police and Crime Plan with the

empowered

staff

who

are

high

performing,

professional and have high levels of satisfaction in their
roles. The Commissioner’s Office and Constabulary
perform well in relation to the gender diversity of the
workforce. At Chief Officer Level, excluding the elected
Police and Crime Commissioner, 67% of the single
entity Chief Officers are female as are 100% of senior
managers. A breakdown by gender of the number of
men and women across the organisation at the end of
the financial year and the number of men and women
who were managers is set out below.

support of the Constabulary and partners. This has
helped establish effective relationships with key local
government, criminal justice, health and third sector
partners to develop initiatives and commission

t

in achieving our goals. Our values commit to having an

activities to reduce crime, support victims and enhance

Au
di

Our people are the most important resource we have

community safety and criminal justice.

The Police and Crime Plan contains the police and

crime objectives, which all contribute toward achieving
the Commissioner’s overall aim ‘to make Cumbria an

even safer place’. Objectives are monitored through a
performance framework and Public Accountability
Conferences;

a

public

meeting

where

the

PCC Single Entity
Chief Officers

PCC
Male
Female
FTE
FTE

This structure has been in place for a number of years

Total
FTE

and works well.

ec
tt

Actual Employees as at
31 March 2021

o

Commissioner holds the Chief Constable to account.

0.5

1.0

1.5

Senior Management

0.0

1.0

1.0

All Other Employees

0.0

9.8

9.8

Total PCC Employees

0.5

11.8

12.3

The Commissioner has continued to provide a range of
services for victims and specific services for victims of
sexual violence, domestic violence and perpetrator
programmes.

Group

Commissioner also secured additional funding to help

7.0

2.0

bj

Chief Officers

During the Covid-19 pandemic, the

9.0

Senior Management

11.0

5.0

16.0

All Other Employees

995.9

912.6

1,908.5

1,013.9

919.6

1,933.5

Su

Total Group Employees

local charities supporting victims of domestic abuse
and sexual violence develop and adapt the delivery of
their services during the outbreak to ensure victims
continued to receive the support they need.

Chief Executive Report

The Commissioner has well established financial and

The Commissioner has nearly finished his fifth year in

governance frameworks necessary to fulfil statutory,

Office. The Police and Crime Commissioner elections

regulatory and best practice requirements, supported

were due to be held in May 2020, however, as a result

by the relevant professional bodies for local

of the Covid-19 pandemic they were postponed until

government and policing.

May 2021.

continuous development to ensure the office

This benefits from

continues to meet the highest standards. When Covid19 was announced as a threat to public health in the
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UK, the Commissioner developed an emergency plan,

external and internal auditors to assist in his scrutiny of

detailing the measures and arrangements he and his

governance, finance, risks and internal control. In

office, put in place to ensure they continued to fulfil

conjunction with the Constabulary the Commissioner

these statutory responsibilities.

also operates a Joint Audit Committee and an Ethics
and Integrity Panel.

Cumbria for policing.

A wide range of diverse

opportunities are available for the public to speak
directly to the Commissioner, when the Commissioner
is out in the community or by speaking to groups
directly.

This is further supported by the public

contacting the Commissioner by email and letter, with
more than 586 people contacting the Commissioner in
this way during 2020/21. The main themes raised in

pace of the Office and this is evident from the work
that is on-going with the Commissioner launching
several key strategic campaigns in support of the Police
and Crime Plan and commissioning developments. The

Office is well placed to deal with the new challenges for
2021/22, in particular dealing with the on-going Covid19 pandemic.

o

this year were in relation to the overall Transport

The Commissioner’s staff embrace the fast-moving

Au
di

the Commissioner as he is the ‘voice’ for the people of

t

Public consultation and engagement are paramount to

Finance Review

Issues (anti-social driving), quality of policing service,

2020/21 Grant Settlement and Budget

ec
tt

crime and Covid-19.

The Commissioner undertook a successful public
consultation for the increase in the council tax precept

for 2021/22, with 642 respondents and 69% supporting

the proposal. As a result of the public consultation,
the views of the Chief Constable and the unanimous

bj

support of the Police and Crime Panel, the

Commissioner took the decision to increase council tax
precept by £6.57 for a Band D property.

The Commissioner set a combined net revenue budget
of £110.199m for 2020/21 on 19 February 2020.
Funding of this amount came from the Police Grant
settlement (£64.429m). and income from Council Tax
(£45.770m). Government grant income increased by
7.5% from 2019/20 as a result of funding to recruit an
additional 51 officers as the first phase of the
Government’s Uplift Programme to recruit 20,000

Su

additional officers nationally by 2022/23. The budget

The Commissioner has continued to hold the Chief

represented an increase of the Council Tax precept by

Constable to account at regular Public Accountability

3.47%, taking the Commissioner’s proportion of the

Conferences and weekly 1-2-1s with the Chief

band D equivalent tax to £265.59 per annum. The

Constable focusing on performance in terms of crime

effect of the increase is to support the medium term

and anti-social behaviour.

financial forecast and maintaining existing policing

This is further supported by the independent
inspectorate;

Her

Majesty’s

Inspectorate

of

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS),

services as the grant settlement made no provision for
the inflation. The budget provided funding for the Chief
Constable of £132.330m comprising a £137.677m
expenditure budget to support policing and an income
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Summary Budget and Outturn

provided £2.250m for Commissioned Services, to
provide funding for partnership working across the
Commissioner’s wider community safety, crime

Summary Budget
& Outturn

reduction and victim support responsibilities and

Constabulary Budget

£0.823m for the Office of the Police and Crime

Office of the PCC

Commissioner.

Other PCC Budgets

assets that have a useful life of beyond one year.
Approximately 57% of the programme related to
investment in ICT, with the remainder being made up
estates improvements, the cyclical replacement of

Outturn

Overspend

2020/21

2020/21

2020/21

2020/21

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

(Under)/

129,348

128,732

(616)

823

812

822

10

13,940

14,078

138

(34,068)

(33,271)

(33,352)

(81)

(923)

(630)

(81)

549

Net Expenditure

110,199

110,199

110,199

0

Government Grants

(64,429)

(64,429)

(64,429)

0

Council Tax

(45,770)

(45,770)

(45,770)

0

(110,199)

(110,199)

(110,199)

0

11,932

To/(From) Reserves

Total External Funding

The Constabulary gross expenditure budget is made up

o

fleet vehicles and operational equipment. The budget

Budget

Au
di

expenditure is made up broadly of expenditure on

Revised

132,435

Grants/Contributions

The capital budget was set at £7.552m. Capital

Base
Budget

t

budget of £5.347m. The Commissioner’s budget

was funded from a combination of capital grants

Police Officers comprise £93.68m), transport costs of
£2.45m and supplies/other costs of £13.38m. The

ec
tt

(£4.0m) and direct contributions from revenue

of funding for employee costs (£121.9m; of which

(£3.5m). The capital budget was subsequently revised
upwards to £7.7m reflecting the effect of the 2019/20
capital outturn position and other changes to the
planned profile of capital spend.

Commissioner’s budgets comprise the costs of running
his office (£0.823m) and the net position on a range of
other costs. These include estates costs (£4.45m for
premises

The table below shows the summary revenue budget

bj

for 2020/21 as set on 19 February 2020, the revised
budget (taking into account budget changes made

during the year) and the outturn position. The

Su

presentation below is as the figures are reported

used

by

the

Constabulary

and

Commissioner), Commissioned Services (£2.25m to
deliver the Police and Crime Plan) and budgets to
finance capital expenditure and the costs of technical
accounting adjustments.

PCC other budgets also

include the costs of insurance and past pension costs.

throughout the year in the management accounts. At
the year-end a number of technical accounting

In-Year Financial Performance

adjustments (required by proper accounting practice)

Revenue Expenditure: The out-turn position for

are made. For this reason, the outturn in the table

2020/21 is an underspend of £0.503m. The overall

below will not reconcile directly to the Summary

underspend is made up of an overspend of £0.113m on

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement on

the budgets managed by the Commissioner and

page 9. References to the PCC relate to the Police and

underspend of £0.616m on those held by the

Crime Commissioner.

Constabulary. The core underspend equates to 0.5% of
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the revised net budget of £110.199m, which is

unable to be completed in 2020/21 due to the

comfortably within the target for the revenue

pandemic, with the remaining balance of £450k

expenditure to be within 1% of the budget at out-turn.

allocated to a Covid-19 recovery reserve. Detailed
outturn reports which explain the full range of
variances can be found on the budget and finance

were £67k over budget. This was attributable to a

section of the Commissioner’s website.

of the Police and Crime Commissioner (£10k),
additional premises costs (£26k) principally as a result
of the enhanced cleaning regime required during the
pandemic, increased insurance premiums (£52k) and
reduced investment income (£81k). These were offset
to some degree by increased grants, reduced support
for capital and pensions contributions totalling £102k.

Au
di

combination of a slight increase in costs of the Office

t

In overall terms budgets managed by Commissioner’s

The Commissioner maintains the Police Property Act
Fund. The fund has been accumulated over a period of
time as a result of the disposal of property coming into

the possession of the police under the Police Property
Act 1987 and the Powers of the Criminal Courts Act
1973. Community groups and individuals can submit

applications for funding on a quarterly basis. During

2020/21 awards totaling £12k were made. As at 31
March 2020 the Police Property Act fund balance stood

o

In 2020/21 the Constabulary was £616k under-budget.

at £64k.

ec
tt

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on
the Constabulary’s budget. Additional expenditure
totalling £1.055m was incurred in relation to PPE,

technology to facilitate home working, enforcement

activities whilst income generation was also down by a
further £413k. However, this was offset by a

combination of Government support and savings

bj

which resulted indirectly from the pandemic, such as
reduced travel and training, totalling £1.767m.

Su

In relation to core activities, additional expenditure of
£540k resulted from a decision to recruit additional
officers funded by the Government through Operation
Uplift at the earliest opportunity. However, this was
offset by net savings on supplies and services and third
party payments budgets of £800k, particularly ICT.

The 2020/21 Capital Expenditure Outturn amounted to
£2.8m against a revised budget of £7.7m. Whilst the
variance of 65% against planned expenditure was
significantly above the target of 8%, there were
extenuating circumstances in 2020/21, with the
pandemic impacting significantly on the ability to
deliver projects internally and disrupting global supply
chains. Expenditure on ICT projects was deferred
pending an internal assessment of the future ICT
infrastructure, in the context of advances in cloud
services. Expenditure on fleet replacement has been
negatively impacted by manufacturer delays in
delivering vehicles. Despite, the challenges of
operating in a pandemic, substantial progress has been
made in the last year including replacement of business
systems for finance and procurement, HR and Duties,

Of the total group underspend of £503k, £53k has been
reserved to undertake committed work, which was

procurement of patrol vehicles, roll out of replacement
Airwave radios and replacement of Tasers.
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staffing, transport etc.) is provided in note 6 on page

The Financial Statements

48.

explanation of the various parts of the financial
statements alongside a high-level summary and

The table below sets out a summary CIES statement.

Summary CI&ES

narrative on the financial position. The aim of the

overall financial position of the Commissioner at the
end of the financial year, together with the cost of the
services provided during the year and the financing of
that expenditure. The reporting format is specifically
designed to meet the requirements of the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. A series of
notes are provided to assist readers in their
of

the

statement,

whilst

the

Net
Expenditure
2020/21
£000s

131,962

(14,853)

117,109

Cost of Services

131,962

(14,853)

117,109

Other Operating Expenditure

19,190

(19,365)

(175)

Financing Costs and Investment
Income

32,344

(3,379)

28,965

0

(115,292)

(115,292)

183,496

(152,889)

30,607

Council Tax and Grant Income

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision
of Services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

228,882
259,489

The statement shows that the net cost of providing

o

understanding

Cost of Police Services

Gross
Income
2020/21
£000s

Au
di

statements are to demonstrate to the reader the

Gross
Expenditure
2020/21
£000s

t

This section of the narrative report provides an

services in the year amounted to £117.109m, which is

reading by those who access the document through

predominantly the costs of policing.

ec
tt

presentational format is designed to make for easier

the Commissioner’s website.

The key financial

In addition to showing the cost of services, the CIES

statements are:
▪

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

▪

The Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS)

▪

The Balance Sheet (BS)

▪

The Cash Flow Statement (CFS)

bj

Su

These charges are

accounting practices and do not all need to be funded

The Police Officer Pension Fund Accounts

Comprehensive

pension charges (£28.418m).

calculated in accordance with generally accepted

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
The

The

most significant element of financing costs comprise

Statement (CIES)

▪

also sets out net financing costs of £28.965m.

in the 2020/21 financial year. Financing costs also
include the costs of borrowing (capital financing).
These costs are extremely low other than those that
fund the Workington PFI building. This is because the

Income

and

Expenditure

capital programme is funded internally using cash

Statement (CIES) shows the cost of policing and other

reserves to reduce investment risk and reflect the

services provided in the year and the income from
government grants and council tax that fund those

relatively low interest rates available on investing such
balances. At the end of the financial year £21.602m

services. The CIES is shown on page 29 of the full

(inclusive of PFI contract) of the capital programme is

statement of accounts. An expenditure and income

funded by the use of cash backed internal reserves

analysis that sets out what those costs are (e.g.

rather than borrowing from the open market. At some
point in the future, due to a planned reduction in
9|P a g e
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reserves, the Commissioner will need to consider
external borrowing.

Summary Movement in
Reserves
Police Fund

Showing

expenditure

and

income

within

this

statement in accordance with generally accepted

Balance Movements Balance
31/03/2020 2020/21 31/03/2021
£000s
£000s
£000s
3,000

600

3,600

14,332

(673)

13,659

Earmarked Capital Reserves

4,294

0

4,294

Earmarked Revenue Reserves

2,096

85

2,181

Capital Grants Unapplied

5,695

97

5,792

income (a deficit on the provision of services) by

Total Usable Reserves

29,417

109

29,526

the out-turn position based on the management

Au
di

t

Capital Receipts

accounting practices results in expenditure exceeding

accounts and excluding the technical accounting

accounts to record our receipt and use of income from

£30.607m.

A further accounting adjustment of

£228.802m

expenditure

through

the

‘other

comprehensive income and expenditure’ line results in
an overall position on the statement of a deficit of
£259.489m. This is an accounting surplus that is taken

(259,598) (1,483,543)

Total Reserves

(1,194,528)

(259,489) (1,454,017)

Movements in usable reserves for 2020/21 show a net
balance of £0.109m. This is the cumulative position
recording the amounts we have drawn down from and
contribute to specific (earmarked) reserves to help
fund expenditure during the year. There are separate

The management

the sale of property and government grants for capital

accounts show an underspend of £0.503m against the

expenditure. A capital receipt of £85k arose in the year

ec
tt

entries required for the CI&ES.

(1,223,945)

o

to Unusable Reserves. Page 7 of this summary sets out

Unusable Reserves

as a result of the sale of surplus radio equipment.

Movement in Reserves Statement

At the end of the year, the Police Fund at 31 March

This statement shows the different reserves held by

2021 stands at £3.6m and provides for unplanned

the Commissioner. These are analysed into ‘Usable

financial risks.

Reserves’ and ‘Unusable Reserves’. Usable reserves

£13.659m. These reserves provide for a number of

can be used to fund expenditure. They may help to pay

specific

for future costs or reduce the amount we need to raise

budget/project costs and funding to meet future

in council tax to meet our expenses.

Unusable

liabilities in respect of insurances and the PFI contract.

accounting

The balance of capital reserves as at 31 March 2021

adjustments. The Movement in Reserves Statement

was £4.294m, capital reserves are those set aside to

shows the opening balance on all reserves at the start

fund the capital programme, the majority of which is

of the year, movements in year and the closing

planned to be fully applied by 2022/23. Further detail

balance.

on earmarked reserves is provided within note 8 to the

bj

2020/21 budget.

are

principally

Su

Reserves

technical

The Movement in Reserves statement is

shown on pages 31-32 in the full statement of
accounts.

Earmarked revenue reserves are

operational

contingencies,

one

off

statement of accounts on pages 53-54.

The table below sets out a summary

movement in reserves statement.
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mechanism through which transactions are entered
into the accounts in accordance with accounting
standards. They also provide the means to manage
differences in the timing and calculation of those
transactions and the actual expenditure or income we
need to charge to our accounts. For example, our
properties are regularly re-valued. When this happens

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the balance
sheet date (31 March 2021) of the Commissioner’s
assets and liabilities. The balance sheet is shown on
page 33 in the full statement of accounts. The table
below sets out a summary balance sheet.

t

reserves of £1,484m. Unusable reserves provide a

The Balance Sheet

Au
di

At the 31st March 2021 we have negative unusable

Balance
Balance
31/03/2020 31/03/2021
£000s
£000s

Summary Balance Sheet

Property, Plant & Equipment

any increase in their value is shown in a revaluation
reserve. The reserve 'records' the additional income
we may receive when the property is sold, but it is
'unusable' until we decide to dispose of the property
and achieve a sale. When we sell, the revaluation

was recorded before sale.

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

The actual income we

63,724

3,328

2,307

20,920

25,639

(12,004)

(18,130)

Long Term Liabilities

(1,271,797) (1,527,557)

Net Liabilities

(1,194,528) (1,454,017)

Usable Reserves

29,417

29,526

Unusable Reserves

(1,223,945) (1,483,543)

Total Reserves

(1,194,528) (1,454,017)

o

reserve will be reduced by any increase in value that

Long Term Assets

65,025

receive will be shown in our usable capital receipts

expenditure. The balance on our unusable reserves
reflects the position following the required accounting

transactions. The cumulative position for unusable

estate, fleet of vehicles and ICT/communications
equipment, with a value of £63.724m. Of this, land and

comprised

£44.687m in respect of the revaluation reserve and

bj

capital adjustment account, recording accounting
transactions for our capital assets.

The

pensions

reserves

record

of

intangible

assets

computer software) £2.307m.

(predominantly

Current assets are

principally made up of investments (£4.300m), debtors
(£15.230m) and cash (£5.482m) and have a total value

-£1,522m in respect of negative pensions reserves.

Su

▪

equipment assets, which include the Commissioner’s

buildings comprise £56.422m. Long terms assets are

reserves includes reserves of:
▪

The balance sheet shows property, plant and

ec
tt

reserve, where it can be used to fund new capital

of £25.639m. Investments are made in accordance

accounting

with the Commissioner’s treasury management

transactions for the Police and Local Government

strategy and support the management of reserves and

Pension Schemes. The change in the balance on

cash flows. Debtors’ balances are primarily made up

these reserves in 2020/21 is negative and is as a

of

result of changes in actuarial assumptions that

government, and prepayments. This means that the

have increased scheme liabilities.

risk of not receiving the debt remains low.

institutional

debtors,

for

example

central

The

Commissioner has a good collection record in respect
of debtor invoices raised for services provided. During
2020/21 two debtor invoices with a combined total of
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£2,235 were authorised to be written off as not

funds. Money Market funds are an alternative way of

collectable. The provision for impaired or doubtful

depositing cash to earn interest. The cash can be

debts stands at £14,149 against the future risk that not

withdrawn from the fund without having to give notice

all outstanding invoices will prove to be 100%

and they are therefore referred to as cash equivalents.

collectable, this figure is reduced from previous years.
The statement shows how the Commissioner

debtors recorded by the 6 Cumbrian District Council’s

generates and uses cash and cash equivalents. Cash

This debt amounts to

£3.472m and is reduced by the Commissioner’s share
of their respective bad debt provisions of £1.567m.
See note 14 to the statement of accounts (Page 68).

Au
di

in respect of council tax.

t

The Commissioner’s debtors include a share of the

flows are classified within the cash flow statement as
arising from operating activity, investing activity and

financing activity. The statement is shown on pages
34-35 of the full statement of accounts. The table
below sets out a summary cash flow statement.

Balance sheet liabilities are amounts owed by the
Commissioner.

They include creditors, PFI debt,

Cash & Cash Equivalents 1 April

o

pensions and finance lease liabilities. They are split

Summary Cash Flow
Statement

Net Cash Flow from:

the current liabilities being those amounts due to be

Operating Activity

ec
tt

between short term (current) and long term liabilities,

Cash flows Cash flows
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
(5,065)

(1,271)

(183)

(5,159)

paid within 1 year. The most significant element of

Investing Activity

3,817

766

current liabilities are short term creditors which total

Financing Activity

160

182

£17.894m. The combined short and long term liability

Cash & Cash Equivalents 31 March,
made up of:

(1,271)

(5,482)

on the PFI scheme amount to £4.403m at 31st March

Bank Accounts

(469)

(684)

2021. Long term liabilities are the most significant

Money Market Funds

(802)

(4,798)

figure on the balance sheet, showing a balance of

bj

£1,528m (£1,272m in 2019/20). The main element of
this amount is a pension’s deficit of £1,522m (£1,266m
in 2019/20) for the Local Government Pension Scheme

Su

(LGPS) and the Police Pension Scheme. However, this
deficit will be funded over a number of years, with
financial support from Central Government, meaning
that the financial position of the Commissioner
remains healthy.

The table shows a cash inflow of £5.159m from
operating activity. This is the net of our cash income
including government grants, council tax and charges
for services, less how much cash has been paid out, for
example for salaries and goods that have been
purchased. Cash flows from investing activity show an
outflow of £0.766m and primarily represents the net
balance of investment deposits less the amount of cash
received when the investment comes to the end of its
term. Investment activity provides a way to manage

The Cash Flow Statement

resources that will be used to fund future expenditure,

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash

earning interest on any balances. Investment activity

held in bank accounts and changes in Money Market

also includes cash flows from the purchase and sale of
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capital assets (e.g. property). Cash flows arising from

government grant. This means the police pension fund

financing activities show a net cash outflow of

always balances to nil.

£0.182m, this being amount of cash used in relation to

borrowing other than that which relates to finance
leases and the PFI agreement. An amount of £182k

Contributions - Officers

overall balance of £5.482m, compared to £1.271m in
2019/20, reflecting an increase in cash and cash
equivalents of £4.211m over the year. At the end of
the year £4.798m of the Commissioner’s cash deposits

Police Officer Pension Fund Account

(13,519)
(5,842)

(846)

(331)

Benefits Payable

39,083

38,862

Other Payments

27

20

19,942

19,190

(19,942)

(19,190)

Additional Funding Payable by the
Police and Crime Commissioner
(2.9%)

0

0

Net Amount Payable

0

0

Net Amount Payable

Contribution from Home Office

o

was held in money market funds and £0.684m in banks.

(12,793)
(5,529)

Contributions - Other

The Commissioner’s cash flow statement shows an

Pension
Fund A/C
2020/21
£000s

Au
di

Contributions - Employer

was paid to reduce those debts during the year.

Pension
Fund A/C
2019/20
£000s

Summary Police Pension
Fund

t

financing and borrowing. The Commissioner has no

The statement identifies contributions into the fund of
£13.519m from the Constabulary (employer) and

officer pension fund account for the year.

The

£5.842m from police officers. Employer contribution

statement records all the contributions that have been

rates in 2020/21 were at 31%. In total £38.862m of

made during the year to the pension fund. These are

pensions have been paid out of the fund. The balance

primarily contributions from employees and the

between contributions and those pensions’ benefits of

Constabulary as employer. Contribution rates are set

£19.190m has been funded by Home Office. The full

nationally by the Home Office. There are also small

police officer pension fund account is shown on pages

amounts of other contributions.

93 to 94 of the financial statements accompanied with

ec
tt

This statement sets out the transactions on the police

bj

These are either

transferred contributions, where members join the

a page of explanatory notes.

Constabulary and pension scheme during the year,

Su

through transfer from another police force, and
transfer in their existing pension benefits.

Other

contributions also include additional payments made
by the employer to cover the cost of ill-health
retirements. The fund records the pensions (benefits)
that are paid out of the fund to its members. Any
difference between the contributions received into the
fund and the amount being paid out is met by
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explanation of the accounting policies used in
preparing the statements.

They also contain a

comprehensive set of notes that explain in more detail
a number of entries in the primary financial
statements.

A glossary of terms provides an

explanation of the various technical accounting terms
and abbreviations.

The statements are published

alongside the Annual Governance Statement for the
Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief
Constable in accordance with the 2015 Accounts and

sector organisations who were struggling to retain
their support services to victims. 43 organisations
received immediate short-term financial assistance (up
to £5,000) to support a wide range of activity - youth
outreach work, drug and alcohol recovery, counselling

t

The key financial statements are supplemented by an

provided £189,105 from his own budget to help third

for young homeless people and much more.

Au
di

Supporting Information to the Financial Statements

In 2020/21, significant work has been undertaken with
NHS England and three North East Police & Crime

Commissioners to develop a specification for the
delivery and commissioning of Sexual Assault Referral
Centres (SARCs) on a regional footprint.

Audit (England) Regulations.

This

collaboration will provide sustainability, ensuring the

current high quality of service continues to be provided

o

Business Review

to victims of sexual violence and rape in the future.

ec
tt

During 2020/2021, the Commissioner has continued a

number of programmes and initiatives working with

The Commissioner has continued to fund Remedi to

the Constabulary and wider partners to deliver the key

deliver restorative justice services across Cumbria for

priorities within the Police & Crime Plan as well as

victims of crime and provide a programme of

responding to the Covid-19 pandemic.

meditation for victims of antisocial behaviour.
Restorative justice gives victims the chance to explain
the impact of the offence, upon them and others close

going funding continued to flow to the services he

to them, and ask the offender direct questions. It holds

commissioned so that victims received the vital

offenders to account for what they have done and

support they needed during the Covid-19 pandemic

helps them to take responsibility and make amends for

The impact of this outbreak has been profound, with a

their behaviour.

Su

bj

A key focus for the Commissioner was to ensure on-

significant loss of life and a catastrophic effect on the
economy, across the globe.

It has affected every

During

2020/21,

the

Commissioner

and

the

person in some way, changing how we all live, work

Constabulary have worked collaboratively to develop a

and socialise. The Commissioner pledged to explore

Cumbria Adult Out of Court Disposal Framework

every opportunity to bring additional funding into the

known as ‘The Pathways Programme’. The programme

county to help organisations respond to the pandemic

will assess the criminogenic needs of low-level

and continue with their offer of support to victims,

offenders and support them through a needs-led

securing £846,378. On top of this, the Commissioner

intervention to prevent reoffending. In addition, it will
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signpost offenders to specialist support service to

The Commissioner continues to lead on the

supplement and sustain the work completed from the

implementation

intervention.

Framework, to review how criminal justice agencies

of

the

Quality

Assessment

comply with the national Victims’ Code of Practice and
to drive improvements in specific areas through this

the Home Office Safer Streets Fund to help reduce the

process. A fourth audit has recently been carried out

number of burglary offences in the Salthouse Road

and the findings will be reported to the Safer Cumbria

and Barrow Borough Council have supplied thousands
of pounds worth of crime prevention measures and
home security equipment, free of charge, to any home
within the area. The equipment ranges from door
chains, locks, window and letter box security, security
lights for back yards and garage security, all installed by
The funding has also

Partnership. Criminal justice partners have agreed to
take forward the recommendations in the report.

Turning the Spotlight, a bespoke early intervention
domestic abuse programme for perpetrators and
families, continues to go from strength to strength and

has now achieved full Respect Accreditation, a
nationally recognised quality assurance scheme for

o

skilled local tradespeople.

Au
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area of Barrow. With the funding, the Commissioner

t

In July 2020, the Commissioner secured £436,99 from

organisations working with perpetrators of domestic

residents by community volunteers. Cumbria County

abuse and violence in the UK. The Commissioner also

ec
tt

provided 200 home security packs, delivered to local

Council has used the funding to install new street

continued to fund the Step-Up Remote programme, a

lighting in unlit back alleys and provide an upgrade of

child on parent/guardian violence programme, which

existing lighting in the front streets across the whole

supports adolescent perpetrators and their families to

area.

build and nurture positive relationships and change
negative attitudes and behaviours to help repair the

The

Commissioner

has

entered

into

a

co-

harm caused.

bj

commissioning agreement with National Probation

The Commissioner’s Victims’ Advocate continues to

Service to enable women in rurally isolated

champion the cause for victims, and importantly, help

communities to access support services. This will build

drive up standards. The Victims’ Advocate provides

upon the vital support currently available through the

additional assurance in relation to the quality of service

three Women Centres based in Barrow, Carlisle and

victims receive. This has resulted in quality work being

Whitehaven. The outreach pilot will provide a holistic

recognised, specific actions for improvement being

support service for women offenders, and those at risk

picked up in an action plan and contract management

of offending or re-offending, victims of domestic abuse

processes for each commissioned service being

and sexual violence, and those presenting with

focused on pertinent issues.

Su

Service to support the pilot of a Women’s Outreach

multiple complex needs.
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During 2020/21, a review of this process was

safer driving Campaign, in response to what residents

undertaken to ensure it remains appropriate and

said is one of their main local concerns. The campaign

flexible. To support this, the OPCC Training Plan sets

focuses on raising awareness of the Fatal Four (no

out the overall training plan for the office and cascades

seatbelts; speeding; distracted driving and drug/drink

into individual responsibilities. In 2020/2021, specific

driving). The Commissioner has delivered a rural crime

training has been provided for staff in the areas of

campaign, which has been influenced by current issues

Code of Ethics, risk management, governance,

(NFU), with all partners working together to promote
rural safety and prevent rural crime. Working with Get
Safe Online, the Commissioner has continued to raise
public knowledge of how to protect themselves against
fraud and other crimes committed via the internet.

equality, contract management, youth engagement

and the budget. Individual staff have attended
conferences, workshops and specific training events to
help them develop within their roles.

Performance Report

We measure our performance across a number of key

o

Performance

Au
di

raised by the Constabulary and National Farmers Union

t

The Commissioner, working with partners, delivered a

The Commissioner has an open and transparent

Plan. These are Effective Policing, Community Safety,

ec
tt

Accountability Framework to assess how well the

themes reflecting the priorities in the Police and Crime

objectives in the Police & Crime Plan are being

achieved. During 2019/20, Internal Audit carried out a
review of these arrangements for monitoring the

delivery of the Police & Crime Plan and awarded
‘Substantial Assurance’.

Criminal Justice, Customer/Victim Satisfaction and
Finance & Value for Money.

Effective Policing
▪

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and
Fire

bj

During 2020/21, the Police and Crime Panel has

&

Rescue

Services

(HMICFRS)

Police

Effectiveness Efficiency and Legitimacy (PEEL)
Inspections: The PEEL Inspections judge the

the Police & Crime Plan objectives through quarterly

efficiency, effectiveness and legitimacy of the

online meetings. Thematic reports are presented to

Constabulary in keeping people safe and reducing

the Panel and follow terms of reference agreed in

crime. During 2020/21 HMICFRS suspended much

advance with the Panel Chair. The reports have been

of its inspection regime due to the Covid-19

well received and provided assurance on the

pandemic. In the latest HMICFRS inspection which

Commissioner’s, and his office, response to Covid-19.

took place in 2018/19 Cumbria Constabulary was

Su

continued to facilitate effective scrutiny of delivery of

graded as ‘good’ in all aspects of effectiveness,
Within the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner

efficiency and legitimacy.

The Chief Constable

(OPCC) Strength Based Conversation Performance

reports to the Police and Crime Commissioner on

Reviews continue to be carried out with all staff.

how the Constabulary will tackle any areas
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reporting of hate crime. Based on the latest data,

HMICFRS recommendations.

Cumbria has one of the lowest rates of hate crime
in the north west region and nationally.

For 2020/21 overall crime decreased by 19%,
which equates to a decrease of 7,259 crimes over

▪

domestic violence.

the 12 month period to 31st March 2021. The

The crime type which experienced the greatest
reduction was 'Violence against the person' which
fell by 2,489 crimes, an indication of the impact of

Criminal Justice
▪

In percentage terms, acquisitive crimes such as
burglary (-34%), theft (-33%) and vehicle offences

based on a national framework for crime. Crime

offender is either charged or summonsed, receives

an out of court disposal or where the Crown
Prosecution Service (CPS) or police determine it is

(-34%) all fell sharply.

not in the public interest to prosecute. In all cases

o

Whilst the reporting of rape and sexual offences is

the crime outcome represents positive police

encouraged, reports fell by 15% in 2020/21 from

activity in detecting the crime.

Positive crime

ec
tt

1,452 to 1,239.
▪

All recorded offences are assigned an outcome

outcomes are classed as positive where the

closing pubs and nightclubs.

▪

Au
di

from 7,554 to 7,860.

lockdown.

▪

During 2020/21 Domestic

Abuse Safeguarding Referrals increased by 4%

decrease is largely attributable to the pandemic

▪

Work has also targeted increased reporting for

t

▪

requiring improvement and her response to

outcome performance for 2020/21 was 20%.

The only crime type to experience an increase was
drug offences, which rose by 23.9% from 922 to

1,142. This is an indication of more pro-active
policing in this area.

Customer and Victim Satisfaction
▪

Performance in customer and victim satisfaction is
measured through regular independent surveys

Community Safety

following police contact. This is supplemented by

▪

the process for police complaints that includes

bj

Antisocial behaviour (ASB) increased during

independent sampling of complaint files and

reported to the police and recorded as ASB. There

scrutiny of local to national comparatives against

were 11,251 ASB incidents in 2020/21, up 53%

complaints upheld.

Su

2020/21 as a result of Covid breaches being

from 2019/20. If ASB incidents, which were classed

▪

police service was 78.5%.

as Covid related are excluded, ASB incidents
declined by 6% from 7,286 to 6,861.

▪

The latest figures for public confidence in the local

▪

When allegations are made against the police,

Hate crimes and incidents continue to be closely

those resolved locally perform well against

monitored. During 2019/20, the number of crimes

national comparative timescales.

with a hate marker increased from 677 to 681,
which equates to a rise of 0.6%. The Constabulary
and partners continue to work to encourage

Finance & Value for Money
▪

We measure our performance against targets for
achieving financial outturn within a percentage of
17 | P a g e

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Joint Chief Finance Officer Narrative Report

the revenue budget and 8% for the capital budget.

and sexual abuse.

Actual performance for revenue was 0.5%,

▪

Collectively, these indicators provide assurance of

achieving well within the target.

Value for Money in respect of the 2020/21 financial

The capital outturn was 65% below budget, falling

year.

well outside the target.

Whilst this was a

disappointing result, the slippage was largely
attributable to a combination of taking additional
time to ensure that investment in fast moving
digital technologies is spent wisely and will provide
long term benefits and delays in vehicle deliveries,
which were beyond our control. Stretch targets will
continue to be set for capital expenditure going
forward as a recognised area for performance

t

▪

increasing reporting of hate crime and domestic

The Future Outlook

Au
di

▪

the net budget. For 2020/21 this was set at 1% for

Following his election in 2016, Peter McCall the Police
and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria launched his

Police and Crime Plan covering the period to 2021. The
Plan’s key theme is ‘Making Cumbria Even Safer’ and

sets the strategic direction for policing and wider aims

for enhancing community safety, criminal justice and
supporting victims.

▪

o

improvement.
Historically the budget for the Commissioner and

benchmarked against HMIC Value for Money
profiles. Following the inclusion of fire and rescue
services under the remit of HMIC, costs for police

and crime commissioners are no longer included in
the VFM comparators. It has therefore not been
possible to undertake a Value for Money analysis
Office of the Police and Crime

bj

for the

Commissioner for 2020/21.

▪

The overall financial position remains strong, which is
reflected in the Medium Term Financial Forecast,

ec
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Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner was

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and

Su

Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) last PEEL

which sets out the revenue budget position until
2024/25 and a capital programme, which is fully
funded over the same period and will support delivery
of the Police and Crime Plan. The current financial
position has primarily arisen as a result of positive
action on behalf of the Constabulary to reduce costs in
the context of reductions in government funding since
2010 this has enabled reserves to be maintained at a
level that balances financial resilience and supports
continued investment.

inspection in 2018/19 assessed the Constabulary
as good in respect of efficiency.

▪

Outcomes against wider performance measures
that indicate the effectiveness of activity and
interventions are strong against the priority areas
of keeping crime at low levels, reducing anti-social
behaviour, bringing criminals to justice and

The Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2021/22
budget was approved in the context of the
Government

providing

additional

funding

for

Operation Uplift, continued grant funding for increased
police

pension

contributions

and

affording

Commissioners’ flexibility to raise council tax above
inflation. However, this is accompanied by increasing
18 | P a g e
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cost pressures including new training requirements

from both grants and council tax in the context of the

and ICT initiatives.

negative impact of the pandemic on both Government
and household budgets. Scenario modelling as to the
impact on the financial position continues to take place

£137m funding for the Chief Constable to deliver

on an on-going basis, together with development of a

policing

savings and efficiency plan involving both the OPCC

Cumbria.

Resources

include

an

establishment of 1,263 Police Officers; an increase of
47 and maintenance of the establishments for Police
Community Support Officers and Police Staff. The
longer term 10 year capital programme envisages a
total investment of £60m principally across the estate,
fleet and ICT.

and Constabulary.

Au
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for

t

Against this background the 2021/22 budget provides

In light of the financial outlook outlined above and, in
the context of the MTFF and savings plans, the
Commissioner and the Joint Chief Finance Officer have
reviewed the going concern position of the PCC/Group

and have concluded that it is appropriate to produce

Whilst the position is financially resilient in the short

the Commissioner’s accounts on a going concern basis.

o

term, the future outlook remains uncertain. Based on
the MTFF assumptions, savings will need to be

Financial Management Code

ec
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delivered from 2023/24 to balance the budget. The

The Financial Management Code developed by the

a number of continuing financial risks in relation to the

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy

adequacy and sustainability of funding beyond

came into effect from the 1st April 2020, with the aim

Operation Uplift, the cost of national policing

of supporting good practice in financial management in

programmes, pensions issues and the potential review

local authorities including the policing sector.

of the police funding formula. These are further

However, there is a recognition that due to the global

compounded by the long term macro-economic

pandemic, it may be difficult for authorities to

uncertainty arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

demonstrate full-compliance during 2020/21. A self

bj

budget gap by 2024/25 is forecast as £5.1m. There are

assessment has been undertaken, which shows that
the Police and Crime Commissioner largely meets the

adapted to working under the restrictions imposed by

requirements of the code, however there are some

in light of Covid-19. However, it is likely that the

areas where further work is required to ensure full

Constabulary will continue to incur additional costs

compliance, most notably in relation to

during 2021/22 as result of Covid-19, but with a

•

Demonstrating Value for Money.

guarantee of some central Government support, the

•

Balance sheet monitoring.

impact is considered to manageable in the context of

•

Scheme of delegation and financial training

overall resources. Over the medium term there is also

•

Developing a financial resilience index.

uncertainty with regard to future funding assumptions

•

Application of formal options appraisal techniques.

Su

To a large degree both the PCC and Constabulary have
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A copy of the self-assessment is included as an

Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Lorraine Holme and the

appendix to the Annual Governance Statement

wider finance team in again achieving the closure of

(Appendix C).

accounts and the publication of these Statements
against tight deadlines and complex financial reporting
standards, in particular recognising the practical
working challenges presented by the pandemic.

The financial statements were originally authorised for
issue by me as Joint Chief Finance Officer on 28 June
2021.
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Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
1

The Commissioner’s Responsibilities
The Police and Crime Commissioner (The Commissioner/PCC) is the recipient of funding relating to
policing and crime reduction and has statutory responsibility for the Police Fund. The Commissioner
is required to:
make arrangements for the proper administration of his financial affairs and to secure that one
of his officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this organisation,
that officer is the Joint Chief Finance Officer (CFO).

•

manage his affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.

•

approve the Statement of Accounts including annexes to the Statement of Accounts.

2

The Chief Constable’s Responsibilities

Au
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t

•

make arrangements for the proper administration of her financial affairs and to secure that one
of her officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this organisation,
that officer is the Joint Chief Finance Officer (CFO).

•

manage her affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.

•

approve the Statement of Accounts including annexes to the Statement of Accounts.

bj
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•

The Joint Chief Finance Officer's Responsibilities
The Joint Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Commissioner’s, Chief
Constable’s and Group Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

Su

3

o

The Chief Constable (the CC) is accountable to the Police and Crime Commissioner for the management
of resources and expenditure by the police force. All funding for the Chief Constable comes from the
Police and Crime Commissioner. The Chief Constable is required to:

In preparing this Statement of Account, the CFO has:
•

selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;

•

made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

complied with the local authority code.
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Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
The CFO has also:
•

kept proper accounting records, which were up to date

•

taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Su
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t

The CFO should sign and date the Statement of Accounts, stating that it presents a true and fair view
of the financial position of the organisation at the reporting date and its income and expenditure for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Su

bj

ec
tt

o

Au
di

t

4 pages left blank for audit opinion to be inserted.
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4 pages left blank for audit opinion to be inserted.
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4 pages left blank for audit opinion to be inserted.
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Core Financial Statements
The Statement of Accounts includes four primary or core financial statements:
•

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement - This statement summarises the resources that have
been generated and consumed in providing policing and crime reduction services during the year. It includes
all day to day expenses and related income on an accruals basis, as well as transactions measuring the value

t

of fixed assets actually consumed and the real projected value of retirement benefits earned by employees in

Au
di

the year.

The expenditure in the statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance

with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities
raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting
cost. The taxation position is shown in the movement in reserves statement.

Due to the size of the statements, the positions for the Group and the PCC are shown in separate tables.

Movement in Reserves Statement - This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves

o

•

held by the Commissioner, analysed into ‘Usable Reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure

ec
tt

or reduce taxation) and other ‘Unusable Reserves’. The Surplus (or Deficit) on the Provision of Services line
shows the true economic cost of providing the Commissioner’s services, more details of which are shown in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts
required to be charged to the Police Fund Balance for Council Tax setting purposes. The Net Increase/Decrease
before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory Police Fund Balance before any discretionary

bj

transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Commissioner.

Due to the size of the statements, the positions for the Group and the PCC are shown in separate tables, the

Su

figures for 2020/21 and the comparators for 2019/20 are also shown in separate tables.
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•

Balance Sheet – This statement shows the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities
recognised by the Commissioner. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by
the Commissioner. Reserves are reported in two categories.

The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Commissioner may use to

t

provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on

Au
di

their use (for example the capital receipts reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay
debt).

The second category of reserves are unusable reserves and relate to those that the Commissioner is not able

to use to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses
(for example the revaluation reserve), where amounts would only become available to provide services if the

assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line
‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.

o

The balance sheet for the Group and PCC are shown side by side and include both 2020/21 figures and 2019/20

•

ec
tt

comparators.

Cash Flow Statement - This statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Commissioner
during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Commissioner generates and uses cash and cash
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash
flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the
Commissioner are funded by way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services. Investing

bj

activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been generated from resources which are intended
to contribute to the Commissioner’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are

Su

useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing).

The cash flow statement for the Group and PCC are shown side by side and include both 2020/21 figures and
2019/20 comparators.
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – Group
Group
2019/20
Gross
Income

£000s

£000s

Cost of Policing and Crime Services
Cost of Policing and Crime Services
Other Operating Expenditure
(Gain)/loss on disposal of non current assets
Transfer to Pension Fund/Pension Top Up Grant
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
Interest payable on PFI unitary payments
Net Interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)

#

9e

Annex C
(Pg 110)

Investment interest income
Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
Recognised capital grants and contributions
Income from Council Tax
Council Tax Grant (Freeze & Support)
Formula Funding
Home Office Police Grant
PFI Grant

27
28
27
27
27
27

£000s

Group
2020/21
Net
Expenditure

£000s

£000s

120,859

(10,035)

110,824

131,962

(14,853)

117,109

120,859

(10,035)

110,824

131,962

(14,853)

117,109

0
19,942
19,942

(57)
(19,942)
(19,999)

(57)
0
(57)

0
19,190
19,190

(175)
(19,190)
(19,365)

(175)
0
(175)

584
36,753

0
(3,664)

584
33,089

562
31,782

0
(3,364)

562
28,418

0
37,337

(143)
(3,807)

(143)
33,530

0
32,344

(15)
(3,379)

(15)
28,965

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(372)
(43,799)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(28,935)
(687)
(109,650)

(372)
(43,799)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(28,935)
(687)
(109,650)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(163)
(45,162)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(31,207)
(688)
(115,292)

(163)
(45,162)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(31,207)
(688)
(115,292)

178,138

(143,491)

34,647

183,496

(152,889)

30,607

o

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services

£000s

Group
2020/21
Gross
Income

t

Notes

Group
Group
2019/20
2020/21
Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure

Au
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement (Group)

Group
2019/20
Gross
Expenditure

Surplus or Deficit on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets
Revaluation losses (chargeable to revaluation reserve)
9
Impairment losses (chargeable to revaluation reserve)
9

(3,002)
1,449

0

0

(114,580)

230,435

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(114,697)

228,882

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(80,050)

259,489

ec
tt

(342)
225

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of available for sale
financial assets

Annex C
(Pg 110)

bj

Actuarial (gains) / losses on pension assets / liabilities
- Matching the entry to the pensions reserve

# A more detailed analysis of the figures that make up the “Cost of Policing and Crime Services” can be found in the

Su

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (Note 5) and in the Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature note (Note 6).
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – PCC
PCC
2019/20
Gross
Income

£000s

£000s

Cost of Policing and Crime Services
Funding Provided by PCC to CC
Cost of Policing and Crime Services
Other Operating Expenditure
(Gain)/loss on disposal of non current assets
Transfer to Pension Fund/Pension Top Up Grant
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
Interest payable on PFI unitary payments
Net Interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)

#

9e

Annex C
(Pg 111)

Investment interest income

(Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services

27
28
27
27
27
27

£000s

£000s

(18,739)
0
(18,739)

(4,731)
117,564
112,833

17,358
125,085
142,443

0
19,942
19,942

(57)
(19,942)
(19,999)

(57)
0
(57)

0
19,190
19,190

(175)
(19,190)
(19,365)

(175)
0
(175)

584
135

0
(103)

584
32

562
102

0
(76)

562
26

0
719

(143)
(246)

(143)
473

0
664

(15)
(91)

(15)
573

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(372)
(43,799)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(28,935)
(687)
(109,650)

(372)
(43,799)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(28,935)
(687)
(109,650)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(163)
(45,162)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(31,207)
(688)
(115,292)

(163)
(45,162)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(31,207)
(688)
(115,292)

3,599

162,297

(158,659)

3,638

152,233

Surplus or Deficit on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets
Revaluation losses (chargeable to revaluation reserve)
9
Impairment losses (chargeable to revaluation reserve)
9

£000s

PCC
2020/21
Net
Expenditure

14,008
117,564
131,572

o

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
Recognised capital grants and contributions
Income from Council Tax
Council Tax Grant (Freeze & Support)
Formula Funding
Home Office Police Grant
PFI Grant

£000s

PCC
2020/21
Gross
Income

(23,911)
0
(23,911)

(6,553)
125,085
118,532

t

Notes

PCC
PCC
2019/20
2020/21
Net
Gross
Expenditure Expenditure
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement (PCC)

PCC
2019/20
Gross
Expenditure

(148,634)

(3,002)
1,449

0

0

(338)

102

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(455)

(1,451)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

3,144

2,187

ec
tt

(342)
225

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of available for sale
financial assets

Annex C
(Pg 111)

bj

Actuarial (gains) / losses on pension assets / liabilities
- Matching the entry to the pensions reserve

# A more detailed analysis of the figures that make up the “Cost of Policing and Crime Services” can be found in the

Su

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (Note 5) and in the Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature note (Note 6).
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Movement in Reserves Statement - Group

Surplus/ (deficit) on the
provision of services

Other comprehensive
income and expenditure

Total comprehensive
income and expenditure

Adjustment between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations (Note 7)

Net increase / (decrease)
before transfers to/from
earmarked reserves

Transfers to/(from)
earmarked reserves

Increase/ (decrease) in
2020/21

Balance at 31 March 2021

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

8
8
19
19

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

(30,607)
0
0
0
0
(30,607)

Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
Police Pensions Reserve
LGPS Pensions Reserve
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account
Total Unusable Reserves

20a
20b
20e
20e
20c
20d

13,318
32,824
(1,203,170)
(63,207)
(50)
(3,660)
(1,223,945)
(1,194,528)

Total Reserves

0
0
0
0
0
0

(30,607)
0
0
0
0
(30,607)

30,534
0
0
85
97
30,716

(73)
0
0
85
97
109

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,553
0
(222,690)
(7,745)
0
0
(228,882)

1,553
0
(222,690)
(7,745)
0
0
(228,882)

0
(3,008)
(21,300)
(3,853)
(608)
(1,947)
(30,716)

(30,607)

(228,882)

(259,489)

0

673
(673)
0
0
0
0

600
(673)
0
85
97
109

3,600
13,659
4,294
2,181
5,792
29,526

1,553
(3,008)
(243,990)
(11,598)
(608)
(1,947)
(259,598)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,553
(3,008)
(243,990)
(11,598)
(608)
(1,947)
(259,598)

14,871
29,816
(1,447,160)
(74,805)
(658)
(5,607)
(1,483,543)

(259,489)

0

(259,489)

(1,454,017)

t

Usable Reserves
Police Fund Account
Earmarked Revenue Reserves
Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Receipts Reserve
Capital Grants Unapplied
Total Usable Reserves

Au
di

Note

Movement in Reserves Statement
(Group)
Figures for 2020/21

Balance at 1 April 2020

The figures for the group in 2020/21 are provided in the table below:

Other comprehensive
income and expenditure

Total comprehensive
income and expenditure

Adjustment between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations (Note 7)

Net increase / (decrease)
before transfers to/from
earmarked reserves

Transfers to/(from)
earmarked reserves

Increase/ (decrease) in
2019/20

Balance at 31 March 2020

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

o

Surplus/ (deficit) on the
provision of services

£000s

ec
tt

Note

Movement in Reserves Statement
(Group)
Figures for 2019/20

Balance at 1 April 2019

The comparative figures for the group in 2019/20 are provided in the table below:

8
8
19
19

3,000
8,276
10,634
2,096
6,144
30,150

(34,647)
0
0
0
0
(34,647)

0
0
0
0
0
0

(34,647)
0
0
0
0
(34,647)

34,363
0
0
0
(449)
33,914

(284)
0
0
0
(449)
(733)

284
6,056
(6,340)
0
0
0

0
6,056
(6,340)
0
(449)
(733)

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
Police Pensions Reserve
LGPS Pensions Reserve
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account
Total Unusable Reserves

20a
20b
20e
20e
20c
20d

13,201
35,523
(1,296,300)
(54,038)
(50)
(3,064)
(1,304,728)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

117
0
118,150
(3,570)
0
0
114,697

117
0
118,150
(3,570)
0
0
114,697

0
(2,699)
(25,020)
(5,599)
0
(596)
(33,914)

117
(2,699)
93,130
(9,169)
0
(596)
80,783

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

117
(2,699)
93,130
(9,169)
0
(596)
80,783

13,318
32,824
(1,203,170)
(63,207)
(50)
(3,660)
(1,223,945)

(1,274,578)

(34,647)

114,697

80,050

0

80,050

0

80,050

(1,194,528)

bj

Usable Reserves
Police Fund Account
Earmarked Revenue Reserves
Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Receipts Reserve
Capital Grants Unapplied
Total Usable Reserves

Su

Total Reserves
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Movement in Reserves Statement – PCC

Surplus/ (deficit) on the
provision of services

Other comprehensive
income and expenditure

Total comprehensive
income and expenditure

Adjustment between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations (Note 7)

Net increase / (decrease)
before transfers to/from
earmarked reserves

Transfers to/(from)
earmarked reserves

Increase/ (decrease) in
2020/21

Balance at 31 March 2021

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

8
8
19
19

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

(3,638)
0
0
0
0
(3,638)

Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
LGPS Pensions Reserve
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account
Total Unusable Reserves

20a
20b
20e
20c
20d

13,318
32,824
(1,177)
(50)
(44)
44,871

0
0
0
0
0
0

74,288

(3,638)

Total Reserves

0
0
0
0
0
0

(3,638)
0
0
0
0
(3,638)

3,565
0
0
85
97
3,747

(73)
0
0
85
97
109

1,553
0
(102)
0
0
1,451

1,553
0
(102)
0
0
1,451

0
(3,008)
(106)
(608)
(25)
(3,747)

1,451

(2,187)

0

673
(673)
0
0
0
0

600
(673)
0
85
97
109

3,600
13,659
4,294
2,181
5,792
29,526

1,553
(3,008)
(208)
(608)
(25)
(2,296)

0
0
0
0
0
0

1,553
(3,008)
(208)
(608)
(25)
(2,296)

14,871
29,816
(1,385)
(658)
(69)
42,575

(2,187)

0

(2,187)

72,101

t

Usable Reserves
Police Fund Account
Earmarked Revenue Reserves
Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Receipts Reserve
Capital Grants Unapplied
Total Usable Reserves

Au
di

Note

Movement in reserves Statement
(PCC)
Figures for 2020/21

Balance at 1 April 2020

The figures for the PCC Single Entity in 2020/21 are provided in the table below:

Other comprehensive
income and expenditure

Total comprehensive
income and expenditure

Adjustment between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations (Note 7)

Net increase / (decrease)
before transfers to/from
earmarked reserves

Transfers to/(from)
earmarked reserves

Increase/ (decrease) in
2019/20

Balance at 31 March 2020

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

o

Surplus/ (deficit) on the
provision of services

£000s

ec
tt

Note

Movement in Reserves Statement
(PCC)
Figures for 2019/20

Balance at 1 April 2019

The comparative figures for 2019/20 are provided in the table below:

Usable Reserves
Police Fund Account
Earmarked Revenue Reserves
Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Receipts Reserve
Capital Grants Unapplied
Total Usable Reserves

3,000
8,276
10,634
2,096
6,144
30,150

(3,599)
0
0
0
0
(3,599)

0
0
0
0
0
0

(3,599)
0
0
0
0
(3,599)

3,315
0
0
0
(449)
2,866

(284)
0
0
0
(449)
(733)

284
6,056
(6,340)
0
0
0

0
6,056
(6,340)
0
(449)
(733)

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

20a
20b
20e
20c
20d

13,201
35,523
(1,384)
(50)
(8)
0
47,282

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

117
0
338
0
0
0
455

117
0
338
0
0
0
455

0
(2,699)
(131)
0
(36)
0
(2,866)

117
(2,699)
207
0
(36)
0
(2,411)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

117
(2,699)
207
0
(36)
0
(2,411)

13,318
32,824
(1,177)
(50)
(44)
0
44,871

77,432

(3,599)

455

(3,144)

0

(3,144)

0

(3,144)

74,288

bj

Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
LGPS Pensions Reserve
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account
Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve
Total Unusable Reserves

8
8
19
19

Su

Total Reserves
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Balance Sheet – PCC & Group
Balance Sheet
Notes
Property, Plant & Equipment
Land and Buildings
Vehicles
Information Technology Equipment
Furniture, Equipment & Plant
Investment Properties

PCC
31 March 2020
£000s

PCC
31 March 2021
£000s

Group
31 March 2020
£000s

Group
31 March 2021
£000s

57,543
2,945
3,936
591
10
65,025

56,422
3,247
3,536
509
10
63,724

57,543
2,945
3,936
591
10
65,025

56,422
3,247
3,536
509
10
63,724

Intangible Assets - Software
Long Term Assets

11

3,328
68,353

2,307
66,031

3,328
68,353

2,307
66,031

Short Term Investments
Assets held for sale (within 1yr)
Inventories
Short Term Debtors (external)
Short Term Debtors (amounts owed to PCC by CC re CC share of external Creditors)
Short Term Debtors (funding balance owed to PCC by CC)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Assets

17
10

6,010
0
0
13,261
9,530
5,155
1,271
35,227

4,300
259
0
15,230
13,493
5,605
5,482
44,369

6,010
0
378
13,261
0
0
1,271
20,920

4,300
259
368
15,230
0
0
5,482
25,639

15
15
15
12

(11,822)
(4,927)
(6,781)
(182)
0
(23,712)

(17,894)
(5,317)
(9,270)
(206)
(30)
(32,717)

(11,822)
0
0
(182)
0
(12,004)

(17,894)
0
0
(206)
(30)
(18,130)

16

0

0

(1,017)

(1,395)

18
18
12

0
(1,177)
(4,403)
(5,580)

0
(1,385)
(4,197)
(5,582)

(1,203,170)
(63,207)
(4,403)
(1,271,797)

(1,447,160)
(74,805)
(4,197)
(1,527,557)

74,288

72,101

(1,194,528)

(1,454,017)

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

3,600
13,659
4,294
2,181
5,792
29,526

3,000
14,332
4,294
2,096
5,695
29,417

3,600
13,659
4,294
2,181
5,792
29,526

13,318
32,824
0
(1,177)
(50)
(44)

14,871
29,816
0
(1,385)
(658)
(69)

13,318
32,824
(1,203,170)
(63,207)
(50)
(3,660)

14,871
29,816
(1,447,160)
(74,805)
(658)
(5,607)

44,871

42,575

(1,223,945)

(1,483,543)

74,288

72,101

(1,194,528)

(1,454,017)

14
14
14
CF6

ec
tt

o

Provisions
Other Long Term Liabilities
Pensions liability - Police
Pensions liability - LGPS
PFI Finance Lease Liability
Long Term Liabilities

Au
di

Short Term Creditors (external)
Short Term Creditors (amounts owed by PCC to CC re CC share of external debtors)
Short Term Creditors (funding balance due from PCC to CC)
PFI Finance Lease Liability Due within 1 Year
Donated Inventories Account
Current Liabilities

t

9
9
9
9

Net Assets / Net (Liabilities)

Usable reserves
Police Fund
Earmarked reserves (revenue)
Earmarked reserves (capital)
Capital Receipts Reserve
Capital Grants Unapplied

19
8
8
7
7

bj

Unusable Reserves
Revaluation Reserve
Capital Adjustment Account
Pensions Reserve - Police
Pensions Reserve - LGPS
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account

20
20a
20b
20e
20e
20c
20d

Su

Total Reserves

The unaudited accounts were issued on 28 June 2021.
Signature removed for the purposes of publishing on website

Signed: ___________________________________
Roger Marshall, Joint Chief Finance Officer.

33 | P a g e
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Cash Flow Statement – PCC & Group
See
Note
Below

PCC
2019/20
£000s

Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the provision of services

Investing Activities
Financing Activities
Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Group
2020/21
£000s

3,599

3,638

34,647

30,607

CF1

(3,782)

(8,882)

(34,830)

(35,851)

CF2

0

85

0

85

CF3
CF4
CF5

(183)
3,817
160
3,794

(5,159)
766
182
(4,211)

(183)
3,817
160
3,794

(5,159)
766
182
(4,211)

(5,065)
(1,271)

(1,271)
(5,482)

(5,065)
(1,271)

(1,271)
(5,482)

(5,017)
(1,151)
0
372
(131)
(221)

(5,170)
(1,260)
0
163
(106)
(6,072)

(5,017)
(1,151)
0
372
(30,619)
(221)

(5,170)
(1,260)
0
163
(25,153)
(6,072)

(861)
(692)
823
2,266

100
(390)
(2,489)
1,969

(861)
0
0
2,266

100
0
0
1,969

4
(24)
45
805
0
0
0

0
(10)
3,963
450
0
(30)
0

4
(24)
0
0
105
0
316

0
(10)
0
0
(10)
(30)
(378)

(3,782)

(8,882)

(34,830)

(35,851)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

Group
2019/20
£000s

Au
di

Adjustment to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for noncash movements
Adjustment for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the
provision of services that are investing and financing activities
Net cash (inflow)/ outflow from Operating Activities

PCC
2020/21
£000s

t

Cash Flow Statement (PCC and Group)

CF6

CF1 - The Adjustment to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services
for non-cash movements are made up as follows:

Su

bj

ec
tt

o

Depreciation & Amortisation
Impairment & Downward Valuations
Carrying amount of non current assets - sold
Grants applied to the financing of capital expenditure
Pension Liability (Contributions to/from Pensions Reserve)
Creditors - Change in Balance Sheet
Creditors - Change in Balance Sheet (Adjustment for Purchase of Fixed
Assets)
Creditors - Adjustment re CC Share of Debtors
Creditors - Adjustment re Balance of Funding due from PCC to CC
Debtors - Change in Balance Sheet
Debtors - Change in Balance Sheet (Adjustment for Purchase of Fixed
Assets)
Debtors - Change in Balance Sheet (Adjustment for Investment Interest)
Debtors - Adjustment re CC Share of Creditors
Debtors - Adjustment re Balance of Funding due from CC to PCC
Stock - Change in Balance Sheet
Donated Inventory - Change in Balance Sheet
Provisions - Change in Balance Sheet
Adjustment to net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for noncash movements
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Cash Flow Statement – PCC & Group
PCC
2019/20
£000s

Cash Flow Statement (PCC and Group)

PCC
2020/21
£000s

Group
2019/20
£000s

Group
2020/21
£000s

CF2 - The Adjustment for items included in the net surplus or deficit on
the provision of services that are investing and financing activities are
made up as follows:
85

0

85

0

85

0

85

Au
di

CF3 - The cash flows from Operating Activities include the following
items:
Interest received
Interest Paid

0

t

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment and Intangibles
Adjustment for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the
provision of services that are investing and financing activities

(167)
566

(25)
571

(167)
566

(25)
571

7,189
30,374

2,714
43,600

7,189
30,374

2,714
43,600

0
(33,374)
(372)
3,817

(85)
(45,300)
(163)
766

0
(33,374)
(372)
3,817

(85)
(45,300)
(163)
766

0

0

0

0

160
160

182
182

160
160

182
182

(25)
(444)
(802)
(1,271)

(21)
(663)
(4,798)
(5,482)

(25)
(444)
(802)
(1,271)

(21)
(663)
(4,798)
(5,482)

CF4 - The cash flows from Investing Activities are made up as follows:

o

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Purchase of short-term and long-term investments
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets
Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments
Other receipts from investing activities
Net cash flows from investing activities

ec
tt

CF5 - The cash flows from Financing Activities are made up as follows:
Other receipts from financing activities
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities relating to
finance leases and on-balance sheet PFI contracts
Net cash flows from financing activities

bj

CF6 - The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up as follows:
Bank current accounts
Short-term deposit with bank (overnight)
Investments in Money Market Funds (available on demand)
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

Su

Accounting Policy - Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand, petty cash and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and
cash equivalents may also include overdrawn balances at the bank where they are an integral part of cash
management. Generally, cash and cash equivalents will comprise, cash in hand, bank account balances, overnight
deposits and deposits with Money Market Funds which are repayable on demand without penalty or loss of
interest.
In accordance with the Commissioner’s funding arrangement with the Chief Constable, the Chief Constable is
funded on a cash basis, accordingly all cash and cash equivalent balances are recorded on the balance sheet of the
Commissioner.
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand or form an integral part of cash management.
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Notes to the Accounts
Index of Notes to the Accounts
Note Title

Page

bj

ec
tt

o

Au
di

t

Accounting Policies ............................................................................................................................. 37
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies .......................................................................... 37
Events after the Balance Sheet Date................................................................................................... 38
Assumptions made about the future and other Sources of Estimation Uncertainty ......................... 39
Expenditure and Funding Analysis ...................................................................................................... 40
Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature .................................................................................... 48
Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations................................. 49
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves .............................................................................................. 53
Property, Plant and Equipment ........................................................................................................... 55
Assets Held for Sale ............................................................................................................................. 62
Intangible Assets ................................................................................................................................. 63
Private Finance Initiative (PFI)............................................................................................................. 64
Leases .................................................................................................................................................. 66
Short-term Debtors ............................................................................................................................. 68
Short-term Creditors ........................................................................................................................... 69
Provisions ............................................................................................................................................ 69
Financial Instruments .......................................................................................................................... 72
Pensions .............................................................................................................................................. 72
Usable Reserves .................................................................................................................................. 73
Unusable Reserves .............................................................................................................................. 74
Related Party Transactions ................................................................................................................. 79
Members Allowances and Expenses ................................................................................................... 80
Disclosure of Remuneration for Senior Employees ............................................................................ 81
Employee Remuneration .................................................................................................................... 83
Exit Packages/Termination Payments ................................................................................................. 84
Audit Fees............................................................................................................................................ 85
Grant Income ...................................................................................................................................... 86
Income from Council Tax .................................................................................................................... 88
Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing ......................................................................................... 89
Capital Commitments.......................................................................................................................... 90
Minimum Revenue Provision .............................................................................................................. 91
Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted ................................. 91
Pension Challenge ............................................................................................................................... 92

Su

The notes to the accounts are provided to aid the understanding of material items within the core financial statements.
Where the figures provided are different for the Group and PCC Single Entity either separate notes will be provided or
a single note will show the respective figures in different columns, these will be headed Group or PCC. Where the
figures are the same for the group and single entity a single note is provided, this is headed up PCC/Group. As a general
rule, the column showing the figures for 2020/21 will be highlighted, whilst the comparatives for 2019/20 (where
provided) will not.
The notes sometimes include terms that may require further explanation. Where possible, explanations are provided
within the note, otherwise explanations are provided within the “glossary of terms” in pages 95-97. Terms for which
an explanation is provided will be depicted by text that is shown in teal coloured text and underlined.
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Notes to the Accounts
Accounting Policies
There are a number of accounting policies that determine how items within the accounts are treated. Where
these accounting policies relate to a particular note to the accounts, the accounting policy will now be shown
alongside that note in a grey text box. Where an accounting policy is more generic and applicable across the
statement accounts it will continue to be shown in a separate technical annex, Annex A (see pages 98-100).

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

Au
di

t

In applying the accounting policies as set out alongside the relevant note or in Annex A (pages 98 to 100), the
Commissioner has had to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty
about future events. The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are:

▪ There is a high degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for policing. However, the Commissioner
has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the
Commissioner might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision.

Su

bj

ec
tt

o

▪ The Commissioner is deemed to control the services provided under the PFI agreement in relation to the
West Cumbria TPA HQ at Workington. The accounting policies for PFI schemes and similar contracts have
been applied to the arrangement. The Commissioner has a number of options regarding ownership of the
PFI building beyond the initial 25 year contract period including the right to purchase the asset for half of its
market value at that time. In December 2015, the PFI building at Hall Brow Workington experienced flooding
for the second time in six years. The impact of the flooding on the building highlighted resilience issues for
the longer term in respect of both custody and deployment. As a result, options for the future provision of
the police estate in West Cumbria are under review and the capital programme for 2021/22 and beyond
includes an indicative scheme which seeks to address those resilience issues and provide a longer term
solution to the PFI arrangement. In accounting for the PFI contract it is assumed that there is reasonable
certainty that the Commissioner will exercise the right to purchase the building. Accordingly the PFI land and
building are recognised as property, plant and equipment in the Commissioner’s balance sheet at full value
of £7.3m. In addition, a liability for outstanding obligations to pay for the building, which includes the cost
of purchasing the asset for half its market value at the end of the PFI period are also shown on the balance
sheet. As the PFI contract approaches its end it may be necessary to reflect an additional liability to recognise
that the market value of the asset may exceed the construction cost.
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Events after the Balance Sheet Date
A post balance sheet event is an event, subsequent to the date of the financial statements, and for which
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure. Consideration has
been given as to whether any events meet the requirement to be disclosed as a post balance sheet event and it
has been concluded that no such matters require disclosure.

Au
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The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Joint Chief Finance Officer on 28 June 2021. Events
taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where events taking place
before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2021, the figures in the financial
statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.

Accounting Policy - Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between
the end of the reporting period and the date the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue which have
an impact on the financial statements and are treated as follows. Two types of events can be identified:

o Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement
of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events.

o

o Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts
is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a material effect,
disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the event and their estimated financial effect.

Su
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Events taking place after the authorised for issue date are not reflected in the statement of accounts.
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Assumptions made about the future and other Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the
Commissioner about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be
determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

t

The items in the Commissioner’s group balance sheet as at 31 March 2021 for which there is significant risk of
material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:
Uncertainties

Effect if Actual Results Differ from
Assumptions

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Land and buildings assets are revalued on a two year
rolling basis. Therefore the value of the assets that have
not been subject to valuation in the financial year may
not reflect the true value of that asset.

Au
di

Item

o

Each year the valuer conducts an impairment review,
whilst the valuer has concluded that there are no
impairments of land and building valuations as at
31/03/21, he has noted that “as a result of the covid-19
pandemic there is ‘material valuation uncertainty’ which
means that there is less certainty and more caution
needed with regards to the valuations”. The valuer has
advised the need to keep valuations under regular
review.

Revaluation gains and losses or disposal
proceeds in future years may be
significantly different than anticipated.
However, as all land and building assets
are subject to an annual impairment
review, and biennial revaluations, the
impact of this is thought to be
immaterial. The ongoing impact of the
covid-19 pandemic on property values is
being monitored.

ec
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At the balance sheet date 31 March 2021 the value of
property, plant and equipment was £64m.

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on
a number of complex judgements relating to the discount
rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to
increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and
expected returns on pension fund assets. Two firms of
consulting actuaries are engaged to provide the
Commissioner with expert advice about the assumptions
to be applied for both the Police Pension Scheme
(Government Actuaries Department) and the Local
Government Pension Scheme (Mercer Ltd).

The effects on the net pension liability of
changes in individual assumptions can be
measured. Examples of the impact of
changes in individual assumptions is
included in the sensitivity analysis
provided in the technical annex to the
accounts (Annex C) Pension Disclosures
(pages 107-118).

bj

Pensions
Liability

Su

At the balance sheet date, the liability in respect of the
LGPS pension scheme was £75m and for the police
pension scheme was £1,447m.

In relation to the Local Government Pension Scheme
there is a material estimation uncertainty around
the value of property assets held in the pension
scheme as a result of the global Covid-19 pandemic.
In relation to the Police Pension Schemes there is
estimation uncertainty with regards to the proposed
remedy in relation to the McCloud Sergeant
Judgement.
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Expenditure and Funding Analysis
This note shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants, council tax
precepts) by the Commissioner in comparison with those resources consumed or earned in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making
purposes between subjective headings. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted
accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

t

Due to the size of the statements, the positions for the Group and the PCC are shown in separate tables.

Expenditure and Funding
Analysis (Group)

Group 2020/21
As reported for Adjustment to arrive Net Expenditure
resource
at the net amount
Chargeable to
management
chargeable to the the Police Fund
Police Fund balance
balance
(Note 5)
£000s

£000s

89,877
2,533
26,121
3,119
4,640
2,114
12,665
6,779
6,219
(5,227)
(28,816)
0
139
120,163

£000s

Other Income and Expenditure

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services

bj

£000s

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000s

(5,710)
204
2,187
0
0
0
0
0
5,382
0
0
53
0
2,116

84,167
2,737
28,308
3,119
4,640
2,114
12,665
6,779
6,431
(5,227)
(28,816)
53
139
117,109

(114,920)

0

(114,920)

28,418

(86,502)

5,243

(5,170)

73

30,534

30,607

o

89,877
2,533
26,121
3,119
4,640
2,114
12,665
6,779
1,049
(5,227)
(28,816)
0
139
114,993

Police Fund

(3,000)
(600)
(3,600)

Earmarked Revenue
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Reserves
(14,332)
673
(13,659)

(4,294)
0
(4,294)

Total
(21,626)
73
(21,553)

Su

Opening Police Fund Balance 1 April 2020
Less Deficit on Police Fund Balance in Year
Closing Police Fund Balance at 31 March 2021

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
Basis (Note 7)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(5,170)
0
0
0
0
(5,170)

ec
tt

Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
PCSO Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Other Employee Budgets
Premises Related Expenditure
Transport Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services Expenditure
Third Party Related Expenditure
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Income from Fees & Charges
Grants & Contributions
Non distributed costs
Termination Payments
Net Cost of Services

Au
di

The figures for the group in 2020/21 are provided in the table below:
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The comparative figures for the group in 2019/20 are provided in the table below:

(109,266)
5,301

Police Fund

86,201
2,560
23,705
3,053
4,246
2,295
11,216
3,785
2,424
(6,351)
(23,626)
0
42
109,550

0

(3,000)
0
(3,000)

(3,500)
(367)
3,983
0
0
0
0
0
3,744
0
0
(2,586)
0
1,274

82,701
2,193
27,688
3,053
4,246
2,295
11,216
3,785
6,168
(6,351)
(23,626)
(2,586)
42
110,824

(109,266)

33,089

(76,177)

(5,017)

284

34,363

34,647

Earmarked Revenue
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Reserves
(8,276)
(6,056)
(14,332)

Total

(10,634)
6,340
(4,294)

(21,910)
284
(21,626)

Su
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Opening Police Fund Balance 1 April 2019
Less Deficit on Police Fund Balance in Year
Closing Police Fund Balance at 31 March 2020

£000s

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(5,017)
0
0
0
0
(5,017)

ec
tt

(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services

86,201
2,560
23,705
3,053
4,246
2,295
11,216
3,785
7,441
(6,351)
(23,626)
0
42
114,567

£000s

o

Other Income and Expenditure

£000s

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000s

t

£000s
Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
PCSO Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Other Employee Budgets
Premises Related Expenditure
Transport Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services Expenditure
Third Party Related Expenditure
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Income from Fees & Charges
Grants & Contributions
Non distributed costs
Termination Payments
Net Cost of Services

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
Basis (Note 7)

Au
di

Expenditure and Funding
Analysis (Group)

Group 2019/20
As reported for Adjustment to arrive Net Expenditure
resource
at the net amount
Chargeable to
management
chargeable to the the Police Fund
Police Fund balance
balance
(Note 5)
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The figures for the PCC in 2020/21 are provided in the table below:

(114,920)
5,243

£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(5,170)
0
0
0
0
(5,170)

19,190
1,086
73
(1,204)
(869)
(2,287)
5,071
2,971
(5,227)
(28,816)
(80)
125,085
114,993

0
(5,170)

(114,920)
73

o

Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services

19,190
1,086
73
(1,204)
(869)
(2,287)
5,071
8,141
(5,227)
(28,816)
(80)
125,085
120,163

£000s

Earmarked Revenue
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Reserves

ec
tt

Police Fund

(3,000)
(600)
(3,600)

0
79
0
0
0
0
0
3,460
0
0
0
0
3,539

19,190
1,165
73
(1,204)
(869)
(2,287)
5,071
6,431
(5,227)
(28,816)
(80)
125,085
118,532

26
3,565

(114,894)
3,638

(14,332)
673
(13,659)

Total

(4,294)
0
(4,294)

(21,626)
73
(21,553)

Su

bj

Opening Police Fund Balance 1 April 2019
Less Deficit on Police Fund Balance in Year
Closing Police Fund Balance at 31 March 2020

£000s

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000s

t

£000s
Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Other Employee Budgets
Premises Related Expenditure
Transport Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services Expenditure
Third Party Related Expenditure
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Income from Fees & Charges
Grants & Contributions
Non distributed costs
Funding Provided by PCC to CC
Net Cost of Services

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
Basis (Note 7)

Au
di

Expenditure and Funding
Analysis (PCC)

PCC 2020/21
As reported for Adjustment to arrive Net Expenditure
resource
at the net amount
Chargeable to
management
chargeable to the the Police Fund
Police Fund balance
balance
(Note 5)
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The comparative figures for the PCC in 2019/20 are provided in the table below:

(109,266)
5,301

£000s
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(5,017)
0
0
0
0
(5,017)

19,942
1,625
49
(1,182)
(944)
(2,142)
2,289
2,984
(6,351)
(23,626)
(658)
117,564
109,550

0
(5,017)

(109,266)
284

o

Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services

19,942
1,625
49
(1,182)
(944)
(2,142)
2,289
8,001
(6,351)
(23,626)
(658)
117,564
114,567

£000s

Earmarked Revenue
Earmarked
Reserves
Capital Reserves

ec
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Police Fund

(3,000)
0
(3,000)

0
83
0
0
0
0
0
3,184
0
0
16
0
3,283

19,942
1,708
49
(1,182)
(944)
(2,142)
2,289
6,168
(6,351)
(23,626)
(642)
117,564
112,833

32
3,315

(109,234)
3,599

(8,276)
(6,056)
(14,332)

Total

(10,634)
6,340
(4,294)

(21,910)
284
(21,626)

Su
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Opening Police Fund Balance 1 April 2019
Less Deficit on Police Fund Balance in Year
Closing Police Fund Balance at 31 March 2020

£000s

Net Expenditure
in the
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£000s

t

£000s
Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Other Employee Budgets
Premises Related Expenditure
Transport Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services Expenditure
Third Party Related Expenditure
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Income from Fees & Charges
Grants & Contributions
Non distributed costs
Funding Provided by PCC to CC
Net Cost of Services

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
Basis (Note 7)

Au
di

Expenditure and Funding
Analysis (PCC)

PCC 2019/20
As reported for Adjustment to arrive Net Expenditure
resource
at the net amount
Chargeable to
management
chargeable to the the Police Fund
Police Fund balance
balance
(Note 5)
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5.a

Note to the Expenditure Funding Analysis
This note provides a reconciliation of the main adjustments to net expenditure chargeable to the Police Fund to
arrive at the amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (pages 29-30). The relevant
transfers between reserves are explained in the Movement in Reserves Statement (pages 31-32).
The figures for the Group for 2020/21 are set out in the table below:

£000s

£000s

Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
PCSO Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Non distributed costs
Net Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of
Services

Group 2020/21
Total to arrive Adjustment for Net change for
Other
Total
at amount
capital
the Pensions Differences
Adjustment
charged to the
purposes
Adjustment
Between funding
Police Fund
(See below)
(See below) (See below) and accounting
basis
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

t

Rental
Income

0
0
0
(5,170)
0
(5,170)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

(5,170)

0

0
0
0
(5,170)
0
(5,170)

0
0
0
2,826
0
2,826

(5,710)
204
2,187
0
53
(3,266)

0
0
0
2,556
0
2,556

(5,710)
204
2,187
5,382
53
2,116

0

0

28,418

0

28,418

(5,170)

2,826

25,152

2,556

30,534

5,170
(608)
1,260
(2,748)
(163)
(85)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,826

0
0
0
0
0
0
27,010
(34,370)
28,660
4,772
(3,364)
(3,983)
6,375
53
0
0
25,153

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
608
1,947
2,555

5,170
(608)
1,260
(2,748)
(163)
(85)
27,010
(34,370)
28,660
4,772
(3,364)
(3,983)
6,375
53
608
1,947
30,534

Su

bj
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Further Analysis of Adjustments
Depreciation/Amortisation
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Revaluations
Direct Revenue Contribution
Capital Grant Reversal
Pofit & Loss on Sale of FA
Police Pensions - Interest on Liabilities
Police Pensions - Reverse Employer Contributions
Police Pensions - Current Service Cost
LGPS - Interest on Liabilities
LGPS - Return on Plan Assets
LGPS - Reverse Employer Contributions
LGPS - Current Service Cost
LGPS - Non Distributed Costs
Collection Fund Adjustment
Accumulated Absences Account Adj
Total Adjustments

Au
di

Depreciation

o

Note to the Expenditure
and Funding Analysis
(Group)
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The comparative figures for the Group for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:

£000s

£000s

Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Officer Pay & Allowances
PCSO Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Non distributed costs
Net Cost of Services
Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of
Services

Group 2019/20
Total to arrive Adjustment for Net change for
Other
Total
at amount
capital
the Pensions Differences
Adjustment
charged to the
purposes
Adjustment
Between funding
Police Fund
(See below)
(See below) (See below) and accounting
basis
£000s

0
0
0
(5,017)
0
(5,017)

0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

(5,017)

0

£000s

£000s

£000s

0
0
0
(5,017)
0
(5,017)

0
0
0
3,148
0
3,148

(3,500)
(367)
3,983
0
(2,586)
(2,470)

0
0
0
596
0
596

(3,500)
(367)
3,983
3,744
(2,586)
1,274

0

0

33,089

0

33,089

(5,017)

3,148

30,619

596

34,363

5,017
(486)
1,151
(2,162)
(372)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,148

0
0
0
0
0
31,780
(34,130)
30,630
(3,260)
4,973
(3,664)
(3,135)
6,751
674
0
30,619

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
596
596

5,017
(486)
1,151
(2,162)
(372)
31,780
(34,130)
30,630
(3,260)
4,973
(3,664)
(3,135)
6,751
674
596
34,363

Su
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Further Analysis of Adjustments
Depreciation/Amortisation
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Revaluations
Direct Revenue Contribution
Capital Grant Reversal
Police Pensions - Interest on Liabilities
Police Pensions - Reverse Employer Contributions
Police Pensions - Current Service Cost
Police Pensions - Non Distributed Costs
LGPS - Interest on Liabilities
LGPS - Return on Plan Assets
LGPS - Reverse Employer Contributions
LGPS - Current Service Cost
LGPS - Non Distributed Costs
Accumulated Absences Account Adj
Total Adjustments

£000s

t

Rental
Income

Au
di

Depreciation

o

Note to the Expenditure
and Funding Analysis
(Group)
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The figures for the PCC for 2020/21 are set out in the table below:

Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of
Services

£000s

£000s

PCC 2020/21
Total to arrive Adjustment for Net change for
Other
Total
at amount
capital
the Pensions Differences
Adjustment
charged to the
purposes
Adjustment
Between funding
Police Fund
(See below)
(See below) (See below) and accounting
basis
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

0
(5,170)
(5,170)

0
0
0

0

0

(5,170)

0

0
(5,170)
(5,170)

0
2,826
2,826

79
0
79

0
634
634

79
3,460
3,539

0

0

26

0

26

(5,170)

2,826

105

634

3,565

5,170
(608)
1,260
(2,748)
(163)
(85)
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,826

0
0
0
0
0
0
102
(76)
(89)
169
0
0
106

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
608
25
633

5,170
(608)
1,260
(2,748)
(163)
(85)
102
(76)
(89)
169
608
25
3,565

Su
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Further Analysis of Adjustments
Depreciation/Amortisation
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Revaluations
Direct Revenue Contribution
Capital Grant Reversal
Pofit & Loss on Sale of FA
LGPS - Interest on Liabilities
LGPS - Return on Plan Assets
LGPS - Reverse Employer Contributions
LGPS - Current Service Cost
Collection Fund Adjustment
Accumulated Absences Account Adj
Total Adjustments

t

Rental
Income

Au
di

Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Net Cost of Services

Depreciation

o

Note to the Expenditure
and Funding Analysis
(PCC)
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The comparative figures for the PCC for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:

Other Income and Expenditure
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of
Services

£000s

£000s

PCC 2019/20
Total to arrive Adjustment for Net change for
Other
Total
at amount
capital
the Pensions Differences
Adjustment
charged to the
purposes
Adjustment
Between funding
Police Fund
(See below)
(See below) (See below) and accounting
basis
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

0
(5,017)
0
(5,017)

0
0
0
0

0

0

(5,017)

0

0
(5,017)
0
(5,017)

0
3,148
0
3,148

83
0
16
99

0
36
0
36

83
3,184
16
3,283

0

0

32

0

32

(5,017)

3,148

131

36

3,315

5,017
(486)
1,151
(2,162)
(372)
0
0
0
0
0
0
3,148

0
0
0
0
0
135
(103)
(75)
158
16
0
131

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
36
36

5,017
(486)
1,151
(2,162)
(372)
135
(103)
(75)
158
16
36
3,315

Su
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Further Analysis of Adjustments
Depreciation/Amortisation
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
Revaluations
Direct Revenue Contribution
Capital Grant Reversal
LGPS - Interest on Liabilities
LGPS - Return on Plan Assets
LGPS - Reverse Employer Contributions
LGPS - Current Service Cost
LGPS - Non Distributed Costs
Accumulated Absences Account Adj
Total Adjustments

t

Rental
Income

Au
di

Cost of Policing & Crime Services
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Non distributed costs
Net Cost of Services

Depreciation

o

Note to the Expenditure
and Funding Analysis
(PCC)
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Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature
This note provides an analysis of the expenditure and income by the nature of that spend/income.
PCC
2019/20
£000s

(6,351)
0
(3,684)
(143)
(687)
(19,942)
(30,807)

bj

Use of Reserves
Transfer to Earmarked Reserves (Revenue)
Transfer from Earmarked Reserves (Capital)
Transfer to General Reserves

Su

External Financing
Income from Council Tax
Collection Fund Adjustment
General Government Grants
- Home Office Police Grant
- Home Office Capital Grant & Other Capital Grants
- Council Tax Grants (Freeze & Support)
Formula Funding
Total
Deficit on the Provision of Services

Group
2020/21
£000s

86,201
2,560
23,046
3,054
4,246
2,295
11,216
3,785
584
(57)
2,424
3,244
(2,586)
42
0
140,054

89,877
2,533
26,121
3,119
4,640
2,114
12,665
6,779
562
(175)
1,656
(53)
53
139
0
150,030

(5,227)
0
(9,626)
(15)
(687)
(19,190)
(34,745)

(6,351)
0
(3,684)
(143)
(687)
(19,942)
(30,807)

(5,227)
0
(9,626)
(15)
(687)
(19,190)
(34,745)

6,056
(6,340)
0
(284)

(673)
0
600
(73)

6,056
(6,340)
0
(284)

(673)
0
600
(73)

(43,799)
0

(45,162)
(608)

(43,799)
0

(45,162)
(608)

(28,935)
(372)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(108,963)

(31,207)
(163)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(115,212)

(28,935)
(372)
(4,850)
(31,007)
(108,963)

(31,207)
(163)
(4,850)
(33,222)
(115,212)

0

0

0

0

t

19,190
0
1,086
73
(1,204)
(869)
(2,287)
5,071
562
(175)
3,578
(80)
0
0
125,085
150,030

ec
tt

Income
Income from Fees & Charges
Investment Property Rental Income
Income from Grant & Contributions
Interest & Investment Income
PFI Grant
Pensions Top Up grant (Home Office)
Total Income

19,942
0
966
50
(1,182)
(944)
(2,142)
2,289
584
(57)
2,984
(16)
16
0
117,564
140,054

o

Expenditure
Police Pay & Allowances
PCSO Pay & Allowances
Police Staff Pay & Allowances
Other Employee Costs
Premises Related Costs
Transport Related Costs
Supplies & Services
Third Party Payments
External Interest
Loss on the Disposal of Assets
Technical Accounting Adjustments
Pension Adjustments
Non Distributed Costs
Termination Payments
Funding Between PCC & CC
Total Expenditure

Group
2019/20
£000s

Au
di

Expenditure and Income

PCC
2020/21
£000s
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Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised
by the Commissioner in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that are
specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Commissioner to meet future capital and revenue
expenditure.
The figures for the Group for 2020/21 are set out in the table below:

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Group
Police
Fund
Balance
£000s

Group
Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000s

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance
with statutory requirements:
- Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions
20e/
Reserve)
Annex C
- Council tax (transfers to or from Collection Fund)
20c/28
- Holiday Pay (transfers to or from Accumulated Absences
Account)
20d
- Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure
(these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment
Account)
9
Total Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

0
0

0
0

25,153
608

1,947

0

0

1,947

6,267
33,975

0
0

163
163

6,430
34,138

9e

(85)

85

0

0

31

(608)

0

0

(608)

29a

(2,748)

0

0

(2,748)

(3,441)

85

0

(3,356)

0
0

0
0

(66)
(66)

(66)
(66)

30,534

85

97

30,716

o

bj

Adjustments to Capital Resources
- Application of capital grants to finance capital
expenditure
Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

Su

Total Adjustments

Group
Total
Usable
Reserves
£000s

25,153
608

ec
tt

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources
- Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue
to the Capital Receipts Reserve
- Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (MRP)
(transfer from the Capital Adjustment Account)
- Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account)
Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Group
Capital
Grants
Unapplied
£000s

t

Note

Au
di

Adjustments between Accounting
Basis and Funding Basis Under
Regulations

20b
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The comparative figures for the Group for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:

Adjustments between Accounting
Basis and Funding Basis Under
Regulations

Note

Group
Police
Fund
Balance
£000s

Group
Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000s

Group
Capital
Grants
Unapplied
£000s

Group
Total
Usable
Reserves
£000s

30,619
0

0
0

0
0

30,619
0

596

0

0

596

5,796
37,011

0
0

372
372

6,168
37,383

9e

0

0

0

0

31

(486)

0

0

(486)

(2,162)

0

0

(2,162)

(2,648)

0

0

(2,648)

0
0

0
0

(821)
(821)

(821)
(821)

34,363

0

(449)

33,914

ec
tt

o

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources
- Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue
to the Capital Receipts Reserve
- Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (MRP)
(transfer from the Capital Adjustment Account)
- Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account)
Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Au
di

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance
with statutory requirements:
- Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions
20e/
Reserve)
Annex C
- Council tax (transfers to or from Collection Fund)
20c/29
- Holiday Pay (transfers to or from Accumulated Absences
Account)
20d
- Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure
(these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment
Account)
9
Total Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

t

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Adjustments to Capital Resources
- Application of capital grants to finance capital
expenditure
Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

20b

Su

bj

Total Adjustments

29a
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The figures for the PCC for 2020/21 are set out in the table below:

Adjustments between Accounting
Basis and Funding Basis Under
Regulations

Note

PCC
Police
Fund
Balance
£000s

PCC
Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000s

PCC
Capital
Grants
Unapplied
£000s

PCC
Total
Usable
Reserves
£000s

106
608

0
0

0
0

106
608

25

0

0

25

6,267
7,006

0
0

163
163

6,430
7,169

9e

(85)

85

0

0

31

(608)

0

0

(608)

(2,748)

0

0

(2,748)

(3,441)

85

0

(3,356)

0
0

0
0

(66)
(66)

(66)
(66)

3,565

85

97

3,747

ec
tt

o

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources
- Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue
to the Capital Receipts Reserve
- Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (MRP)
(transfer from the Capital Adjustment Account)
- Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account)
Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Au
di

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance
with statutory requirements:
- Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions
20e/
Reserve)
Annex C
- Council tax (transfers to or from Collection Fund)
20c/29
- Holiday Pay (transfers to or from Accumulated Absences
Account)
20d
- Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure
(these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment
Account)
9
Total Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

t

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Adjustments to Capital Resources
- Application of capital grants to finance capital
expenditure
Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

20b

Su

bj

Total Adjustments

29a
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The comparative figures for the PCC for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:

Adjustments between Accounting
Basis and Funding Basis Under
Regulations

Note

PCC
Police
Fund
Balance
£000s

PCC
Capital
Receipts
Reserve
£000s

PCC
Capital
Grants
Unapplied
£000s

PCC
Total
Usable
Reserves
£000s

131
0

0
0

0
0

131
0

36

0

0

36

5,796
5,963

0
0

372
372

6,168
6,335

9e

0

0

0

0

31

(486)

0

0

(486)

(2,162)

0

0

(2,162)

(2,648)

0

0

(2,648)

0
0

0
0

(821)
(821)

(821)
(821)

3,315

0

(449)

2,866

ec
tt
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Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources
- Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue
to the Capital Receipts Reserve
- Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (MRP)
(transfer from the Capital Adjustment Account)
- Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account)
Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Au
di

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance
with statutory requirements:
- Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions
20e/
Reserve)
Annex C
- Council tax (transfers to or from Collection Fund)
20c/29
- Holiday Pay (transfers to or from Accumulated Absences
Account)
20d
- Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services in relation to capital expenditure
(these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment
Account)
9
Total Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

t

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Adjustments to Capital Resources
- Application of capital grants to finance capital
expenditure
Total Adjustments to Capital Resources

20b

Su

bj

Total Adjustments

29a
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Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the Police Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide
financing for future expenditure plans and the movement on earmarked reserves during 2020/21 (and
comparatives for 2019/20).
Note PCC/Group PCC/Group PCC/Group PCC/Group PCC/Group
Balance Movement Balance Movement Balance

Revenue Reserves

Budget Stabilisation Reserves
Chief Constable's Contingency
Chief Constable's Operational Reserve
PCC Operational Reserve
Budget Support Reserve
Body Armour (Future Roll Out)
75% Tax Income Guarantee Scheme

1,186
256
1,089
0
2,531

92
9
619
0
720

1,278
265
1,708
0
3,251

5
6
7
8
9

500
250
250
2,840
191
0
4,031

0
0
0
4,834
46
0
4,880

500
250
250
7,674
237
0
8,911

0
0
0
(1,314)
50
383
(881)

500
250
250
6,360
287
383
8,030

10

bj

Su

Total Earmarked Capital Reserves

£000s

(37)
(18)
108
0
53

Total Earmarked Revenue Reserves

General Capital Reserve
Estates North Flood Management
Estates West Flood Management
Workington Land Purchase
HQ adaptations

31 March
2021
£000s

1,223
274
981
0
2,478

CO - Demand Risk Resourcing

Capital Reserves

in 2020/21

1
2
3
4

ec
tt

Short Term Project Reserves
Cumbria Road Safety Initiatives
Injury Pensions/ESA
The Bridgeway (SASS)
Safer Cumbria Delivery Board
HQ Security
Anti-Corruption Consultancy
Workforce 2025
Red Sigma (Durham Collaboration)
Business Intelligence
Business Transformation
Cohort Software
Learning and Development
Covid 19 Recovery

£000s

31 March
2020
£000s

o

Future Liability Reserves
Insurance Reserve
PFI - Lifecycle Replacements
Commissioned Services Reserve
Motor Claim

in 2019/20

t

01 April
2019
£000s

Au
di

Earmarked Reserves

269
0
750
84
80
0
0
407
143
34
0
0
0
0
1,767

(244)
0
(1)
(39)
50
0
0
(155)
(85)
1,141
25
195
236
0
1,123

25
0
749
45
130
0
0
252
58
1,175
25
195
236
0
2,890

0
0
4
(23)
50
0
0
(144)
(30)
(656)
(25)
(195)
457
50
(512)

25
0
753
22
180
0
0
108
28
519
0
0
693
50
2,378

8,276

6,056

14,332

(673)

13,659

3,215
3,628
3,497
0
294

(3,215)
(3,628)
503
0

0
0
4,000
0
294

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
4,000
0
294
0

10,634

(6,340)

4,294

0

4,294

11
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The purpose of the groups or individual reserves are as follows:
1. Insurance Reserve – to offset any insurance claims not specifically detailed in the insurance provision.
2. PFI Lifecycle Replacements – to equalise the impact on the comprehensive income and expenditure
statement of changing levels of grant income and charges over the period of the PFI contract.
3. Commissioned Services Reserve – to provide resources for future expenditure on existing

t

commitments under PCC commissioned services.

Au
di

4. Chief Constables Contingency – reserve held to meet an increase in budget pressure arising in year as
a result of budgeting risks taken during the budget process. The establishment of this reserve
supported a reduction in the ongoing revenue budget requirement.

5. Chief Constables Operational Reserve – to provide resources to assist in funding unexpected major
events, if necessary. The Home Office Financial Management Code recommends that there should be
an operational contingency.

6. PCC Operational Reserve – to provide resources both to back up the annual operational contingency
and, in addition, to assist in funding unexpected expenditure/budget pressures in line with the

o

Commissioner’s responsibilities. The Home Office Financial Management Code recommends that
there should be an operational contingency.

ec
tt

7. Budget Support Reserve – to meet the medium term risks associated with balancing the budget in the
context of current funding uncertainties and Covid-19.

8. Body Armour Future Roll Out – to equalise the impact on the comprehensive income and expenditure
statement of changing levels of expenditure due to the cyclical nature of body armour replacement.

9. 75% Council Tax Income Guarantee Scheme – as part of the Spending Review the Government
confirmed that it would compensate local authorities for 75% of irrecoverable losses in council tax and
business rates income in respect of 2020/21. This grant was recognised in 2020/21 and has been

bj

transferred to reserve to be drawn down over the next 3 years to smooth the effects of the increase
in council tax deficit which is being recovered from precepting bodies by district councils over a 3 year
period.

Su

10. Short Term Project Reserves – To support a variety of locally managed initiatives granted under the
scheme of devolved resource management. These are primarily multi-year technology based projects
or resources to provide funding for unbudgeted revenue costs within the 2020/21 or 2021/22 financial
year.

11. Capital Reserves – the capital reserve holds direct contributions from the revenue budget to fund
capital schemes within the capital programme.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
The table below summarises the movements in Property, Plant and Equipment during the year:
PCC/Group
Land

Vehicles

and
Buildings
£000s

£000s

IT

Furniture

Property,

Assets

and

Equipment

Plant &

Included in

Technology

& Plant

Equipment

P.P.E.

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Cost or Valuation
At 1 April 2020

PFI

58,466

8,746

17,284

4,074

0

1,206

1,262

169

0

0

0

t

Property, Plant and
Equipment

Total

7,698

2,637

0

0

126

2

0

0

377

120

0

0

0

(1,337)

0

(970)

(1,567)

0

(2,537)

0

0

0

0

(259)

0

8,982

16,979

4,243

87,577

7,820

(5,801)

(13,348)

(3,483)

(23,555)

(490)

(904)

(1,662)

(251)

(4,099)

(162)

970

1,567

0

2,537

0

0

0

0

1,177

307

272

0

0

0

272

0

(195)

0

0

0

(195)

(195)

(951)

(5,735)

(13,443)

(3,734)

(23,863)

(540)

At 31 March 2021

56,422

3,247

3,536

509

63,714

7,280

At 31 March 2020

57,543

2,945

3,936

591

65,015

7,208

Enhancements

126

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in
the Revaluation Reserve
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in
the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
Derecognition - Disposals
Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale
At 31 March 2021

377
(1,337)
0
(259)
57,373

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment
At 1 April 2020

(923)

Depreciation Charge

(1,282)

1,177

ec
tt

Depreciation as at 31 March 2021

0

o

Derecognition - Disposals
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation
Reserve
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on
the Provision of Services
Impairment written out to the Surplus/Deficit on
the Provision of Services

Au
di

88,570

Additions

Su

bj

Net Book Value

The Constabulary now has 7 electric vehicles on the fleet. Five of which
are livered and 2 are currently used as unmarked pool vehicles. These
vehicles are supported by a network of 14 electric vehicle charging
points at HQ and the main deployment centres.
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The comparative figures for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:
PCC/Group

Property, Plant and
Equipment

Land

Vehicles

Total

PFI

Property,

Assets

Under

Plant &

Included in

Construction

Equipment

P.P.E.

£000s

£000s

IT

Furniture

and

and

Equipment

Buildings

Technology

& Plant

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Assets

Cost or Valuation

Additions from Assets under construction
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in
the Revaluation Reserve
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in
the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
Derecognition - Disposals
At 31 March 2020

54,764

8,952

18,985

3,965

2,080

88,746

7,698

0

733

1,037

109

3,349

5,228

0

5,429

0

0

0

(5,429)

0

(193)

0

0

0

0

(193)

0

(1,534)

0

0

0

0

(1,534)

0

(2,738)

0

0

(3,677)

0

17,284

4,074

0

88,570

7,698

(14,209)

(3,089)

0

(23,427)

(328)

(1,877)

(394)

0

(4,498)

(162)

2,738

0

0

3,677

0

0

0

0

310

0

0

0

0

383

0

(13,348)

(3,483)

0

(23,555)

(490)

0

(939)

58,466

8,746

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment
At 1 April 2019

t

Additions

Au
di

At 1 April 2019

(362)

(5,767)

(1,254)

(973)

0

939

310

0

383

0

(923)

(5,801)

At 31 March 2020

57,543

2,945

3,936

591

0

65,015

7,208

At 31 March 2019

54,402

3,185

4,776

876

2,080

65,319

7,370

Depreciation Charge
Derecognition - Disposals
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation
Reserve
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on
the Provision of Services
Depreciation as at 31 March 2020

Su

bj

ec
tt

o

Net Book Value

Construction on the Eden Deployment was completed in January 2020 (design image)
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Accounting Policy - Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods and services, for
rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial
year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.

t

The cost of services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during
the year:
o Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant services.

Au
di

o Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the services where there are no accumulated gains in
the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off.
o Amortisation of non-current assets attributable to the services.

Council Tax is not required to be raised to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisations.
However, an annual contribution from revenue is required towards the reduction in the overall borrowing
requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis and determined in accordance with statutory
guidance. This contribution is known as MRP (Minimum Revenue Provision). Depreciation, revaluation and
impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by the contribution in the Police Fund Balance, by
way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for
the difference between the two.

ec
tt

o

In accordance with the Commissioner’s funding arrangement with the Chief Constable, the Commissioner holds
all non–current assets. Accordingly, all depreciation, revaluations and impairments are recorded in the
Commissioner’s single entity financial statements. However, the Commissioner makes a charge to the Chief
Constable for the use of non-current assets, which is equivalent to his share of depreciation.

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised on an
accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with
the item will flow and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add
to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged to revenue as
an expense through the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when it is incurred.
De-minimis levels have been set for capital projects at £25,000. No de-minimis level is set for individual items
within capital projects.

bj

Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
o The purchase price

Any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management

Su

o

Borrowing costs incurred are not capitalised whilst assets are under construction.
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement basis:
Category
Land and Buildings (Specialised)
Land and Buildings (Non Specialised)
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment
Assets Under Construction

Basis of Valuation
Depreciated Replacement Cost
Existing Use Value
Depreciated Historic Cost (as a proxy for current value)
Historic Cost

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value (i.e. not valued at historic cost) are revalued sufficiently
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the yearend, but as a minimum every five years.
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Measurement (continued)
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Gains
are to be credited to the relevant function line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where
they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a function up to the amount of the original loss,
adjusted for depreciation (if material) that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Au
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t

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their
depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful
life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:
o Land and Buildings - straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer up
to a maximum of 50 years
o Vehicles – straight line allocation over the estimated useful life (3 to 10 years)

o IT Equipment – straight line allocation over the estimated useful life (5 to 8 years)

No depreciation charge is made however in the year of acquisition but a full year charge is made in the year of
disposal. A full year’s depreciation charge is made in the year of revaluation of any asset.

ec
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Depreciation also has to be calculated on revaluation gains and is represented by the difference between
depreciation calculated at current cost and depreciation calculated at historic cost. The difference between the
two values is transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation
to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately (see component accounting section
below).
Once ICT equipment assets have been fully depreciated, at the end of their useful lives, the gross book value and
accumulated depreciation for those assets will be written out of the asset register. There will be no impact on
the core financial statements (balance sheet) as a result of this as the net book value will already be nil.

Su

bj

Component Accounting
Under the IFRS based code, separate recognition, depreciation and de-recognition of parts of assets is required.
This is often referred to as componentisation. Componentisation is a change that has to be applied prospectively
which means that it only needs to be considered for any non-current assets, acquired, improved or revalued after
1 April 2010. A componentisation policy has been established whereby all land and building assets with a value
in excess of £1m will be assessed to see if they contain a significant component. A significant component is defined
in the policy as one which exceeds £200k in value and has a different life to the remainder of the asset. Where a
component of a non-current asset is replaced or restored, the carrying amount of the old component shall be
derecognised and the new component reflected in the carrying amount. Each significant component of an item
of property, plant or equipment is depreciated separately. Depreciation is calculated on the balance brought
forward at the start of each year. Depreciation on the componentised assets will therefore only become effective
in the year following revaluation and subsequent split for componentisation.
Under the terms of the Commissioner’s funding arrangement to the Chief Constable all property, plant and
equipment is held by the Commissioner. Accordingly, all accounting entries in relation to the acquisition,
enhancement, revaluation, impairment, depreciation and sale of such assets are recorded in the single entity
accounts of the Commissioner. The Commissioner makes a charge to the Chief Constable for the use of such
assets which is equivalent to the Chief Constable’s share of depreciation.
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9.a Valuations Rolling Programme

Valuations Rolling
Programme
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The Commissioner carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment required
to be measured at current value is revalued every two years. Valuations of land and buildings are carried out
on behalf of the Commissioner by Mr. C. Smith BSc MRICS, Carigiet Cowen, Telford House, Riverside, Warwick
Road, Carlisle CA1 2BT and were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Valuations of vehicles,
plant, furniture and equipment are based on historic cost as a proxy for fair value. The basis of the valuations is
set out in the accounting policies. The table below sets out details of the land and buildings valuations
undertaken over the two year rolling programme.
PCC/Group

Land

Vehicles

and
Buildings
£000s

Carried at Historical Cost

£000s

Total

IT

Furniture

Assets

Property,

and

Equipment

Under

Plant &

Technology

& Plant

Construction

Equipment

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

8,982

16,979

3,838

0

30,059

Valued at Current Value as at:
- 31 March 2021
- 31 March 2020

30,754
26,359

0
0

0
0

0
405

0
0

30,754
26,764

Total Cost or Valuation

57,373

8,982

16,979

4,243

0

87,577

o

260
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Accounting Policy - Valuations
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for as follows:
o Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).
o Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down against the relevant function lines(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Su
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The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal
inception. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.
Revaluation gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the Police Fund. The gains and losses
are therefore reversed out of the Police Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the
Capital Adjustment Account.

Accounting Policy – Valuations Material Estimation Techniques
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements requires disclosure of any estimation techniques applied, such
that if a different methodology had been used a material variance in the amounts disclosed would have
been arrived at. For property valuations the only material estimation techniques used is as follows:

o All operational buildings are revalued on a rolling five-year programme and the estimation techniques
used are based on the “open market value in existing use” or in the case of specialised operational police
properties “depreciated replacement cost” which is consistent with proper accounting practice. The
professional valuer, Mr. C. Smith of Carigiet Cowen, applied these valuation methods.
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9.b Impairment Review

t

The Commissioner’s professional valuer, Mr. C. Smith BSc MRICS, Carigiet Cowen, Telford House, Riverside,
Warwick Road, Carlisle CA1 2BT, has made an assessment of the possible effects of material impairment to land
and buildings during the financial year. His assessment was based on a number of specific criteria, which, in his
opinion, could affect the valuation of assets. The outcome of the assessment process is the valuer has concluded
that there are no impairments. The valuer has concluded that as a result of the ongoing covid-19 pandemic
there remains ‘material valuation uncertainty’ which means that there is less certainty and more caution needed
with regards to the valuations. The valuer advises that the property valutions are kept under frequent review.

Au
di

Accounting Policy - Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is
recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows:

o Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

o

o Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of
the asset is written down against the relevant function line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.
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Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently by a revaluation gain, the reversal is credited to the
relevant function line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the
original loss, adjusted for depreciation (if material) that would have been charged if the loss had not been
recognised.
Impairment losses are not a charge against Council Tax. The balance on the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement arising from an impairment loss is appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account
through the Movement in Reserves Statement.

9.c Property, Plant and Equipment in the Ownership of the Police and Crime Commissioner

bj

A brief analysis of the Commissioner's principal assets as at 31 March 2021 is set out below:

Su

Property, Plant and Equipment in Ownership of
PCC
HQ, TPA HQ & Larger Police Stations
Other Police Stations
Police Houses and other Properties

PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
Number
Number
9
9

Surplus Properties/ Held for Sale/ Investment Properties
Vehicles

1
1
313

9
9
1
1
309
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9.d Effects of Changes in Estimates
There have been no material changes in estimates in the 2020/21 accounts.

9.e Gain / Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment
The table below analyses the (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Land and Buildings
Vehicles
ICT Equipment
Total

t

Net Book
Value
£000s

PCC/Group
Proceeds of (Gain) / Loss
Costs of Sale
Sale
2020/21
£000s
£000s
£000s
0
0
0
2
(92)
(90)
0
(85)
(85)
2
(177)
(175)
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Gain/Loss on Sale of Property,
Plant and Equipment

0
0
0
0

The comparative figures for 2019/20 are set out in the table below:

PCC/Group
Proceeds of (Gain) / Loss
Costs of Sale
Sale
2019/20
£000s
£000s
£000s
0
0
0
0
0
3
(60)
(57)
0
3
(60)
(57)
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Land and Buildings
Vehicles
Total

Net Book
Value
£000s

o

Gain/Loss on Sale of Property,
Plant and Equipment

Note in 2020/21 £92k (£60k in 2019/20) of receipts from proceeds of sale included in the above table were
individually below the £10k threshold for recognition as capital receipts and have therefore been treated as
revenue income. This explains why the capital receipts recorded in note 7 show £85k (£0k in 2019/20) rather
than £177k (£60k in 2019/20) as above.

Su
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Accounting Policy - Capital Receipts
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as Capital Receipts. The balance of
receipts is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital
investment or set aside to reduce the underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement).
Receipts are appropriated to the reserve from the Police Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.
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Assets Held for Sale
Assets held for sale relate to land and buildings assets that are available for immediate sale in their present
condition subject to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets. The assets are being actively
marketed for a sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value. The sale is expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. The table below
shows the movement on Assets Held for Sale in 2020/21 with comparative information for 2019/20.

Balance outstanding at start of year
Newly classified as held for sale
Balance outstanding at end of year

t
At 31 March 2021
there was one asset
classified as held for
sale: a former police
house in Kendal.
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Assets Held for Sale

PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
0
0
0

0
259
259
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Accounting Policy - Disposal and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale. The asset is
revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less cost to sell, the loss is posted to the
Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair
value are recognised only up to the amount of any losses previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on
Provision of Services. Depreciation is not charged on Assets held for Sale.
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to noncurrent assets and valued at the lower of:
o their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale. In this case the carrying amount is
adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they
not been classified as Held for Sale.
o

their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.
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Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale.

Su

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet
(whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on
disposal. Disposal costs are shown in other operating expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal). In line with Statutory Instrument 2010 No 454, disposal
costs of up to 4% of the sale proceeds are financed from capital receipts. Any revaluation gains accumulated
for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. The written-off
value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for
under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment
Account from the Police Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
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Intangible Assets
The Commissioner accounts for his computer software as intangible assets, to the extent that the software is
not an integral part of a particular IT system and accounted for as part of the hardware item within Property,
Plant and Equipment. The intangible assets include computer software development and acquisitions. All
software is given a finite useful life (5 years), based on assessments of the period that the software is expected
to be of use to the Commissioner. The carrying amount of intangible assets is amortised on a straight line basis
and is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
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A summary of the movements in intangible assets during the year and the position as at 31 March 2021 (with
comparatives for 2019/20) is set out in the table below:
PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Intangible Assets

5,836
(3,093)
2,743

4,835
(1,507)
3,328

Additions
Disposals

1,104
(2,105)

50
(534)

o

Balance at start of year
- Gross carrying amount
- Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount at start of year

(519)
0
2,105
3,328

(830)
(241)
534
2,307

4,835
(1,507)
3,328

4,351
(2,044)
2,307
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Amortisations for the period
Adjustment to Opening Balance
Amortisation adjustment re disposals
Net carrying amount at end of year
Comprising
- Gross carrying amount
- Accumulated amortisation

Intangible Assets are those
which do not have physical
substance but are
controlled as a result of
past events (e.g. software
licences) where
expenditure is capitalised
when it is expected that
future economic benefits
or service potential will
flow from the asset.
Amortisation is the
practice of reducing the
value of assets to reflect
their reduced worth over
time. The term means the
same as depreciation.

Su
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Accounting Policy - Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost amounts and are only revalued where the fair value of the
asset can be determined by an active market. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised
over its useful life (usually 5 years) to the relevant function(s) in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. Once intangible assets have been fully amortised, at the end of their useful lives,
the gross book value and accumulated amortisation for those assets will be written out of the asset
register. There will be no impact on the core financial statements (balance sheet) as a result of this as the
net book value will already be nil.
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory purposes,
amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted to have an impact on the
Police Fund Balance. The amortisation, impairment and gains and losses on disposal are therefore
reversed out of the Police Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital
Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds over £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve. An asset is
tested for impairment, whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired – any losses
recognised are posted to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
In accordance with the terms of the Commissioner’s funding arrangement with the Chief Constable, all
intangible assets are held by the Commissioner.
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Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) are arrangements to receive services where the responsibility for making
available the property, plant and equipment needed to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor.
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There is currently one PFI scheme recognised on the Balance Sheet and this relates to the West Cumbria
Territorial Policing Area HQ at Workington. Under the terms of the Commissioner’s funding arrangement to the
Chief Constable the Commissioner controls all property and, accordingly, the PFI building is recorded on the
Balance Sheet of the Commissioner. A charge is made by the Commissioner to the Chief Constable in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the Chief Constable’s use of the building and the services
provided.

The former Police Authority entered an agreement for the construction and subsequent servicing of the building
in September 2001 under a PFI arrangement. Under the agreement the PFI provider constructed the facility,
and undertakes to make the building available to the Commissioner in a specified condition for a 25 year period
in return for a monthly unitary charge payment made by the Commissioner. In addition the provider delivers a
range of services in relation to the building which are specified in the PFI contract. At the end of the contract
period the Commissioner has the right to acquire the building at 50% of its market value.

o

The PFI asset is recognised on the Commissioner’s balance sheet along with a corresponding PFI finance lease
liability which recognises the Commissioner’s outstanding liability to pay for the asset. The PFI asset is
depreciated and revalued in the same way as any other asset in accordance with accounting policies.
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The amount paid to the PFI operator each year (known as the unitary charge payment) is now split into four
elements in the accounts as follows:
• Service Charges – the fair value of the services received during the year which are debited to the relevant
function in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
• Finance cost – an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

bj

• Payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI operator (the
profile of write downs is calculated using the same principles as for a finance lease). However, a corresponding
increase in the minimum revenue provision is made in accordance with the Commissioner’s minimum revenue
provision policy.

Su

• Lifecycle replacement costs – a proportion of the amounts payable is posted to the Balance sheet as a
prepayment and then recognised as additions to Property, Plant and Equipment when the relevant works are
eventually carried out.

The following information is disclosed in relation to the PFI asset.

12.a Movement on Fixed Assets
The value and movement in value of the asset held under the PFI agreement is analysed in note 9 above.
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12.b PFI Finance Lease Liability
The value of Liabilities resulting from the PFI Agreement are shown in the table below:
PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
(4,745)
(4,585)
160
182
(4,585)
(4,403)

PFI Lease Liability
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Balance at the start of the year
Repayments made during year
Balance at the end of the year
Split of liability
Current Liability
Long Term Liability

(182)
(4,403)
(4,585)

12.c Payments Due to be made under PFI Contract

(206)
(4,197)
(4,403)

An estimate of the future payments to be made under the PFI contract are shown in the table below. Where
applicable an estimated inflation index of 2% (linked to the GDP deflator) per annum has been applied to the
payments.

o

PCC/Group
Interest
Service
Payments
Costs
£000s
£000s
538
573
1,843
2,408
156
274
2,537
3,255

Repayment
of Liability
£000s
206
1,133
3,064
4,403
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Payments Due under PFI
Contract
Repayable within one year
Between two and five years
Between six and ten years

Total
£000s
1,317
5,384
3,494
10,195

bj

The repayment of liability figures include a sum of £2,910k between 6 and 10 years which recognises that there
is reasonable certainty that the Commissioner will exercise his right to purchase the PFI building at the end of
the PFI contract period. See critical judgement note 2 (page 37) for further explanation.

Accounting Policy - Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts

Su

PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the
property, plant and equipment needed to provide the services passes to the PFI contractor. As the services
that are provided under the PFI scheme are deemed under the PFI contract to be controlled, the asset is
carried on the Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and Equipment.
The original recognition of these assets at fair value (based on the cost to purchase the property, plant and
equipment) was balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for
the capital investment.
Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are re-valued and depreciated in the same way as
property, plant and equipment.
In accordance with accounting practice, lifecycle replacement costs are now recognised when they are
actually incurred. The Commissioner receives specific government funding from MHCLG as a contribution to
the costs of financing the scheme.
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Leases
13.a Finance Leases
The Commissioner has no material finance leases to be disclosed.

13.b Operating leases
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The Commissioner utilises land and buildings and equipment assets under operating leases. The land and
buildings are typically short to medium term rentals of buildings. The figures do however include the lease of
land at Durranhill from Carlisle City Council upon which the North TPA HQ and custody suite was constructed.
This lease runs for a period of 125 years until March 2132 and the annual lease payments are currently £31k p.a.
The equipment includes livescan fingerprint machines and photocopiers.
The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

Future Minimum Lease Payments

o

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years.

PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
215
124
3,309
3,648

196
124
2,813
3,133
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The expenditure charged to the Net Cost of Police Services in relation to these leases was:

Lease Expenditure Charged to Net Cost of Police
Services

PCC/Group
2019/20
£000s

Su
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Minimum Lease Payments
- Land and Buildings
- Equipment

111
103
214

PCC/Group
2020/21
£000s
110
113
223

There are two categories of leases:
Operating leases are where the risks
and rewards of ownership stay with the
lessor and the annual rental charges are
charged through the CI&ES
Finance leases are where the risks and
rewards of ownership are transferred to
the lessee and where the assets are
recognised on the balance sheet of the
lessee.

North Cumbria Territorial Policing Area HQ – Carlisle
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Accounting Policy - Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and building elements are considered separately for
classification. Agreements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return
for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
specific assets.

Finance leases (as Lessee)
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of the
minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the
lessor. Initial direct costs are added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are
applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they
are incurred.

A finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).
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o

o

Lease payments are apportioned between:
o A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to write down the
lease liability, and

Property, plant and equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied
generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset’s
estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer at the end of the lease period).

bj

Council tax is not required to be raised to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on
leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual contribution is made from revenue funds towards the deemed capital
investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation and revaluation and impairment losses are
therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the Police Fund balance, by way of an adjusting transaction
within the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the
two.
Operating Leases (as Lessee)

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
as an expense of the functions benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or equipment. Charges
are made on a straight line basis over the life of the lease.

Su

o

Finance Leases (as Lessor)
o

There are currently no finance leases as a lessor.

Operating Leases (as Lessor)
o

Rental income received under operating leases are credited to the other operating expenditure line within
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, except where the property has been classified as
an investment property, in which case the income is shown in the financing and investment income and
expenditure line.
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Short-term Debtors
Debtors reflect amounts owing to the Police and Crime Commissioner but not yet received at the end of the
financial year.
A breakdown of the amounts owing to the Commissioner as at 31 March 2021 is set out in the table below:

t

Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
5,890
7,502
2,181
2,555
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Short-term Debtors

PCC
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
5,890
7,502
2,181
2,555
2,606
150
2,764
927

2,687
80
3,472
515

2,606
150
2,764
927

2,687
80
3,472
515

(18)
(1,239)
13,261

(14)
(1,567)
15,230

(18)
(1,239)
13,261

(14)
(1,567)
15,230

13,493
5,605
34,328

0
0
13,261

0
0
15,230

o

Trade Receivables
Prepayments/Payments in Advance
Other Receivable Amounts
- Police Pensioners Prepayment
- Employees (accumulated compensating absences)
- Council Tax - Local Taxpayers (#)
- VAT Reimbursement
Less Impairment Allowance for Doubtful Debts:
- Trade Receivables
- Local Taxpayers (#)
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Balances Owed From Chief Constable:
- Re CC Share of External Creditors
- Re balance of Funding
Total Debtors

9,530
5,155
27,946

Su
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# The debtors in respect of Local Taxpayers represent the Commissioner’s share of the debtors recorded by the
six Cumbrian District Councils in respect of Council Tax. This figure is reduced by the Commissioner’s share of
their respective impairment allowance for doubtful debts. In a new requirement from 2018/19 the
Commissioner must show the age profile of debtors in respect of local taxation. The table on the next page
provides this analysis.
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Debtors for Local Taxation
The past due but not impaired amount for local taxation (council tax) can be analysed by age as follows:

Council Tax Debtors

PCC/Group
31 March 2020 31 March 2021
£000s
£000s
57
27
377
646
1,657
2,764

65
31
551
805
2,020
3,472
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Less than Three Months
Three to Six Months
Six Months to One Year
less than One year
More than One Year

Please note, in the above table some district councils have provided the split of debtors over the wider
categories of: less than 3 months, 3 to 6 months, 6 to 12 months and over 1 year whilst others have simply
provided figures for under and over 1 year.

o

Short-term Creditors
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Creditors reflect amounts owed by the Police and Crime Commissioner for goods and services received
which had not been paid for at the end of the financial year.

An analysis of the amounts owed by the Commissioner as at 31 March 2021 is set out in the table below:

bj

Short-term Creditors

Su

Trade Payables
Receipts in Advance
Employees (accumulated compensating absences)
Council Tax - Local Taxpayers
Council Tax - District Councils
HMRC PAYE Amounts Due

Balances Owed to Chief Constable:
- Re CC Share of External & Employee Debtors
- Re balance of Funding
Total Creditors

PCC
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s

Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s

(3,916)
(155)
(3,809)
(831)
(744)
(2,367)
(11,822)

(6,234)
(961)
(5,687)
(1,037)
(1,526)
(2,449)
(17,894)

(3,916)
(155)
(3,809)
(831)
(744)
(2,367)
(11,822)

(6,234)
(961)
(5,687)
(1,037)
(1,526)
(2,449)
(17,894)

(4,927)
(6,781)
(23,530)

(5,317)
(9,270)
(32,481)

0
0
(11,822)

0
0
(17,894)
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Provisions
The Commissioner is able to maintain provisions to meet expected future liabilities. The Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting advises that the value of any provisions be charged to the appropriate part of the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in anticipation of the liability having to be met in the future.
The classification of provisions is consistent with the Code of Practice.
A brief description of the purpose of the individual provisions as at 31 March 2021 is provided below:
Insurance liabilities – this provision has been established to meet a number of eventualities from ongoing
claims which are not covered by external insurers. In particular, liability risks up to £100k per event (this
figure was £25k until 1 November 2014 when the policy excess was increased from £25k to £100k) are
retained by the Commissioner and met internally. The provision for insurance liabilities is subject to an
actuarial review on a bi-ennial basis to determine the most appropriate level for the provision based on
the circumstances at the time of the review.

▪

Legal Claims – this provision has been established to cover the potential costs relating to a number of legal
claims that are currently ongoing.

▪

Employee Related – This provision was established in 2018/19 to cover the potential costs in relation to
the capital ill health charge in respect of three cases where the constabulary was required to retire a police
officer on ill health grounds. Whilst the initial decision was made in March 2019, a potential to appeal the
decision meant that the ultimate cost would fall in to 2019/20. The provision has been utilised during
2019/20 and is now shown as having a nil balance.

o

Au
di

t

▪
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The table below shows the movements during the year on each of the group provisions and the position as at
31 March 2021.

Provisions

£000s
(362)
(655)
(1,017)

Additional Amounts Used
Unused
Provisions
in 2020/21
Amounts
Made 2020/21
Reversed in
2020/21
£000s

(95)
(480)
(575)

£000s

Balance
as at
31/03/21

£000s
95
102
197

0
0
0

£000s
(362)
(1,033)
(1,395)

Su

bj

Insurance Liabilities
Legal Claims
Total Provisions

Balance
as at
01/04/20
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The comparative information for year ended 31 March 2020 is as follows:

Insurance Liabilities
Legal Claims
Employee Related
Total Provisions

Accounting Policy – Provisions

£000s
(279)
(819)
(235)
(1,333)

£000s
(210)
(25)
0
(235)

£000s

£000s
127
145
234
506

0
44
1
45

Balance
as at
31/03/20
£000s
(362)
(655)
0
(1,017)

t

Provisions

Additional Amounts Used
Unused
Provisions
in 2019/20
Amounts
Made 2019/20
Reversed in
2019/20

Au
di

Balance
as at
01/04/19

o

Provisions are made when an event has taken place that gives a legal or constructive obligation that
probably requires settlement by transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, involvement in a court case that could
eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation.
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Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate function line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the year that awareness of the obligation arises, and are measured at the best
estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account
the relevant risks and uncertainties. Details of provisions made during the year are shown below.
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried on the Balance Sheet.
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year where it becomes less than probable
that a transfer of economic benefits will subsequently be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated
is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant function.

Su

bj

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another
party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received if the obligation is settled.
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Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability
in another. The term covers both financial assets such as loans and receivables and financial liabilities
such as creditors and borrowings.

The disclosures include:

Au
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Under International Financial reporting Standards a full set of disclosure notes are required in respect of financial
instruments. These notes for the PCC/Group are included in Section A of a separate technical appendix at Annex
B on pages 101 to 106.

The Categories of Financial Instrument

•

Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments

•

Fair value of Assets and Liabilities Carried at Amortised Cost

•

Disclosure of the Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

o

•

ec
tt

Pensions

The PCC/Group participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for Police Staff and three pensions
schemes in respect of Police Officers. Under International Financial reporting Standards a full set of disclosure
notes are required in respect of Pensions. These notes for the PCC/Group are included in a separate technical
appendix at Annex C on pages 107 to 118.
The disclosures include:

Details of the pension schemes

•

A summary of accounting entries in respect of pensions

bj

•

Pensions assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet

•

Reconciliation of the Fair Value of scheme assets

Su

•

•

Basis for estimating assets and liabilities

•

A summary of principal assumptions used by the scheme actuary

•

Sensitivity analysis in relation to pensions

•

Impact on the Commissioner’s Cash Flows
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Usable Reserves
Usable reserves result from the Commissioner’s activities and are available to be spent in future years.

t

In addition to the Commissioner’s Police Fund, which the Commissioner aims to maintain at 3% of budgeted
expenditure, the following reserves are maintained and accounted for in line with the Code of practice.
Capital Receipts Reserve – this reserve is used to hold capital receipts until they are utilised to finance
capital expenditure or reduce borrowing.

▪

Capital Grants Unapplied Account – this reserve is used to hold capital grants until they are utilised to
finance capital expenditure.

▪

Capital Reserve – this reserve is a revenue backed earmarked reserve that has been set aside to fund
capital expenditure.

▪

Earmarked Reserves - The Commissioner has a number of earmarked reserves that exist both to provide
a contingency to cushion the effect of unexpected events and to provide a mechanism to build up funds
to meet expected liabilities. The Commissioner’s earmarked reserves have been formulated in conjunction
with the CIPFA guidance on Reserves and Provisions. Details of the earmarked reserves in existence and
a brief description as to their purpose is included in note 8 to the accounts (see pages 53-54).

o
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▪
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The movement in the Commissioner’s Group and Single Entity Usable Reserves is detailed in the Movement in
Reserves Statement (see pages 31 to 32), and the disclosure notes relating to Adjustments between the
Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under regulations (Note 7) and Transfer to/from Earmarked reserves (Note
8).

Accounting Policy - Reserves

Su

bj

Specific amounts are set aside as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves
are created by appropriating amounts out of the Police Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate
function in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back into the Police
Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against Council Tax
for the expenditure.
Reserves are classified in the Balance Sheet and the Movement in Reserves Statement as either ‘usable’
(those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and ‘unusable’ (those held for
technical accounting purposes). Under the Commissioner’s funding arrangement to the Chief Constable
all usable reserves are controlled by the Commissioner and recorded in the balance sheet of the
Commissioner.
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Unusable Reserves
Unusable reserves derive from accounting adjustments and are not available to be spent.

20.a Revaluation Reserve

Au
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Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments,
retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Commissioner.

The Revaluation Reserve contains the overall gains made by the Commissioner arising from increases in the
value of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible assets. The balance is reduced when assets with
accumulated gains are:
• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost,
• used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or
• disposed of and the gains are realised.
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tt

o

The Reserve records the unrealised net gain from the revaluation of non-current assets accumulated since 1
April 2007, the date that the reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated
into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. The balance is made up of individual credit balances
associated with specific assets and will be equal to the difference between the current value net book value
(NBV) and the historic cost NBV for all assets.
The movements on the reserve during 2020/21 and the previous year are set out in the table below:

Revaluation Reserve

bj

Balance at Start of Year
Upward revaluation of assets
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services
Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Servcies

117

1,553

13,318

14,871

Su

Balance at End of Year

PCC/Group PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
13,201
13,318
342
3,002
(225)
(1,449)
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20.b Capital Adjustment Account
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The Capital Adjustment Account (CAA) absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements
for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or
enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The Account is debited with the cost of acquisition,
construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to
convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis). The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the
Commissioner as finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. The account contains
revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the
Revaluation reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 7 provides details of the source of all the transactions
posted to the account apart from those involving the revaluation reserve.
The movements on the account during 2020/21 and the previous year are set out in the table below:

Capital Adjustment Account

Balance at Start of Year
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets
Revaluation gains/(losses) on Property, Plant and Equipment

PCC/Group PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
35,523
32,824

(4,099)
(1,260)

(519)

(1,071)

(6,168)

(6,430)

(6,168)

(6,430)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital financing

821

66

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged against the
General Fund

486

608

2,162

2,748

3,469
32,824

3,422
29,816
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Amortisation of Intangible assets

o

(4,498)
(1,151)

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year

Capital financing applied in the year:

bj

Capital expenditure charged against the Police Fund

Su

Balance at End of Year
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20.c Collection Fund Adjustment Account
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of Council Tax
income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from Council Tax payers
compared with the statutory arrangements.
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The end of year balance on the account reflects the Commissioner’s aggregate share of the Surplus/(Deficit) on
the Collection fund operated by each of the 6 district councils (or billing authorities) that has yet to be
distributed. The movements on the account during 2020/21 and the previous year are set out in the table
below:
PCC/Group PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
Collection Fund Adjustment Account
£000s
£000s
Balance at Start of Year
(50)
(50)
Amount by which council tax income credited to the Comprehensive Income and
0
(608)
Expenditure Statement is different from council tax income calculated for the
year in accordance with statutory requirements
Balance at End of Year

(50)

(658)

o

A further breakdown of the movement in year by district council, is provided in note 28 on page 88.
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Accounting Policy – Collection Fund
Council Tax is collected from local taxpayers by the billing authorities (district councils). The billing authorities in
England are required by statute to maintain a separate fund, known as the Collection Fund, for the collection and
distribution of amounts due in respect of Council Tax. The fund’s key features relevant to accounting for Council Tax in
the core financial statements of the billing authorities are:
o
In its capacity as a billing authority the council acts as agent; it collects and distributes Council Tax income on
behalf of the major preceptors (County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria) and itself.
While the Council Tax income for the year credited to the collection fund is accrued income for the year,
regulations determine when it should be released from the collection fund and transferred to the general fund
of the billing authority or paid out of the collection fund to major preceptors.

o

Up to 2008/09 the SORP required the Council Tax income included in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement to be that which under regulation was required to be transferred from the collection
Fund to the general fund of the billing authority. The Major precepting bodies were simply required to show
the precept received from the billing authority during the year.

bj

o

Su

From the year commencing 1 April 2009, the Council Tax income included in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement for the year shall be the accrued income for the year. The difference between the income
included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be
credited to the collection fund shall be taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling
item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Since the collection of Council Tax is, in substance, an agency arrangement, cash collected by the billing authority from
Council Tax debtors belongs proportionately to the billing authority and the major preceptors. There will be therefore
a debtor/creditor position between the billing authorities and each major preceptor to be recognised since the net cash
paid to each major preceptor in the year will not be its share of cash collected from Council Taxpayers.
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the share of cash collected in relation to Council Tax for
the year. A transfer has been made to the collection fund adjustment account to record the amount due to/from the
six districts (billing authorities) as at the year end. The debtors and creditors contained within the balance sheet now
shows the share of Council Tax debtors (less an adjustment for bad and doubtful debts), Council Tax creditors,
prepayments and a recognition of the amounts owed to or from the billing authorities.
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20.d Accumulated Absences Account
The short-term accumulated absences account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the Police
Fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave, flexi
leave, time off in lieu and rest day entitlements carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require
that the impact on the Police Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.

Accumulated Absences Account

Group
2019/20
£000s
(3,064)

Group
2020/21
£000s
(3,660)

Au
di

Balance at Start of Year

PCC
2020/21
£000s
(44)

t

PCC
2019/20
£000s
(8)

Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the
preceding year
Amounts accrued at the end of the current year

44

3,064

3,660

(44)

(69)

(3,660)

(5,607)

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in
the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(36)

(25)

(596)

(1,947)

Balance at End of Year

(44)

(69)

(3,660)

(5,607)

o

8

Su

bj
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Accounting Policy - Employee Benefits payable during Employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include
such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g.
cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for functions in the year in which employees
render service. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements, time off in lieu, flexi leave and rest
days in lieu earned by employees but not taken before the year-end, which employees can carry forward
into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the salary rate applicable at the balance sheet date. The
employee accrual is then reversed out through the movement in reserves statement so that it is not charged
against council tax.
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20.e Pensions Reserve
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The Pensions Reserves (LGPS and Police) absorb the timing differences arising from the different arrangements
for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding in accordance with statutory provisions. The
Commissioner accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised
to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.
However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Commissioner makes
employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly responsible.
The debit balance on the Pension Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past
and current employees and the resources the Commissioner has set aside to meet them. The statutory
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.
PCC
Group
LGPS Pensions
LGPS Pensions
2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
(1,384) (1,177)
(54,038) (63,207)

Pensions Reserve
Balance at Start of Year
Remeasurement of the net defined
pension benefit liability/asset

(102)

(3,570)

(7,745)

118,150

(222,690)

o

338

(7,836)

(59,150)

(55,670)

3,135
3,983
(63,207) (74,805)

34,130
(1,203,170)

34,370
(1,447,160)

(206)

(195)

(8,734)
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Reversal of items relating to retirement
benefits debited or credited to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement
Employer's pension contributions and
direct payments to pensioners payable in
the year.

75
(1,177)

89
(1,385)

Su
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Balance at End of Year

Group
Police Pensions
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
(1,296,300) (1,203,170)
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Related Party Transactions
The Commissioner is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals that
have the potential to control or influence the Commissioner or to be controlled or influenced by the
Commissioner. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Commissioner
might have been constrained in his ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit
another party’s ability to bargain freely with the Commissioner.

21.a Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary

21.b Central Government

Au
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The Police and Crime Commissioner has direct control over the Chief Constable’s finances, providing funding for
all running costs and taking responsibility for funding of all pensions' liabilities. The Commissioner is responsible
for setting the Police and Crime Plan. The Chief Constable retains operational independence and operates within
the funding arrangement set by the Commissioner, to deliver the aims and objectives set out in the Police and
Crime Plan.

Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Commissioner – it is responsible
for providing the statutory framework within which the Commissioner operates and provides the majority of its
funding in the form of grants. Grants received from government departments are set out in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement (page 29). Government Grants included within the Net Cost of Services are
detailed in note 27 below, the extent to which these grants are outstanding at the end of the year is recorded
in short-term debtors note 14.

o

21.c Members

ec
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The Commissioner has eight appointed Members, four who serve on the Joint Audit Committee and four who
serve on the Ethics and Integrity Panel. These members are required to declare any direct financial relationship
through outside bodies or companies with the Commissioner. No material transactions have been reported in
respect of the 2020/21 financial year. The total members allowances paid in 2020/21 are shown in note 22.

21.d Officers and Employees

Employees of the Commissioner and senior officers and staff of the Constabulary were asked to declare any
direct financial relationship through outside bodies or companies with the Commissioner. No material
transactions have been reported in respect of the 2020/21 financial year.

21.e Other Public Bodies

bj

The Commissioner’s transactions with the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme (administered by County
Council) are shown in the pension related disclosure notes included within the Technical Annex (Annex C) pages
107-118.

Su

The amounts received in respect of council tax income from the six Cumbrian District Councils are detailed in
note 28.

The Commissioner has included within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement his respective
share of costs in relation to collaborative arrangements with other forces/councils. In particular these include:

•

The PCC for Cheshire – North West Underwater Search Unit, Northwest Armed Policing Collaboration,
Northwest Strategic Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) and Regional Emergency Services Network
(ESN).

•

The PCC for Merseyside – Regional Crime Unit, Regional Intelligence Unit, Prison Intelligence Unit, Technical
Support Unit, Protected Persons Unit, Government Agency Intelligence Network (GAIN), Confiscation Unit,
Regional Assets Recovery Team, Operational Security (OPSEY), Cyber Crime, Regional Fraud Team, Regional
Insourced Forensic Science Services.
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The PCC for Lancashire – Regional Insourced Forensic Science Services and Learning & Development
Collaboration which came to an end on 30 September 2019.

•

Cumbria County Council – Shared Internal Audit Service.

•

Durham Constabulary – ICT Collaboration in relation to development of systems.

t

•

Members Allowances and Expenses

Members Allowances

PCC/Group
2019/20
£000s
22
7
29

PCC/Group
2020/21
£000s
47
2
49

o

Basic Allowance
Travel and Subsistence

Au
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The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires the disclosure of the total amount of members
allowances paid in the year. This is set out in the table below together with a comparative figure for the previous
year.
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The above table includes expenses for the four appointed members of the Joint Audit Committee, the four
appointed members of the Ethics and Integrity Panel together with travel allowances payable to independent
custody visitors. The table above includes the total costs of members and these apply jointly between the
Commissioner and Constabulary.

Su
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A full disclosure of allowances and expenses paid to individual members can be found on the Police and Crime
Commissioners website at: https://cumbria-pcc.gov.uk/finance-governance/allowances/.
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Disclosure of Remuneration for Senior Employees
The following tables set out the remuneration disclosures for Senior Officers and Relevant Police Officers whose
salary is more than £50,000 per year. The first table provides the information for 2020/21 and the second
provides comparatives for 2019/20.

The table below gives the PCC and Group information for 2020/21 in £000s.
Note Salary
Expense
(including
Allowances
Fees &
Allowances)

Notes:

232

2

3

Pension
Total
Contributions Remuneration
Including
pension
Contributions

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

66
83
83

12
15
15

78
98
98

0

0

0

0

232

42

274

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
1
0
1
4
4

3
0
3
2
0
0
0
3
3
0
0
0
14
14

170
129
129
128
87
88
177
97
98
75
91
90
1,359
1,591

2
38
0
37
16
16
47
28
28
22
25
16
275
317

172
167
129
165
103
104
224
125
126
97
116
106
1,634
1,908

7
7
0
7
0
0
0
1
2
1
2
1
28
28

97

o

1

160
122
126
119
87
88
80
92
92
73
89
88
1,216
1,448

Total
Remuneration
Excluding
pension
Contributions

97
97
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Total PCC
Shown in Single Entity Statements of Chief Constable
Chief Constable - Michelle Skeer
Deputy Chief Constable (a)
Deputy Chief Constable (b)
Assistant Chief Constable
Joint Chief Finance Officer
Director of Corporate Support
Director of Corporate Improvement
Chief Superintendent - Territorial Policing
Temporary Chief Superintendent - Crime Command
Superintendent - Head of People (a)
Superintendent - Head of People (b) (Temp ACC)
Director of Legal Services
Total CC
Total Group

66
83
83

Other
Payments
(Police
Officers
Only)

Au
di

Shown in Single Entity Statements of Police & Crime Commissioner
Police & Crime Commissioner
PCC Chief Executive (a)
4
PCC Chief Executive (b)
4

Termination
Benefits in
Pay &
Kind
Compensation
for loss of
office

t

Postholder Information
Post Title

Deputy Chief Constable (b) is seconded to the Police Officer Uplift Programme and associated costs are
reimbursed by other forces.

2

The Director of Corporate Improvement was made voluntarily redundant on 28/02/21.

3

Superintendent Head of People (b) was temporarily promoted to the rank of ACC for the period 11/01/21
to 31/03/21.

bj

1

The role of Chief Executive to the Commissioner is shared between two individuals each taking responsibility
for six months of the year. For the other six month period each will act as Deputy Chief Executive.

Su

4
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The comparative PCC and Group figures for 2019/20 in £000s, are set out in the table below:
Note Salary
Expense
(including
Allowances
Fees &
Allowances)

Notes:

Other
Payments
(Police
Officers
Only)

Total
Remuneration
Excluding
pension
Contributions

Pension
Total
Contributions Remuneration
Including
pension
Contributions

66
77
77
220

1
0
1
2

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

67
77
78
0
222

10
11
11
32

77
88
89
0
254

157
119
110
81
86
86
87
87
35
80
86
1,014
1,234

7
7
8
0
0
0
0
3
1
1
1
28
30

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
2
2

3
0
3
0
0
0
2
3
0
0
0
11
11

167
126
121
81
86
86
89
93
37
81
88
1,055
1,277

48
37
34
12
13
13
27
27
11
25
13
260
292

215
163
155
93
99
99
116
120
48
106
101
1,315
1,569

Au
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Shown in Single Entity Statements of Police & Crime Commissioner
Police & Crime Commissioner
PCC Chief Executive (a)
4
PCC Chief Executive (b)
4
Total PCC
Shown in Single Entity Statements of Chief Constable
Chief Constable - Michelle Skeer
Deputy Chief Constable
Assistant Chief Constable
1
Joint Chief Finance Officer
Director of Corporate Support
Director of Corporate Improvement
Chief Superintendent - Territorial Policing
Temporary Chief Superintendent - Crime Command
Superintendent - Head of People (a)
2
Superintendent - Head of People (b)
3
Director of Legal Services
Total CC
Total Group

Benefits in
Kind

t

Postholder Information
Post Title

The Assistant Chief Constable was promoted to ACC from Temporary ACC on 29/04/19.

2

Superintendent/Head of People (a) commenced employment with the Constabulary on 25/09/19.

3

Superintendent/Head of People (b) moved to be Superintendent TPA South on 08/10/19.

4

The role of Chief Executive to the Commissioner is shared between two individuals each taking responsibility
for six months of the year. For the other six month period each will act as Deputy Chief Executive.

Su
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1
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Employee Remuneration
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires the disclosure of the number of employees whose
remuneration, excluding pension’s contributions, exceeded £50,000 and senior police officers (defined as those
holding a rank above that of superintendent). This is set out in the table below in bands of £5,000:

bj

0
0
0
1
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3

2020/21
CC
CC
Group
Police Snr Police
Staff
Officers
Total
7
0
7
1
0
1
3
0
3
5
0
6
0
1
1
1
0
1
0
0
2
3
1
4
0
0
0
1
2
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
2
2
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
22
8
33

t

PCC
Police
Staff

Au
di

0
0
0
1
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
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£50,000 to £54,999
£55,000 to £59,999
£60,000 to £64,999
£65,000 to £69,999
£70,000 to £74,999
£75,000 to £79,999
£80,000 to £84,999
£85,000 to £89,999
£90,000 to £94,999
£95,000 to £99,999
£100,000 to £104,999
£105,000 to £109,999
£110,000 to £114,999
£115,000 to £119,999
£120,000 to £124,999
£125,000 to £129,999
£130,000 to £134,999
£135,000 to £139,999
£140,000 to £144,999
£145,000 to £149,999
£150,000 to £154,999
£155,000 to £159,999
£160,000 to £164,999
£165,000 to £169,999
£170,000 to £174,999
£175,000 to £179,999
Total

2019/20
CC
CC
Group
Police Snr Police
Staff
Officers
Total
6
0
6
1
0
1
4
0
4
3
0
4
0
0
0
0
0
2
1
0
1
3
1
4
0
2
2
1
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
19
6
28

o

Remuneration Band

PCC
Police
Staff

Su

In 2020/21 the remuneration for 171 Police Officers (108 in 2019/20) superintendent rank and below (who are
not required to be disclosed in the above note under regulations) exceeded £50,000.
The table above includes those employees and senior police officers that are also required to be disclosed on a
more detailed individual basis. Please see note 23 for more information.
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Exit Packages/Termination Payments
The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band and a total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies
are set out in the table below:
PCC/Group

PCC/Group

PCC/Group

PCC/Group

Number of Compulsory
Redundancies

Number of other
Departures Agreed

Total Number of Exit
Packages by cost band

Total cost of exit packages
in each band

2019/20
Headcount

2020/21
Headcount

2019/20
Headcount

2020/21
Headcount

2019/20
Headcount

£0-£20,000

1

3

3

0

4

£20,001 - £40,000

0

0

0

0

0

£40,001 - £60,000

0

0

0

0

£60,001 - £80,000

0

0

0

0

£80,001 - £100,000

0

0

0

£100,001 - £150,000

0

0

Total

1

3

2020/21
Headcount

2019/20
£000's

2020/21
£000's

t

Exit package cost band
(including special
payments)

42

10

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

1

0

129

3

1

4

4

42

139

Au
di

3

During 2019/20 the contracts of a small number of employees were terminated incurring termination payments
amounting to £139k (£42k in 2019/20). This amount is made up of exit packages paid in 2020/21.

o

The exit packages paid in 2020/21 amount to £139k (£42k in 2019/20). The exit packages can be further split
into compensation for loss of employment £106k (£42k in 2019/20) and enhanced pension benefits £33k (£0k
in 2019/20). The redundancies are as a result of the OPCC and Constabulary’s change programme.
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Accounting Policy - Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision to terminate an individual’s employment
before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy. These are
charged (on an accruals basis) to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement at the earlier of when the organisation can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when
the organisation recognises the costs for restructuring.

Su

bj

Where termination benefits involve enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the Police Fund
balance be charged with the amount payable to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement,
appropriations are required to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for
pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension
fund and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.
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Audit Fees
In 2020/21 the Commissioner and Chief Constable incurred the following fees relating to external audit services
provided by Grant Thornton UK LLP.
Group
2019/20
£000s

29

33

29

33

17

17

17

17

0
(4)
42

0
0
50

Au
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Amounts Relating to The Police and Crime Commissioner
Fees payable to Grant Thornton UK LLP with regard to external audit services
carried out by the appointed auditor.

t

External Audit Fees

Group
2020/21
£000s

Amounts Relating to The Chief Constable
Fees payable to Grant Thornton UK LLP with regard to external audit services
carried out by the appointed auditor.

ec
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o

Other Services
Fees payable in respect of other services provided by Grant Thornton during
the
year.
Rebate
from Public Sector Audit Appointments in year.
Total External Audit Fees for Year

Su

bj

The above table shows the gross fees payable to the external auditor during the year. In 2019/20 rebates of
audit fees of £3k for the PCC and £1k for the Chief Constable were received from Public Sector Audit
Appointments.
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Grant Income
The Commissioner credited the following grants and contributions to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in 2020/21.

Grant Income

372
31,007
4,850
28,935
687
19,942
85,793

163
33,222
4,850
31,207
687
19,190
89,319

103
352
1,184
243
0
0
0
0
576
0
269
2,727

346
364
1,174
1,417
777
2,663
425
20
893
383
286
8,748

343
352
99
163
957
3,684

315
355
108
100
878
9,626

Au
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Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income
Capital grants and contributions - General
Formula Funding (Home Office)
Council Tax Freeze & Local Council Tax Support Support (Home Office)
Home Office Police Grant
PFI Grant (Home Office)
Police Pension Grant (Home Office)
TOTAL

t

PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
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o

Credited to Services
Grants and Contributions - Central Government
Apprenticeship Levy (Home Office)
Criminal Records Bureau (Home Office)
Police Pension Contribution (Home Office)
Operation Uplift (Home Office)
COVID-19 Surge Funding & Loss of Income (Home Office)
ATOM Programme (Home Office)
Safer Streets Fund (Home Office)
Police STAR Board Grant (Home Office)
Victims Services (Ministry of Justice)
Local Tax Income Guarantee Compensation (MHCLG)
Collaborations (Various)

bj

Grants and Contributions - Other
NHS Funding (SASS)
Local Partnership
Youth Offending Team (Cumbria CC)
Safer Cumbria Delivery Board (PCC for Cumbria)

Su

TOTAL
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Accounting Policy - Government Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by installments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and
donations are recognised as due when there is reasonable assurance of:
o

compliance with the conditions attached to the payments, and

o

the grants or contributions will be received.

Au
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Amounts recognised as due are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until
conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that
the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution
are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must
be returned to the body making the grant or contribution.

Monies advanced as grants or contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried on the balance
sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant function
line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grants Income (non-ringfenced
revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

o

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed
out of the Police Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to
finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is
posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to
the Capital Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

Su

bj
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In accordance with the statutory responsibility of the Commissioner to maintain the Police Fund contained within
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, all grants are recognised in the accounts of the
Commissioner.
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Income from Council Tax
Precept- The demands made by the Police and Crime Commissioner on the district councils who are the
billing authority in relation to the collection of council tax.
The income from Council Tax for 2020/21 is received as precept from the six district councils as set out below:

8,230
5,282
9,187
5,568
5,456
12,047
45,770

t

(54)
(143)
(169)
(49)
10
(203)
(608)

8,176
5,139
9,018
5,519
5,466
11,844
45,162

PCC/Group
Adjustment
Re Debtors/
(Creditors)
£000s
48
0
(70)
13
66
(57)
0

Income
from
Council Tax
£000s
7,955
4,973
8,683
5,347
5,259
11,582
43,799

o

Allerdale District Council
Barrow Borough Council
Carlisle City Council
Copeland Borough Council
Eden District Council
South Lakeland District Council

Income
from
Council Tax
£000s

Au
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Council Tax Income

Precept
Paid
2020/21
£000s

PCC/Group
Adjustment
Re Debtors/
(Creditors)
£000s
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The comparative information for 2019/20 is as follows:

Council Tax Income

Su
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Allerdale District Council
Barrow Borough Council
Carlisle City Council
Copeland Borough Council
Eden District Council
South Lakeland District Council

Precept
Paid
2019/20
£000s
7,907
4,973
8,753
5,334
5,193
11,639
43,799
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Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
Capital expenditure can be defined as expenditure on the acquisition, construction or enhancement of noncurrent assets which adds to and not merely maintains the value of a non-current asset.

Au
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The commissioner approves on an annual basis a capital programme for the Constabulary. The capital
programme is fully funded for a four year period to tie in with the medium term financial forecast. The capital
programme covers the routine cyclical replacement of ICT equipment and vehicles and also includes specific one
off projects. Due to the cyclical nature of the majority of the capital programme, the programme is also
modelled at a high level over a 10 year longer term horizon. The capital programme for 2019/20 was approved
by the Commissioner at his Public Accountability Conference on 20 February 2020, papers for which can be
found on the Commissioner’s website.
The capital outturn report for 2020/21 was approved by the Commissioner on 2 June 2021 and can also be found
on the Commissioner’s website.
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below.

PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Technology Schemes
Computer Hardware & Infrastructure
Mobility & Digitisation
Wide Area Network (WAN)
Control Room Futures
Emergency Services Network (ESN)
Other Technology Schemes

o

Capital Expenditure

430
24
0
9
760
39
1,262

733

1,206

0
0
0
3,348
0
3,348

26
57
26
0
17
126

97
0
12
0
0
109

0
48
0
53
68
169

Intangible Assets

1,104

50

Total Capital Expenditure

6,331

2,813
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799
25
37
47
129
0
1,037

Vehicles Replacement Scheme

Su
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Building Schemes
Whitehaven Roof
Durranhill UPS
Heating, Ventilation & Colling Plant @ Durrnahill
Eden Deployment Centre
Other Building Schemes
Equipment Schemes
County Wide CCTV System
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR)
CCTV and Cell Call (Durranhill)
Accident Investigation Scanning Equipment
Taser Expansion
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29.a Capital Financing
The table below illustrates the resources used to finance capital expenditure. Where capital expenditure is to
be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Commissioner, the expenditure
results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred
historically by the Commissioner that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed below:

Capital investment
Property, Plant and Equipment
Intangible Assets
Sources of Finance
Government grants and other contributions
Sums set aside from revenue:
- Direct revenue contributions
- Minimum revenue provision

Au
di

Opening Capital Financing Requirement

t

Capital Financing Requirement

PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
19,348
22,210

o

Closing Capital Financing Requirement

ec
tt

Explanation of Movements in Year
Increase in underlying need to borrow (unsupported by government
financial assistance)
Notional/Internal Borrowing
Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement

5,227
1,104

2,763
50

(821)

(65)

(2,162)
(486)

(2,748)
(608)

22,210

21,602

(486)
3,348
2,862

(608)
0
(608)

Capital Commitments

bj

The Commissioner has outstanding contractual commitments amounting to £1,076k in respect of a number of
schemes from the 2020/21 capital programme (£1,076k in 2019/20).

Su

Outstanding Capital Commitments
Control Room Futures
Digital Policing
E Business
Vehicle Replacement
Case and Custody
CCTV and Cell Call (Durranhill)
Heating and ventilation plant
ICT Core Hardware
Eden Deployment Centre/Carpark
Other Capital Commitments
Total

PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s
318
175
0
0
79
0
128
1,526
0
38
26
0
0
0
236
114
238
86
51
0
1,076
1,939
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Minimum Revenue Provision
Regulations 27 and 28 of the Capital Financing and Accounting Regulations 2003 require the Commissioner to
make a provision from revenue for the repayment of any undischarged credit liabilities. This is referred to as
the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Additional voluntary contributions are permitted, which have the effect
of reducing the Commissioner’s Capital Financing Requirement.

Au
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In line with the Capital Finance and Accounting regulations a Statement of MRP Policy was approved in February
2017 as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement. The policy states that MRP will be calculated
using the regulatory method for debt incurred prior to 1 April 2008 and on the asset life basis for debt incurred
after this date. In respect of PFI assets brought onto the balance sheet under the 2009 SORP, the MRP provision
will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability.

The Minimum Revenue Provision charged for the year 2020/21 (and comparatives for 2019/20) is made up as
follows:

Minimum Revenue Provisions (MRP)
Core MRP
PFI MRP

326
160

426
182

486

608

ec
tt

Total MRP for Year

o

Minimum Revenue Provision

PCC/Group PCC/Group
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted
For 2020/21 the following accounting policy changes that need to be reported relate to:
• Definition of a Business: Amendments to IFRS3 Business Combinations.
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS7.
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16.

Su
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• Implementation of IFRS 16 Leases. The aim of the standard is to provide increased visibility of lease
commitments and to ensure more consistent financial reporting of leased assets. The current distinction
between assets held under finance leases which go on the balance sheet and assets held under operating
leases which are expensed in the CIES will largely be removed with most leases now being classified as finance
leases and put on the balance sheet. The standard was originally due to be implemented on 1 April 2020 i.e.
for the 2020/21 Accounts but this has now been postponed for 1 year so will come into effect for the 2021/22
Accounts. Under the new standard a right-of-use asset and lease liability will be recognised on the balance
sheet. The depreciation of leased assets and interest on lease liabilities will go through the CIES. The process
of collating information on leased assets is well underway but the resulting change in the balance sheet and
CIES values is not yet known, however there should be a net nil impact on the Commissioners accounts as
rental costs will be replaced with depreciation, MRP and interest charges at similar costs.
In the Financial Statements for 2022/23, the effect of the changes will be assessed and where necessary, the
comparative figures restated.

91 | P a g e
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Notes to the Accounts
Pension Challenge
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Legal Cases
The Chief Constable of Cumbria along with other Chief Constables and the Home Office currently has a number
of claims in respect of unlawful discrimination arising from transitional provisions in the Police Pension
Regulations 2015. The claims against the Police pension scheme (the Aarons case) had previously been stayed
behind the McCloud/Sargeant judgement, but a case management was held in October 2019, with the resulting
Order including an interim declaration that the claimants are entitled to be treated as if they had been given full
transitional protection and had remained in their existing scheme after 1 April 2015. Whilst the interim
declaration applied only to claimants, the Government made clear through a Written Ministerial Statement on
25 March 2020 that non-claimants would be treated in the same way.
On 16 July 2020, HM Treasury issued a consultation regarding transitional arrangements for public sector
pensions to eliminate discrimination as identified through the McCloud/Sargeant cases. This consultation
introduced a requirement for members to have been members of the scheme on or before 31 March 2012 and
on or after 1 April to be eligible for remedy.

o

On 4 February 2021, HM Treasury issued their response to the consultation which confirmed the remedy
arrangements set out in the consultation, and states that members would be given a choice as to whether to
retain benefits from their legacy pension scheme, or their new scheme, during the remedy period (2015-2022).
This choice will be deferred for members until retirement. As the findings of the original Employment Tribunal
did not identify that the introduction of the new public sector pension schemes were discriminatory (rather it
was the transitional provisions), the legacy schemes will be removed from April 2022 to be replaced by the new
pension schemes originally introduced in 2015.

ec
tt

Impact on pension liability
Allowing for all eligible members to accrue benefits from their legacy scheme during the remedy period would
lead to an increase in the Police Pension Scheme liabilities. For Cumbria Constabulary, this effects XXXX
members. Scheme actuaries originally estimated the increase in scheme liabilities for the Chief Constable for
Cumbria to be 4.4% or £54.63m of pension scheme liabilities. This was recognised in the 2018/19 accounts. In
2019/20, the estimated increase was a further £9.5m reflecting an additional years benefits from the remedy
and a reduction resulting from the eligibility criteria for members set out in HM Treasury’s consultation. In
2020/21, the estimated increase is a further £x.xm reflecting an additional years benefits from the remedy.

bj

The impact of an increase in scheme liabilities arising from McCloud/Sargeant judgement will be measured
through the pension valuation process, which determines employer and employee contribution rates. The next
Police Pension valuation is due to be reported in 2023/24, although this timetable is subject to change.

Su

The impact of an increase in annual pension payments arising from McCloud/Sargeant is determined through
the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007. These require a police authority to maintain a pension fund into
which officer and employer contributions are paid and out of which pension payments to retired officers are
made. If the police pension fund does not have sufficient funds to meet the cost of pensions in year the amount
required to meet the deficit is then paid by the Secretary of State to the police authority in the form of a central
government top-up grant.
Compensation Claims
Claimants have lodged claims for compensation. Test cases for these claims are due to be heard by the
Employment Tribunal in December 2021. Claims for financial losses are currently stayed as consideration is given
to the HM Treasury consultation response. As at 31 March 2021, it is not possible to reliably estimate the extent
or likelihood of these claims being successful, and therefore no liability in respect of compensation claims is
recognised in these accounts.
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Police Officer Pension Fund Account
This statement provides information on transactions on the Police Pension Fund Account for the 2020/21 financial
year together with comparative information for 2019/20.

Police Officer Pension Fund Account

Benefits Payable
Recurrent Pensions
Commutations and Lump Sums
Other (Scheme Pays)

ec
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Payments to and on Account of Leavers
Refund of Contributions
Transfer out to other schemes

o

Transferees in from Other Schemes
Capital Equivalent charge for ill-health schemes

Au
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Contributions Receivable
Employer
- Contributions (31.0% of Pensionable Pay )
Officers' Contributions
- 1987 Scheme Member Contributions (see narrative for rates)
- 2006 Scheme Member Contributions (see narrative for rates)
- 2015 Scheme Member Contributions (see narrative for rates)

Group
2020/21
£000s

t

Group
2019/20
£000s

Net Amount Payable for the Year

(13,519)

(1,259)
(54)
(4,216)
(18,322)

(843)
(37)
(4,962)
(19,361)

(281)
(565)
(846)

(168)
(163)
(331)

29,764
9,245
74
39,083

31,129
7,295
438
38,862

27
0
27

20
0
20

19,942

19,190

(19,942)
0
0

(19,190)
0
0

bj

Additional Contribution from the Police & Crime Commissioner
Additional Funding Payable by the Police and Crime Commissioner (2.9%)
Net Amount Payable (Receivable) for the Year

(12,793)

Net Assets Statement

Su

This statement shows the net assets and liabilities of the scheme as at 31 March 2021.

Pension Fund Net Assets & liabilities
Current Assets
Pensions Benefits paid in advance
Current Liabilities
Amount due to the Police & Crime Commissioner

Group
2019/20
£000s

Group
2020/21
£000s

2,606

2,619

(2,606)
0

(2,619)
0
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Accounting Policies
The Police Pension Fund Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Police Pension
Fund Regulations 2015 (SI 2015 No 445). The Pensions Fund Accounts are administered by the Chief Constable and
have been prepared on an accruals basis.

t

Operation of Police Pensions Schemes

Au
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Since 1 April 2015 the Chief Constable has operated three Pensions Schemes for Police Officers. These are unfunded
schemes, meaning that there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions liabilities, and cash has to be
generated to meet actual pension payments as they fall due. The original Police Officer Pension scheme is known as
the 1987 scheme. The second scheme was introduced in April 2006 with the intention that joint contributions of
employers and employees would finance the full costs of pension liabilities. All Police Officers recruited from April
2006 onwards automatically become members of the 2006 scheme and the previous 1987 scheme was closed to new
members. Officers who were members of the 1987 scheme were allowed by regulation to become members of the
2006 scheme if they wished. Members’ contribution rates for 2020/21 and 2019/20 were between 11% and 12.75%
for the 2006 scheme and between 14.25% and 15.05% for the 1987 scheme.

ec
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From 1 April 2015, a new pension scheme was introduced for Police Officers, known as the 2015 Scheme. The 2015
scheme is based on career average revalued earnings (CARE). All Police Officers recruited from 1 April 2015 will
automatically become members of the new scheme and the two previous schemes (1987 and 2006) have been closed
to new members from that date. Members of the two older police pension schemes will either be fully protected in
those schemes, transfer to the new 2015 scheme on 1 April 2015, or will transfer on different tapering dates in the
future subject to individual circumstances around age and length of service remaining. The members’ contribution
rates for the new scheme ranged between 12.44% and 13.78% in 2020/21 and 2019/20.
The financial statements for the Police Officer pension fund account do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions
and other benefits after the period end. Details of the Chief Constable’s long term pensions obligations can be found
in the main accounting statements (see Balance Sheet page 33). Detailed disclosure notes regarding the Police Pension
schemes can be found in the Technical Annex to the Statement of Accounts (Annex C Pensions on pages 107-118).

Funding of Police Pension Schemes

Su
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In 2006/07 a new arrangement was established to fund Police Pensions. This revised arrangement is for both new and
existing police officer schemes, but has no effect on the benefit structures of either scheme. The purpose of the
change is to smooth fluctuations in costs, that would previously have been charged to the Chief Constable’s
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a ‘pay as you go basis’, and to more clearly show the effect of
the liability as opposed to current pension payments. Under the revised arrangements the liability for payment of
police pensions is removed from the Chief Constable and replaced with an employers’ contribution, currently set at
31% of pensionable pay, which, along with the employee contributions and any transfer values, is paid into the
pensions account. The employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay
set nationally by the Home Office and are subject to periodic revaluation by the Government Actuary’s Department.
Pensions are then paid from this account. The pensions account is balanced to nil annually, with any shortfall met by
a top up from the Commissioner, or vice versa. However, the Home Office indemnify the Commissioner against any
financial liability arising from a deficit on the Pension Account by providing a grant to the Commissioner equal to the
Commissioner’s top up. Similarly, any surplus on the Pension Account is ultimately repayable to the Home Office.
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Accruals

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

The concept that income and expenditure are recognised
as they are earned or incurred, not when money is paid
or received.

The CFR is a measure of the extent to which the
Commissioner needs to borrow to support capital
expenditure. It does not necessarily relate to the actual
amount of borrowing at any point in time.

Actuarial Valuation

Agency Costs
Services which are performed by or for another authority
or public body, where the agent is reimbursed for the cost
of the work done.

Capital Receipt

t

Monies received from the sale of capital assets, which
may be used to finance new capital expenditure or to
repay outstanding loan debt as laid down within rules
prescribed by Central Government. Capital Receipts
cannot be used to finance revenue expenditure, with the
exception that up to 4% of sale proceeds may be
transferred to the General Fund to finance costs directly
associated with the disposal of the asset.

Au
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A valuation of assets held, an estimate of the present
value of benefits to be paid and an estimate of required
future contributions, by an actuary, for example on behalf
of a pension fund.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Amortisation/Amortised Cost

Cash is represented by cash in hand and in bank accounts.
Cash Equivalents include demand deposits with financial
institutions which are highly liquid in that they are
repayable without penalty on notice of not more that 24
hours.

o

The practice of reducing the value of assets to reflect their
reduced worth over time. The term means the same as
depreciation, though in practice amortisation tends to be
used for the write-off of intangible assets, such as
computer software.

CC or Chief Constable

Budget

The Chief Constable for Cumbria Constabulary.

Capital Adjustment Account

CIPFA

The CAA records the balance of resources set aside to
finance capital expenditure (i.e. Capital Receipts,
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), Direct Revenue
Contributions (DRC) and Deferred Grants Account (DGA))
and also the consumption of resources associated with
the historical cost of acquiring, creating or enhancing
non-current assets over the life of those assets (i.e.
depreciation/impairment).

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy.
The main professional body for
accountants working in the public services.

Su
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A statement of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s
plans in financial terms. A budget is prepared and
approved by the Police and Crime Commissioner before
the start of each financial year and is used to monitor
actual expenditure throughout the year.

Capital Expenditure

As defined in section 16 of the Local Government Act
2003 and regulation 25 of the Capital Finance and
Accounting Regulations 2003, but broadly expenditure on
the acquisition of a non-current asset or expenditure
which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an
existing non-current asset.

CFO

The Joint Chief Finance Officer.

Commissioner
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria.

Componentisation
Identifying and depreciating the components of an asset
separately if they have differing patterns of benefits
relative to the total cost of the asset.

Contingency
A sum set aside to meet unforeseen expenditure.

Creditors
Amounts owed by the Police and Crime Commissioner for
goods and services provided which had not been paid for
at the end of the financial year.
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Impairment/Impaired

Amounts owing to the Police and Crime Commissioner
but not received at the end of the financial year.

A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its
carrying amount on the balance sheet.

Depreciation

Investment Property

The measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other
reduction in the useful economic life of a non-current
asset, whether arising from use, passage of time or
obsolescence through technological or other changes.

Property (land or building) held solely to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both, rather than for
operational reasons such as the provision of services.

De-minimis
In general the term means lacking in significance or
importance. In terms of the accounts, a de-minimis limit
is set for inclusion of projects in the capital programme,
below this limit projects would be charged to revenue
budgets.

Direct Revenue Contributions (DRC)
Resources provided from the Police and Crime
Commissioner’s revenue budget to finance the cost of
capital projects.

A method of financing expenditure over a period of time.
There are two main types of lease:

• Finance Lease - where the risks of ownership are
transferred to the lessee and where the assets are
recorded in the Police and Crime Commissioner’s
balance sheet at a current valuation.
• Operating Lease - where the risks of ownership stay
with the leasing company and the annual rental
charges are made via the Revenue Account.

o

MHCLG

Earmarked Reserves

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (formerly DCLG).

ec
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Those elements of the Police Fund that have been set
aside, “earmarked”, for specific purposes.

Fair Value

Au
di

Leasing

t

Debtors

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

In accounting and economics, fair value is a rational and
unbiased estimate of the potential market price of a
good, service, or asset.

The minimum amount which must be set aside in the
Revenue Account each year as a provision for credit
liabilities.

Hedge Funds

Non-current Assets

bj

A hedge fund is a pooled investment vehicle administered
by a professional management firm, and often structured
as a limited partnership/ limited liability company.
Hedge funds invest in a diverse range of markets and use
a wide variety of investment styles and financial
instruments.

Su

Heritage Assets

A tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific,
technological, geophysical or environmental qualities
that is held and maintained principally for its contribution
to knowledge or culture.

An asset, which will yield a benefit to the Police and Crime
Commissioner for a period of more than one year.

NPCC

The National Police Chiefs Council.

PCC
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria.

Pension actuarial gains and losses
For a defined benefit scheme, the changes in actuarial
deficits or surpluses that arise because:

HMICFRS

•

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &
Rescue Services who are a government agency
responsible for monitoring the standards and
performance of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue
Services.

•

events have not coincided with actuarial
assumptions made for the last valuation
(experience gains and losses) or
the actuarial assumptions have changed.
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Provision

The increase in the present value of a defined benefit’s
liabilities expected to arise from employee service in the
current period.

An amount set aside to provide for a liability which is
likely to be incurred, although the amount and date of
that liability are uncertain.

Pension – defined benefit scheme

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)

A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than
a defined contribution scheme. The scheme rules define
the benefits independently of the contribution payable,
and the benefits are not directly related to the
investments of the scheme. The scheme may be funded
or unfunded.

A Government agency which provides longer term loans
to Local Authorities at interest rates which are only
slightly higher than those at which the government itself
can borrow.

For a funded defined benefits scheme, the average rate
of return, including both income and changes in fair value
but net of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining
life of the related obligation on the actual assets held by
the scheme.

Pension – interest costs

Reserves

An amount set aside for a specific purpose and carried
forward to meet expenditure in future years. The Police
Fund represents accumulated balances which may be
used to support future spending.

Revaluation Reserve

The revaluation reserve records the unrealised net gain
from revaluation of non-current assets made after 1 April
2007. The balance is made up of individual credit
balances associated with specific assets and will be equal
to the difference between the current value net book
value (NBV) and the historic cost NBV for all assets.

o

For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase
during the period in the present value of the scheme
liabilities because the benefits are one period closer to
settlement.

Au
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Pension assets – expected rate of return

t

Pension – current service costs
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SERCOP

Pension - past service costs

For a defined benefit scheme, the increase in the present
value of the scheme liabilities related to employee service
in prior periods arising in the current period as a result of
the introduction of, or improvement to, retirement
benefits.

The CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice. It was
introduced as part of the Best Value Regime to bring
about more consistent accounting treatment of costs and
to facilitate more meaningful financial comparisons
between Authorities.

The Commissioner

Police Objective Analysis (POA)

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria.

TPA

Territorial Policing Area.

Su
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The Police Objective Analysis (POA) is a model developed
by the Home Office for analysing individual policing areas
expenditure. It has been developed to support the need
for understandable, accurate and consistent costing
information to allow internal and inter-force
comparisons.

Precept

The demands made by the Police and Crime
Commissioner on the district councils who are the billing
authority in relation to the collection of council tax.

Private Equity Funds

A private equity fund is a collective investment scheme
used for making investments in various equity (and to a
lesser extent debt) securities according to one of the
investment strategies associated with private equity.
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1

General Principles
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The Statement of Accounts summarises the financial transactions for the 2020/21 financial year and the financial
position at the 31 March 2021. The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable are each required to
prepare an annual Statement of Accounts (single entity) in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations
2015 which stipulate that the statements be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. Those
practices primarily comprise the CIPFA/LAASAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2020/21 SERCOP), supported by
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the Local
Government Act 2003. The Commissioner is responsible for combining the single entity statements to form a
set of consolidated group accounts.
Where accounting policies relate to a particular note to the accounts, the accounting policy is shown alongside
that note in a grey text box, in the notes to the accounts section (see pages 36 to 92). Where an accounting
policy is more generic and applicable across the statement accounts it is shown in this Annex A.
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the
revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets.
Historic Cost – the amount the organisation originally paid for an item.

o

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

ec
tt

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received.
In particular:
o
Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods, is
recognised when (or as) the goods or services are transferred to the service recipient in accordance with
the performance obligations in the contract.
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date
supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories (stock) on the Balance Sheet.

o

Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as
expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made.

o

Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income
and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather
than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

bj

o

o

Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor
or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled,
the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that might not be
collected.

Su

2

o

An accrual is made in respect of employee benefits payable during employment.

Accrual Example 1
An electricity invoice received at the start of April will
usually relate to the previous quarters electricity
consumption (January to March) and as such this
expenditure should be shown in the financial
statements for the previous financial year. The invoice
will actually be paid in the new year but the costs are
charged to the previous year by way of an accrual.

Accrual Example 2
The PCC/Constabulary insurance premiums
are due on 1 November each year. The
premium paid covers five months of the
current financial year and seven months of
the next. A prepayment is made in the
accounts to move the cost of the seven
months into the correct year.
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3

Exceptional Items
When exceptional items of income and expense are material, their nature and value is disclosed separately,
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts,
depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of financial performance.

4
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Materiality – information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions that users make
on the basis of the financial information about a specific reporting organisation. In other words, materiality
is an organisation specific aspect of relevance based on the nature or magnitude or both, of the items to
which the information relates in the context of the individual organisations financial statements.

Inventories

5

Treatment of Overheads

o

Inventories (stocks) are included in the balance sheet at historic cost. This is a departure from IAS2 which
requires inventories to be valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. However, for many stock items,
particularly uniforms, net realisable value would be minimal and would not accurately reflect the value of
holding these assets. As inventories predominantly relate to operational stocks (uniform and consumables)
these are reported in the single entity statements of the Chief Constable and as such are consolidated into the
Commissioner’s group accounts.
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The costs of overheads and support services are incorporated within the cost of Policing and Crime Services line
of the comprehensive income and expenditure statement in accordance with the principles of the CIPFA Code
of practice on Local Authority Accounting which requires costs to shown on the same basis as used for resource
management.

Investment Property

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The
definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods
or is held for sale.

Su
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Under the Commissioner’s funding arrangement to the Chief Constable premises costs (except where they are
directly attributable to the Chief Constable) are initially recorded in the accounts of the Commissioner and a
recharge is made to the Chief Constable in the single entity Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements
on an appropriate basis. Transport and supplies and services costs (except where they are directly attributable
to the Commissioner) are initially recorded in the accounts of the Chief Constable and a recharge is made to the
Commissioner in the single entity Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements on an appropriate basis.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the amount at
which the asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable parties at arm’s length. As a non-financial asset,
investment properties are measured at highest and best use. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued
annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are posted to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. The same treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line
and result in a gain for the Police Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not
permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the Police Fund balance. The gains and losses are
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therefore reversed out of the police fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the
Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater that £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.
Investment assets are not generally held, however, in some circumstances where a surplus property no longer
meets the strict criteria to be classified as “held for sale”, it must be classified as an investment property.

Contingent Assets

t

7

Value Added Tax (VAT)

bj
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o

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue
and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

Su

8
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A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives rise to a possible asset which will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events which cannot wholly be controlled.
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is
probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.
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Financial Instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability in
another. The term covers both financial assets such as cash & equivalents, investments and debtors and
financial liabilities such as creditors and borrowings.

Accounting Policy - Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities
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Financial Liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost . Annual charges to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the
liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For borrowings this means that the amount
presented on the Balance Sheet is the outstanding amount of principal repayable and interest charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement.
Borrowing is undertaken and accounted for in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy. Where a
payable (i.e. creditor) has a maturity of less than 12 months the fair value is taken to be the principal outstanding,
or the billed/invoiced amount. In accordance with the funding arrangement between the Commissioner and the
Chief Constable, all financial instrument liabilities, including borrowing and trade creditors are held by the
Commissioner.

Financial Assets

o

Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model
for holding the financial assets and their cash flow characteristics. The Commissioner holds financial assets
measured at amortised costs (investments, cash and cash equivalent and debtors.
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tt

Financial Assets are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of
the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. Where a debtor has a maturity of less than
12 months, the fair value is taken to be the principal outstanding or the billed/invoiced amount. Investments are
shown in the balance sheet at cost. Where investments are fixed term deposits, accrued interest owing at the
balance sheet date is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

bj

Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due under
the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a charge made to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. An example of such a charge would be the adjustment made to the debtors balance as an
impairment allowance for doubtful debts (see note 14, page 68).
Investments are undertaken and accounted for in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy.

Su

Treasury Management is defined as “the management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.’
The Treasury Management Strategy is produced on an annual basis and is approved by the Commissioner in
February each year. The strategy contains and investment strategy which provides details of approved
counterparties with whom investments can be placed and approved limits and durations for investment. The
strategy also includes a borrowing strategy should this be needed and approved practices and procedures to be
adopted by staff carrying out investment and borrowing activities.
In accordance with the Commissioner’s funding arrangement with the Chief Constable all financial instrument
assets including investments and trade debtors are held by the Commissioner.
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B1 Categories of Financial Instrument
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the balance sheet:

£000s

£000s

£000s

0
0

0
0

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Imprest and cash
Total cash and cash equivalents

0
0

0
0

Debtors
Debtors held at Amortised Cost
Items not classified as Financial Instruments
Total Debtors
Total Financial Assets

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Financial Liabilities
Creditors
Creditors held at Amortised Cost
Items not classified as Financial Instruments
Total Creditors

0
0
0

0
0
0

£000s

£000s

4,300
4,300

0
0

1,271
1,271

5,482
5,482

5,795
22,152
27,947
35,228

(504)
(23,026)
(23,530)

(4,403)
(4,403)
(4,403)

Group
Current
31 March
31 March
2020
2021
£000s

£000s

0
0

6,010
6,010

4,300
4,300

0
0

0
0

1,271
1,271

5,482
5,482

7,391
26,938
34,329
44,111

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

5,873
7,388
13,261
20,542

7,482
7,749
15,231
25,013

(791)
(31,690)
(32,481)

0
0
0

0
0
0

(3,915)
(7,906)
(11,821)

(6,234)
(11,660)
(17,894)

(4,403)
(4,403)
(4,403)

(4,197)
(4,197)
(4,197)

(182)
(182)
(12,003)

(206)
(206)
(18,100)
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Other Long-term Liability (PFI/Finance Lease)
PFI & Finance Lease Liabilities
Total other long term liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

£000s

6,010
6,010

o

Financial Assets
Investments
Investments held at Amortised Cost
Total investments

Group
Long Term
31 March 31 March
2020
2021

Au
di

Categories of Financial
Instruments

PCC
Current
31 March
31 March
2020
2021

t

PCC
Long Term
31 March 31 March
2020
2021

(4,197)
(4,197)
(4,197)

(182)
(182)
(23,712)

(206)
(206)
(32,687)

B2 Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 2020/21 relating to
financial instruments are made up as follows:

bj

PCC/Group 2019/20

Gains and Losses on
Financial Instruments

Financial
Financial
Liabilities
Liabilities
Held at amortised PFI/Finance Lease
cost

£000s

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

£000s

Financial Assets
Loans &
Receivables

Total

£000s

£000s

0

584

0

584

0

562

0

562

(16)

0

0

(16)

0

0

0

0

(16)

584

0

568

0

562

0

562

Interest Income

0

0

(143)

(143)

0

0

(15)

(15)

Impairment Gain
(Impairment Allowance for Doubtful
Debts Reduction)

0

0

0

0

4

0

0

4

Total Income in (Surplus) or Deficit on
the Provision of Services

0

0

(143)

(143)

4

0

(15)

(11)

(16)

584

(143)

425

4

562

(15)

551

Su

Interest Expense
Impairment Losses
(Impairment Allowance for Doubtful
Debts Increase)

£000s

Financial Assets
Loans &
Receivables

PCC/Group 2020/21
Financial
Financial
Liabilities
Liabilities
Held at amortised PFI/Finance Lease
cost

Total Expenses in (Surplus) or Deficit
on the Provision of Services

Net (Gain)/Loss for the Year

102 | P a g e
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Annex B – Technical Annex – Financial Instrument Disclosures
B3 Fair value of Assets and Liabilities Carried at Amortised Cost

•

Level 1 – unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – inputs other that quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly. For example, where the instrument is not actively marketed or measurable, quoted prices
of similar assets or liabilities may be used.
Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Au
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•
•

t

Financial liabilities and assets represented by loans, investments, cash and cash equivalents and long term debtors
and creditors are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost. Financial Instruments are to be measured at fair
value. The fair value hierarchy must now be followed, whereby inputs used in the valuation techniques for assets and
liabilities are prioritised to give the most accurate and appropriate measurement of fair value. Inputs to the valuation
techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the authority’s financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of
significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

The fair valuation of the PCC’s long term liabilities is classed as level 2 in the hierarchy.

The PCC reviews the categorisation of inputs when new formal valuations are undertaken and when trigger events
occur (for example a major change of tenant of a rented property, or change in Bank of England base lending rate).
The change in category is reported at the next financial year-end following the trigger event.
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o

Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that will take place over the
remaining term of the instruments, using the following assumptions:
• No early repayment or impairment is recognised
• Where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, carrying amount is assumed to be approximate to fair
value
• The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced amount.
• In calculating the fair value of the PFI a discount rate based on the returns of a zero coupon AA corporate bond
have been used to discount future cash flows as this instrument has an estimated risk profile equivalent to that
of public sector PFI schemes.
The fair values calculated are as follows:

bj

Fair Values of Assets
and Liabilities

PCC
31 March 2020
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000s
£000s

Su

Financial Liabilities
Creditors
Other Long-term Liabilities
(PFI/Finance Lease)

Financial Assets
Investments
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Debtors

PCC
31 March 2021
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000s
£000s

Group
31 March 2020
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000s
£000s

Group
31 March 2021
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value
£000s
£000s

(23,530)

(23,530)

(32,481)

(32,481)

(11,821)

(11,821)

(17,894)

(17,894)

(4,585)

(7,631)

(4,403)

(7,567)

(4,585)

(7,631)

(4,403)

(7,567)

(28,115)

(31,161)

(36,884)

(40,048)

(16,406)

(19,452)

(22,297)

(25,461)

6,010
1,271
27,947
35,228

6,010
1,271
27,947
35,228

4,300
5,482
34,329
44,111

4,300
5,482
34,329
44,111

6,010
1,271
13,261
20,542

6,010
1,271
13,261
20,542

4,300
5,482
15,231
25,013

4,300
5,482
15,231
25,013

For financial assets the fair value is shown to be the same as the carrying amount as the investments are for a short
period and there is no option to vary the amount or timing of repayment.
In relation to the PFI, the fair value exceeds the carrying amount as a result of the historically higher level of interest
rates prevailing at the inception of the PFI arrangement and the interest rate implicit within the PFI agreement.
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B4 Disclosure of the Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments
The Commissioner’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The Commissioner’s annual Treasury
Management Strategy focuses on these risks and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources
available to fund services. The Commissioner provides written policies within its Treasury Management Strategy
covering interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash balances. A copy of the current Treasury
Management Strategy Statement can be found on the Police and Crime Commissioner’s website at: https://cumbriapcc.gov.uk/finance-governance/budget-finance/treasury-management/
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B4 (i) Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the Commissioner.

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Commissioner’s
customers.

o

This risk is minimised through the application of policies set out in the annual Treasury Management Strategy
Statement (TMSS), which requires that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified
minimum credit criteria, as laid down by Fitch and Moody’s ratings services. The annual TMSS (approved by the
Commissioner in February 2020), also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with a financial institution located
within each category.
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The credit criteria as set out in the 2020/21 TMSS in respect of financial assets held by the Commissioner are detailed
below:

Financial Asset Category

Minimum
Criteria
AThe maximum duration of
investments varies according to the
credit rating. The only exception to
this is the NatWest bank (Currently
BBB+) which provides the day to day
banking services to the
Commissioner

Maximum
Investment
Maximum per institution or
Group £2m (varies according
to credit rating).
Maximum of all deposits
£20m.

Deposits with major UK and non UK
Banks and Building Societies (Secured)

AThe maximum duration of
investments varies according to the
credit rating.

Maximum per institution or
Group £4m (varies according
to credit rating).
Maximum of all deposits
£20m.

Deposits with Money Market
Funds/Pooled Funds

Long Term: AAA

£4m per fund. Maximum of
all deposits £20m.

Deposits with Government (includes HM
Treasury and other Local Authorities)

Not credit rated but are legally
required to set a balanced budget.

£2m per Local Authority,
unlimited with HM Treasury.
Maximum of all deposits – No
Limit.

Su
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Deposits with major UK and non UK
Banks and Building Societies (Unsecured)
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t

The Commissioner’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks, building societies and
other Local Authority’s of £4m at the balance sheet date cannot be assessed generally as the risk of any institution
failing to make interest payments or repay the principal sum will be specific to each individual institution. Recent
experience has shown that it is rare for such entities to be unable to meet their commitments. A risk of irrecoverability
applies to all of the Commissioner’s deposits, but there was no evidence at the 31 March 2021 that this was likely to
happen.

Potential Maximum Exposure to
Credit Risk

9,487

Historical
Experience
of
Default
%

Historical
Experience
Adjusted
for Market
Conditions
at 31/03/21

0.03%

Estimated
maximum
exposure
to default and
uncollectability
£000s

0.15%

Comparative
Estimated
maximum
exposure
at 31/03/20
£000s

14

18

ec
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o

Customers - Operational Debtors

Amount
at
31/03/21
£000s
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The following analysis summarises the Commissioner’s potential maximum exposure to credit risk, on other financial
assets, based on experience of default and uncollectability over the last five financial years, adjusted to reflect current
market conditions.

The Commissioner does not generally allow credit for customers. At the 31 March 2021, £249k (3%) of the £9,487k
balance of operational debt was past the due date for payment. This sum has increased from the balance at 31 March
2020 (£131k (2%) out of £7,565k overdue). The Commissioner has however reduced the bad debt provision as at 31
March 2021 to £14k following a detailed analysis of amounts outstanding to reflect the degree of uncertainty around
a number of the longer standing debts. The past due amount can be analysed by age as follows:

bj

Aged Debt Past Due Date

7,565

9,487

64
19
1
0
2
0
31
0
14
131

66
25
7
31
0
42
0
78
0
249

Su

Total Operational Debtors
Aged Debt past its due date by:
1-30 Days
31-60 Days
61-90 Days
91-120 Days
91-180 Days
121-150 Days
181-360 Days
150+ Days
361+ Days

PCC/Group
As at 31 March
2020
2021
£000s
£000s

During 2020/21 there has been a change in finance system and the new system categorises debt in different age
groups which is why the figures above are not directly comparable.
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B4 (ii) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the possibility that the Commissioner might not have funds available to meet its commitments to
make payments.
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di

t

As the Commissioner has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB and had at 31 March 2021 no actual external
debt having financed a number of recent projects through internal borrowing, there is no significant risk that it will be
unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. A more pertinent risk is that the
Commissioner will be required to replenish a significant proportion of its internal borrowings at a time of unfavourable
interest rates. At the balance sheet date the Commissioner is confident that it has adequate working capital principally
as a result of its reserves to mitigate this risk. Nevertheless, prevailing money market rates are regularly monitored
with a view to ensuring that long term debt financing decisions are made at the optimum time.
All operational liabilities are due to be repaid within one year.

B4 (iii) Market Risk

o

Market Risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Commissioner as a result of changes in such
measures as interest rates and stock market movements.

ec
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The Commissioner is exposed to some risk due to movements in interest rates on its loans and investments. These
potential risks are:
•

An increase in interest rates will result in a fall in the fair value of borrowings and investments.

•

A decrease in interest rates will result in a rise in the fair value of borrowings and investments.

•

The value of interest received from investments will rise or fall depending on increases and decreases in interest
rates and will impact on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

bj

As all of the Commissioner’s existing borrowings and investments have been placed at fixed rates, this risk has to a
large extent been minimised.

Su

Borrowings and investments are carried in the Balance Sheet at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate
financial instruments have no impact on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
The Commissioner carries out its borrowing and investment function within parameters set out in its Treasury
Management Strategy, which assesses interest rate exposure to feed into the budget process. Forecasts are updated
regularly throughout the year, which allows any significant changes to interest rates to be reflected in current budget
projections.
The Treasury Management Strategy also advises on the limits for new variable and fixed–rate borrowing for the year.
No new external borrowing was undertaken in 2020/21.
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C1 Pension Schemes
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the Commissioner offers
retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, under IAS 19 the
Commissioner must recognise its future commitment to make payments, which need to be disclosed at the time that
employees earn their future entitlement. In addition, the financial statements should contain adequate disclosure of
the costs of providing benefits and related gains/losses.
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Individually there are three pension schemes for police officers (1987, 2006 and 2015 schemes) and a single scheme
for police staff (LGPS). They are all defined benefits schemes.

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Police staff, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS),
which is a funded defined benefit scheme. Pensions and other retirement benefits are paid from the fund.
Employers and employees make regular contributions into the fund so that the liabilities are paid for evenly over
the employment period.

The Police Pension Scheme
There are currently three pension schemes in operation for Police Officers:
o The original Police Pension Scheme (PPS) is governed by the Police Pension Regulations 1987 (as amended)
and related regulations that are made under the Police Pensions Act 1976.
o The new Police Pensions Scheme (NPPS) is also governed by the Police Pensions Act 1976 (as amended by
the Police Pension Regulations 2006).
o The 2015 Police Pensions Scheme is a career average revalued earnings (CARE) scheme and is governed by
the Police Pensions Scheme 2015 Regulations and related regulations under the Police Pensions Act 1976.

bj

The Police Pension Scheme is an unfunded scheme (i.e. there are no investment assets built up to meet pension
liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet actual pensions payments as they fall due). The funding
arrangements for police officers’ pensions changed on 1st April 2006. Before April 2006 pensions of former
employees were required to be met on a ‘pay as you go’ basis with the cost charged to the revenue account. From
April 2006 onwards the payments made during the year under the scheme are funded by a combination of
employee contributions and employer contributions charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement with the remaining deficit funded by a specific Home Office grant. The employer’s contribution rate
was increased to 31% from 1st April 2019 and has remained at this level for 2020/21.

Su
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The LGPS for Police Staff employees, is administered by Cumbria County Council (outsourced to Lancashire County
Council) – this is a funded defined benefit scheme, meaning that the Commissioner and employees pay
contributions into a fund. Contributions are calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with
investment assets over the long term. In 2020/21 the Commissioner made a contribution of 18.4% of pensionable
pay. The past service contribution made in 2016/17 of £1,478k (£47k for the PCC Singe Entity Statements)
represented a three year contribution (covering 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20) which was made with the aim
of reducing future contributions after the next actuarial review. For 2020/21 the past service contribution was
£13k (made up of ££22k for the Chief Constable less a repayment for the PCC of £10k). The contribution rate will
next be reviewed in March 2022 with a revised rate for employers contributions being applicable from April 2023.

The Commissioner and employees pay contributions into a separate pensions fund account administered by the
Commissioner from which on-going pensions liabilities are met. At the year-end any surplus or deficit on the
pensions fund account is paid to or met by the Commissioner who then repays or is reimbursed by the Home
Office.
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Also from 1st April 2006 legislation required the operation of a Pension Fund Account (shown on pages 93-94).
The amounts that must be paid into and out of the fund are specified by regulation. Officers’ contributions and
the employer’s contributions are paid into the pension fund account from which pension payments are made.
Any shortfall on the pension fund account is met by a contribution from the Police Fund. A Home Office Grant is
received to cover this contribution. Conversely, a surplus on the Pension Fund Account would result in a
contribution to the police fund, which would then be recouped by the Home Office.

A funded scheme is one where employers and
employees pay contributions into a fund. The payments
to pensioners are then made from this fund.
An unfunded scheme is one where there is no fund with
investment assets built up to meet pension liabilities
and cash has to be generated (from employee and
employer contributions) to meet the actual pension
payments as they fall due.
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Defined Benefit Scheme – A pension or
other retirement benefit scheme where the
scheme rules define the benefits
independently of the contribution payable
and the benefits are not directly related to
the investments of the scheme. The
scheme may be funded or unfunded.
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The principal risk to the Commissioner of the schemes are the longevity assumptions, statutory changes to the
scheme, structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large-scale withdrawals from the scheme), changes to inflation,
bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. These are mitigated to a certain
extent by the statutory requirements to charge the Police Fund the amounts required by statute as described in
the accounting policy.

The Accounts show the full implementation of IAS19 (Employee Benefits). IAS19 requires organisations to
recognise retirement benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when they are earned,
even though the benefits will not be payable until employees retire. However, as statutory procedures require
the charge against Council Tax to be based on the amounts payable to the pension fund during the year, an
appropriation is made within the pensions reserve equal to the net change in the pensions liability recognised in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The neutralising entry is made through the Movement
in Reserves Statement. The Balance Sheet discloses the net liability in relation to retirement benefits. The figures
are based on the Actuary’s latest estimate.

Su
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There are restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements.
Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the
decision to make the award and are accounted for using the same policies as applied to the LGPS.
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Accounting Policy – Post-Employment Benefits – CIES Entries/Charges to the Police Fund
All accounting entries relating to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the subsequent
liability for Police Officer pensions are wholly recorded in the single entity statements of the Chief Constable. For
Police Staff all Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement entries and subsequent balance sheet liabilities
in relation to pensions are apportioned between the Commissioner and the Chief Constable single entity
statements by the scheme actuary. All accounting entries for Police Officer pensions and Police Staff pensions are
consolidated in the group statements.
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As outlined above, the single entity statements of the Commissioner do not include any accounting entries in
relation to the Police Officer Pensions funds as these are wholly recognised by the Chief Constable. The group
accounts however include all relevant accounting entries in relation to Police Pension Funds.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the Police Fund to be charged with the amount
payable to the pension funds in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.
In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the Pensions reserve to
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance
that arises on the Pension Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the Police Fund of being required to
account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

o

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:
Service cost comprising:

o

Current service costs – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employee worked.

o

Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs.

o

Net interest on the net defined pension benefit liability (asset) – i.e. the net interest expense for the
organisation – the change during the period in the net defined pension benefit liability (asset) that arises from
the passage of time charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line of the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to
measure the defined pension benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined pension
benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period – taking into account any changes in the net defined
pension benefit liability (assets) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.
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Remeasurements comprising:

o

Return on plan assets-excluding amounts included in the net interest on the net defined pension liability
(asset) – charged to the pensions reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

o

Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided
with assumptions (demographic and financial) made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries
have updated their assumptions –charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure.

•

Contributions paid to the pension fund

o

Cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an
expense.

Su

•
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The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the Cost of Services within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement when employees earn them, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the
charge required to be made against Council Tax is based on the contributions in the year, so the real cost of retirement
benefits is reversed out of the Police Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
The following transactions have been made in the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and
Movement in Reserves Statement during the year:

t

Group
Group
Group
Group
Group
Group
LGPS
LGPS
Police Scheme
Police Scheme
Police Scheme
Total Pension
Funded Benefits
Unfunded Benefits
1987 Scheme
2006 Scheme
2015 Scheme
Schemes
2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Cost of Services
Service cost comprising:
• Current service cost
6,751
6,375
0
0
6,970
4,550
250
160
23,410
23,950
37,381
35,035
• Past service costs
674
0
0
0
5,000
0
(8,260)
0
0
0
(2,586)
0
• (Gain)/loss from settlements/curtailments
0
53
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
53
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure
• Net interest expense
1,283
1,386
26
22
28,530
23,860
1,380
980
1,870
2,170
33,089
28,418
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the
8,708
7,814
26
22
40,500
28,410
(6,630)
1,140
25,280
26,120
67,884
63,506
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

(24,119)

(8,493)

0

4,403

35,666

2,531
160
3,612

(4,015)
154
7,686

12,320

0

0

0

0

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement in Reserves Statement
Movement
• Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or
Deficit for the Provision of Services for postemployment benefits in accordance with the
Code.
Actual amount charged against the General Fund
Balance for pensions in the year
• Employers' contributions payable to the
scheme
• Retirements benefits payable to pensioners

0

0

0

5,011

(24,119)

(31)

0

(34,640)

0

(1,740)

0

(2,880)

0

(47,784)

0

12

83

(44,100)

123,190

(4,480)

9,720

(3,830)

23,900

(47,995)

192,559

(23)
0
(42)

(24)
0
59

(23,720)
0
(102,460)

62,570
0
185,760

400
0
(5,820)

12,380
0
22,100

(3,160)
0
(9,870)

(9,070)
0
14,830

(23,972)
160
(114,580)

61,841
154
230,435

15,500

(16)

81

(61,960)

214,170

(12,450)

23,240

15,410

40,950

(46,696)

293,941

(8,708)

(7,814)

(26)

(22)

(40,500)

(28,410)

6,630

(1,140)

(25,280)

(26,120)

(67,884)

(63,506)

3,071

3,919

64

64

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,135

3,983

0

0

0

0

37,790

39,040

60

90

(3,720)

(4,760)

34,130

34,370

3,071

3,919

64

64

37,790

39,040

60

90

(3,720)

(4,760)

37,265

38,353

Su

bj

Total amount charged against the Police Fund
Balance for pensions in the year

0

o

5,011
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Other Post-employment Benefits charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit
liability comprising:
• Return on plan assets (excluding the amount
included in the net interest expense)
• Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes
in demographic assumptions
• Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes
in financial assumptions
• Experience (gains) and losses on liabilities
• Administration expenses
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Au
di

Pension Transactions in MiRS
and CI&ES
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The following transactions have been made in the PCC Single Entity Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and Movement in Reserves Statement during the year:
PCC
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

• Net interest expense
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services
Other Post-employment Benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability comprising:

• Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense)
• Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in demographic assumptions

158
16
0

169
0
0

0
0
0

32
206

26
195

942

t

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Cost of Services
Service cost comprising:
• Current service cost
• Past service costs
• (Gain)/loss from settlements/curtailments
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

PCC
Total LGPS
Pension Scheme
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

0
0
0

158
16
0

169
0
0

0
0

0
0

32
206

26
195

(547)

0

0

942

(547)

(216)

0

(1)

0

(217)

0

118

749

0

2

118

751

(1,171)
4
(323)

(106)
4
100

(14)
0
(15)

0
0
2

(1,185)
4
(338)

(106)
4
102

(117)

295

(15)

2

(132)

297

(206)

(195)

0

0

(206)

(195)

74

88

1

1

75

89

0

0

0

0

0

0

74

88

1

1

75

89

Au
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Pension Transactions in MiRS and CI&ES

PCC
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

o

• Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in financial assumptions

ec
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• Experience (gains) and losses on liabilities
• Administration expenses
Total Post-employment Benefits charged to Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

Total Post-employment Benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement
Movement in Reserves Statement
• Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for the Provision of Services for
post-employment benefits in accordance with the Code.
Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year
• Employers' contributions payable to the scheme
• Retirements benefits payable to pensioners

Su
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Total amount charged against the Police Fund Balance for pensions in the year
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C2 Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet
Under IAS 19, the financial statements should reflect at fair value the assets and liabilities arising from an employer’s
obligation to pay retirement benefits and the funding provided.
The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits attributable to the Group at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Present value of the defined benefit
obligation

Group
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

(207,517) (248,269)

Group
Police Scheme
1987 Scheme
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Group
Police Scheme
2006 Scheme
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Group
Police Scheme
2015 Scheme
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

t

Group
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

Au
di

Pension Scheme Assets
& Liabilities

(1,036)

(1,053)

Fair value of plan assets

145,346

174,517

0

0

Net liability arising from defined
benefit obligation

(62,171)

(73,752)

(1,036)

(1,053)

(1,077,550) (1,252,680)

(43,560)

(66,710)

0

0

0

(1,077,550) (1,252,680)

(43,560)

(66,710)

0

(82,060) (127,770)

0

0

(82,060) (127,770)

o

The liabilities in the above table show the underlying commitments that the Commissioner has, in the long run, to pay
retirement benefits. The total group liability of £1.522b (£1.266b at 31 March 2020) has a substantial impact on the
net worth of the Commissioner as recorded in the group balance sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of
£1.454b (£1.195b at 31 March 2020). The increase in overall liability has arisen as a result in a change in actuarial
assumptions.
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However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the group remains healthy,
since:
•

the deficit on the local government scheme will be made good by increased contributions and changes to benefits
over the remaining working life of employees, as assessed by the scheme actuary

•

finance is only required to be raised to cover police pensions when the pensions are actually paid.

bj

The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits attributable to the PCC Single Entity at 31 March 2021 are
as follows:

Su

Pension Scheme Assets & Liabilities
Present value of the defined benefit obligation

Fair value of plan assets

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation

PCC
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

PCC
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

(4,441)

(5,330)

(20)

(21)

3,284

3,966

0

0

(1,157)

(1,364)

(20)

(21)
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Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities for the group:

- Arising from changes in demographic
- Arising from changes in financial
assumptions
- Experience gains/(losses)
Past service cost
Gains/(losses) on curtailment
Benefits Paid/Transfers
Balance at End of Year

(199,157) (207,517)
(6,751)
(6,375)
(4,947)
(4,750)
(1,301)
(1,378)
8,493
(4,403)

Group
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s
(1,116)
0
(26)
0

0
(35,666)

31
(12)

(2,531)
4,015
(674)
0
0
(53)
3,754
3,455
(207,517) (248,269)

23
0
0
64
(1,036)

Group
Police Scheme
1987 Scheme
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

(1,036) (1,177,300) (1,077,550)
0
(6,970)
(4,550)
(22)
(28,530)
(23,860)
0
(1,260)
(840)

Group
Police Scheme
2006 Scheme
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s
(56,070)
(250)
(1,380)
(50)

Group
Police Scheme
2015 Scheme
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

(43,560) (62,930) (82,060)
(160) (23,410) (23,950)
(980) (1,870) (2,170)
(40) (4,210) (4,970)

t

Balance at Start of Year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by Scheme Participants
Remeasurement gains and (losses):

Group
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

Au
di

Reconciliation of Scheme
Liabilities

0
(83)

34,640
44,100

0
(123,190)

1,740
4,480

24
23,720
(62,570)
0
(5,000)
0
0
0
0
64
39,050
39,880
(1,053) (1,077,550) (1,252,680)

(400)
8,260
0
110
(43,560)

0
(9,720)

2,880
0
3,830 (23,900)

(12,380)
3,160
9,070
0
0
0
0
0
0
130
490
210
(66,710) (82,060) (127,770)
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o

The liabilities under the LGPS and Police Pension Schemes have increased during 2020/21. The principal reason
for these changes is in relation to changes in financial assumptions and experience gains and losses by the
scheme actuaries.

Accounting Policy – Post-Employment Benefits – Measurement of Liabilities
The liabilities of each of the pension funds are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the
projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates etc
and projections of earnings for current employees. Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices using
a discount rate (see assumptions set out in C3 on page 117).

Su
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Actuarial valuations of the fund are undertaken every three years to determine the contribution rates needed to
meet its liabilities.
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Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities for the PCC Single Entity:

- Arising from changes in demographic
- Arising from changes in financial assumptions

216
(118)
1,171
(16)
68
(4,441)

(4,441)
(169)
(102)
(41)

(36)
0
0
0

(20)
0
0
0

0
(749)

1
0

0
(2)

106
0
66
(5,330)

14
0
1
(20)

0
0
1
(21)

Su
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- Experience gains/(losses)
Past service cost
Benefits Paid/Transfers
Balance at End of Year

(5,431)
(158)
(135)
(38)

The PCC single entity
liabilities under the
LGPS have increased
during 2020/21. The
principal reason for
the increase is in
relation to changes
in financial
assumptions by the
scheme actuaries.

t

Balance at Start of Year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by Scheme Participants
Remeasurement gains and (losses):

PCC
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s

Au
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Reconciliation of Scheme
Liabilities

PCC
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20 2020/21
£000s
£000s
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Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets for the group:

Reconciliation of Scheme Assets
Balance at Start of Year
Interest Income
Remeasurements - Gains and (Losses)
Administration Expenses
Employer Contributions
Contributions by Scheme Participants
Benefits Paid
Balance at End of Year

145,346
3,364
24,119
(154)
3,919
1,378
(3,455)
174,517

0
0
0
0
64
0
(64)
0

0
0
0
0
64
0
(64)
0

Au
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146,235
3,664
(5,011)
(160)
3,071
1,301
(3,754)
145,346

Group
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

t

Group
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets for the PCC single entity:

4,083
103
(942)
(4)
74
38
(68)
3,284

ec
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Balance at Start of Year
Interest Income
Remeasurements - Gains and (Losses)
Administration Expenses
Employer Contributions
Contributions by Scheme Participants
Benefits Paid
Balance at End of Year

o

Reconciliation of Scheme Assets

PCC
LGPS
Funded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

PCC
LGPS
Unfunded Benefits
2019/20
2020/21
£000s
£000s

3,284
76
547
(4)
88
41
(66)
3,966

0
0
0
0
1
0
(1)
0

0
0
0
0
1
0
(1)
0

bj

Accounting Policy – Post-Employment Benefits – Measurement of Assets
The assets of the LGPS pension fund are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value:
Quoted securities – current bid price

Su

o
o

Unquoted securities – professional estimate

o

Unitised securities – current bid price

o

Property – market value
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The Police Pension Scheme has no assets to cover its liabilities. The Commissioner’s share of assets in the Cumbria
County Council Pension Fund (LGPS) consists of the following categories, by proportion of the total assets held:

328
657
0
230
0

9.99%
20.01%
0.00%
7.00%
0.00%

Y
Y
N

0
0
755

0.00%
0.00%
22.99%

N
N

194
92

5.91%
2.80%

N
N
N
N
N
N

122
243
13
105
23
394

3.71%
7.40%
0.40%
3.20%
0.70%
12.00%

Y
N

125
3.81%
3
0.09%
3,284 100.00%

Group
2019/20
£000s
%

Group
2020/21
£000s
%

363
1,157
0
0
0

9.15%
29.17%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

14,536
29,069
0
10,174
0

10.00%
20.00%
0.00%
7.00%
0.00%

15,990
50,924
0
0
0

9.16%
29.18%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

1
0
699

0.03%
0.00%
17.62%

0
0
33,429

0.00%
0.00%
23.00%

26
0
30,753

0.01%
0.00%
17.62%

213
106

5.37%
2.67%

8,576
4,070

5.90%
2.80%

9,372
4,655

5.37%
2.67%

0
476
162
0
0
625

0.00%
12.00%
4.08%
0.00%
0.00%
15.76%

5,378
10,756
581
4,651
1,017
17,441

3.70%
7.40%
0.40%
3.20%
0.70%
12.00%

0
20,950
7,138
0
0
27,506

0.00%
12.00%
4.09%
0.00%
0.00%
15.76%

t

Y
Y
Y
N
N

PCC
2020/21
£000s
%

Au
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PCC
2019/20
£000s
%

164
4.14%
0
0.00%
3,966 100.00%
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Equities
UK Quoted
Global Quoted
UK Equity Pooled
Overseas Equity Pooled
Equity Protection
Bonds
UK Corporate Bonds
Overseas Corporate Bonds
UK Government Indexed Pooled
Property
UK
Property Funds
Alternatives
Private Equity Funds
Infrastructure Funds
Real Estate Debt Funds
Private Debt Funds
Healthcare Royalties
Multi Asset Credit
Cash
Cash Accounts
Net Current Assets

Quoted
Y/N

o

LGPS Asset Breakdown

5,523
3.80%
145
0.10%
145,346 100.00%

7,206
4.13%
(3)
0.00%
174,517 100.00%

C3 Basis for estimating assets and liabilities

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, which provides an estimate
of the pensions that will be payable in future years using assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels, etc. William
M Mercer, an independent firm of actuaries, has carried out the assessment on the Local Government Pension
Scheme. These accounts are based on the actuarial valuation undertaken on 31 March 2021. The Police Scheme
estimates have been compiled using a valuation model devised by the Government Actuaries Department.

bj

Accounting Policy – Pensions Material Estimation Techniques
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements requires disclosure of any estimation techniques applied, such that if a
different methodology had been used a material variance in the amounts disclosed would have been arrived at.
For pensions, the material estimation techniques used are as follows:

Su

Where the projected unit method of valuation has been applied and which is consistent with the required
methodology in IAS 19. This is a valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make an allowance for projected
earnings. An accrued benefits valuation method is one in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate
to:
(a) the benefits pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased as active members but are
entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their dependents, allowing where appropriate for future
increases, and
(b) the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. The accrued benefits are the benefits for
service up to a given point in time, whether vested or not.
For 2020/21 a discount rate based on the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent
currency and term to scheme liabilities is to be used. The actuaries for the Police and LGPS pension funds have
advised that discount rates of 2.00% for Police and 2.20% for LGPS are appropriate.
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The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been:
LGPS
2019/20
2020/21

Rate of Inflation (CPI)
Rate of increase in salaries
Rate of increase in pensions
Rate of Revaluation for CARE Pensions
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities

22.6
25.2

22.7
25.3

24.2
27.1

24.3
27.2

2.10%
3.60%
2.20%
2.30%

2.70%
4.20%
2.80%
2.20%

21.9
23.6

22.0
23.7

t

Mortality Assumptions:
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:
- Men
- Women
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
- Men
- Women

Police Scheme
2019/20 2020/21

23.6
25.2

23.7
25.3

2.00%
4.00%
2.00%
3.25%
2.25%

2.40%
4.15%
2.40%
3.65%
2.00%

Au
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Actuarial Assumptions
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o

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table above.
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes while
all the other assumptions remain constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the
assumptions may be interrelated. The assumptions in longevity, for example assume that life expectancy increases or
decreases for men and women. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for
the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions
used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in the previous period.

Sensitivity Analysis – LGPS Pension Scheme

Sensitivity Analysis - LGPS

Su

bj

Local Government Pension Scheme
Longevity (1 Year increase in life expectancy)
Rate of Inflation (increase by 0.1%)
Rate of Increase in Salaries (increase by 0.1%)
Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities (increase by 0.1%)
Change in 2020/21 investment Returns (increase by 1%)
Change in 2020/21 investment Returns (reduce by 1%)

PCC
Group
Impact on Impact on
Impact on Impact on Impact on
Impact on
Defined
Projected
Projected
Defined
Projected
Projected
Benefit
Service Cost Interest Cost
Benefit
Service Cost Interest Cost
Obligation for Next Year for Next Year Obligation for Next Year for Next Year
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s
£000s

161
114
7
(112)
0
0

7
5
0
(5)
0
0

4
3
1
(1)
0
1

7,301
5,478
720
(5,360)
0
0

251
221
0
(212)
0
0

162
122
18
(50)
(37)
39
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Sensitivity Analysis – Police Pension Schemes

Assumption Sensitivity
Longevity (1 Year increase in life expectancy)
Rate of Increase in Pensions (increase by 0.5%)
Rate of Increase in Salaries (increase by 0.5%)
Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities (increase by 0.5%)

43,000
100,000
9,000
(106,000)

Police
Pensions
2015
Scheme
£000s

2,000
7,000
4,000
(10,000)

4,000
24,000
0
(21,000)

Au
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Sensitivity Analysis - Police Pensions

Group
Police
Pensions
2006
Scheme
£000s

t

Police
Pensions
1987
Scheme
£000s

The above tables include the impact of an increase in assumptions, a reduction in assumptions will produce
approximately an equal and opposite change.

C4 Impact on the Commissioner’s Cash Flows

ec
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The objectives of the LGPS scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as possible. The
Commissioner has agreed a strategy with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% over the next 13
years. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The latest triennial valuation took place during 2019/20 based
on the position at 31 March 2019. The revaluation resulted in an increase in contribution rates from 15.4% to 18.4%
which took effect from 1 April 2020.

bj

The pension schemes will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under the Public Pensions
Services Act 2013. Under the Act, the LGPS and the other main existing public service schemes in England and Wales
(which includes the Police Pension schemes) may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (after
31 March 2015 for other main public service schemes e.g. Police Pension Schemes). This means that the LGPS ceased
to be a final salary pension scheme from 31 March 2014 and the Police Pension Scheme ceased to be a final salary
pension scheme from 31 March 2015. The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common
framework, to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay pensions and other benefits to certain
public servants.

Su

The total group contributions expected to be made to the Local Government Pension Scheme by the Commissioner in
the year to 31 March 2022 are £4,210k (PCC single entity £105k). Expected contributions for the Police Pension
Scheme in the year to 31 March 2022 are £14,064k.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is shown in the table below:

Weighted Average Duration of the Defined benefit
Obligation

Pensions Scheme
Local Government Pension Scheme - PCC
Local Government Pension Scheme - CC
Police Pension -1987 Scheme
Police Pension -2006 Scheme
Police Pension -2015 Scheme

2019/20
Years

2020/21
Years

21
22
19
37
37

21
22
18
33
36
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Annex D – Annual Governance Statement

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria
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Annual Governance Statement 2020/21

Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria – Statement of Accounts 2020/21

Au
di
t

This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) describes how

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

the Commissioner has followed The Code. It also meets

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria (the
Commissioner) is responsible for ensuring business is
carried out in accordance with the law and proper
standards, that public money is safeguarded and properly

accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and
effectively.

the requirements of regulation 6(1) and 10(1) of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The regulations say
that we must prepare and publish an Annual Governance
Statement (AGS) to accompany the Commissioner’s
statement of accounts.

To meet this overall responsibility, the Commissioner has

do.

to

put in place proper arrangements for overseeing what we
This is what we mean by governance.

These

arrangements are intended to make sure that we do the

Cumbria

right things, in the right way and are fair, open, honest
and accountable.

ec
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Police and Crime Commissioner for

2020/21

Commissioner’s governance arrangements for 2020/21
have been guided by the seven core principles of
Corporate

Governance

from

the

CIPFA/Solace

Governance Framework applicable to the 2020/21

Code of Corporate Governance (‘The Code’). The Code

financial year. This is the standard against which all local

explains the way the Commissioner governs and the

government bodies, including police, should assess

frameworks that are in place to support the overall

themselves.

arrangements for fulfilling his functions. The Code of
Corporate Governance is published alongside the Annual
Governance Statement on the Commissioner’s website at
www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk
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The key systems and processes that comprise the

Our arrangements for governance are set out within a

Su
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Annual Governance Statement

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

The Commissioner has responsibility for conducting, at
least annually, a review of the effectiveness of his
governance framework including the system of internal
control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the
work of Chief Officers and senior managers who have
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responsibility for the development and maintenance of

meet of each of the seven governance principles. The

office, matters of integrity are re-enforced including

the governance environment.

Annual Governance Statement is published alongside the

enhanced arrangements in respect of recording gifts and

Statement of Accounts and also incorporates an action

hospitality and/or supplier contact. The anti-fraud and

plan of planned future improvements for governance

corruption arrangements also highlight mechanisms for

arrangements.

confidential reporting and whistleblowing.

The review process

comprises:

▪

A cyclical detailed review of the key documents
within the Commissioner’s governance framework.

▪

The process of commissioning services and awarding of

A review of the governance arrangements in place to

Principle A: Behaving with integrity,

grants present a potentially high risk with regards to

support each core principle, culminating in an

Demonstrating strong commitment

integrity. Grant Regulations are in place to ensure that

updated Code of Corporate governance.
A review of what has happened during the past year
to evidence how the governance framework has

to

▪

to ethical values, and respecting
the rule of law

been complied with.
A review of the effectiveness of the arrangements for

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

ec
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▪

Internal Audit. The review is supported by

ARRANGEMENTS

consideration of the opinion of the Chief Internal
Auditor, as set out in his annual report.

A review of the effectiveness of the Joint Audit
Committee against CIPFA guidance on Audit
Committees for Police.

antifraud and corruption, which are reviewed on a 3-year
cyclical basis, the last time being 2019/20 by the
Governance Manager. The conclusions of this review

The

following

Annual

Governance

Statement

demonstrates how the Commissioner has complied with
the governance framework set out within the Code, to
AGS Page 2 of 27

consistent manner and that appropriate conditions are
attached to safeguard public money. The grant
regulations were reviewed in 2020 and the conclusions
were reported to the Joint Audit Committee in November
2020.
A fraud risk assessment undertaken by the Joint Chief
Finance Officer in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards did not reveal serious concerns.

The Commissioner has in place arrangements for

Su
bj

▪

Ethics and Integrity

grant awards are made in a fair, transparent and

were reported to the Joint Audit Committee in November
2019.

The review concluded that arrangements are

effective. Whilst fraud risk remains low within the OPCC

In respect of the arrangements for standards, ethics and
integrity, one complaint has been received against the
Commissioner with none against members of his office in
relation to matters of integrity.

Au
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Despite the lockdown and tier restrictions of the COVID-

The Joint Audit Committee received the 2020 annual

Committee against the respective CIPFA statements,

19 pandemic, during 2020/21 the Ethics and Integrity

report of the Ethics & Integrity Panel in June 2021 to

which concluded there was full compliance.

Panel have carried out dip sample processes and thematic

support assurances in respect of arrangements for

inspections for a number of different areas of business

standards and ethical governance.

Principle B: Ensuring openness

From 1 February 2020 the OPCC has been responsible for

and Comprehensive stakeholder

including, adherence with the Code of Ethics and Code of

misconduct cases, all of which were found to support high
standards of ethics and integrity. This enabled the Police
and Crime Commissioner to fulfil his statutory duty to
have oversight of the Constabulary's complaints and
misconduct processes.
The scope of the Panel’s work has developed during
2020/21 through the completion of six thematic

use of Spit Guards, the use of TASER, the use of Stop and

Stop/Search, the use of Body Worn Video, the
Constabulary’s Communications Centre and the issuing of
Fixed Penalty Notices during the COVID-19 pandemic and
lockdown or tier restrictions. The findings of the Panel's

engagement

assessing the complaint handling and whether the

outcome provided was reasonable and proportionate.
During 2020 the OPCC received 32 requests for a review

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

and by using an independent person provides openness

ARRANGEMENTS

and transparency to the process.

Openness

Respecting the rule of law

Openness is a key element of the role of the

Officers within the OPCC receive updates on changes in

Commissioner and is not just about publishing

legislation through their professional bodies, APACCE,

information but listening and influencing as well. The

PACTS, the APCC and from the government.

The

Commissioner operates in accordance with the Elected

Commissioner provides funding to the Constabulary’s

Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Orders of

Legal Services Department, who deliver support to the

2011, 2012, 2013 and the guidance provided by the

Su
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work, including recommendations, have been reported to

It appointed an

independent reviewing officer to carry out the reviews

ec
t

inspections, in relation to Mental Health Detention, the

reviews of public complaints.

to

Conduct, public complaints, police misconduct and staff

OPCC on legal matters.

the Commissioner’s Public Accountability Conference to

Information Commissioner.

This is demonstrated,

documented, and communicated through an information

improve transparency and support public scrutiny and

During the year formal reviews have been undertaken of

publication scheme that ensures the openness of all key

published on the OPCC’s website.

the role of the Commissioner’s Chief Finance Officer and

information to the public. Examples of information that is

the Head of Internal Audit (HIA) and the Joint Audit

published includes agendas and reports of public

AGS Page 3 of 27
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meetings, guidance on the Commissioner’s funds,

In general terms, the engagement over the last five years

During 2020/21 the Commissioner has continued to lead

freedom of information requests, financial information,

has been comprehensive and had been flexible to develop

a range of partnership working initiatives to deliver his

and details of key decisions. The OPCC this year was

to meet the changing needs of how people like to

Commissioning Strategy and ensure arrangements are in

awarded a transparency award from Policing Insight

communicate and especially the impact of social media.

place for victims support services. When Covid-19 was

because of the website meeting their transparency

Work has started on the new three-year communication

announced as a threat to public health in the UK, the

criteria.

and engagement strategy and this will be finalised

Commissioner developed an emergency plan, detailing

following the PCC elections.

the measures and arrangements he and his office, put in

The Commissioner is highly committed to be the voice of

wide range of engagement opportunities for the public to
make contact, so their views are heard and responded to.
Despite Covid-19, a range of engagement opportunities
have continued to be made available to the public.

with

Institutional

groups, charities, and partners, online public surgeries
and Facebook live, covering general and themed issues.

To promote openness and transparency, all Public

Accountability Conferences have continued to be

attend, and all minutes arising from these meetings are

published subsequently. An Annual Report, outlining the
work of the Commissioner, is published.

AGS Page 4 of 27

communities

during

the

pandemic.

The

Commissioner was committed to ensuring that funding
continued to flow to the services he commissions and

of bodies to encourage a multi-agency approach to

pledged to explore every opportunity to secure additional

matters within his remit. For example, he chairs the Safer

funding to support organisations and victims during this

Cumbria Partnership Delivery Board, which is both the

difficult time. The Commissioner successfully secured

county-wide Community Safety Partnership and Criminal

over £1 million.

Justice Board for Cumbria, and the Blue Light Executive
Board. In response to Covid-19, the Commissioner has

Engaging Stakeholders Effectively including Citizens and

also been a member of the county’s Senior Outbreak

Service Users

Management Board and Cumbria Leaders Board, as well
as maintained regular briefing and co-ordination

Su
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advertised to allow members of the press and public to

local

The Commissioner is actively engaged with a wide range

ec
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Examples include online focus groups with community

place to support the Constabulary, partner agencies and

Engaging
Comprehensively
Stakeholders

to

the people of Cumbria. This is demonstrated through a

The Policing Protocol Order highlights the accountability

meetings with County Members of Parliament (MPs) on

of the Police and Crime Commissioner to local people.

the Covid response. The Commissioner continues to work

This responsibility is delivered through the OPCC to

with the Cumbria District Leaders to co-ordinate and

ensure a wide range of engagement approaches so that

manage Covid related matters.

the Commissioner actively listens, considers, and
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effectively uses the view of the people of Cumbria to

▪

Video Blogs.

influence decisions.

▪

Campaigns focussing on anti-social driving, rural
crime, cyber-crime, and victims.

activities

and

encourages

the

Commissioner’s ethos of ‘we, not they’ to emphasis that
communities, stakeholders and partners need to all work

In February 2021, the PCC launched a Hate Crime survey

gaps in victims’ services for those affected.

to

projects that had been supported by the Community
COVID-19 Recovery Fund and Property Fund in supporting
local community groups and often diversion activities for

▪

Public surgeries online for members of the public

young people.

▪

Numerous focus groups from a diverse range of

The Commissioner’s calendar of events was due to reduce

community groups.

in March 2020 because of the pending PCC Elections. As a

Media engagements set up over the phone,

result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the PCC Elections were

Microsoft Teams, Zoom or in person following

postponed until May 2021. However, due to the

COVID-19 regulations.

Government restrictions the Commissioner has not been

Public consultation on setting the council tax
precept and joint annual survey with the
Constabulary on policing response to COVID-19.

▪

undertaking face-to-face public engagement events but

Su
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▪
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to submit questions or speak to the PCC.

▪

The Commissioner’s website.

▪ Social media: Twitter, Facebook and Youtube.
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property would represent an increase of 55p per month.

The OPCC logs all quality of service issues that are raised
with the Commissioner, which are tracked and escalated

The Commissioner, via online tools, met with various

During 2020/21, COVID-19 safe engagement included:

precept for 2020/21. 69% of the respondents (642)

to find out more about hate crime in Cumbria and identify

together to help deliver the Police and Crime Plan, to
make Cumbria even safer.

proposal to increase the policing part of the council tax

agreed with raising council tax, which for a Band D

The Commissioner is directly involved in all of the
engagement

The Commissioner launched public consultation on the

has undertaken a great social media presence including
Microsoft Teams meetings.

with the Chief Constable where appropriate. This
feedback is also used by the Constabulary to assess what
lessons can be learned from examples of poor or
unsatisfactory service, to make improvements. In
summary, the engagement with all stakeholders allows
the Commissioner to develop a vision for policing services,
which in turn influences decisions and is incorporated
within the Police and Crime Plan.
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Cumbria an even safer place’. The priorities within the

partners, with the fundamental principle of ‘We, Not

Principle C: Defining outcomes in

plan are:

They’. A comprehensive Accountability Framework is in

terms of sustainable economic,

1 Your Priorities For Cumbria

social,

2 A Visible and Effective Police Presence

place to assess how well the priorities are being achieved.

and

environmental

In addition, where grants have been awarded by the
Commissioner, the awards are made against agreed
timescales and milestones for delivery and include

3 Tackle Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

benefits

success criteria or performance measures. In 2019/20,

4 Ensure Offenders Face A Consequence For Their Crime
5 Always Put Victims First

Internal Audit provided substantial assurance against the
OPCC governance arrangements for monitoring the
delivery of the Police & Crime Plan.

to

6 Focus our Police on Online and Sexual Crime

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

During 2020/21, the Police and Crime Panel has continued

ARRANGEMENTS

7 Spend your Money Wisely

to facilitate effective scrutiny of delivery of the plan’s

Defining Outcomes

8 Supporting Young People

objectives through quarterly online meetings. Thematic
reports are presented to the Panel and follow terms of

ec
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Following the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic and the

The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (PR&SRA)

requires the Commissioner to produce a Police and Crime
Plan setting the vision and strategic direction for policing,
crime reduction and community safety. A Police and

Crime Plan was launched in November 2016, following the

Commissioner

The Chief Constable is held to account for delivery of

determined that his priorities set out in the Police & Crime

policing objectives through the Commissioners Public

Plan would remain the same for 2020/21. To underpin

Accountability Conferences (PACs). These meetings are

this, the Commissioner developed an Action Plan,

divided into two key areas of business: performance and

Commissioner
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appointment of a new Police and Crime Commissioner for

Cumbria. The Police and Crime Plan contains the police
and crime objectives which all contribute toward

achieving the Commissioner’s overall aim ‘to make
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reference agreed in advance with the Panel Chair.

subsequent postponement of the 2020 Police & Crime
(PCC)

elections,

the

detailing the key work streams to be delivered during this

finance.

A reporting schedule for these meetings is

period, as well as support the Constabulary and local

agreed annually with the Constabulary and ensures the

communities across Cumbria during the Covid-19

Commissioner monitors performance against a number of

emergency. Delivery of this Action Plan has continued to

areas of policing identified in the Police and Crime Plan.

be in partnership with the statutory and third sector

During 2020/21 thematic reports provided assurance on
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the Constabulary’s response to the Covid-19 emergency,

objectives as set out in the Police and Crime Plan. During

Through

community policing, child sexual exploitation and abuse,

2020/21 the Commissioner has committed funding to

Constabulary assurance covering a range of areas of

and victims.

projects and initiatives aimed at reducing offending and

performance including Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of

re-offending and supporting victims of crime. A significant

Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS)

proportion of that funding has been committed to

performance recommendations. Crime data and police

supporting victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence

performance have also been regularly monitored. The

during the pandemic.

Commissioner

In addition, reports were also received

covering financial monitoring, crime data and ethics.
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) Inspections further support
the Commissioner in holding the Chief Constable to

forum,

also

the Commissioner

scrutinised

the

received

Constabulary’s

response to the pandemic, including policing issues raised

To support procurement and commissioning activity, the

The Police and Crime Act 2017 conferred a duty on

OPCC & Constabulary have in place Joint Procurement

Commissioners to collaborate on the delivery of

Regulations and a Social Value Policy, incorporating a

emergency services. In 2020/21 the Commissioner

modern slavery statement.

continued to chair the Blue Light Executive Board which

Principle D: Determining the
interventions
necessary
to
optimise the achievement of the
intended outcomes.

ec
t

manages shared areas of collaboration between the

to

account for performance of the force.

Police, Fire and Ambulance.

this

The Commissioning Strategy sets out the processes by

by the Government’s emergency measures such as social
distancing, travel and exercise.

The Commissioner has supported the Chief Constable in
helping to keep the public safe during the coronavirus
outbreak. At the start of the pandemic, the Commissioner
developed an emergency plan detailing his response.
Principally this involved working with the Chief Constable
to understand the policing, crime and victim’s needs as a

which the Commissioner will identify and fund services to

direct result of Covid-19 and ensuring sufficient resource

support his priorities. This was reviewed and updated in

in place to enable the Constabulary to deal effectively

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

Su
bj

2020/21.

Planning and Determining Interventions

Sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits

with the virus. Initially this focused on ICT to facilitate
remote working and the provision of personal, protective
equipment to ensure the safety of officers and staff.

During the course of 2020/21 the Commissioner’s

Alongside this, the Commissioner secured additional

The Head of Partnerships and Commissioning ensures that

continued to hold the Chief Constable to account through

funding helping organisations to provide an immediate

the services commissioned are consistent with the PCC’s

his Public Accountability Conferences, held virtually.
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response to the pandemic to ensure victims continued to

Salthouse Road, Barrow. This project has provided

National Farmers Union (NFU), with all partners

receive the vital support they need.

thousands of pounds worth of crime prevention

working together to promote rural safety and

measures, home security equipment and street

prevent rural crime.

The Cumbria ‘Out of Court (OoCDs) Disposal Scrutiny

lighting across the area.

Panel’ is chaired the Head of Partnerships and

▪

▪

Developing a co-commissioning agreement with

In partnership with the Constabulary to develop and

National Probation Service to pilot a Women’s

quickly and proportionately with low level, often first

procure a Cumbria Adult Out of Court Disposal

Outreach Service to enable women in rurally isolated

time, offending, which can be appropriately resolved

Framework, known as ‘The Pathways Programme’.

communities to access support services.

The OoCDs allow the police to deal

without a prosecution at court. The Panel seeks to
increase the public’s understanding and confidence in
how the Constabulary uses OoCDs.

▪

During 2020,

▪

Quality Assessment Framework to review and
improve how criminal justice and support agencies
comply with national standards for victims of crime.

Working with the Constabulary and through Safer

feedback is given to officers and decision makers, which

modern slavery and human trafficking across all

ec
t

Cumbria, to develop a better understanding of

highlights good practice or contributes towards training

partner agencies in Cumbria.

▪

Continued to lead on the implementation of the

knowledge of how to protect themselves against

and anonymised cases. Following each Panel meeting

and improvements to the Constabulary’s policies.

▪

fraud and other crimes committed via the internet.

meetings have been held virtually. The Panel has met
three times and scrutinised up to 90 randomly selected

Working with Get Safe Online to raise public

to

Commissioning.

▪

The Commissioner continues to chair the Blue Light
Collaboration Executive Leaders Board, which
oversees joint work-streams between the Police, Fire
and Ambulance.

Working with partners to deliver a Safer Driving
Campaign, in response to what local residents said is

During the pandemic the Commissioner has continued to

build on partnership working to address priorities in the

one of their main local concerns. The campaign

work with partners to adapt existing mechanisms and

Police and Crime Plan and respond to the Covid-19

focuses on raising awareness of the Fatal Four (no

structures so they can provide the provision of important

pandemic. Projects have included:

seatbelts;

and

services. He has administrated the Ministry of Justice

drug/drink driving). In addition, delivery of a rural

Extraordinary Covid-19 Fund to help local charities

Working with Barrow Borough Council and Cumbria

crime campaign, which has been influenced by

supporting victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence

County Council to deliver the Safer Streets Project in

current issues raised by the Constabulary and

develop and adapt the delivery of their services during the

▪

Su
bj

During the last year, the Commissioner has continued to
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speeding;

distracted

driving

Au
di
t

pandemic to ensure victims continued to receive the

have oversight of the multi-agency emergency plans

increase of 2.47%. The additional funding provided to the

support they need. In June 2020, the Commissioner also

developed to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 and to use

Constabulary will allow existing services to be maintained

launched his own Covid-19 Community Recovery Fund to

this information to shape his communication with the

and has facilitated planned recruitment of an additional

provide immediate short-term financial assistance (of up

public, and engagement with partners.

60 officers in 2021/22. This is slightly above its target of

to £5,000) to local charities, community and voluntary

support to victims or looking at different ways of working
to continue to achieve their aims. The fund closed in
September 2020, with a total of £182,105 awarded to 43
groups, supporting youth outreach work, drug and
alcohol recovery, vulnerable older people isolated due to
the pandemic, counselling for young homeless people and

vehicle by which community safety and criminal justice
are delivered and national contingency plans are

translated into local actions. The OPCC has worked with
the partnership to review its key strategic priorities to

ensure they reflect the main issues, risks and threats likely

to

groups who were struggling to retain their offer of vital

recruiting 47 officers in the second phase of Operation

The Safer Cumbria Partnership remains the primary

to impact upon crime and community safety in Cumbria

to achieve its overall recruitment target over the three
years of the Uplift programme. In consultation with the
Commissioner, the additional officers will be deployed by
the Chief Constable to areas, which will support the Police
and Crime Plan’s principal objective of keeping Cumbria
safe.

from 2021 onwards, especially in response to Covid-19.

much more.

The Partnership’s overarching Strategy has been updated

The Government grant funding provided for Operation

to reflect these changes.

Uplift and the increase in council tax for 2021/22, in

ec
t

The Commissioner has held regular one-to-one meetings
with the Chief Constable during the pandemic,

maintaining a good oversight of how the Constabulary has
continued to work in partnership, locally, regionally and
nationally, to provide an efficient and effective local

response to Covid-19 and support Cumbria’s recovery

The policing grant settlement, received in December 2020
provided £3.4m in additional grant funding for 2021/22,
principally to support the second phase of Operation
Uplift; the Government’s plan to recruit 20,000 new
officers by 2023.

Su
bj

back to normal life. The Commissioner also liaises closely

with the Chief Officer Team as the Constabulary chairs the
Cumbria Strategic Co-ordination Group (SCG) that brings
together key agencies to lead the county response to this

national emergency. This enables the Commissioner to
AGS Page 9 of 27

Uplift and will put the Constabulary into a good position

The settlement also provided

Commissioners with a degree of flexibility to levy above
inflation council tax increases. Following a public
consultation exercise, the Commissioner approved the
2021/22 budget in February 2021 based on a council tax

combination with the public sector pay freeze for 2021,
have eased the immediate financial pressure to deliver
savings to balance the budget. Nevertheless, financial
risks, specifically in relation to the Government’s funding
model post Operation Uplift, the cost of implementing
the Emergency Services Network, pension cost pressures,
any potential review of the Police Funding Formula and
the negative impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on public
finances mean that the Commissioner’s financial
prospects remain uncertain over the medium term.

▪

Au
di
t

Against this background, modelling of a range of financial

Provided restorative services, enabling victims to

▪

Provide financial support to numerous projects

scenarios, through the Medium Term Financial Planning

inform offenders of the impact a crime/antisocial

working with victims across Cumbria through his

process, have been undertaken jointly by the OPCC and

behaviour incident has had on them.

Property Fund and Covid-19 Community Recovery

Constabulary. This work has continued to inform wider
business planning and develop savings proposals, as a

▪

Fund.

Worked with partners to develop proposals to pilot a
Women’s Outreach Service.

means of balancing the budget over the medium term.

▪

▪

Support his Victims’ Advocate to champion the cause
for victims, and importantly, help drive up standards.

Together with Cumbria County Council, continued to
fund an Integrated Independent Domestic Abuse &

Optimising Achievement of Intended Outcomes

Sexual Abuse Crisis Support Service.

medium term financial strategy, incorporating financial

▪

modelling, operational plans and capital strategies.
Following the outbreak of the Covid-19 and the

▪

Recommendations, the Commissioner determined that
his priorities set out in the current Police & Crime Plan

▪

would remain the same for 2020/21 and developed a

Fund the Bridgeway Sexual Assault Support Services,

have experienced sexual abuse and sexual assault to

for the PCC and partners’ to keep victims safe and at the

Su
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cope and recover.

heart of the Criminal Justice system. During, the last year,
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REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

including a therapeutic service to help people who

supporting Action Plan to provide a clear focus of activity

the Commissioner has continued to:

Principle E: Developing the
entity’s capacity, including the
capability of its leadership and
the individuals within it

Commissioned Victim Support to provide emotional,
practical, advocacy and signposting services.

ec
t

subsequent postponement of the 2020 PCC elections

Provide a victim service, which integrates support for
people who have experienced all types of crime
working with the County Council, NHS and other local
authority partners.

to

All planning is undertaken in the context of a four-year

▪

Fund a county-wide Domestic Abuse Perpetrator
Programme “Turning the Spotlight” and “Step Up” for
families experiencing child-on-parent or guardian
violence.

Developing the entity’s capacity
The key functions and roles of the Commissioner and the
Chief Constable are set out in the Police Reform and Social
Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA). The PRASA also sets out
the function and roles of statutory officers, namely the
Monitoring Officer (Chief Executive) and the Chief Finance

Au
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Officer (CFO). The monitoring officer has specific legal,

Developing the entity’s leadership

financial and governance duties in addition to a statutory
responsibility for the lawfulness of decision making. The
functions and roles set out in legislation and guidance are
codified in the Commissioner’s scheme of delegation.

Committees evidenced compliance with CIPFA guidance
and elements constituting best practice. The full report of

The Chief Executive receives support through the
Association of Police and Crime Commissioner Chief

the Committee can be found on the Commissioner’s
website at:

Executives (APACCE), while the Chief Finance Officer
continues to receive support from the Police and Crime

http://www.cumbria-

During 2020/21 there have been no major changes to the

Commissioner’s Treasurer’s Society (PaCCTS) and the

pcc.gov.uk/governancetransparency/audit-

structure of the OPCC. The OPCC is a small team and

associated technical information service. During 2020/21

committee.aspx.

works together to address any issues arising from staff

the Chief Finance Officer and wider finance team have

turnover.

actively participated in the ‘Achieving Financial Excellence

The Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive rotate
roles on a six monthly basis and this provides a cost
effective approach as well as offering greater resilience.
This arrangement continues to work well.

to

in Policing’ programme developed by the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. Central to
this programme was a

self- assessment of financial

management involving consultation with a wide range of

ec
t

stakeholders. The result of the self assessment exercise

The Commissioner and Chief Constable have agreed to a
shared Chief Finance Officer arrangement. A protocol and

was a grading of 4 out of 5. An action plan has now been

review of the operation of the Joint Chief Finance Officer

Joint Audit Committee was limited by the pandemic,

Su
bj

During 2020/21 development activity for members of the

arrangement has been conducted aligned to the CIPFA

however sessions took place remotely in relation to

statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer. This

treasury

exercise has shown full compliance and has not revealed

Constabulary’s budget and medium term financial

any significant issues.

forecast. A formal review of effectiveness of the

Commissioner

/

Committee against the new CIPFA guidance for Audit
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those involved and to prevent the spread of coronavirus.
The OPCC has implemented a temporary arrangement
that will still enable it to maintain oversight and
assurance. This initially took the format of dip sampling

telephone to check on their welfare.

potential conflicts of interest arising from the joint role. A

the

suspend the scheme in its current format to protect all

involves the volunteers speaking to detainees via the

range of safeguards have been put in place to handle

and

on a revised basis as the Commissioner continued to

of custody records on a weekly basis to assess; and now

developed to address areas for improvement.

management

The four Independent Custody Visiting Panels operated

Developments during the year included:

▪
▪

Virtual four monthly panel meetings on social media
platforms to remain connected with the volunteers.
Recruitment campaigns to attract new candidates
have been placed on hold but contact with those who

Au
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have expressed an interest in joining the scheme has

Developing the capability of individuals within the entity

Principle F: Managing risks and

taken place during 2020.

A comprehensive OPCC Training Plan has been

▪

Delivery of on-going ICVA thematic training packages

developed. This sets out the overall training plan for

for existing members. In 2020/21 the theme was

the

Children and Young People.

responsibilities.

Membership of the Independent Custody Visitors

During 2020/21 arrangements to support staff in

Association (ICVA).

tasking and performance have been embedded and

Attendance at virtual national conferences

▪

The Scheme Administrator joins the Constabulary’s

cascades

Under the Animal Welfare Scheme, monthly visits to
Constabulary

and

Weekly tasking meetings attended by all staff.

▪

Monthly team meetings focused on policy and
procedures.

▪

12 weekly Strength Based Conversations and
supporting 1-2-1s.

the Civil Nuclear

Constabulary have been prevented from taking place
due to the pandemic.

through

robust

internal control and strong public
financial management

the Dogs Trust to provide Animal Welfare Visitors
from the OPCC’s scheme to carry out visits for them.

Managing risk
The Commissioner's Risk Management Strategy is
reviewed on a 3-year cyclical basis and was reviewed in
2020. The conclusions of this review were reported to
the Joint Audit Committee in March 2020. A high-level

A monthly informal team catch-up also takes places where

review is undertaken annually to ensure that the strategy

staff can share information about their role or themselves

reflects the current risk environment. Any changes are

in a less formal environment.

presented to the Joint Audit Committee. Risk has become

Su
bj

Work is being undertaken to have an agreement with
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individual

▪

ec
t

and keep up to day with developments in custody.

Cumbria

into

performance

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

Custody Forum meetings to advise on the scheme

▪

and

are working well:

▪

▪

office

to

▪

embedded within the everyday work of the OPCC, staff
continually assess risks within their roles. Both strategic
and operational risks are reviewed on a quarterly basis
and appropriate updates made. The Commissioner also
provides scrutiny of the Constabulary’s management of
strategic risks.

Au
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The strategic risk register is updated on a quarterly basis

the implementation of actions and recommendations

2020/21 the Committee has considered and provided

and currently incorporates risks in relation to future

arising from inspections, including those undertaken by

scrutiny of the Financial Regulations and Rules, the OPCC

funding, financial and operational risks relating to the

HMICFRS.

This is supported by regular one to one

Grant Regulations and Procedures, the Commissioner’s

implementation of the Emergency Services Network,

meetings

between

and

the Code of Corporate Governance, the Internal Audit

commissioning of services with partner agencies for the

Commissioner.

Senior officers within the OPCC also

Charter, the PCC Scheme of Delegation, the PCC’s

Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SAR) from 2022 onwards.

attend Constabulary meetings to provide challenge and

Arrangements for Anti-Fraud and Corruption activities,

oversight of the arrangements that support decision

the Treasury Management Strategy, Statement of

making, delivery of key areas of business and the

Accounts and Annual Governance Statement.

The Commissioner’s arrangements for Risk Management
include procedures for Business Continuity, which are

allocation of resources.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic the Business
Continuity Plan has been utilised and where necessary
updated to reflect the changing environment.

Chief

Constable

Internal controls have also been reviewed through the

to

regularly reviewed and tested throughout the year.

the

All Police and Crime Panel meetings are held in public,
providing an open and transparent process for
scrutinising the decisions and work of the Commissioner.
During 2020/21 the Panel has placed a significant focus on

Managing Performance
The

Public

Accountability

Conferences

ec
t

monitoring delivery of the Police and Crime Plan and

facilitate

underpinning Action Plan, receiving thematic reports

arrangements for the scrutiny of quarterly thematic

against these at each meeting.

reports from the Constabulary around priority areas of

unanimously supported the Commissioner’s proposed

policing including its response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

precept for 2021/22.

The Panel has also

In addition, six monthly performance reports provide an

Robust Internal Control
During 2020/21 a number of areas of the corporate

Su
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understanding

of

the

demand

placed

on

the

Constabulary, how it addresses this demand and

improves outcomes for victims. The Commissioner also
receives updates on how the Constabulary is supporting
victims of crime and antisocial behaviour and monitors
AGS Page 13 of 27

governance framework have been subject to cyclical
review and update. This process is supported by the
professional advice of the Joint Audit Committee. During

annual process of management assurances and the
annual internal audit plan. As a result of the emergence of
Covid-19 at the end of 2019/20, internal audit work had
to be temporarily suspended, however, audits recommenced from June 2020 and, aside from one audit
review, the full audit plan for 2020/21 has been delivered.
This has allowed the Head of Internal audit to provide
‘Reasonable Assurance’ on the PCC’s arrangements for
risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall, of the thirteen audits completed in 2020/21
covering the activities of the OPCC and Constabulary, 85%
provided either substantial or reasonable assurance.
Management have put in place to address all audit
recommendations.

governing the protection of data, ensuring that all data is
appropriately stored and shared where necessary.
Information is provided to members of the public under
the Freedom of Information Act, with requests and
responses published on the Commissioner’s website. The
Ethics and Integrity Panel provide additional assurance in
this respect. Physical data within the OPCC is held securely
with appropriate office and cabinet security provided.
The OPCC is reliant upon Cumbria Constabulary in relation

Au
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The OPCC operates within the parameters of legislation

budget and precept in the context of a medium-term

Whilst Government grant funding provided for Operation

financial strategy 2021-2025. In line with his duty to

Uplift and the increase in council tax for 2021/22,have

maintain the police force the Commissioner agreed a net

eased the immediate financial pressures on the budget,

revenue budget of £136.9m and a capital budget of £4.5m

financial sustainability over the medium term has

for the Chief Constable for the 2021/22 financial year and

remained on the Commissioner’s strategic risk register.

a funding arrangement that codifies the terms for that

The potential impact of the pandemic on public finances

funding,

financial

has compounded existing uncertainties in relation to the

The budget for 2021/22 also included

Government’s model for police funding beyond Operation

£0.85m for the operation of the Office of the Police and

Uplift, the funding of police pensions and the cost of the

Crime Commissioner and £2.2m funding within a

Emergency Services Network. A number of mitigation

including

management.

arrangements

for

to

Managing Data

commissioned services budget for victims, community

measures have been put in place including the detailed

safety and crime reduction.

medium-term financial forecast, financial scenario

to some business functions and regular meetings are held

During 2020/21 the Commissioner received regular

meetings are held with the Constabulary to assess the

financial reports including the revenue and capital

ec
t

to monitor compliance and developments. Regular

continued compliance and any affect on the OPCC.

plans in conjunction with the Constabulary.

budgets, in year monitoring of expenditure against

The OPCC has a joint Data Protection Officer with Cumbria

Constabulary. Any identified data breaches notified to, or
within, the OPCC are highlighted to the Joint DPO to

budget and treasury management. A summary format of

During 2020/21 the finance team have actively

financial reports incorporating tables and graphs,

participated in the Achieving Financial Excellence in

wherever appropriate, is used to improve accessibility.

Policing programme promoted by the Chartered Institute

Financial reports are published on the Commissioner’s

of Public Finance and Accountancy. The central element of

website.

the initiative has been completion of a self-assessment of

Su
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assess and advise of any course of action to be taken.
Strong Public Financial Management

The outcome of all audits of financial arrangements during

th

At the Public Accountability Conference on the 19

February 2020, the Commissioner set the 2021/22 annual
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planning, use of reserves and development of savings

2020/21 was an opinion that provided either reasonable
or substantial assurance.

all aspects of financial management in the force involving
consultation with a comprehensive range of stakeholders.
The overall outcome of this work was positive, with a
grading of 4 out of 5. An action plan to address areas for

Au
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improvement has been developed and will be progressed

and accessibility of financial information. Further to this,

Principle G: Implementing good

in 2021/22.

the statutory financial statements for 2019/20, published
in June 2020, include the Chief Finance Officers’ Narrative

practices in transparency, reporting
The Financial Management Code developed by the

and

audit to deliver

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
came into effect from the 1st April 2020, with the aim of

accountability.

supporting good practice in financial management in local

during 2020/21. A self-assessment has been undertaken,
which shows that the Commissioner largely meets the

accessible summary of the statements and financial and
performance information, alongside a business review.

REVIEW OF REQUIREMENTS AND

The

ARRANGEMENTS

achievements have been published in an annual report,

to

difficult for authorities to demonstrate full-compliance

effective

The Narrative report incorporates a more

Implementing good practices in reporting

authorities including the policing sector. However, there
is a recognition that due to the global pandemic, it may be

Report.

Commissioner’s

activities,

performance

and

which can be found on the Commissioner’s website at

Implementing good practice in transparency

www.cumbria-pcc.gov.uk.

It

highlights

the

The Commissioner is committed to good transparency.

commissioner’s key achievements during his fifth year in

where further work is required to ensure full compliance,

Every opportunity is taken to demonstrate the good work

office, including:

most notably in relation to

that the Commissioner is involved with especially around

ec
t

requirements of the code, however there are some areas

Demonstrating Value for Money.

•

Balance sheet monitoring.

•

Scheme of delegation and financial training

•

Developing a financial resilience index.

•

Application of formal options appraisal techniques.

the support to third-parties and commissioned services.

A copy of the self-assessment is included as an appendix
to the Annual Governance Statement (Appendix C).
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▪

Continuation of funding for many community

This is further reinforced by publishing information from

projects and support services to tackle the key

across the OPCC using different formats to allow people

priorities in the Police and Crime Plan and maintain

to access information in range of forms.

vital services for victims.

The

Commissioner’s website remains the central place for all

Su
bj

•

information to be accessed.

▪

Setting the policing budget for 2021/22, maintaining
the additional 45 police officers secured over the

Throughout the year the Commissioner has published

Commissioner’s term of office and increasing by a

regular financial monitoring information in a short and

further 111 police officers through the first two

succinct format that aims to increase the transparency

phases of the Government’s Operation Uplift

Au
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Programme to recruit an additional 20,000 officers

Assurance and effective accountability

nationally.

The external auditors gave an unqualified opinion for the

▪

Improved youth engagement through the work of the

Commissioner’s Financial Statements for 2019/20,

Cumbria Youth Commission, Mini Police and Cadets.

confirming that they provided a true and fair view of the
financial position and that they have been properly

Prioritised and supported work to address the top

prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local

public concerns raised with him namely, police

Authority Accounting. The auditors further confirmed in

visibility, safer driving, cyber-crime and rural crime.

their Annual Audit Letter that that the Commissioner had

An updated Code of Corporate Governance was adopted
in line with the 2016 CIPFA Good Governance Framework
for Local Government.
A review of the arrangements for internal audit have

2019/20 were released in June, with the final version

financial reporting, which were less stringent than in
previous year in cognisance of the difficulties presented by
the Covid-19 pandemic.
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remotely, but have been able to continue business as
usual. Meetings and engagement activities have been
moved on-line and have operated effectively.

FURTHER INFORMATION

Further information on the arrangements for Governance

internal audit plan, external audit reports and HMICFRS

tab headed Governance and Transparency.

are monitored by the Joint Audit Committee.

We welcome your views on the Commissioner’s Annual
Governance Statement. You can do this by using the
contact information below:

some specific areas of activity, such as complaint handling

Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner

and ethical issues. During the pandemic the Panel will

Carleton Hall

provide assurance around the Constabulary’s use of the

Penrith

Su
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published in November, meeting the deadlines for

pandemic. For the most part staff have been working

can be found on the Commissioner’s website under the

The Ethics and Integrity Panel monitors and reports on

The Commissioner’s unaudited financial statements for

Crime Commissioner has been impacted by the Covd-19

Implementation of recommendations arising from the

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) during
2020/21.

During 2020/21 the work of the Office of the Police and

efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.

ec
t

confirmed that the service meets the requirements of the

proper arrangements in place for securing economy,

to

▪

Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic

emergency powers by conducting dip-samples of the

Cumbria CA10 2AU

Fixed Penalty Notices issued relating to Covid-19
restrictions and the Governments Guidelines.

Telephone: 01768 217734
E-mail:commissioner@cumbria-pcc.gov.uk

Au
di
t

*Peter McCall
Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria

Chief Executive

*Roger Marshall
Chief Finance Officer

28 June 2021

*Signatures are removed for the purposes of Publication
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on the website

to

*Gill Shearer
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Appendix A Update on 2020/21 Development and Improvement Plan
Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation Action Update 31 October 2020
from
by
2019/20
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting the rule of law.

CPA/1

N/A

CPB/1

N/A

CPB/2

CPB/2

Arising from the review of communications and engagement,
develop an Engagement Strategy 2020-2024

Head of Communications and 30th June 2020
Business Services

The PCC elections were postponed until May 21 as a
result this action should be moved to June 2021.

CPB/3

N/A

Develop a communications and engagement strategy for 20/21
that reflects the government COVID-19 restrictions at the time
and embraces new ways of communicating. Timescale Oct 20

Head of Communications and 31st October
Business Services
2020

This strategy has been completed however, it is a
dynamic document due to the changes in government
legilsation as a result of COVID-19.

Embed the Complaint Regulation changes within the OPCC and Head of Communications and 31st December
develop a review oversight procedure for the Ethics and Integrity Business Services
2020
Panel.

ec
t

Status

The process is now well embedded into working
practices. As part of their dip sample programme the
Ethics Panel are looking at the review files on a six
monthly basis. The first time was on 29 October 2020

Completed

All issues raised are fed into the local policing teams by
the Staff Office to understand the issues and identify
resolutions where possible. At Collaborative Board the
OPCC Exec Team will raise re-occuring trends and
themes to enable strategic input and oversight. Ethics
Panel receive six monthly reports on complaints and
QSPI's

Completed

to

Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Establish a stronger link between individual QSPIs and work with Head of Communications and 31st October
the Constabulary to influence strategic actions with a view to
Business Services
2020
improving the policing service in the county.

Revised
Implementation
Date

30th June 2021

Ongoing (original
timescale
extended)
Completed

Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental benefits
CPC/1

N/A

Produce a plan to outline what the Commissioner and the OPCC Partnerships and Strategy
are doing to support communities and the Constabulary during Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 emergency.

31st May 2020

CPC/2

N/A

Review the Commissioning Strategy and implement
recommendations.

30th September
2020

CPC/3

N/A

Review the Grant Regulations and implement recommendations. Assistant Policy Officer

Su
bj

Partnerships and Strategy
Manager (Performance)
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30th September
2020

A Plan has been developed outlining how the
Commissioner and his team are supporting the
countywide response to the Covid-19 pandemic. Chief
Officers and the Police & Crime Panel have all been
sighted on the Plan
The Commissioning Strategy has been reviewed and
approved by Executive Team (05.11.2020). No
recommendations arising from this review
The Grant Regulations have been reviewed and
approved by Executive Team (05.11.2020). This review
was informed by findings / recommendations arising
from a recent internal review of our contract
management arrangements conducted by the
Partnerships & Commissioning Team.

Completed

Completed

Completed

Ref

B/fwd
Action
from
2019/20
(ref)

CPD/1

N/A

N/A

CPE/2

CPE/2

Revised
Implementation
Date

Status

Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended
Review the Accountability Framework to ensure that the
Partnerships and Strategy
30th June 2020
Commissioner is assured that the Constabulary is responding to Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 pandemic in a measured and consistent way.

Although, the Accountability Framework has been
30th November
reviewed and changes have been incorporated to
2020
ensure the Commissioner is assured that the
Constabulary is responding to the pandemic, this
revised framework has not yet been signed off by
Executive Team. The Commissioner receives weekly
updates from the Chief Constable in his one to one
meetings, and has received further assurance through
his Public Accountability Conferences (on 20th May 2020
and 6th October 2020).
Continue to work in collaboration with Cleveland, Northumbria Partnerships and Strategy
31st January 2021 The North East collaboration with NHS England has
and Durham OPCCs and NHS England / NHS Improvement to
Manager (Commissioning)
continued to evolve despite a failed procurement for an
jointly commission an integrated Sexual Assault Referral Centre
all aged SARC in Cumbria. A second procurement is due
(SARC) model across these areas.
to take place in summer 2021.
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity's capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.
Review the impact of the Covid-19 lockdown on the OPCC and
Chief Executive
30th September At the beginning of the pandemic the OPCC invoked its
implement recommendations to help shape the future of the
2020
Business Continuity Plan and staff worked from home.
organisation. Identify what has worked well, what can be
The OPCC has changed the way in which it works and is
improved and what the organisation can stop doing.
still able to fulful all its statutory and other functions.
IT connection was initially a problem, however this has
now been resolved and recently laptops have been
upgraded which has provided greater connectivity.
Review contract management arrangements and implement
Partnerships and Strategy
30th November The review has been completed and recommendations
recommendations.
Manager (Performance)
2020
implemented. Subsequently, Internal Audit have given
substantial assurance

Su
bj

CPE/1

Action Update 31 October 2020

to

N/A

Implementation
by

ec
t

CPD/2

Lead Officer

Au
di
t
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Completed

carry forward
2021-2022

Completed

Completed

Ref

B/fwd
Action
from
2019/20
(ref)

CPF/1

CPF/1

N/A

Action Update 31 October 2020

to

CPF/3

ec
t

N/A

Implementation
by

Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial management.
Scope the approach and put in place arrangements to support
Partnerships and Strategy
31st March 2021 Following postponement of the Police & Crime
the development of the Police & Crime Plan 2020/2024 following Manager (Performance)
Commissioner elections, the Commissioner has
postponement of the PCC elections in May 2020 and the
determined that his priorities set out in the current
outbreak of coronavirus.
Police & Crime Plan will remain in place for the next
year. To support this, an Action Plan has been
developed to sit alongside the Police & Crime Plan,
setting out the key pieces of work that will be delivered
during this extended period of time. The Action Plan is a
living document that will be updated, as required, to
ensure it reflects emerging trends and issues arising
both locally and nationally from the Covid-19 pandemic.
It is also possible, following Police & Crime
Commissioner elections in May 2021, that the lifespan
of the Action Plan is extended to drive business until
March 2022.
Develop a new Covid-19 Fund to assist voluntary and community Partnerships and Strategy
30th June 2020
At the start of June 2020, the Commissioner launched
groups to either carry on providing existing services or launch
Manager (Performance)
the Covid-19 Community Recovery Fund to provide
new projects to help people during the Covid-19 lockdown
short-term financial assistance of up to £5,000 to local
period or afterwards when restrictions are relaxed.
charities, community and voluntary groups to help them
to continue to offer vital support to victims or to look at
different ways of working to continue to achieve their
aims. The fund ended on the 30th September 2020 but
those in receipt on the funding have until 31st March
2021 to spent the money they received in its entirety.
Implement the revised Safer Cumbria governance structure and Partnerships and Strategy
work collaboratively to deliver its overarching strategy and joint Manager (Performance)
initiatives.

Su
bj

CPF/2

Lead Officer

Au
di
t
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31st July 2020

The revised Safer Cumbria governance structure
commenced April 2020. The overarching strategy was
presented at the Safer Cumbria Board in August 2020
and will provide strategic direction for the Partnership
to 2025.

Revised
Implementation
Date

Status

Completed

Completed

Completed

Au
di
t

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
from
2020/21
(ref)
Core Principle A: Focusing on behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and
respecting the rule of law.

CPA/1

CPB2

to

CPB/1

ec
t

CPC/1

CPD/1

Develop a holistic approach for women services through the
Project Manager
Women Centres.
Working with the Constabulary to reduce reoffending through
Project Manager
the implementation of an Out of Courts Disposal Framework
through the Pathways project.
Continue to deliver the Government's policy around Safer Streets Safer Streets Co-ordinator

CPD/2

CPD/5

Su
bj

CPD/3
CPD/4

Develop a succession plan to ensure resilience and continuity of Governance Manager
28 February 2022
the membership and skills of the Ethics & Integrity Panel.
Core Principle B: Focusing on ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
Develop a communications and engagement strategy for 2021-24 Communications and
30 June 2021
Engagement Officers.
Core Principle C: Focusing on defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental
benefits
Work with the newly elected Police & Crime Commissioner to
Partership & Strategy
31 December 2021
develop a new Police & Crime Plan for 2021-2024
Manager
Core Principle D: Focusing on determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended
outcomes.

CPD/2
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Develop and commission an intervention for perpetrators of
Hate Crime.
Continue to work in collaboration with Cleveland, Northumbria
and Durham OPCCs and NHS England / NHS Improvement to
jointly commission an integrated Sexual Assault Referral Centre
(SARC) model across these areas.

Partnership & Strategy
Manager
Partnerships and Strategy
Manager

31 March 2022
31 March 2022

31 March 2022
31 October 2021
31 December 2021

Au
di
t

Appendix B 2021/22 Development and Improvement Plan

Ref

CPE/1
CPE/2

B/fwd
Action
Lead Officer
Implementation by
from
2020/21
(ref)
Core Principle E: Focusing on developing the entity's capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the
individuals within it.
Internal Audit of the OPCC's Agile Working arrangements.
Governance Manager
30 September 2021
Implement the recommendations from the 2021 PCC review
Chief Executive
31 March 2022
Core Principle F: Focusing on managing risks and performance through internal control and strong public financial
management.
Review of governance structure and processes in preparation for Governance Manager
31 December 2021
the outcome of PCC Reviews.
Consider the implications of local goverment re-organisation on Chief Executive
31 August 2021
the Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner and make
recommendations to the Police & Crime Commissioner.
Develop partnership arrangements with the Youth Endowment Partnership & Strategy
31 March 2021
Fund to ensure access to future funding streams that helps to
Manager
prevent the criminalisation of children
Complete a self-assessment against the CIPFA Good Governance Safer Cumbria Co-ordinator
30 November 2021
Guide for the Safer Cumbria Partnership to drive
recommendations for improvement

to

CPF/1
CPF/2

ec
t

CPF/3

Su
bj

CPF/4
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Appendix C CIPFA Financial Management Code Self-Assessment
Question

Answer

Does the authority have a clear and consistent
understanding of what value for money means
to it and to its leadership team?
Does the authority have suitable mechanisms
in place to promote value for money at a
corporate level and at the level of individual
services?

We have clear references to achieving VFM in the annual financial strategy, the
Procurement Strategy and the Force Strategic Plan

Review documentation to make VFM
more explicit

A corporate framework of management procedures and rules for securing value for
money is incorporated into key joint governance documents including the
Procurement and Financial Regulations.

Develop an enhanced savings and
efficiencies plan, to incorporate benefits
management.

RAG

Areas for Improvement

Au
di

The Deputy Chief Constable chairs a monthly Management Board to analyse
performance and consider improvement plans. The Constabulary has an efficiency
change
programme,
which
to deliverBoard.
savings.
Is the authority able to demonstrate the action and
Actions
are taken
from the
DCC aims
Management
Recommendations from this
that it has taken to promote value for money board HMICFRS and audit are rigorously followed up
and what it has achieved?
Procurement savings are reported to Blue Light Commercial on a quarterly basis

t

The HMICFRS VFM profiles are considered and reported to senior management.
These are used as a basis for identifying areas where there is potential to make
savings.

Contract management is undertaken by service stakeholders, with strategic
oversight from the Procurement department

Cash savings removed from the annual revenue budget are monitored for delivery.
An enhanced benefits management process has been agreed and is currently being
embedded.
Is the authority’s CFO a key member of the
For the Constabulary, the Joint CFO is a member of the Chief Officer Group which is
leadership team, involved in, and able to bring the main decision making body for the Constabulary and meets on a weekly basis.
influence to bear on, all material business
decisions?
For the PCC, the Joint CFO is a member of the PCC Executive Team which is the main
decision making body for the OPCC and meets on a weekly basis.

o

Does the CFO lead and champion the
Yes, The Joint CFO champions and leads the promotion and delivery of good
promotion and delivery of good financial
financial management in the Constabulary and OPCC.
management across the authority?
Is the CFO suitably qualified and experienced? Yes, the Joint CFO is a member of CIPFA and is suitable qualified, experienced and
committed to Continuing Professional Development.

ec
tt

The Joint CFO is supported by a Deputy CFO who is also a member of CIPFA and is
suitable qualified, experienced and committed to Continuing Professional
Development.
Is the finance team suitably resourced and fit The Financial Services Team are a shared support service providing the full range of
for purpose?
financial services to the PCC and Constabulary. The team has recently been
provided with growth of 1.6 FTE posts to support a hump of activity around a
financial system implementation, operation uplift, increasing demands from
external audit and a number of other workload pressures. Once these additional
resources are recruited the team will be properly resourced in terms of capacity and
capability. There is an aspiration for development and succession planning within
the team. The internal and external audit opinions over many years demonstrate
that the Financial Services Team is fit for purpose.
Has the authority identified the elements of its Balances such as reserves, debtors, creditors and provisions are monitored closely
balance sheet that are most critical to its
by Financial Services on a monthly basis. Reserves, debtors, creditors and
financial sustainability?
accumulated leave balances are reported to senior management at the year end.
Reserves are given particular focus in the budget setting and MTFF process.

bj

Has the authority put in place suitable
mechanisms to monitor the risk associated
with these critical elements of its balance
sheet?
Is the authority taking action to mitigate any

Cashflow, short and long-term borrowing, investments and the use of reserves and
balances are also monitored by Financial Services and are reported to the PCC Public
Accountability Conference and Joint Audit Committee in the quarterly update on
treasury management activity
Balances such as reserves, debtors, creditors and provisions are monitored closely
by Financial Services on a monthly basis

Su

Yes, as risks are identified action is taken e.g. regular reviews of legal claims and
risks identified?
supplier information including credit checks is undertaken regularly.
Does the authority report unplanned use of its Revenue and capital monitoring reports are presented to Chief Officer Group and
reserves to the leadership team in a timely
the PCCs Executive Team on a regular basis.
manner?
Formal budget monitoring reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the PCCs
Public Accountability Conference and then to the public meeting of the Police and
Crime Panel. Any variation to the planned use of reserves is reported, with a formal
recommendation to the PCC should any significant changes to the planned use of
reserves arise
Is the monitoring of balance sheet risks
This is not well developed and principally takes place at the year end and during the
integrated into the authority’s management
budget setting process.
accounts reporting processes?
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A more systematic approach to balance
sheet risk reporting and sensitivity
analysis will be put in place.

Appendix C CIPFA Financial Management Code Self-Assessment
RAG

Answer

Question

Areas for Improvement

The AGS for the OPCC is produced by the PCC Executive Team, which comprises
senior staff from the OPCC.

Au
di

Is the authority’s CFO aware of their
responsibilities in terms of the preparation of
the annual financial statements?
Are these responsibilities included in the CFO’s
role description, personal objectives and other
relevant performance management
mechanisms?
Have the authority’s financial statements
hitherto been prepared on time and in
accordance with the requirements of the Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom?
Is the authority’s leadership team provided
with a suitable suite of reports on the
authority’s financial outturn and on significant
variations from budget?
Is the information in these reports presented
effectively?

A draft version of each AGS is presented to the Joint Audit Committee before
publication alongside the annual Statement of Accounts.
Yes, the Joint CFO is fully aware of his responsibilities in this area.

t

Yes, as evidenced through the Annual Governance Statement
Has the authority sought to apply the
principles, behaviour and actions set out in the
Framework to its own governance
arrangements?
Yes, the PCC and Chief Constable each publish on an annual basis a Code of
Does the authority have in place a suitable
Corporate Governance. This is reviewed by the Joint Audit Committee at the start of
local code of governance?
each financial year.
The AGS for the Constabulary is produced by the Chief Officer Group, which
Does the authority have a robust assurance
comprises senior police officers and staff from the Constabulary.
process to support its AGS?

Specific responsibility for the Joint CFO to secure delivery of the financial statements
is included in the job description and is recognised as a key task.

Yes, Cumbria has a good track record of early closedown and external audit sign-off.

An outturn report is presented to the Chief Officer Group and the PCC Executive
Team in May each year with clear explanations provided for each variation against
budget.

ec
tt

o

Yes. This information is provided on the same format of the monthly/quarterly
management accounts to aid consistency and understanding. A reconciliation is
provided in the statutory statement of accounts to aid transparency.
Are these reports focused on information that Yes, it provides information on the full revenue budget and highlights variances
is of interest and relevance to the leadership which are both one-off and those that have an ongoing financial implications.
team?
Does the leadership team feel that the reports Yes
support it in making strategic financial
decisions?
How has the authority sought to engage with
key stakeholders in developing its long-term
financial strategy, its medium-term financial
plan and its annual budget?

How effective has this engagement been?

The Constabulary and PCC liaise closely in agreeing the budget.
The Constabulary consults comprehensively with budget holders during the budget
process to assess service pressures through a 'Star Chamber' process.
The PCC undertakes public consultation on his proposed council tax precept
increase as and when required.
Commissioning budgets are developed in close consultation with relevant delivery
partners.
The PCC’s annual budget and precept proposals are subject to scrutiny by the
independent Police and Crime Panel, on behalf of the public. Members of the Joint
Audit Committee are briefed on the budget.
Internal consultation has both identified savings and areas where additional
resourcing is required.

bj

In recent years the PCC has consulted the public regarding his proposed increase in
council tax precept. The response has always been positive.
In recent years the Police and Crime Panel has approved the PCCs proposed
increase in council tax precept

Su

What action does the authority plan to take to The PCC and Constabulary are continually open to exploring ways of improving the
budget setting and consultation process.
improve its engagement with key
stakeholders?
Does the authority have a documented option The Constabulary and PCC include options appraisal as a standard requirement in
appraisal methodology that is consistent with its business case template. The exact methodology and options appraisal
the guidance set out in IFAC/PAIB publication techniques used are not always consistent as it can be difficult to adapt these to a
public sector setting where quality of service is more important than pure financial
‘Project and Investment Appraisal for
return. Benefits measurement can be subjective and have a tendency to be over
Sustainable Value Creation: Principles in
optimistic.
Project and Investment Appraisal’?
Does the authority offer guidance to officers as Staff developing business cases particularly in relation to technology are Prince 2
trained and well versed in options appraisal techniques. Finance staff provide
to when an option appraisal should be
support where required.
undertaken?
Where appropriate, qualitative and quantitative measures are included
Does the authority’s approach to option
appraisal include appropriate techniques for
the qualitative and quantitative assessment of
options?
Risks are considered as part of the business case preparation, particularly for
Does the authority’s approach to option
significant investments.
appraisal include suitable mechanisms to
address risk and uncertainty?
Does the authority report the results of option Yes, particularly in relation to significant investments. However, post
implementation reviews are not carried out systematically.
appraisals in a clear, robust and informative
manner that gives clear recommendations and
outlines the risk associated with any preferred
option(s)?
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Develop guidance for options appraisal
and ensure it is applied systematically
including post implementation review.

Appendix C CIPFA Financial Management Code Self-Assessment
Answer

Has the authority prepared a suitable capital
strategy?

Yes, a Capital Strategy document is prepared which is an overarching publication
covering the Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Capital
Programme. The Capital Programme covers a longer 10 year period. The Capital
Strategy, Capital Programme and TMSS are presented to the Public Accountability
Conference in February each year as part of the budget setting process and are
approved by the PCC. The documents are published on the PCCs website as part of
the Key Financial Publications section.
Yes, these are included in the Annual Capital Strategy and Treasury Management
Strategy Statement.
Yes, these are monitored by Financial Services staff and reported to the PCC Public
Accountability Conference and Joint Audit Committee in the quarterly TM update
reports.
Yes, initial budget reports are presented to the public meeting of the Police and
Crime Panel as part of the precept setting meeting in January.

Su
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o

The formal budget reports including the Joint CFO statement on the robustness of
the budget and the council tax requirement are presented to the PCC Public
Accountability Conference in February each year.
Has the authority set a balanced budget for the Yes, as endorsed by the PCC at the budget setting meeting in February.
current year?
Is the authority aware of the circumstances
Yes, the Joint CFO is fully aware of the s114 requirements but Cumbria is not
under which it should issue a Section 114
remotely close to needing to issue one in the near future.
notice and how it would go about doing so?
Does the authority’s most recent budget report Yes
include a statement by the CFO on the
robustness of the estimates and a statement
of the adequacy of the proposed financial
reserves?
Does this report accurately identify and
Not specifically, although a separate risk assessment is produced which explains and
consider the most significant estimates used to quantifies the impact of variations to key budget assumptions
prepare the budget, the potential for these
estimates being incorrect and the impact
should this be the case?
Does the authority have sufficient reserves to Yes, a separate Reserves Strategy is produced to accompany the annual budget
ensure its financial sustainability for the
report, Medium Term Financial Forecast (MTFF) and Capital Strategy. The Reserves
foreseeable future?
Strategy covers planned use of reserves over a 10 year timeframe to match the
Capital Strategy. This Reserves Strategy is also published on the PCCs website in the
Key Financial Publications section of the website.
Does the report set out the current level of the Yes, the Reserves Strategy provides a forecast for the next 10 years which is fully
authority’s reserves, whether these are
compatible with the 4 year MTFF and longer term 10 year capital Strategy.
sufficient to ensure the authority’s ongoing
financial sustainability and the action that the
authority is to take to address any shortfall?
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Areas for Improvement
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Has the authority set prudential indicators in
line with the Prudential Code?
Does the authority have in place suitable
mechanisms for monitoring its performance
against the prudential indicators that it has
set?
Is the authority aware of its statutory
obligations in respect of the budget-setting
process?

RAG

t

Question

Review the S25 report to see what
improvements can and should be made

Appendix C CIPFA Financial Management Code Self-Assessment
Answer

Does the leadership team espouse the Nolan
principles?

Yes, the code of ethics is a key feature for all police officers and staff and is
promoted during induction training and refresher courses. This is supported by the
work of the Professional Standards Department who promote ethical standards
through a supported learning approach.
All force policies and procedures embed the key principles from the Code of Ethics
Yes, the PCC and Chief Constable review and update their respective Codes of
Corporate Governance on an annual basis.

Does the authority have in place a clear
framework for governance and internal
control?]
Has the leadership put in place effective

RAG

Au
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Good behaviour is discussed during all staff and officer Strengths Based
arrangements for assurance, internal audit and Conversations (SBCs)
internal accountability?
The arrangements for anti-fraud and corruption include a whistleblowing policy
which is managed and reports investigated by the Professional Standards
Department (PSD)

Areas for Improvement

t

Question

The PCC and Chief Constable have a joint managed internal audit service which is
currently provided by the County Council. All audit reports receive Chief
Officer/Director sign off and all audit reports are reported to the Joint Audit
Committee (JAC). The Head of Internal Audit provides regular updates against the
audit plan to meetings of the Joint Audit Committee. All audit reports (internal and
external) are published on the PCC website.
Internal accountability is through individual SBCs with breaches being investigated
through PSD

Business interests are approved and recorded by PSD and then reviewed as part of
the SBC process and at year end through the related parties evaluation exercise
Both the Constabulary and OPCC have a policy on gifts and hospitality, which is
managed and promoted by PSD and the OPCC.
Does the leadership team espouse high
All key decisions are taken collectively by the Chief Officer Group with a full audit
standards of governance and internal control? trail for all decisions made.

o

All key PCC decisions of significant public interest are published on his website
including full supporting documentation

Cumbria Financial Resilience Indicators to
be agreed, calculated and reported to
Chief Officers & OPCC.

Su
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Codes of Corporate Governance are in place in line with CIPFA Good Governance
principles.
Codes of conduct & business interests are in place as part of anti-fraud and
corruption arrangements.
Governance documents including financial and procurement regulations are in place
and are reviewed periodically.
Does the leadership team nurture a culture of Yes, see arrangements above and regular interventions to ensure that the
effective governance and robust internal
organisations operate effectively. This is supported by the HMICFRS assessment of
control across the authority?
Good across all areas of business and outstanding for Crime Data Recording and the
Head of Internal Audit's assessment that the arrangements for risk management,
governance and internal control are robust.
Has the authority undertaken a Financial
As part of the Achieving Financial Excellence in Policing Programme (AFEP) a
Resilience Assessment?
template set of Financial Resilience Indicators has been developed. A piece of work
is currently underway to apply these to Cumbria circumstances and develop a
Financial Resilience Self Assessment that can be undertaken and reported on an
annual basis.
Has the Assessment tested the resilience of the As above
authority’s financial plans to a broad range of
alternative scenarios?
Has the authority taken appropriate action to As above
address any risks identified as part of the
assessment
Does the authority provide the leadership
For the Constabulary, the Chief Officer Group is provided with a monthly monitoring
team with an appropriate suite of reports that report which highlights emerging risks and issues. These are acted upon as
allows it to identify and to correct emerging
necessary. Any matters needing to be notified to the PCC are managed through the
risks to its budget strategy and financial
regular PCC Executive Team meetings.
sustainability?
Formal reports are presented to the PCC on a quarterly basis at the Public
Accountability Conference. The quarterly reports are also presented to the public
meetings of the Police and Crime Panel.

Do the reports cover both forward and
backward looking information in respect of
financial and operational performance?
Are there mechanisms in place to report the
performance of the authority’s significant
delivery partnerships such a contract
monitoring data?
Are the reports provided to the leadership
team in a timely manner and in a suitable
format?
Is the leadership team happy with the reports
that it receives and with its ability to use these
reports to take appropriate action?
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Board meetings such as Business Board, Operations Board, Digital Board and
Workforce Boards receive high level financial updates at monthly meetings. The
Senior Leadership Teams of relevant departments will receive and update from
Financial Services Officers in relation to their own budgets on a monthly basis.
Yes

The Commercial Department are actively developing contract management across
the organisation. The OPCC have a performance framework for Commissioned
Services designed to ensure that contracts are delivered effectively.
Yes, produced monthly/quarterly as required and are in a clear format which draws
out the key messages.
Yes

Continue to develop a contract
management culture led by the
Commercial Department.

Appendix C CIPFA Financial Management Code Self-Assessment
Question

Answer

Does the authority have in place an effective
framework of financial accountability?

Yes, through the framework of corporate governance, including the Funding
Arrangement, Scheme of Delegation, Budget Protocols, Financial Regulations,
Financial Rules and Joint Procurement Regulations. These documents are reviewed
on a cyclical basis and are reported to the Joint Audit Committee
The Constabulary has an Efficiency and Productivity Strategy, which incorporates
specific reviews of services, savings targets and consideration of HMICFRS VFM
indicators. However, this has been relatively low profile in during Covid.

Areas for Improvement

Re-invigorate the Efficiency Strategy with
a systematic approach, including benefits
realisation.

For the Constabulary, the Joint Chief Finance Officer is a member of the Chief
Officer Group who meet on a weekly basis and have ultimate decision making
responsibility for the Constabulary.

t

Is the authority committed to continuous
improvement in terms of the economy,
efficiency, effectiveness and equity of its
services?
Does the authority’s finance team have
appropriate input into the development of
strategic and operational plans?

RAG
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For the OPCC, the Joint Chief Finance Officer is a member of the PCC Executive Team
who meet on a weekly basis and have ultimate decision making responsibility for
the PCC.
In addition, the Joint CFO is part of the Management Board (in relation to CC
activity) and the Collaborative Board which is a joint board made up of senior
members of the OPCC and Constabulary.

Develop the business partnering
approach between finance and business
areas. Implement a systematic training
plan for non finance staff.
Complete the AFEP action plan.

as above

ec
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o

Senior finance representatives sit on all key decision making and informative boards
e.g. Workforce, Business, Operations, Digital and Programme Boards
Do managers across the authority possess
Each key stakeholder/budget holder in the organisation has a named finance
sufficient financial literacy to deliver services
contact. The Financial Services Team are well qualified and a business partnering
cost effectively and to be held accountable for approach is being promoted.
doing so?
A more systematic approach to ensuring that Budget holders have the appropriate
financial management skills is being considered.
Has the authority sought an external view on Not specifically, but the Financial Services team recently undertook the CIPFA
its financial style, for example through a
Achieving Financial Resilience Financial Management Self Assessment and as a result
process of peer review?
an action plan has been developed. The self assessment sought the views of chief
officers, senior managers and external partners (JAC, internal and external audit) on
a number areas of financial management. The self assessment resulted in a score
of 4 out of 5 for Financial Management.
Do individuals with governance and financial Yes, as set out in Scheme of Delegation, Budget protocols, Financial Regulations,
management responsibilities have suitable
Financial Rules and Joint Procurement Regulations.
delegated powers and appropriate skills and
training to fulfil these responsibilities?
In relation to financial skills, budget holders are supported by named Financial
Services Officers who support their particular areas of business. Training to nonfinancial managers is currently ad-hoc and is provided on a one to one basis by
finance staff. A more formal in-house training programme is to be developed as
part of the AFEP action plan.
Does the authority have a sufficiently robust
The key risks are highlighted in the annual budget and medium term financial
understanding of the risks to its financial
forecast.
sustainability?
Does the authority have a strategic plan and
Yes, we have a medium term financial forecast which is produced annually,
long-term financial strategy that address
although the main focus is for a 4 year MTFF timeframe, the report includes
adequately these risks?
commentary on future estimation uncertainty and considers risks to funding and
budget setting . We also publish a separate longer term Capital Programme and
Reserves Strategy which cover a 10 year timeframe.
Has the authority sought to understand the
Scenario planning is used internally within Financial Services to formulate the
impact on its future financial sustainability of medium term financial plan.
the strategic, operational and financial
challenges that it might face (e.g. using a
Published budget reports include a risk assessment/sensitivity analysis which
technique such as scenario planning)?
highlights the financial risk to key budget assumptions e.g. changes in future pay
awards, precept levels etc.
Has the authority reported effectively to the
Regular reports to the Chief Officer Group and PCC Executive Team during the
leadership team and to members its prospects budget preparation process highlight the various risks and possible scenarios. The
for long-term financial sustainability, the
key strategic issues are then reported to the PCC Public Accountability Conference at
associated risks and the impact of these for
the annual budget setting meeting. All documents associated with the budget
short- and medium-term decision making?
process are published on the PCC website as part of the Key Financial Publications
section.
During the year regular revenue and capital monitoring reports will highlight
changes in significant risks and issues, and suggest appropriate action
Yes, the Medium Term Financial Forecast covering the period 2021/22 to 2024/25
was published in February 2021 alongside the annual revenue budget.
Yes
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Does the authority have in place an agreed
medium-term financial plan?
Is the medium-term financial plan consistent
with and integrated into relevant service plans
and its capital strategy?
Has the medium-term financial plan been
prepared on the basis of a robust assessment
of relevant drivers of cost and demand?

Has the medium-term financial plan been
tested for resilience against realistic potential
variations in key drivers of cost and demand?

Yes, the Chief Officer Group (COG) consider information on current and future
demand pressures (as currently known) including the implications for new
technology and equipment
The Constabulary also considers relevant NPCC guidance and best practice e.g. stop
& search, body worn video.
Across COG, members are engaged in national forums which enables the potential
financial implications of new national systems and changes to national guidelines
and procedures to be identified early
Yes, but in an emergency service employing omnicompetent police officers changes
in demand can be accommodated by deployment policies and priorities.

Cost drivers and sensitivity analysis to changes in cost, income and demand are
included in the MTFF.
Does the authority have in place a suitable
Yes, there are separate asset management plans/strategies for Estates, Fleet and
asset management plan that seeks to ensure Digital Data and Technology. The plans are developed to coincide with the PCC term
that its property, plant and equipment
of office and an annual update is provided through the Corporate Support Strategy
including infrastructure assets contribute
Update which is considered alongside the budget at the February meeting of the
effectively to the delivery of services and to the Public Accountability Conference. The last published individual asset management
achievement of the authority’s strategic aims? strategies cover the period 2019 to 2021. New strategies for the period 2021 to
2024 will be developed in September 2021.
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The MTFF will be reviewed to ascertain
whether it needs to be enhanced and
extended.
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